
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

 

MONDAY 
27 MARCH 2017 
7.00 pm 
 
COURTYARD ROOM 
HAMMERSMITH 
TOWN HALL 
KING STREET  
LONDON W6 9JU 
 

Membership 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Michael Cartwright, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue 
and Resident Satisfaction 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Transport & Residents Services 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Regeneration 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 
Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

Date Issued 
17 March 2017 

If you require further information relating to this agenda please 
contact: Kayode Adewumi, Head of Governance and Scrutiny,  tel: 
020 8753 2499 or email: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s 
website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 

 
 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE 

 
The Cabinet hereby gives notice of its intention to hold part of this meeting in private to 
consider items (16 to 17) which are exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, in that they relate to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person, including the authority holding the information. 
 
The Cabinet has received no representations as to why the relevant part of the meeting should 
not be held in private. 
 

 
Members of the Public are welcome to attend. 

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, together with disabled  
access to the building 

 

 

mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTATIONS 

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on non-exempt 
item numbers 4-12 on this agenda using the Council’s Deputation Request Form.  The 
completed Form, to be sent to Kayode Adewumi at the above address, must be signed by 
at least ten registered electors of the Borough and will be subject to the Council’s 
procedures on the receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of deputation requests: 
Wednesday 22 March 2017. 

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Wednesday 29 March 
2017.  Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability Committee. 
 
The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is:  Monday 3 April 2017 at 3.00pm. Decisions 
not called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be implemented. 
 
A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Monday 3 April 2017. 

 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
27 March 2017 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 MARCH 2017  1 - 10 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   
 

 

4.   CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 9 - 31ST 
DECEMBER 2016  

11 - 50 

5.   STRENGTHENING SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS  51 - 54 

6.   PROCUREMENT OF COMMUNITY ADVICE SERVICES  55 - 67 



7.   H&F POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS COMMISSION - FINAL 
REPORT  

68 - 367 

8.   RECOMMENDATION ON OUT OF HOURS CALL CENTRE 
CONTRACT  

368 - 373 

9.   RE-PROCUREMENT OF LIFT MAINTENANCE CONTRACT  374 - 382 

10.   HRA HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18-2020/21  383 - 396 

11.   MOVING CONFIRM TO AN EXTERNAL HOSTING SOLUTION 
(CONFIRM ON DEMAND)  

397 - 401 

12.   CYCLE QUIETWAY 2 - BETWEEN EAST ACTON AND KENSINGTON  402 - 430 

13.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  431 - 444 

14.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 The Cabinet is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

15.   EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 MARCH 
2017 (E)  

 

16.   RECOMMENDATION ON OUT OF HOURS CALL CENTRE 
CONTRACT : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  

 

17.   MOVING CONFIRM TO AN EXTERNAL HOSTING SOLUTION 
(CONFIRM ON DEMAND) : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  

 

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
Minutes 

 

Monday 6 March 2017 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor Michael Cartwright, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident 
Satisfaction 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents 
Services 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
 

 
160. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 FEBRUARY 2017  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 February 2017 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

161. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for Absence were received from Councillors Max Schmid, Andrew 
Jones and Sue Macmillan. 
 
 

162. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

163. CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 8 - 30TH NOVEMBER 
2016  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To note the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account month 8 

forecast revenue variances. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

2. To note that there are mitgating action plans amounting to £0.972m, 

seeking to address the General Fund gross overspend forecast of 

£1.557m. All overspending departments to respond with further actions 

to reduce the net forecast overspend of £0.585m. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

164. APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR TO DELIVER IMPACT PROJECT 
INDEPENDENT DOMESTIC VIOLENCE ADVOCACY  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Cabinet approves a waiver under the H&F Contract Standing Orders 

(CSO 3.1) from the requirements to obtain three tenders under CSO 11.2.  
 
2. That Cabinet approves the direct award of a contract to Advance 

Advocacy Project to deliver the independent domestic violence advocacy 
(IDVA) services for one year from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018, with 
an option to extend for a further 12 months up to 31st March 2019. 

 
3. That Cabinet agrees to delegate the decision to extend the contract for a 

further 12 months to 31st March 2019 to the Director for Safer 
Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Deputy Leader.  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

165. DISPOSAL OF LAND AT LAVENDER COURT, 168 - 178 WESTWAY 
LONDON W12 0SA FOR DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. To agree to dispose of the land at Lavender Court 168-178 Westway 

London W12 0SA to A2 Dominion Housing Group Ltd under a land sale 
agreement and using the land exemption from the EU procurement 
regime on a 250 year lease. 
 

2. To agree to delegate authority to the Director for Housing, Growth, and 
Strategy, the Director of Finance & Resources and the Director of 
Building and Property Management in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and the Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Regeneration to complete negotiations with A2 
Dominion Housing Group Ltd and complete a land sale agreement for 
the transfer of the land.  
 

3. To note that the disposal will be subject to several conditions, including 
that: 
 

3.1 Development is expected to commence by June 2018 and 
there will be a final later long stop date 

3.2 60 new genuinely affordable homes will be delivered 
3.3 The Council will have 100% nomination rights to affordable 

homes delivered on this site.  
 

4. To agree to delegate authority to the Director for Housing, Growth, and 
Strategy in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and the 
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration to apply 
for Secretary of State consent to dispose of the Housing land at 
Lavender Court. 
 

5. To agree to delegate to the Strategic Finance Director in Consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance decision on opting to tax the land 
sale. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

166. PROPOSED ESTABLISHMENT OF AN INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT 
SERVICE  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. To move towards the establishment of a Family Support Service from 1 

October 2017 which will deliver comprehensive and fully integrated child, 
young person, and family support across the Borough. 

 
2. To progress the establishment of a JVC, as set out in the Business Plan 

at Appendix 2, to deliver the Family Support Service and into which 
relevant staff will transfer from 1 October 2017. The appointment of the 
Joint Venture partner(s) will be subject to a Cabinet Contract Award 
Decision. 

 
3. To agree to the transfer of the following services (and relevant staff as 

covered by TUPE regulations) to the Family Support Service through the 
services contract as set out in paragraph 2.7: Children’s Centres, youth 
provision, the Family Services Early Help Service, universal and targeted 
substance misuse services for young people, and universal and targeted 
sexual health services for young people from 1 October 2017; and 
Health Visiting, School Health, and Healthy Schools from no later than 1 
October 2018. 
 

4. To undertake a procurement process for the award of service contracts 
to deliver a locality 0-18 universal and low level targeted Children’s 
Centre and youth provision service for a duration of 3 years (with 
provision for the JVC, once established, to review at an early 
opportunity) and for these contracts to include terms for their novation to 
the JVC. 

 
5. To approve the commissioning and procurement strategy as follows and 

delegate to the Director of Commissioning for Children’s Services, after 
consultation and agreement from the Cabinet Member for Health and 
Adult Social Care, to:  

 
- Directly award a School Health Service contract to deliver the service 

from 1 April 2017 up until no later than 30 September 2018;  
- Directly award a Health Visiting Service contract to deliver the service 

from 1 October 2017 up until no later than 30 September 2018;  
- Directly award a Healthy Schools Service contract to deliver the 

service from 1 April 2018 up until no later than 30 September 2018. 
 

6. To undertake a competitive procurement process to establish an 
institutionalised public-private partnership (IPPP) to enable the 
appointment of partners to the JVC. 

 
7. To award a services contract to the Family Support Service to deliver the 

services in scope for a period of 5 years, with the option of a further 3-
year extension, subject to a contract award paper being approved by 
Cabinet following the completion of the IPPP process.  
 

Page 4



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

8. To agree to the possible transfer into the Family Support Service 
(subject to future business cases and Cabinet decisions) and include in 
all planned market engagement activity the following service areas: 
Youth Offending Service (diversion and out of court work), Childhood 
Obesity services, existing Adult Social Care assessment and provider 
services (potential scope to be developed further), relevant employment 
and education services, and Community Safety including Domestic 
Violence and Violence Against Women and Girls. Services included in 
paragraphs 2.3 and 2.8 will inform the scope of the initial Family Support 
Service contract. 

 
9. To commission the JVC, once established, to deliver a children and 

young person emotional resilience and wellbeing service component 
following completion of a service review on the current Primary Mental 
Health Service delivery arrangements. 
 

10. To appoint Trowers & Hamlins LLP as Legal Advisors to the Family 
Support Service Programme, under the Crown Commercial Services 
Legal Framework. 
 

11. To release the previously agreed Smarter Budgeting investment to 
enable the implementation of the Family Support Service. 

 
12. To note that Officers will undertake further work as the Business Plan is 

developed to identify the funding required to meet the additional 
transformation costs. 
 

13. To delegate to the Director of Commissioning for Children’s Services, 
after consultation and agreement from both the Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education and the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care, approval of: 

 

 The Joint Venture Incorporation Documents, subject to the principles 
set out in the Business Plan at Appendix 2;  

 The establishment of a Shadow Board for the Family Support 
Service, pending the appointment of Joint Venture partners and full 
incorporation of the company; 

 Final terms of the Service Contract with the JVC; 

 Transfer of relevant staff and operational assets to the JVC;  

 The Invitation to Tender documents, including the award criteria for 
the selection of the JVC partner(s); 

 Conclusion of relevant agreements with an NHS provider, should 
market engagement indicate a clear benefit to the Council of working 
with an NHS provider to jointly procure a partner for the JVC; 

 Conclusion of a S75 Agreement with the LBHF Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), should the CCG wish to include any 
services within the Service Contract procurement;  

 Local Government Pension Scheme Agreements; 

 Working Capital Agreement; 

 Appointment of Council nominees to the Family Support Service 
Board of Directors; 

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 Family Support Service staffing structures and key appointments (as 
required prior to the establishment of the Joint Venture Board). 

 
14. To delegate to the Director of Commissioning for Children’s Services, 

after consultation and agreement from the Cabinet Member for Children 
and Education, the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care, 
and the Cabinet Member for Finance, the establishment of a wholly 
owned limited company and the award of a service contract and transfer 
of services, if required as part of a phased approach (as set out in 
paragraph 4.23). Relevant shareholding will transfer to the Joint Venture 
partners following the Contract Award Decision. 
 

15. To delegate to the Director for Building and Property Management, after 
consultation with the applicable Cabinet Member, the granting of leases 
to the Family Support Service or its delivery partners for relevant Council 
premises.  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

167. CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM UPGRADE  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That approval be given to carry out an upgrade of Frameworki to Mosaic in 
partnership with Westminster City Council at a cost of £306,693.  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

168. APPROVAL TO EXTEND AND MODIFY ROUGH SLEEPER / SINGLE 
HOMELESS SUPPORTED  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1 That the extension provisions available in the London Cyrenians and 

Look Ahead Housing & Care contracts are utilised to extend the 
contracts for a 12-month period on existing terms and conditions as set 
out in Table 1 below for the reasons contained within this report.   

  
Table 1 – Utilise Available Extension Provisions 

Contract & 
Provider name  

Contract start 
& end date & 
extension 
provisions 

Current 
contract end 
date following 
extensions 

Proposed 
Extension 
Period 

Look Ahead – 
160 Coningham 
Rd 

8.4.13 -
7.4.16 plus 2 
X 12 months 

7.4.17 8.4.17-7.4.18 

London 
Cyrenians – 118 
Shepherds Bush 
Rd 

1.4.13 – 
31.3.16 plus 
2 X 12 
months  

31.3.17 1.4.17 -31.3.18 

  
2 That Cabinet approves the modification of seven supported housing 

contracts to extend the contract terms as set out in Table 2 below for the 
reasons contained within this report. 

 
 
     Table 2 – Contract Modifications to Extend the Contract Term  

Contract & 
Provider name  

Contract start 
& end date & 
extension 
provisions 

Current 
contract end 
date following 
extensions 

Proposed Extension 
Period 

Hestia Housing & 
Support  
Lillie Rd & 65-67 
Talgarth Rd 

12/7/10 – 
11/7/13 plus 
2 x 12 
months 

31.3.17 1.4.17 to 31.3.18 

Look Ahead – 160 
Coningham Rd 

8.4.13 -7.4.16 
plus 2 x 12 
months 

7.4.181 8.4.18-31.3.19 

London Cyrenians 
– 118 Shepherds 
Bush Rd 

1.4.13 – 
31.3.16 plus 
2 x 12 
months  

31.3.182 1.4.18 -31.3.19 

St Mungo’s 
The Old Theatre 

5/1/09 – 
4/1/12 plus 2 
x 12 months 

30.9.17 1.10.17 to 31.3.19 

St Mungo’s Hope 
Gardens 

1/12/07 – 
30/9/14 

30.9.17 1.10.17 to 31.3.19 

                                            
1
 Dependent upon Cabinet approval to utilise the final available 12-month extension option set out in 2.1 

2
 Dependent upon Cabinet approval to utilise the final available 12-month extension option set out in 2.1 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

St Mungo’s 
Edith Rd & Safe 
House 

1/7/10-
30/6/13 plus 
2 x12 months 

31.3.17 1.4.17 to 31.3.19 

St Mungo’s Wood 
Lane 

1/7/10-
30/6/13 plus 
2 x 12 
months 

31.3.17 1.4.17 to 31.3.19 

 
3 That Cabinet approves a waiver of the Council’s Contract Standing 

Orders (CSO) under CSO 3.1 in order to directly award / modify the 
contracts described above to the incumbent service providers. Approval 
of a waiver will allow continuity of services to vulnerable adults and their 
carers whilst services are reviewed and a new Procurement Strategy is 
developed. 

4 That the Council publishes a Prior Information Notice in the Official 
Journal of the EU informing the market that a re-tendering exercise will 
commence around March 2018.  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

169. FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Key Decision List was noted. 
 
 

170. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
and press be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining items of business on the grounds that they contain information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of a person (including the authority) 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
[The following is a public summary of the exempt information under 
S.100C (2) of the Local Government Act 1972.  Exempt minutes exist as a 
separate document.] 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
171. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 FEBRUARY 

2017 (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 February 2017 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

172. DISPOSAL OF LAND AT LAVENDER COURT, 168 - 178 WESTWAY 
LONDON W12 0SA FOR DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING: 
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations contained in the exempt report be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

173. PROPOSED ESTABLISHMENT OF AN INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT 
SERVICE: EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations contained in the exempt report be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

174. CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM UPGRADE: 
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendation contained in the exempt report be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

175. APPROVAL TO EXTEND AND MODIFY ROUGH SLEEPER / SINGLE 
HOMELESS SUPPORTED: EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations contained in the exempt report be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.04 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Page 10



 

 
 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

CABINET 
 

27 MARCH 2017 
 

 

 

CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 9 – 31st DECEMBER 2016 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For decision and for information 
Key Decision: Yes 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
 

Report Author: Jade Cheung – Finance Manager, 
Corporate Finance 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3374 
Jade.Cheung@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The General Fund 2016/17 forecast year-end variance for month 9 is a gross 

overspend of £1.807m (an increase of £0.250m compared with £1.557m in 
month 8). 
 

1.2. The potential value of mitigating actions is £1.004m, if fully delivered, which will 
result in a net overspend of £0.803m (an increase of £0.218m, compared with 
£0.585m at month 8). Delivery of action plans is assigned to relevant responsible 
Directors, which seek to address the total General Fund forecast overspend (1% 
revised budget compared with 0.9% month 8) as set out in section 4.2. 
 

1.3. The forecast overspend reported by five departments in overspend value order 
are: (1) Adult Social Care primarily due to home care, direct payments and Better 
Care savings reasons; (2) Children’s Services mainly due to commissioning and 
support services functions; (3) Housing General Fund; (4) Environmental 
Services; and (5) Libraries and Archives Services. 
 

1.4. The Housing Revenue Account year-end variance at month 9 for 2016/17 is a 
surplus of £1.171m (an increase of £0.387m compared with a surplus at month 8 
of £0.784m). HRA general reserves of £1.061m remain forecast to be carried 
forward into 2017/18, with a HRA balance of £20.752m at year-end. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

 
1.5. Departments have provisionally requested that they be allowed to carry forward 

budgets of £0.726m from year-end underspends (appendix 11). Any service area 
overspending at the year-end will not be permitted to have carry forwards. In 
addition, all other carry forward requests be considered at the year-end, in the 
context of the Councils’ overall position and other priorities. 
 

1.6. A virement request of £0.226m from the Controlled Parking Account to 
Environmental Services has been made in month 9. This amount is towards 
unbudgeted costs of £0.557m in relation to planning legal challenges and 
building and property costs. The balance will be met from underspends within the 
service. 

 
1.7. A drawdown (virement) of £0.280m is also requested from the Corporate 

Demands and Pressures Reserve to support Legal and Contract Management 
work regarding the Managed Services Programme. 
 

1.8. In order to produce the final accounts to the statutory deadline of 30th June 2017, 
a significant amount of activity is necessary. There are a number of areas where 
actions will be required which normally need Cabinet approval, for example; final 
budget carry-forwards, use of reserves, budget virements, level of bad debt 
provision etc. To meet the final accounts deadline, it is therefore proposed that 
decision making in relation to these issues is delegated to the Strategic Finance 
Director in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To note the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account month 9 forecast 

revenue variances. 

 

2.2. To note there are mitigating action plans amounting to £1.004m, seeking to 

address the General Fund gross overspend forecast of £1.807m. All 

overspending departments to respond with further actions to reduce the net 

forecast overspend of £0.803m. 

 

2.3. To note the carry forward budget requests (appendix 11). These will be 

considered at the year-end, in the context of the Councils’ overall position and 

other priorities. No carry forward requests will be considered for Departments that 

overspend. 

 
2.4. That the decision making in relation to production of final accounts to be 

delegated to the Strategic Finance Director in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance. 
 

2.5. To agree a one off budget virement of £0.226m from the Controlled Parking 
Account to Environmental Services. 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

2.6. To approve a drawdown of £0.280m from the Corporate Demands and Pressures 
reserve regarding Legal and Contract Management costs associated with the 
Managed Services Programme. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

The reasons for the recommendations are to report the revenue expenditure 
position for the Council and to comply with the Financial Regulations. 
 

4. CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR MONTH 9 GENERAL FUND 

4.1. Graph to illustrate the General Fund overspend forecast for months 2 to 9 this 
year. 
 

 
 

4.2. Table 1 sets out the position for month 9 as follows: 
 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

£
m

 

month 

Graph: 2016/17 General Fund Overspend Forecast Variance  

Forecast overspend £m

Mitigating Actions £m

Net overspend after mitigations
£m

Page 13



 

 
 

Table 1: 2016/17 General Fund Forecast Outturn Variance – Month 9 
 

Department 

2016/17 General Fund Gross Forecast Outturn 
Variance – Month 9 

Summary of Net Forecast 
Outturn Variances After 

Action Plans  
 

Revised 
Budget 

 
Month 9 

£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 
Month 9 

£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 
Month 8 

£m 

Variance 
Between 
Months 
8 and 9 

£m 

Month 9 
Forecast 
Variance 

% 

Potential 
Value of 

Action Plan 
Mitigations 

Month 9 
£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 

Net of 
Planned 

Mitigations 
£m 

Adult Social Care 59.272 1.965 2.008 (0.043) 1.1% 0.500 1.465 

Children's Services 47.581 0.616 0.663 (0.047) 0.3% 0.240 0.376 

Controlled Parking Account (22.963) (1.080) (0.925) (0.155) (0.6%) 0 (1.080) 

Corporate Services 16.918 (0.425) (0.324) (0.101) (0.2%) 0 (0.425) 

Environmental Services 45.335 0.226 0.076 0.150 0.1% 0 0.226 

Housing General Fund 8.143 0.519 0.082 0.437 0.3% 0.245 0.274 

Libraries & Archives Service 3.175 0.023 0.014 0 0% 0.019 0.004 

Public Health Services 0 0 0 0 0% 0 0 

Centrally Managed Budgets 21.656 (0.037) (0.037) 0 0% 0 (0.037) 

Total 179.116 1.807 1.557 0.250 1.0% 1.004 0.803 

%  100%    56% 44% 

 
Action plans to mitigate the forecast overspends are summarised in table 1. 
 

P
age 14



 

 
 

5. 2016/17 MONTH 9 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1. The Housing Revenue Account currently forecasts a surplus outturn variance of 
£1.171m at month 9 for 2016/17; an increase of £0.387m compared with a 
surplus outturn variance of £0.784m in month 8 (appendix 10). 
 
Table 3: 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account Forecast Outturn - Month 9 

Housing Revenue Account £m 

Balance as at 31 March 2016 (18.520) 

Add: Budgeted (Contribution) / Appropriation to Balances  (1.061) 

Add: Forecast Surplus Outturn Variance (1.171) 

Projected Balance as at 31st March 2017 (20.752) 

 
6. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 

6.1. The 2016/17 General Fund budget included an efficiency savings target now 
revised to £15.866m. Progress against these is summarised in table 4 (and in 
appendices 1 to 10). The 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account efficiency savings 
are on target at £0.922m. 

 
Table 4: 2016/17 Medium Term Financial Strategy - Efficiency Savings 

Department 2016/17 
Savings 
Target 

£m 

Savings 
On  

Target 
£m 

Savings  
In 

Progress 
£m 

Savings 
Delayed / 

at risk 
£m 

Adult Social Care 5.321 3.346  1.975 

Children’s Services 3.227 3.157 0 0.070 

Corporate Services 3.175 3.175 0 0 

Environmental Services 2.668 0.818 1.317 0.533 

Housing General Fund 0.405 0.265 0 0.140 

Libraries and Archives 0.020 0.002  0.018 

Centrally Managed Budgets  1.050 0.550 0 0.500 

General Fund Total 15.866 11.313 1.317 3.236 

GF % 100% 71% 9% 20% 

Housing Revenue 
Account Total 

0.922 0.922 0 0 

HRA % 100% 100% 0% 0% 

 
7. CARRY-FORWARDS OF UNDERSPENDS, VIREMENTS1 AND WRITE OFF 

REQUESTS 

7.1. Carry-forward requests for potential underspends from 2016/17 into 2017/18 
totalling £0.726m are stated in appendix 11. The final decisions on carry-forwards 
will be considered at financial close. 
 

7.2. A virement request of £0.226m from the Controlled Parking Account to 
Environmental Services has been made in month 9. This amount is towards 

                                            
1
 Cabinet is required to approve all budget virements that exceed £0.1m. 

Page 15



 

 
 

unbudgeted costs of £0.557m in relation to planning legal challenges and 
building and property costs. The balance will be met from underspends within the 
service. 

 
7.3. There continue to be significant challenges with the services intended to be 

provided to the Council under the Managed Services Programme (“MSP”). A 
drawdown of £0.280m is proposed from the Corporate Demands and Pressures 
Reserve regarding: 

 Legal Costs. 

 The extension of the contracts for staff working to resolve the problem 
 

7.4. No write-off requests for month 9. 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. Adjustments to budgets are not considered to have an impact on one or more 
protected groups so an equality impact assessment (EIA) is not required. 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. There are no legal implications for this report. 
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. This report is financial in nature and those implications are contained within. The 
ongoing implementation of Managed Services and Agresso have financial 
implications which are being reviewed and may impact on the accuracy of the 
figures in this report. 
 

10.2. Implications completed by: Jade Cheung, Finance Manager, 0208 753 3374. 
 

11. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

11.1. There are no implications for local businesses. 
 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

12.1. Details of actions to manage financial risks are contained in the main report and 
appendices 1-10. 

 
13. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

 
13.1. There are no implications for this report. 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. Background Papers Name Department 

1. None   

 

Page 16



 

 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 Adult Social Care Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 2 Children’s Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 3 Controlled Parking Account Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 4 Corporate Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 5 Environmental Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 6 Housing General Fund Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 7 Libraries & Archives Service Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 8 Public Health Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 9 Centrally Managed Budgets Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 10 Housing Revenue Account Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 11 Carry-forward requests 

Appendix 12 Virement requests 

Page 17



 

 
 

APPENDIX 1: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Integrated Care  45,035 2,546 2,528 

1. A projected overspend of £1,472,000 on the Home Care and Direct 
Payments budgets. 
 
Similar to the last two years, there are continued pressures as part of the 
out of hospital strategy including 7 days social care services to support 
customers at home and avoid hospital admissions or to enable early 
discharge. This has naturally led to an increase in home care costs above 
that which is normally expected. In 2016/17, further reasons for the 
projected overspends are: 
 
A. Additional pressures on the home care budget due to the tendering of 
new home care contracts which are now operational from an increase in 
price to improve quality and potential increase in demand totalling 
£1,900,000. Cabinet have agreed an additional transfer of (£400,000) from 
ASC Reserves to partly offset the pressures out of a total of £800,000 as a 
number of customers remain to be transferred to the new contract. The 
Department has requested a further £400,000 from ASC Pressures and 
Demand to assist with the budget pressures. 
 
B. There is an additional financial impact of the full year effect of 
customers from 2015/16. The projected overspend of £1,472,000 has 
been managed downwards by (£1,172,000) Better Care fund contribution, 
(£450,000) from Care Act funding and (£400,000) from ASC reserve. 

2. Better Care Funding Savings of £602,000 

P
age 18



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Within the ASC 2016/17 base budget is an MTFS efficiency of £2m 
following the negotiations with health over the second year of the Better 
Care Fund. The £2m efficiency target has various target measures to 
deliver this saving which include avoidance of care in residential and 
nursing placement, reduction in home care hours, saving from jointly 
commissioning Section 75 contracts and securing lower prices from 
placement providers. 
The department is projecting the delivery of the following against this 
target: Reductions in residential and nursing placements is moving in the 
right direction with reduction in volumes of placements and supported 
living with savings of (£1,390,000) factored in. A number of contracts have 
been renegotiated relating to Elgin House homes with savings of 
(£100,000). There is a projected overspend in the PFI budget of £225,000 
for Funding Nursing Contribution income shortfall due to reduced client 
numbers receiving nursing care, which has been offset by drawdown from 
PFI earmarked reserve of (£133,000). This leaves a shortfall of £602,000 
from the £2m target efficiency. 

 
3. A projected underspend in Learning Disability Services of (£355,000) 

The continue management actions from the reviews are leading to 
reduction of costs of care in LD packages and placements. 

 
4. Mental Health Service is projecting an overspend of £512,000 

The budget pressures are due to demand pressures in Home Care and an 
increasing number of 50/50 placements with Health. The department has 
commenced a review plan which has been provided to the social care 
mental health lead. 

5. Income shortfall of £315,000 on Careline Services 
A review is underway to encourage more users. 

P
age 19



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Strategic Commissioning & 
Enterprise 

5,618  (150) (100) 6. Projected underspend of (£150,000) due to Supported People contracts 
and voids and other contracts reduction. 

Finance & Resources 8,075  (5) (5) 7. Small underspend in supply services budgets. 

Executive Directorate 544  (26) (15) 8. Small underspend in supply services budgets. 

Total 59,272  2,365  2,408   

     

Funding from ASC 
Pressures and Demand 
Reserves 

 (400) (400) The department has requested Cabinet approval for additional £400,000 from 
ASC Pressures and Demand reserves to partly offset the Home Care budget 
pressures in the CRM period 7 report which is due to be agreed by Cabinet 
on 16th January 2017. 

Total 59,272  1,965  2,008   

 
2: Key Risks 

 

Risk Description Lower Limit Upper Limit 

 £000 £000 

Demand pressures on Adult Social Care services would continue to increase as the population gets 
older. We continue to experience increases in numbers during this financial year. 

200  300  

London Living Wage for Social Care Costs. 75  150  

Total 275  450  

 
 
 
 
 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

P
age 20



 

 
 

Adult Social Care MTFS Target 
On Track In Progress 

Delayed/ At 
Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 5,321  3,346   1,975  

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Various savings are at risk 1,975 The department is projecting a number of savings at risk as are 
increasingly difficult to deliver considering the year on year savings the 
department has delivered in previous years. 

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
Adult Social Care (ASC) is projecting an overspend of £2,365,000 as at end of period 9, which is a decrease in the overspend 
of (£43,000) compared to the period 7 projected overspend of £2,408,000. After funding from the ASC Pressures and Demand 
reserve of (£400,000) agreed by Cabinet, this will mitigate the overall pressures to a net projected overspend of £1,950,000.  
The reduction in overspend is mainly due to management actions with a negotiation of costs in the Supported People 
contracts. 

 
The department is expected to deliver savings of £5,321,000 in this financial year and at this stage of the year 63% are on 
track to be delivered in full. 

 
Similar to last year's forecasts, the projections should be treated with caution due to the on-going difficulties experienced 
following the introduction of the Agresso Managed Services system. 
 
Like last year when the department was projecting an overspend for the majority of the year, the action plan delivered 
reductions in the budget to the extent the department out turned with a (£62,000) underspend. Historically, the Department’s 
budget has had underlying budget pressures, which were mitigated by using a combination of one off reserves, the carry 
forward of underspends and funding from health.   

P
age 21



 

 
 

APPENDIX 2: CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division  

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Family Services 29,898  424  443  

The increase in the forecast from P8 is mainly as a result of 
an increase in high cost residential placements and 
additional pressure on semi-independent accommodation 
due to the block contract being fully utilised, offset by 
reductions in petty cash and other direct client expenditure 
forecasts, as well as slight reductions in the IFA 
(Independent Fostering Agencies) forecast 
 
An agreement to fund an estimated budget shortfall in 
Housing, which is related to the work they do with families 
who have No Recourse for Public Funds (NRPF) status. An 
adverse variance of £204k has been created by this 
pressure on the NRPF service. Children’s Services are 
working with housing colleagues to fully understand and 
refine the impact.  
 
There are a number of salary related pressures within the 
directorate as follows: 
Looked After Children [LAC] and Leaving Care Teams 
£83k, Family Services Child Protection teams £117k. 
CAS [Contact and Assessment] £163k – There has been 
an increase in the demand for assessments. To address 
this demand, there has been an increase in the recruitment 
of agency supernumerary staff and a resulting pressure. 

P
age 22



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Other staffing underspends £127k - Underspends held 
within Early Help and Localities, plus Fostering and 
Adoption teams have helped to offset other small staffing 
overspends across the directorate. 
 
Virtual Schools £200k - Whilst the confirmation of Pupil 
Premium (PPG) funding has reduced the forecast pressure, 
the historic MTFS target is not expected to be met in this 
financial year. 
 
Fostering & Adoption and other placements [F&A] (-£271k) 
– Within Fostering and Adoption, there are forecast 
underspends against post order support budgets due to an 
ageing out of the population. A mid year review of 
placement numbers has been undertaken to ensure the 
cohort still expected to come into the service, net of 
numbers expected to age out of care, remains realistic.  
 
Other small departmental overspends - £55k. 

Education 6,665  (52) (22) 

CWD (Children With Disabilities) and The Haven £252k - 
Staffing pressures across the LBHF CWD service mainly 
due to the delay in the staffing restructure. 
 
SEN (Special Education Needs) staffing £152k - These 
pressures arise due to the employment of additional staff to 
support the SEN service in delivering the statutory 
requirement set out in the Children's and Family's Act. 
 
Placements (-£96k) - Increased income from traded 

P
age 23



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

placements has resulted in a favourable variance on this 
budget, although there are a number of high cost Short 
Breaks placements. Some of the high cost placements will 
age out in the next year, but there remains a risk that 
additional young people with high needs will replace them.  
 
Education Psychology (-£110k) - increased level of traded 
income expected to be achieved.  
 
Travel Care and Support Services (-£181k) - The clear 
eligibility criteria developed by the SEN service in close 
collaboration with parents over the last year has resulted in 
more pupils travelling independently.  
 
Further small underspends across the directorate - £69k. 

Commissioning 5,022  212  212  

Commissioning Team £473k - Costs relating to additional 
resource to support the transition to new structure and 
deliver departmental projects. 
 
Contracts and Joint Commissioning (-£283k) – Due to 
underspends on youth contracts and CAMHS (Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services). 
 
Other small overspends -£22k. 

Safeguarding, Review and Quality 
Assurance 

1,208  16  15  

The service is forecast to over spend by £16k in 1617 
which is in line with P8 forecast. The overspend remains, 
despite ongoing work to re-structure parts of the service. 
Prior year MTFS 2013/14 to 2014/15 have not been 
achieved and in year re-organisation does not result in 

P
age 24



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

aligning spend to base budget.  

Finance and Resources 4,788  16  15  

Overall forecast overspend of £16k, which is made up of 
pressures on salaries (£586k), offset by salary budget to be 
vired out to departments (-£481k), an underspend on the 
3BM contract (-£89k), and other minor variances. 

Schools Funding 0  0  0   

Total 47,581  616   663   

 
2: Key Risks 

 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Passenger Transport - There is a risk that volume decreases within the Sep-16 cohort of pupils could change 0  75  

Tower Hamlets Judgement - The likely liability should all connected carers be paid carers fees for prior years 
as far back as 2011 is estimated to be £2.1m. Work is being undertaken to analyse this further. 

0  2,100  

Risk of additional high cost placements entering the CWD service. 0  100  

No Recourse for Public Funds - The forecast budget shortfall for Housing NRPF families is £191k at P7. This 
is based on the current families they are accommodating, but this risk represents the estimate from Housing 
as to possible max budget pressure. 

191  484  

Total 191  2,759  

 
  

P
age 25



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Children’s Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 3,227 3,157   70  

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Commissioning of a Children’s Services contact 
service centre 

70  Delayed implementation of the service until June 2017. 

Total 70  

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
Overall, Family Services is continuing to see placement costs stabilise. Intensive work has been undertaken around reviewing 
care leavers placements to try and move them into more sustainable and cost effective placements. This is starting to take 
effect through increased Housing allocations and quicker closure of cases no longer eligible for Public Funding. In addition, 
Family Services DMT are looking at options to further mitigate the in-year directorate overspend position for 2016/17. 
However, high cost placements will be continue to be reviewed by the LAC and Leaving Care team under the guidance of 
Head of Service, to ensure LAC placements remain appropriate and robust move on plans are in place for young people 
moving into leaving care. 
 
Following discussion with Housing colleagues, agreement has been reached for Family Services to fund a housing budget 
shortfall in year in relation to their work with families who have No Recourse to Public Funds (NRFPs). A joint working strategy 
has been agreed with Housing, in order to review these cases and take appropriate action.  
Budget has been established through historic successful growth bids and this spending pressure is sought to be contained 
within the departmental budget for 2016/17. 
 
The Commissioning directorate is reviewing every opportunity to contain its pressures reported, however the resource 
required for the current work programme exceeds the available budget resource at present. The clear eligibility criteria 
developed by the SEN service in close collaboration with parents over the last year has helped reduce the pressure on the 
Passenger Transport service. Phase 2 of the finance team restructure is due to commence after consultation took place in 
September. This will deliver savings with the full year effect seen in 2017/18. 
  

P
age 26



 

 
 

APPENDIX 3: CONTROLLED PARKING ACCOUNTS (CPA) 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Pay & Display (P&D) (11,808) (973) (972) 

Income received in 2016/17 from P&D (including phone payments and 
card payments) is higher than in the same period in the previous year. 
The introduction of phone payment has resulted in an increase in the 
total. It is still early in the roll out plan, so this will be monitored closely 
to see if the increased income continues. 

Permits (4,496) (225) (157) 
Income from resident permits in 2016/17 is higher than the same period 
last year. 

Civil Enforcement Officer 
(CEO) Issued Penalty Charge 
Notice (PCN) 

(6,814) (166) 51  

The numbers of PCNs issued at the start of 2016/17 were lower than 
the same period last year, due to a number of vacant enforcement 
posts. Recruitment has taken place in August and the service is now 
fully staffed. 

Bus Lane PCNs (1,257) (243) (205) 
The numbers of PCNs issued in 2016/17 are 7% less than the same 
period in the previous year. 

CCTV Parking PCNs 0  (7) (6) 
There are restrictions on the areas where CCTV can be used for 
parking enforcement. The number of PCNs issued is at a minimal level 
and this is expected to continue for the rest of the year. 

Moving Traffic PCNs (6,314) 741  673  

The numbers of PCNs issued in 2016/17 continue to be significantly 
lower than in the same period last year (22%). However, the previous 
years activity was higher than would normally be expected due to the 
numbers of days with works on roads being higher than usual. 

Parking Bay Suspensions (3,223) 35  (33) 
Income in 2016/17 is similar to the same period last year. The 
budgeted income was increased by £500k in the 2016/17 budget 
planning, to match activity. 

P
age 27



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Towaways and Removals (325) 0  13  
Income to date is similar to the previous year, so the forecast outturn is 
expected to be in line with the 2015-16 outturn. 

Expenditure and Other 
Receipts 

11,831  (242) (289) 
Staffing costs are forecast to be underspent by £219k based on current 
staffing and enforcement posts that have been vacant for part of the 
year. Supplies and services are forecast to be overspent by £23k. 

Total (22,406) (1,080) (925)  

 
2: Key Risks 

 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Moving Traffic Offences – risk that driver behaviour changes 0  750  

Economic downturn resulting in fewer parking bay suspension requests 0  375  

Total 0  1,125  

 
3: Supplementary Monitoring Information  

 
The parking forecast is an underspend of £1,080k, which is explained in detail in the table above. Officers will continue to keep 
a close eye on the performance of Parking income and expenditure and in particular review regularly the Parking Bay 
Suspension income which may change at short notice due to fluctuations in demand. The impact of cashless parking will also 
be closely monitored. 
 
Measures have been put in place to ensure the full establishment of officers is maintained. 
  

P
age 28



 

 
 

APPENDIX 4: CORPORATE SERVICES REVENUE MONITOR 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

H&F Direct 18,711  (100) 0  Similar to last financial year, there is likely to be continued budget 
pressure on the recovery of court costs. However, currently it is 
anticipated that the favourable savings from the delivery of taxi cards 
and better than expected grant income will negate these pressures and 
result in an overall underspend for the service. 

Innovation & Change 
Management (ICM) 

(251) 0  0  Cross borough cost recovery (recharges) of shared services are on-
going. 

Legal and Electoral Services 786  0  0   

Finance Services 379  0  0   

Audit, Risk, Fraud and 
Insurance 

12  (200) (199) This is made of one off underspends from: 

 £113k on Corporate Investigation team due to 3 vacant posts - 
recruitment for 2 post are in process. 

 £10k on Internal Audit Supply & Services budget.  

 £77k on Bi-Borough Insurance Service due to refund on S113 
staffing charges (overpayment) from RBKC for 2015/16. 

Shared ICT Services (3,388) 0  0  No variance is expected. All non controllable costs have been 
processed in line with budget. In terms of the controllables: ICT's staffing 
costs are forecast to be on budget once all the S113 staff cost 
processing is complete. The key focus is on monitoring and controlling 
our supplies and service spend, particularly the charges passed through 
from HFBP, including the new service providers (Agilisys & BT) and our 
3rd party suppliers. Work is ongoing to ensure that all customer costs 
are recharged and for all those charges requiring a drawdown from 
reserves, that they are clearly listed and understood. 

Commercial Directorate 70  40  40  The net adverse variance relates to the non recovery of budgets from 

P
age 29



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

departments for savings of £60k assumed from the new stationery 
contract offset by savings of £20k from a vacant post.  

Executive Services (721) 0  0   

Human Resources 650  0  0   

Delivery and Value 670  (165) (165) Due to part year staff vacancy and underspend on grants funding. 

Total 16,918  (425) (324)  

 
2: Key Risks 

 
None 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 

 

Finance & Corporate Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 3,175 3,175   

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

   

 

P
age 30



 

 
 

APPENDIX 5: ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Cleaner, Greener & Cultural 
Services 

21,461  (1,031) (885) (£817k) Waste disposal - £470k one off rebate relating to prior 
years; £347k other waste disposal due to continuation of reduced 
recyclate charge 
(£183k) waste contract - contract inflation less than budgeted. 
Realigned with unachievable savings elsewhere in the department 
as part of 2017/18 budget setting 
(£31k) other smaller net underspends 

Safer Neighbourhoods 7,831  479  610 £307k Phoenix Leisure Centre - management fee not reducing due 
to delayed capital improvement works. works are now underway 
and on track to be completed in February 2017, but we still have 
the bear the impact of the delay in 16/17. 
£192k Transport service pressure due mostly to loss of Passenger 
Transport income following outsource of the service. Forecast 
assumes part year saving from closing the workshop in January 
2017. Budgets have been reset as part of 2017/18 budget setting, 
so this is a one off pressure for this year only. 
(£27k) Registrars - favourable movement in income. £34k better 
than last month. 
£7k other smaller net overspends. 

Other LBHF Commercial 
Services 

45  149  59  £135k - Ducting Contract - expected income shortfall on the 
ducting contract of £185k offset by £50k proposed drawdown from 
departmental reserves.  
£34k - Markets and Street Trading income shortfall. Options to 
increase income before year-end are being explored. 

P
age 31



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

(£19k) other smaller net underspends 

Executive Support and Finance 70  14  8  £14k small net overspend 

People Portfolio Saving 150  150  150  £150k People Portfolio Saving – this historic savings target is not 
expected to be met again this year. The savings target has been 
permanently removed from 2017/18 as part of the budget setting 
process, through a realignment with ongoing underspends 
elsewhere in the service group 

Building & Property Management 
(BPM) 

(2,780) 837  838  £543k in Advertising Hoardings – Based on the quarter 1 
information received in October, the forecast income from the two 
Towers is £751k below budget. However some of the effect of this 
adverse movement is offset by income over recovery from the 
other sites. Given the challenges and uncertainty from the previous 
year, this area will continue to be monitored closely.  
£71k - Rent and Other Properties. The unfavourable variance is 
due to unachievable MTFS savings of £57k and an unachievable 
income target on Galena Road of £14k.  
£248k in Civic Accommodation.   
£35k Technical Support and BPM Business Support – The 
Overspend relates to staffing costs in Technical Support. Options 
for generating income and internal recharges are being 
investigated to reduce the overspend. 
£21k Building Control – The adverse position is due to lower 
income achieved on small jobs since September.   
(£78k) Valuation Services – Overspend of £91k on staffing costs 
due to the TFM team. This is offset by a rebate from the utility 
contract of (£100k) and a proposed drawdown from reserve of 
(£70k) depending on the outturn. 
(£3k) Other smaller overspends. 

Transport & Highways 13,706  (652) (619) (£652k) Transport & Highways -The favourable overall variance is 

P
age 32



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

due to staff costs that will be chargeable to projects. 

Planning 1,998  250  244  £250k - Planning - The overall unfavourable variance is due to an 
increase in legal charges and costs. The Planning Division are 
using existing reserves to fund a proportion of these costs leaving 
unfunded residue of £312k. It is very likely that these costs will 
increase further during the year.  
 
Planning may be seeing the first drop in applications for several 
years.  This will affect income if sustained.  This is tracked carefully 
each month and adjustments made to staffing as necessary. 
 
See the Risk Profile in section 2 below for further details. 

Environmental Health 3,021  30  13  £30k Licensing Section – The adverse variance mainly relates to 
shortage of licensing income. 

Former TTS Support Services (724)  0   

Total 44,778  226  76   

 
  

P
age 33



 

 
 

2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Advertising Hoarding Income – Significant risk due to absence of up to date income information from 
contractors and uncertainty in income level on some advertising hoarding sites.  

550 800 

Unfunded Judiciary Review expenditure and exceptional items in Planning Division 320 420 

If unplanned costs arise from the termination of the LINK shared service 0 400 

Insurance of the Cecil French bequest - currently stored and insured at Sotheby's at nil cost. This 
arrangement is unable to continue. It is proposed the collection is to be stored in the strong room of Lilla 
Huset for free but the council will need to fund the insurance costs for which there is no budget. 

20 30 

The ducting contract remains problematic as the council has received no contract payments yet. The dispute 
process in the contract is being followed. 

0 186 

Planning applications may fall leading to a loss of income. 0 100 

Total 890 1,936 

 
  

P
age 34



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Environmental Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 2,669 816 1,317 535 

Schemes Delayed/ At Risk £000 Reason 

Additional Rental income 57 Charge to Amey for accommodation is recharged back to the Council 

under the contract. 

Accommodation Savings 245 Delays on the disposal of Fulham Town Hall. 

Street lighting Energy 155 Street lighting LED pilots are running, and plans are in place to roll out 

across the borough.  Currently, the savings are unachieving as a result of a 

start date that is later than assumed in the budget. 

Environmental Health-Private Sector Housing 38 Improving standards in the Private Rented Sector via licensing. The 

additional licensing scheme is not expected to come into effect until 2017-

18, therefore contributions to reserves will not be realised until next 

financial year. 

Additional filming income 42 The filming location library will not be implemented as quickly as 

originally planned this financial year. 

Total 537  

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 

 
This year the Environmental Services budget is seeing the financial impact of a number of factors not within its control, 
including advertising income, Fulham Town Hall, the Phoenix leisure centre, and the transport vehicle workshop.  However it 
has been able to absorb these pressures from other sources. 

  

P
age 35



 

 
 

APPENDIX 6: HOUSING DEPARTMENT - GENERAL FUND 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Housing Strategy, Options, Skills & 
Economic Development 

 7,916   479  20 This mainly relates to a forecast overspend of £967k as a 
result of inflationary pressures on rents for suitable temporary 
accommodation from private sector landlords combined with 
an increase in the average client numbers (811 forecast 
compared to 780 in the original budget). Additionally, incentive 
payments to private sector landlords are expected to exceed 
the budget by £97k and the legal costs associated with reviews 
of complex cases are forecast to produce an overspend of 
£50k. This variance is offset by: 
● a reduction in the net costs of Bed and Breakfast (B&B) 
accommodation of (£70k) due to lower average client numbers 
(106 forecast compared to 130 in the original budget), 
● a reduction in Bad Debt Provision (BDP) because of the 
better than expected collection performance on B&B (£58k) 
and on Private Sector Leasing (PSL) (£317k), 
● and income of (£190k) from the DWP New Burdens Fund for 
the removal of the TA Management Fee Subsidy. 

Housing Strategy & Regeneration  8   62  62 This relates to costs associated with the Earls Court 
Regeneration Project for 70 Lillie Road which cannot be 
funded from capital of £62k. 

Housing Services  44  (22) 0 Review the salary cost of Stable Way Project has resulted in a 
(£22k) saving 

Strategic Housing Stock Options 
Appraisal - General Fund  

0    0    0  

P
age 36



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Finance & Resources 175  0    0  

Total 8,143  519  82  

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Temporary Accommodation Procurement Costs – recent months have seen increased difficulties in 
containing the inflationary cost pressures associated with procuring suitable temporary accommodation 
from private sector landlords. Officers are continuing to make use of incentive payments to private 
landlords in mitigating this risk. In the event that this risk crystallises, the resultant costs will be 
mitigated by the Temporary Accommodation reserve. 

 44   112  

No recourse to public funds - recent legislative changes mean that asylum seekers granted Leave to 
Remain are not given access to public funds. This means that households have the legal right to remain 
in the UK but are unable to access benefits and social housing.  As a result, the Council has seen an 
increase in the number of applications for assistance. In mitigation, officers are reviewing the 
application and assessment process and liaising with colleagues from Adult Social Care Services to 
identify funding.  

 40   50  

Housing Joint Venture - Costs relating to restructuring of the Council's joint venture vehicle are 
expected to be funded from Section 106. There is a risk that costs may exceed the funding available.  

0  175  

Economic Development schemes funded by Section 106 - following changes to the treatment of Section 
106 funds related to the Earls Court Regeneration programme, officers have identified alternative 
Section 106 agreements to fund key Economic Development initiatives and Cabinet is expected to 
approve these in March 2017.  

 155   295  

Total  239   632  

 
  

P
age 37



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Housing Department MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings £265k TA & £140k EDLS 405 265 0 140 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

 
Adult Learning and Skills Service MTFS 

 
140 

Officers are planning to achieve this saving through the implementation 
of a restructure. This is expected to be initiated shortly now the Director 
for Housing Growth & Strategy is in post. 

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
The Housing and "The Housing and Regeneration department currently expects the overall outturn for the year 2016/17 to 
overspend against the budget by £519k. This represents a deterioration in the forecast since last month of £437k. The 
department continues to work on ways to mitigate this forecast overspend. The movement is mainly due to a reduction in the 
average weekly rent margin (the difference between payments made to landlords and income received from tenants) on 
private sector leased temporary accommodation. In addition, there are a number of significant risks to the outturn position 
which are outlined above in the Key Risks section. Officers are working to mitigate these risks and a further update will be 
provided next month. It has not been possible to complete detailed budget monitoring via Agresso this month due to the delay 
on the roll out of key monitoring reports. However, finance officers have met with Heads of Service in order to identify 
significant variances from budget and to ensure that appropriate management action is taken in order to contain cost 
pressures. Nevertheless, there remains a significant risk to the accuracy of forecasts until Managed Services is fully 
implemented.  

P
age 38



 

 
 

APPENDIX 7: LIBRARIES AND ARCHIVES SERVICE 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

1: Variance by Departmental Division 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Libraries Shared Services 3,175 23  14 The variance in month is as a result of further delays to income 
generation projects which will mean that there is an 
underachievement on income for 2016/17. 

Total 3,175 23  14  

 
2: Key Risks 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Declining income levels 10 25 

Total 10  25  

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 

Libraries Shared Services MTFS 
Target 

On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 20 2 0 18 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Weddings at Fulham Library 18 There have been delays in launching commercial schemes for achieving 
the MTFS savings. Weddings at Fulham Library have been delayed due 
to setting up adequate payment facilities, meaning none have been 
booked in year (expected £10k). Bookings are now being taken for 
2017/18. Other schemes such as renting space in Hammersmith Library 
have not yet got contracts in place. This work is underway and income is 
expected from this in 2017/18. Other schemes such as the Amazon 
Lockers were not fitted until October, meaning six months lost income. 

  

P
age 39



 

 
 

APPENDIX 8: PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Sexual Health 5,768  (200) (200) Invoicing is largely up-to-date from our large suppliers, with credits received 
for the previous year and for under-performance on block contracts in the 
current year leading to a forecast underspend for the year.  

Substance Misuse 4,870  (500) (500) Retendering of services earlier in the year moved the use of funded 
packages of care into the Care Management team within Public Health. It is 
now expected that referrals will start to increase and pathways developed by 
the new team.  

Behaviour Change 2,527  (132) (132) Health Trainers performance is below target with an estimated underspend 
of £122k; with some minor overspends in Health Checks and Adult 
Malnutrition, offset by minor savings in smoking cessation. 

Intelligence and 
Social 
Determinants 

60  (10) (10) Small underspends on Specialist Project Work and Health Promotion 
Resource Centre. Delays in obtaining the necessary secondments for the 
Making Every Contact Count initiative have led to underspends.  

Families and 
Children Services 

6,440  263  263  Proposed savings for School Nursing will not be realised, due in part to 
delays in reprocurement and unattainable savings leading to an overspend 
of £408k. This has been offset in part by expected savings of £115k in 
obesity.  

Public Health 
Investment Fund 
(PHIF) 

2,162  39  39  Minor overspends of £39k which is due to projects spending in 2016/17 
which were agreed in the previous year. 

Salaries and 
Overheads 

1,285  0  0   

Drawdown from 
Reserves 

(596) 927  927  The current identified variances show an improved position, and will reduce 
the estimated drawdown from prior-year balances, which is budgeted at 

P
age 40



 

 
 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

£596k and will instead be a contribution of £575k. 

Public Health – 
Grant 

(22,516) (387) (387)  

Total 0 0 0  

 
2: Key Risks 

 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Awaiting consultation response for Department of Health funding formula 0 1,930 

Total 0 1,930 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 

 
N/A. 

 
  

P
age 41



 

 
 

APPENDIX 9: CENTRALLY MANAGED BUDGETS 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Corporate & Democratic Core 5,863  0  0   

Housing and Council Tax Benefits (291) 0  0   

Levies 1,570  0  0   

Net Cost of Borrowing 32  600  600  The unfavourable variance forecast is due to the poor 
outlook for interest rates over the next year which will lead 
to reduced income on the cash balances held by the 
council. 

Other Corporate Items (Includes 
Contingencies, Insurance, Land Charges) 

5,032  (140) (140) A favourable variance of £400k on the corporate 
contingency held to fund the annual uplift in Non 
Domestic Rates is offset by a £260k adverse variance 
due to reduced Land Charge income caused by 
slowdown in housing market activity. 

Pensions & Redundancy 9,450  (497) (497) Past Service costs less than budgeted. 

Total 21,656  (37) (37)  

 
2: Key Risks 

 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Risk of lower income due to interest rates movements resulting from Brexit. 0 500 

Total 0 500 

 
  

P
age 42



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Centrally Managed Budgets MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 1,050 550 0 500 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Investment Income 550 Interest rate movement following Brexit means saving will not be 
delivered. 

Total 550  

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 

 
There have been no additional commitments of resources from unallocated contingencies. Currently there is £1.4m of 
commitments to be funded from unallocated contingencies.  This leaves an unallocated contingency balance of £0.9m. 
  

P
age 43



 

 
 

APPENDIX 10: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – 2016/17 MONTH 9 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Housing Income (76,571) (693) (256) A shortfall of income of £365k is expected as a result of void 
commercial properties and garages (32% void rate).  The budget 
assumed that the void rate on garages would be reduced this 
financial year, but the new team took longer than expected to 
recruit. They are now in place and it is expected that garage voids 
should now reduce in 17/18. 
 
A shortfall of income of £200k is forecast as a result of a delay on 
installing advertising hoardings at Falkland House. 
 
Income from dwelling rents will exceed expectations (£232k) due to 
the number of Right to Buy disposals being lower and the number 
of buybacks of homes being higher than budgeted. 
 
In addition, the speed of the rollout of the Government’s Welfare 
Reform programme has been slower than anticipated and the Rent 
Income team have been very successful in implementing an 
effective rent collection strategy (the collection rate currently 
exceeds 99%). This means there will be an underspend on the 
budgeted bad debt provision (at least £1m). Other smaller 
variances account for (£26k). 

Finance and Resources 15,055  (532) (429) This relates to vacant posts (£133k), recruitment costs (£72k), 
redundancy costs (£80k), printing costs (£40k) and other 
movements (£104k). 

P
age 44



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 9 

Variance 
Month 8 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Housing Services 12,839  (86) (2) This mainly relates to an overspend against the grounds 
maintenance contract of £132k and on removal and storage costs 
of £107k. This is offset by underspends against the budgets for 
grants for downsizing tenants (£95k) and consultation with 
residents on parking controls on housing estates (£84k). 
Additionally, rental income is being generated from the Edward 
Woods Community Centre (£62k). 

Strategic Housing Stock Options 
Transfer 

0  0  0   

Property Services 2,699  (246) 0   

Housing Repairs 13,869  498  0   

Housing Options HRA 350  (29) (14) This mainly relates to higher than expected income from hostels 
due to a lower void rate than budgeted. 

Adult Social Care 48  0  0   

Regeneration 241  24  24  This relates to refurbishment costs at Mund Street, which are 
forecast at £24k. 

Safer Neighbourhoods 585  0  0   

Capital Charges 29,824  (107) (107) A reduction in debt servicing costs (£158k) due to lower than 
expected levels of borrowing is offset by a reduction in interest 
earned on HRA balances of £51k following a deterioration in the 
rate of interest on short term investments (from a budget of 0.55% 
to 0.3%) caused by a reduction in the base rate. 

(Contribution to)/ Appropriation 
From HRA  

(1,061) (1,171) (784)  

 
  

P
age 45



 

 
 

2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Universal Credit: A very prudent allowance was made in the budget for the impact of Welfare Reform, however, 
the full impact of Welfare Reform has not been felt yet. The timing of the roll out of Universal Credit and the 
resultant financial impact is being closely monitored and will be reported on monthly.  

unknown unknown 

Managed Services: the general lack of data available from the system, the lack of systems assurance and 
reconciliation reporting, the time taken to resolve payment issues, the delay in implementing the system for 
leaseholder service charges, delayed and missing cash files preventing rent arrears from being managed and 
the associated bad debt risk, the opportunity cost of officer time in managing issues arising and other factors 
are expected to have both a financial and non-financial impact on the department. 

unknown unknown 

Housing Development Programme: This relates to a reduction in the capitalisation of staffing costs resulting 
from delays in commencing construction on Housing Development programme projects compared to the 
position assumed when the original budget was prepared. 

0 200 

Termination of IT contract: the contract with Hammersmith & Fulham Bridge Partnership has terminated this 
year and it is expected that should there be any additional unbudgeted costs, these will be funded from an 
earmarked reserve set aside for this purpose. 

unknown unknown 

Shepherd's Court Fire - until the insurance claim has been fully assessed and liability has been accepted by 
the Council's insurers, there is a risk to the revenue account. 

0 100 

Total 0 300 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 

Housing Revenue Account MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 922 922   

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000s Reason 

   

  

P
age 46



 

 
 

4: Revenue Overspend Action Plan 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 Mitigating Actions Proposed 
mitigations 

£000 

Responsible 
Officer 

Deadline 

Garage 
Income 

● Officers have made and continue to make progress on reducing the 
current void rate (this has fallen from 35% in April to 32% to date).  
● A programme of capital investment has commenced which will bring 
properties currently unfit for letting to a lettable standard. 
● Policy decision to enable out of borough residents to rent garages and 
to allow garages to be let for storage purposes – rationale in progress 
and meeting to be arranged. 
● It is likely that these plans will generate additional income in 2017/18. 

0 Nilavra Mukerji Already 
implemented 

Commercial 
Property 

Improvements to the management of the commercial property portfolio 
including a review of the voids turnaround process and repairs is 
expected to result in a reduction in the voids rate and an increase in 
income in 2017/18. 

10 Nilavra Mukerji Already 
implemented 

 Total 10    

 £000 

Current Forecast Overspend N/A Net 
Underspend 

Potential Value of Action Plan Mitigations 10  

Overspend Net of Planned Mitigations N/A: Net 
Underspend 

P
age 47



 

 
 

5: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
The Housing Revenue Account is forecast to show an underspend of (£1,171k) against the budget for 2016/17. This represents an 
improvement of £387k in the overall forecast for the HRA since last month. However, the forecast underspend needs to be considered 
in the context of a number of risks as outlined in the Key Risks section above. 
 
It has not been possible to complete detailed budget monitoring via Agresso this month due to the delay on the roll out of key 
monitoring reports. Whilst BT has released these reports to LBHF, they still cannot be accessed by key staff. However, finance officers 
have met with Heads of Service in order to identify significant variances from budget and to ensure that appropriate management action 
is taken in order to contain cost pressures. Nevertheless, there remains a significant risk to the accuracy of forecasts until Managed 
Services is fully implemented. 
 
Further detail relating to the issues arising as a result of Managed Services are outlined in the Key Risks section above. 
 
 P

age 48



 

 
 

APPENDIX 11: BUDGET UNDERSPEND CARRY FORWARD PROPOSALS 
 

CARRY FORWARD PROPOSALS CRM9 AMOUNT 

 £000 

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES  

Planning Division/Policy and Spatial Section 
Examination of Planning and Policy documents- to provide sufficient funding 
for the examination of the Local plan which will begin and end in 2017. Costs 
to be incurred in 2017 will be in respect of Planning Inspector, Programme 
Officer, Printing and other related expenditure. 

50 

Support Services/TTS Finance 
To allow more time to find ways of meeting the financial pressures coming 
from the new apprenticeship levy. Currently spread across all staffing 
budgets in 2017-18. 

109 

Building Planned Maintenance/Civic Accommodation Section 
Pressures of Fulham Town Hall ongoing unbudgeted running costs for 
2017/18. This is the worst case and assumes that FTH is not disposed of 
until the end of 2017/18.  If the disposal is earlier then some of this provision 
can be released. 

245 

Transport and Highway/Highways Project and Development 
Floods and Water Management-To implement future flood prevention 
schemes. Estimated carry forward of £100k as schemes will fall into future 
years. 

100 

Environmental Health/Licence Fee Review 
Fees are being reviewed following a recent supreme court ruling, to split fees 
between the cost of processing an application and the ongoing cost of 
enforcement. This is expected to reduce some licensing fees, with a net 
reduction in income in 2017/18. 

37 

Sub-total  541 

  

CONTROLLED PARKING ACCOUNT  

Parking - implementation of diesel surcharge. 35 

Sub-total 35 

  

CORPORATE SERVICES  

Delivery and Value Dept. 
3SIF Community Investment - carry forward underspends on grants given to 
voluntary organisations in 2016/17 to the reserves specially created to 
support the Third Sector Investment Fund medium term allocation plan. 

150 

Sub-total 150 

  

Total 726 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 49



 

 
 

APPENDIX 12: VIREMENT REQUESTS 
 

Details of Virement 
 

Amount 
£000 

GENERAL FUND:  

Department: 
 
Environmental Services / 
Controlled Parking Account 
 
A virement request of 
£226,000 to Environmental 
Services from the Controlled 
Parking Account. To cover 
planning and building 
services overspends 
 
Corporate Services 
 
A drawdown (virement) of 
£280,000 is requested from 
the Corporate Demands and 
Pressures Reserve to support 
Legal and Contract 
Management work regarding 
the Managed Services 
Programme 

 
 
 
 
 
Debit (DR) £226 Environment, Leisure, Residents 
Services 
 
Credit (CR) (£226) Controlled Parking Account 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Debit (DR) £280 Corporate Services 
 
Credit (CR) (£280) Corporate Demands and 
Pressures Reserve 

Total General Fund 
Virements (Debits) 

506 

  

Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) 

 

Total HRA Virements 
(Debits) 

0 

 

Page 50



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 

27 MARCH 2017 
 
 

 

 

STRENGTHENING SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion: Councillor Sue Fennimore  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery & Value 
 

Report Author: Louise Raisey, 

Strategic Head of Communications &  

Communities 
 

Contact Details: 

Tel: 020 8753 2012 

E-mail: louise.raisey@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report sets out the council’s intention to strengthen its partnerships with 

local community groups and third sector organisations to achieve the best 
outcomes for H&F residents. This approach values community engagement, 
volunteering and leadership while seeking new partnerships and ventures 
which will embolden the sector and provide incentives and opportunities for it 
to secure additional funding for the Borough. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the strategic approach to strengthening community partnerships be 

agreed. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The council supports community-led initiatives and services and is keen to 
ensure that its approach helps to build a stronger and more resilient third 
sector where the focus is on developing new partnerships with the sector and 
where less time and resources are spent on administration.  

 
3.2. Elsewhere on this agenda, this new approach is proposed for the 

procurement of community advice services. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



 
4. BACKGROUND 

 
4.1. The council is committed to supporting the development of effective and 

sustainable communities. This is core to the idea of working with 
communities, rather than doing things to them. 

  
4.2. The council views the third sector as a key community partner in improving 

the health and wellbeing of residents and creating a more inclusive, 
prosperous, and resilient borough.  The objective is to strengthen this 
partnership and work more closely with the sector to bolster community and 
resident engagement and leadership on issues that matter most to residents. 
 

4.3. In 2016, officers reviewed the council’s relationship with the third sector and 
looked for ways to strengthen partnerships and community-led initiatives. 
Fundamental to this review was the administration’s desire to change the 
council’s relationship with third sector organisations, to shift our primary focus 
from the administration and monitoring of grants to more mature partnerships 
that build on community strengths, and joint approaches to problem-solving.  

 
5. A NEW STRATEGIC APPROACH 

 
5.1. The new approach to the Third Sector will involve changes to the operation of 

the council’s internal arrangements. This will involve the appointment of a new 
community engagement officer to lead this approach.  
 

5.2. The third sector officers will be located within a leaner Communications & 
Communities team under the present Head of Communications to provide a 
more outward focused partnership approach to the sector.  

 
5.3. This partnership approach will shift the relationship with the sector away from 

traditional grant monitoring systems to one where high trust professional 
relationships are developed with funded organisations.  
 

5.4. One such approach will be the introduction of longer term contractual 
relationships which enable the sector to concentrate on delivering services to 
H&F residents and which provides the stability to lever in additional resources 
for the borough. This approach is the subject of a separate report on this 
agenda.  
 

5.5. In addition to these internal changes, the new team will support the 
development of new initiatives and support other, existing areas of work. 
These include: 
 

a. Developing Online Communities.  

This work will seek to significantly extend and improve the use of digital 
platforms to engage with residents and community groups and involve them 
more closely in council service design.  

H&F is the first borough in the U.K. to introduce ‘Next Door’, an address 
verified online neighbourhood community contact site. This has already 
attracted several residents to participate. 

Page 52



 

b. Crowd Funding  

We shall seek to better capture local philanthropic, entrepreneurial, and 
charitable funding opportunities and back community interest, participation, 
and resilience.  

The council is supporting Space Hive, which finds financial backers for local 
public realm environmental projects. Three resident ideas have been posted 
and one has already reached its funding target.  

 

c. Adult Learning  

We shall examine ways in which those engaged in local adult learning 
programmes may be able to volunteer and engage in assisting their 
neighbours or local community projects.  

 
d. Community Management of Assets  

In October 2016, Cabinet agreed to transfer, subject to Secretary of State 

approval, the freehold of community buildings to Urban Partnership Group to 

support the organisation’s ability to access new income streams and build on 

a successful record of community-led property management and community 

engagement. Further such proposals will be considered, where this makes 

sense.   

 

e. Establishing a new online platform for speeding up Fast Track grants 

allocation.   

 

f. Developing H&F Ideas  

We shall develop a new crowd-sourcing platform to enable digital 

engagement in service design and improvement. 

 
g. H&F Giving  

We shall establish a new philanthropic and grant-making programme in 

partnership with Hammersmith United Charities and Dr Edwards & Bishop 

King’s, two well-regarded and long standing local charities. The joint venture, 

agreed by Cabinet in November 2016, aims to raise at least £1m in three 

years to support local services and activities. 

 
6. CONCLUSION 

 
6.1. This report sets out a new approach to a more collaborative partnership with 

the Third Sector, which will enhance the ability of the sector to deliver services 
to the public and create better stability for organisations, creating better 
opportunities to lever additional resources into the borough.  

 
6.2. A separate report, elsewhere on this agenda, proposes the procurement of 

community advice services on a 10-year contract, in line with this strategy. 
 
 

Page 53



7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. There are no equalities implications. 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. There are no legal implications. 
 
8.2 Implications verified/completed by: Kar-Yee Chan, Acting Principal Solicitor, 

Tel: 020 8753 2772 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. The report refers to the appointment of a new community engagement officer 

to lead the new approach. This post will be funded from within existing staffing 
budgets. 

 
9.2. Implications verified/completed by: Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning 

and Monitoring, Ext 2531). 
 

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

10.1. There are no business implications. 
 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 There are no commercial implications. 
 
 
12. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

None 

Page 54



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CABINET 
 

27 MARCH 2017 
 
 

 

 

PROCUREMENT OF COMMUNITY ADVICE SERVICES  
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion - Councillor Sue Fennimore  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery & Value  
 

Report Author: Louise Raisey, Strategic 
Head of Communications &  

Communities 
 
 

Contact Details: 

Tel: 020 8753 2012 

E-mail: louise.raisey@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The council has a declared ambition to change the way it engages with the 

Third Sector. This approach seeks to refocus the relationship with third sector 
organisations to achieve the best outcomes for H&F residents. This approach 
values community engagement, volunteering and leadership while seeking 
new partnerships and ventures which will embolden the sector and provide 
incentives and opportunities for it to secure additional funding for the Borough. 

 
1.2. This approach is set out in a separate report elsewhere on this agenda. As a 

first step this report seeks approval for the sustained funding of community 
advice services and sets out the procurement plan to facilitate this.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That Cabinet agrees the approach for funding sustainable community advice 

services and the procurement strategy attached as appendix 1 to this report. 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



2.2. That Cabinet agrees to delegate to the Director of Delivery and Value, in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member, the specification and tender 
documentation.  

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. The council is supporting a new approach to working with the third sector and 

is keen to ensure that its approach helps to build a stronger and more resilient 
sector where the focus is on developing new partnerships and where less 
time and resources are spent on administration. 

 
3.2. The development of a new approach for the procurement of community 

advice services is part of this agenda. In line with the Low Commission’s 
recommendations, the council is seeking to procure 10 year contracts for 
community advice services, based upon an open OJEU procurement process. 
Cabinet approval is sought to approve this approach and the financial 
commitment involved. 

 
4. BACKGROUND 

 
4.1. An early priority for the new relationship with the third sector is to create a far 

more stable base for the funding of community advice services. In addition to 
developing the vision for a broader relationship with the Third Sector, this 
report seeks authority for a procurement exercise to establish 10-year 
contracts for such services.   

 
4.2. These services provide residents with critical advice and legal services in 

areas which have the capacity to assist the council in lowering demand in 
some of its own high cost service areas, including social care, housing and 
homelessness. 
 

4.3. The council has grant-funded local community advice services continuously 
for over 15 years, generally through relatively short-term grants, for a 
maximum of four-years. The continual need for these services is well 
documented and with cuts to legal aid, the ongoing shortage of affordable 
housing in London and changes to benefit regulations, there remains a very 
clear need for these services in the borough.  

 
5. THE CASE FOR CHANGE 

 
5.1. The council proposes that the funding term of 10 years be guaranteed to 

secure sustainable local advice services. This will require the procurement of 
a contract through an OJEU process but will have the effect of saving the 
costs of retendering grants every few years. It will provide security of funding 
for a sector which has experienced an exponential growth in demand and 
potentially permit the successful bidders to lever in additional resources to 
further enhance the service. 

 
5.2. The Low Commission on the Future of Advice and Legal Support was 

established to develop a strategy for access to advice and support on Social 

Page 56



Welfare Law in England and Wales. It published its report on a future strategy 
for social welfare advice considering legal aid cuts, and has now published a 
major report on the economic value of social welfare advice - 
www.lowcommission.org.uk 
 
The Low Commission recommends local authorities should:  

 
a. work with their local advice sector to coproduce ten-year local advice and 

legal support plans, to ensure the provision of a basic level of information 
and advice.  

 
b. commission services working in partnership with the local advice sector. 

 
c. consider procuring local advice and legal support services through grant 

programmes, where appropriate, rather than competitive tendering, and 
should reflect the new Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 in their 
approach, which recognises the added value which not-for-profit 
agencies can often bring. 

 
d. develop local advice and legal support plans for a ten-year period (with 

detailed proposals for the first five years, followed by a broader outlook 
for the second five years), but should be reviewed every three years to 
ensure they remain relevant in a changing environment; local authorities 
should be required to publish a report every three years on achievements 
against planned outcomes. 

 
5.3. The proposal is to take advantage of the Low Commission findings to 

establish a more sustainable funding and relationship with the sector, rather 
than continue the more traditional funder/funded provider relationship. 
However, it should be noted that the financial value of a 10-year funding 
arrangement exceeds the level where this can be done via a traditional grant. 
The level of funding will trigger an EU procurement process. Moreover, there 
are also state aid implications with awarding a grant should it not fall within 
the state aid exemptions. In previous years, the council has relied on the De 
Minimum exemption which allows the grant awards up to a value of 200,000 
euros over 3 fiscal years. 

 
5.4. Longer-term contractual arrangements, for ten years plus, have been long-

established for a range of other council goods and services.  
 

5.5. The council’s view is that more effective and sustainable outcomes can be 
achieved through empowering communities, shifting the relationship from a 
top-down, grant-making approach, to one based on collaboration and 
partnership. 
 

5.6. The rationale for sustainable community advice services is well supported by 
a broad range of policies, research and drivers, including:  
 

 the Social Inclusion agenda (to embed social inclusion at the forefront of 
all council activity);  

Page 57

http://www.lowcommission.org.uk/


 the Low Review1;  

 the impact of welfare reform;  

 and the ongoing work to support local residents within a challenging 
housing economy.    

It is a priority for the council to ensure that residents have the appropriate 
advice and information in relation to their rights.  
 

5.7. As well as enabling community advice services to focus their energies on 
developing and delivering services, longer term funding agreements would 
offer a far better use of limited council resources. A different, more strategic, 
relationship will enable the council to focus on supporting the development of 
partnerships and future local advice strategies.  

 
5.8. Providing secure longer-term funding will offer successful bidders a secure 

base from which they will be better placed to attract additional funding into the 
borough, which would further benefit local residents. 

 
5.9. Longer term funding models also provide a secure platform for organisations 

to operate on a more equal footing with the council, strengthening their 
leadership in the future co-production of services. 
 

5.10. The procurement plan to award a 10-year contract for community advice 
partnerships is attached as Appendix 1. 
 

6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS 
 

6.1. The options for the council fall into two areas. First, the council could continue 
to fund advice services on the current basis, with short to medium-term grant 
awards. This ‘status quo’ option does not challenge the sector to raise its 
game, or fundamentally change the relationship between the council and the 
sector. With public sector budgets almost certain to continue contracting, the 
council is keen to demand more of the sector, both in terms of leveraging 
additional monies into the borough and to provide the critical advice which 
may reduce demands on critical council services. Moreover, such an 
approach could raise State Aid implications. 

 
6.2. The second, recommended, option is to competitively procure the services via 

and open OJEU process. This is the only route which delivers the critical 
policy objective of creating a sustainable funding model upon which a long-
term partnership can be based. 
 

6.3. It should be noted that while the Low Commission recommended 10-year 
long-term partnerships being established via grant programmes, the financial 
value of such a commitment in Hammersmith and Fulham crosses the 
financial threshold at which an OJEU process may be triggered. The value of 

                                            
1
 The Low Commission published its report on a future strategy for social welfare advice considering 

legal aid cuts, and has now published a major follow up work on the economic value of social welfare 
advice.  www.lowcommission.org.uk  

Page 58

http://www.lowcommission.org.uk/


these contracts and the proposed 10-year length, creates a strong case to 
submit these services to a tendered approach as this will help mitigate any 
State Aid issue.   

 
7. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 

 
7.1. It is recommended that Community Advice services be competitively 

tendered, using the council’s online procurement system, with a view to 
offering secure and sustainable 10-year funding.  See Appendix 1, 
Procurement Plan. 

 
7.2. Services will be advertised in three lots: 

a. Generalist community advice services. 

b. Specialist community legal advice and representation (with an initial focus 
on housing related issues). 

c. Specialist advice and support for disabled residents, with an initial focus 
on welfare benefits and welfare reform. 

 
7.3. Providers will be required to evidence that they have: 

a. An existing record of providing high quality and outcomes focussed 
community advice services. 

b. Evidence of significant success of winning court cases, reducing debt, 
securing entitlements/benefits, avoiding homelessness – particularly for 
traditionally excluded communities.  

c. An ability to operate efficient and responsive community advice services in 
the borough. 

d. Evidence of ability to deliver the services at the capacity required. 

e. Evidence of the ability to deliver added value in the borough, including use 
of volunteers, local employment opportunities and additional funding 
levered into the local economy. 

f. Evidence of a range of additional services that will enhance the core offer 
for which funding is offered. 

g. Evidence of the ability to secure and sustain partnerships and 
collaborations within the sector. 

h. Evidence of the ability to operate from suitable and accessible premises in 
the borough with an appropriate staff resource. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. The procurement process will include a robust Equalities Impact Assessment 

report, which will be attached to the Award of Contract decision report.  The 
service level agreements offered will include requirements under the Prevent 
agenda.   
 
 

Page 59



 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. The services that are the subject of this report are classified as Schedule 3 

services for the purposes of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
(Regulations).  Schedule 3 services are subject to the “light touch regime” if 
the value of the contract exceeds the current threshold of £589,148.00. As the 
value of the proposed contracts will exceed the threshold, the council is 
required to comply with the requirements set out in the Regulations, which 
include the requirement to advertise the contract opportunity on OJEU and 
Contracts Finder. 

 
9.2. The Council has a duty to ensure that the procured contracts satisfies the 

Best Value requirements under the Local Government Act 1999.  
 

9.3. Implications verified/completed by: Kar-Yee Chan, Solicitor, Shared Legal 
Services, 020 8753 2772. 
 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1. Current agreements for grant funded community advice services are in place 
until March 2018. 

 
10.2. The total value of current funding for community advice services from the 

borough’s corporate grants programme, the Third Sector Investment Fund is 
£658,171 for 2016/17.   
 

10.3. Under the new proposals, it is likely that the total value of contract award 
offered will be in the region of £510,000-£690,000 per financial year, for a 10-
year period. Funding at this level represents approximately 15% of the current 
overall annual grants budget. 
 

10.4. Members will need to balance several considerations in determining whether 
to agree to the proposals. A key consideration in offering a 10-year 
commitment is future affordability. A 10-year funding commitment is likely to 
reduce the council’s ability to deliver savings in this area. 
 

10.5. Balanced against this is the proven, long-term commitment and need for 
community advice services, which is likely to continue, and the potential which 
good quality advice services offer to reduce demand on existing high-cost 
Council services. Cabinet, in making a decision, should be mindful of these 
issues.  
 

10.6. Implications verified/completed by: Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning 
and Monitoring, Ext 2531. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



11. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

11.1 This report’s recommendation is for the Cabinet to approve the procurement 
plan to let a 10-year contract for community advice services. 

 
11.2 In relation to businesses, it is proposed that the procurement plan includes the 

need to look locally for contractors and where possible for third sector 
organisations.   As set out in this Cabinet Report, contractors will be assessed 
as part of any procurement plan for evidence of ‘delivering added value in the 
borough, including extensive use of volunteers, local employment 
opportunities and additional funding levered into the local economy.’ 

 
11.3 The economic and community benefits will be clearly identified and detailed in 

any new contracts and will be monitored by the client management team for 
these contracts. 

 
11.4 Implications verified/completed by: Antonia Hollingsworth, Economic 

Development. 
 

12. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1. This report’s recommendations if approved, will help give effect to some of the 
key recommendations contained in the two Low Commission reports on the 
delivery of community advice services. Namely, local authorities taking a more 
long-term, holistic, collaborative and strategic partnership approach to local 
delivery of these important services. 

 
12.2. The financial value of the long-term strategic partnerships being sought will 

require a public procurement exercise under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. However, as the services are categorised under these regulations as 
“Social and Other Specific Services”, they fall under a “light touch regime.” 
This will require the placing of a notice in the Official Journal of the EU, and in 
the UK’s Contracts Finder, advertising the opportunity to tender for the 
contracts, but allow the council discretion in how the process is run, so long 
as the fundamental principles of transparency, fairness, and non-
discrimination are upheld. Regulation 76 allows the council to consider the 
“specificities” in awarding the contracts, including, under clause 8 of 
Regulation 76, relevant considerations such as: 
 

“a) the need to ensure quality, continuity, accessibility, affordability, availability 
and comprehensiveness of the services; 
b) the specific needs of different categories of users, including disadvantaged 
and vulnerable groups; 
c) the involvement and empowerment of users; 
d) innovation.” 

 
12.3. Implications verified/completed by: John Francis, Interim Head of 

Procurement (job-share) 020-8753-2582. 
 

 

Page 61



13. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None. 
 

  

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Business Care and Procurement Strategy 

Page 62



APPENDIX 1:  BUSINESS CASE AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY REPORT  
 
 

1. BUSINESS CASE – WHY THE PROCUREMENT IS NEEDED 
 

2. The main body of the report makes the case for fundamental change in how 
community advice services should be provided to residents, and especially 
disadvantaged groups.  In particular - given that demand for these important 
services looks set to continue rising – there is a need for the council to take a 
more strategic, holistic, and longer-term approach to the delivery of community 
advice services. 

3. The council has supported community advice services for more than 15 years. 
The service demand is well established and has grown in recent years following 
changes to benefit regimes and national reductions in entitlement to legal aid. 
There is a strong, well evidenced case for the need for community advice 
services, to support residents with information and advice and to support residents 
with casework and legal representation. 

4. Community Advice services offer vital, often critical support services which protect 
residents’ rights, enable them to cope with and avoid future crises, and enable 
them to move towards stability and independence. Current grant funded 
community advice services currently deal with over 15,000 cases a year involving 
borough residents. most these cases involve either a risk of homelessness, or are 
affected by poverty, worklessness and social exclusion.   

5. Traditionally, councils have funded these services via grant-aid to 3rd sector 
organisations on short-to-medium term basis.  

6. Given the key recommendations of the two Low Commissions highlighted in 
section 6 of the main report, and the findings of the council’s own Poverty and 
Worklessness Commission, the council now wishes to support sustainable longer-
term community advice services via 10-year contracts. 

7. The combined estimated of these longer-term contracts will be above the financial 
threshold contained in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the contracts 
should be advertised in the Official Journal of the EU and a public procurement 
exercise run. 

8. In short, the procurement is needed to: 

a) Improve the quality, effectiveness and efficiency of community advice services, 
and the outcomes these services deliver for local people; 

b) Establish effective and efficient long-term contractual partnerships for the 
delivery of these services. 

c) Ensure transparency and compliance with public procurement law in how 
these contractual partnerships are awarded. 

d) Give practical effect to the Administration’s manifesto commitments and policy 
objectives on social inclusion, supporting vulnerable adults, and redesigning 
procurement to deliver community benefits and encourage the local 3rd sector 
to bid for Council contracts. 

 

Page 63



 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

9. The total current financial value of council-funded funded community advice 
services is £658,171 in 2016/17. It is proposed that there is a single procurement 
exercise for the new service, sub-divided into three “lots”, with the approximate 
budget allocated to each “lot” as below: 
 

 
Anticipated value pfy 

a. Generalist community advice 
£330,000 to 415,000 

b. Specialist community legal advice and representation 
(with an initial focus on housing related issues) 

£100,000 - £185,000 

c. Specialist advice and support for disabled residents, 
with an initial focus on welfare benefits and welfare 
reform 

£80,000 - £90,000 

 
10. The funding for these “lots” will come from the H&F corporate grants programme, 

the 3rd Sector Investment Fund.  
 

THE MARKET 

11. This is a fairly limited and niche market with relatively few provider organisations 
having the requisite processes and systems in place to deliver sensitive services 
at the quality and capacity required. Whilst there are a limited number of 
community advice providers based in Hammersmith and Fulham, with other 
similar 3rd sector organisations based in other London boroughs, this is a small 
provider market for the full range of services the council is seeking for its 
community advice services. Some organisations provide high-level generic 
“advice and information” services, but few provide these alongside detailed 
specialist legal advice services, for instance, on housing matters, and able to 
demonstrate experience of forming effective partnerships, and a high degree of 
trust, with local partner organisations and the local community. 

12. Nonetheless, whilst the supply market is small, officers are confident that bidders 
should be able, through a transparent and robust procurement, to demonstrate 
that they:  

 

a. Have a proven track record of providing high quality and outcomes focussed 
community advice services. 
 

b. Have had significant successes in winning court cases, reducing debt, 
securing entitlements/benefits, avoiding homelessness, particularly for 
traditionally excluded communities. 

 

c. Are able to operate efficient and responsive community advice services in 
Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 

d. Can deliver the services at the capacity required. 
 

Page 64



d. Can bring and deliver added value in the borough, including the use of 
volunteers, local employment opportunities and additional funding levered 
into the local economy. 

 

e. Will be able to offer a range of additional services that will enhance the value 
impact of the contract fee. 

 

f. Secure, deliver and sustain partnerships and collaborations within the 
voluntary and community sector. 
 

g. Will be able, at the time of contract commencement, to provide the services 
from suitable and accessible premises in the borough, and with an 
appropriate staff resource. 

 
13.  Successful bidders will be required to demonstrate that they will be able to secure 

an operating base within the borough at the commencement of the contract in 
order to fulfil the essential requirements of access, partnership, and knowledge of 
the potential client base. 

 
CONTRACT PACKAGE, LENGTH AND SPECIFICATION  

 
14. In order to meet the vision of the Low Reports, and the ambition of the 

Administration’s policy objectives around holistic and sustainable long-term 
partnerships, it is recommended that the contract(s) should be awarded for a 
period of ten-years. 
 

15. Following the requirement within the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 to 
consider sub-dividing contracts in smaller “lots” to encourage bids from SMEs and 
3rd sector organisations, it also recommended that the contract be broken down 
into three “lots” as described in paragraph 9 above.  
 

16. Work on tender documentation, including the Specification, KPIs, and the contract 
award criteria is currently being undertaken. Please see paragraph 24 below for 
further information.  

 
 

OTHER STRATEGIC POLICY OBJECTIVES 
 

17. It is anticipated that the establishment of 10-year contracts for Community Advice 
services, along with other initiatives within the Third Sector, will contribute to and 
help deliver a number of other policy drivers and initiatives: 
 

18. Poverty & Worklessness Commission: it is anticipated that Community Advice 
services will respond positively to the emerging findings and recommendations of 
the Poverty & Worklessness Commission, which is due to report in early 2017. 
The service specification for Community Advice services will reflect relevant 
recommendations made by the Commission that are relevant and appropriate. 

 
19. Housing policy and Welfare reform initiatives: Community Advice services are 

already responding positively to changes to welfare reform and are ideally placed 
to ensure the H&F Advice Strategy provides a sustainable approach to supporting 

Page 65



residents through these changes, enabling the council to make use of its own 
resources to effectively mitigate the impacts for local residents wherever possible.  

 
20. Smarter Budgeting: the council’s Smarter Budgeting (Zero Based Budgeting) 

programme has identified areas where improved working with the Third Sector 
and community legal advice services could offer benefits as well as responding to 
the continued financial challenges facing local authorities.   

 
 

PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE 
    

21. Community legal and advice services are categorised under the Public Contacts 
Regulations as “Social and Other Specific Services, which fall under a “light 
touch” regime. Whilst the contracts must be advertised in the OJEU, the council 
has significant discretion in how the procurement is run, so long as it abides by 
the principles of fairness, transparency, and non-discrimination. 
 

22. Given the smallness and specialist nature of this particular supply market, it 
recommended that the Open Procedure is used, and in a way that reflects the 
Head of Procurement’s advice in paragraph 13.2 in the main body of the report to 
ensure the specifics of quality, continuity, accessibility, affordability, availability, 
comprehensiveness, and the specific needs of disadvantaged and vulnerable 
groups, and their involvement and empowerment are fully met in the 
procurement’s outcomes. 

 
 

 CONTRACT AWARD CRITERIA 
      

23. The contract documentation including the service specification and KPIs are 
being developed by the Communications and Community team, with input from 
procurement and legal services. The drafts of these will be circulated to 
stakeholders for consultation prior to their finalisation and the commencement of 
the procurement. 
 

24. As these are currently being written, and have not yet been consulted on with 
service users, it is recommended the final decision on the specifications and the 
contract award criteria will be delegated to the Director of Delivery and Value, in 
consultation with The Leader and Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion.  
 

 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE 
 
 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT    
 
25. The procurement exercise will be led by Communications and Communities 

team, based in Delivery & Value. An assessment panel (based on the model for 
assessing 3rd Sector Investment Fund grant applications) will act as the Tender 
Assessment Panel.  
 

Page 66



26. The Director of Delivery & Value will be the relevant Director, with the Cabinet 
Member for Social Inclusion as the Lead Member for this award report.  

 
 
CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

 
27. Contract monitoring will be undertaken by the Communities Investment team, 

which forms part of Communications and Community, with robust monitoring 
processes in place including output targets and regular outcome based reporting.  

Page 67



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
27 MARCH 2017 

 
 

H&F POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS COMMISSION - FINAL REPORT 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion: Councillor Sue Fennimore 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: Tom Conniffe, Principal 
Policy and Strategy Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2195 
E-mail: tom.conniffe@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commission has completed its review of 

poverty and worklessness in Hammersmith and Fulham and approved its final 
report with a programme of ten recommendations.  This is herewith presented 
to Cabinet for acceptance. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1. That the Council welcomes the Commission’s report. 
 
2.2. That the Council promotes the report’s findings and recommendations to 

central government and other parties to whom the recommendations are 
directed for action. 
 

2.3. That officers are tasked with producing an action plan and costings for the 
implementation of the recommendations directed at the Council.  
 

 
 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commission is a resident-led 
commission charged with reporting back on its findings to the Council.  The 
attached report is the result of the Commission’s research and evidence 
gathering over the past eighteen months and is presented to Cabinet for 
consideration and action. 
 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The Hammersmith & Fulham Poverty and Worklessness Commission was 
launched in November 2015, at the direction of the Leader, to: 
 

 identify the factors underpinning the continuing prevalence of both poverty 
and worklessness in the borough, drawing upon the perspectives of local 
people living in, or on the edge of poverty and/or worklessness, as well as 
professionals, leading experts and best practice from the UK and around 
the world; 

 formulate recommendations for interventions and/or service redesign, to 
deliver better outcomes for local people living in, or on the edge of, poverty 
and/or worklessness, and increase economic, employment and other 
opportunities for all; 

 make proposals to local, regional and national policy makers for freedoms, 
flexibilities and funding where necessary to implement these longer-term, 
in so doing helping central government to deliver on its agenda of 
encouraging self-reliance in society while saving public funds;  

 
with a view to reporting back on its findings to the Council in early 2017. 
 

4.2. The Commission, chaired by Christina Smyth, a local resident, consists of 
fifteen Commissioners drawn from partner agencies, third sector 
organisations and local residents.  The Commissioners were appointed on the 
basis of specific recommendations and, in the case of the local residents 
selected, following a call for expressions of interest.  They have considered an 
extensive range of evidence and analysis to inform their discussions and 
debates.  

 
4.3. This report (attached) is the fruits of that labour and it makes a series of ten 

recommendations aimed at central government, the Council, partner 
organisations in the public and voluntary sectors and local businesses. 

 
 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. This cover report recommends that the findings are welcomed by the Council 

and that the recommendations are taken forward by way of promotion and the 
development of an action plan. 

 

Page 69



5.2. The HASCSI PAC considered the report at its meeting of 31 January 2017, 
where Members of the PAC and other attendees praised the report and the 
work of the Commission.  The Commission has fulfilled its brief and its report 
has been welcomed by the PAC. 
 
The recommendations directed at the Council should be costed and subject to 
the development of an action plan that sets out timescales and monitoring 
arrangements.  The costing of the implementation of recommendations 
directed at the Council will, inevitably, impact upon timescales for delivery. 
 
 

6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1. As part of the process of the Commission’s research, focus groups were held 
with eighteen different organisations working with borough residents living in 
poverty and/or worklessness and a programme of over 100 semi-structured 
interviews was undertaken with borough residents.  The evidence was 
analysed on behalf of the Commission and this has informed its deliberations 
and the resulting findings and recommendations.  In addition, the consultation 
draft Commission report was circulated to all Council directors in December 
2016, with an invitation to comment ahead of the Commission meeting to 
agree and approve the final version on 18 January 2017. 

 
6.2. The HASCSI PAC meeting on 31 January provided an opportunity to consult 

members of the public on the Commission’s report. 
 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. There are no equality implications related to the recommendation to Cabinet 
to agree the Poverty and Worklessness Commission’s report.   
 

7.2. If the Commission’s recommendations are implemented in whole or in part by 
the Council and its partners, a substantial contribution will be made to 
addressing the inequalities experienced by borough residents living in poverty 
and/or worklessness. 
 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. The attached report is that of an independent resident-led Commission and 
there are no legal implications for the Council in considering the 
Commission’s findings and recommendations. If, in due course, the Council 
proposes to adopt the Commission’s recommendations, the legal implications 
of those proposals will be considered at that time.  
 

8.2. Implications completed by Rhian Davies, Chief Solicitor, 020 7641 2729. 
 
 
 

Page 70



 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. In considering the findings and recommendations of its report there are no 

direct financial implications arising from the officer recommendation to 
Cabinet.  If, in due course, the Council proposes to adopt some, or all of the 
Commission’s recommendations in principle, further work will need to be done 
to ascertain the financial implications of those proposals.  It is at this stage 
they will need to be considered as part of the Council’s financial planning 
process, in the context of reduced resources and competing demands. 

 
9.2. Implications verified/completed by: Andrew Lord, Head of Finance (Budget 

Planning and Monitoring) tel. 020 8753 2531. 
 

 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Report of the H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commission 
 

Page 71



1 

 

THE HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM POVERTY AND 

WORKLESSNESS COMMISSION 

 

FINAL REPORT V1.1 – 27 MARCH 2017 

 

Foreword by Cllr Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for 

Social Inclusion 

When our administration took control of Hammersmith & Fulham Council in 2014, the 

Leader, Councillor Cowan, was clear that, to make real and lasting change on issues 

of vital importance to local people, we needed to involve them in developing policy.  

So we set up a number of resident-led commissions on a variety of issues and gave 

residents full control over the lines of enquiry and conclusions.  A bold move, no 

doubt, but one that highlights the confidence and trust we have in local people to 

deliver robust answers to difficult questions and our commitment to doing things with 

people rather than to them. 

Social inclusion is at the heart of everything we do.  We place great importance on 

fair and equal access to services and opportunities for people whatever their 

background or ability.  And so we mandated a resident-led commission to address 

two topics of particular relevance to this agenda, poverty and worklessness.  In its 

sixteen-month lifespan, the Poverty and Worklessness Commission left no stone 

unturned in its quest to deliver lasting change for some of the most vulnerable 

people in our borough.  On behalf of the council, I am very grateful to Christina and 

all the Commissioners for their time and effort in producing this report. 

I am fully committed to giving everyone a fair and equal chance to get on in life.  Our 

approach to finding answers and acting upon them will allow us as a council and a 

wider partnership to do just that.  And, in tackling deprivation and disadvantage in 

Hammersmith & Fulham, it is my firm belief that the Poverty and Worklessness 

Commission has given us a solid platform to help us deliver better futures for all our 

residents.  We will implement its findings wherever possible, and are already 

investigating how to do this, in order to ensure that poverty and worklessness can 

become things of the past in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

Councillor Sue Fennimore, March 2017 

  

Page 72



2 

 

Chair of the Commission’s statement 

The Commission’s report paints a picture of increasing wealth inequality in the 

borough, and the challenges and opportunities arising from that.  I believe that we 

have the financial, organisational and human resources in the borough to address 

local poverty and worklessness, if all the many organisations and individuals in this 

field, inside and outside the Council, are aligned under a set of collaborative projects 

such as we recommend and if the Council provides a strong lead. 

This report is arranged in two parts: a summary report that can be read as a self- 

contained piece setting out the main thread of the argumentation; and a reference 

report summarising and referencing the evidence base for the recommendations.  

The topic is extremely broad and it has been a challenge to keep all the strands 

going forward coherently.  That we have managed to embrace the topic as a whole 

is down to the Commissioners and the Council’s officer team.   

So I would like to express my thanks to all Commissioners for undertaking this 

journey with me, and particularly for the well-researched papers which form the body 

of the report.  The Commissioners are busy people who gave up non-existent time 

because of their commitment to the issues.  

The Commission would not have reached its destination without the support and 

hard work of the officials who formed the Secretariat.  I would like to add my thanks 

for all personal assistance they have given me.   

Finally, my thanks go to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Cowan, for 

commissioning this report, providing a vision and then trusting us to pursue it, and to 

Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion, for her positivity 

and unfailing support and appreciation.  

Christina Smyth, January 2017  

Page 73



3 

 

Members of the Commission 

The Commission was chaired by Christina Smyth and composed of the following 
members: 

 Christina Smyth, Chair of the Commission 

 Daphine Aikens – Chief Executive, Hammersmith & Fulham Foodbank  

 Inspector Yasser Awad – Metropolitan Police  

 Kam Babrah – Partnership Manager, Department for Work and Pensions 

 Paul Doe – Chief Executive, Shepherds Bush Housing Group  

 Rosalind Duhs – Borough resident 

 Alison Inglis-Jones – Trustee, Trussell Trust  

 Shani Lee – Chief Executive, Desta Consortium  

 Tom Pearson – Head of Special Projects, Imperial College 

 Zarar Qayyum – Borough resident 

 Kamini Sanghani – Borough resident 

 Howard Sinclair – Chief Executive, St. Mungo’s Broadway  

 Alex Tambourides – Chief Executive, H&F Mind  

 Alison Taylor – Director of Operations, Turn2us 

 Adam Tinson – New Policy Institute 

In addition, Joy Arogundade of the DWP and Hannah Aldridge of the New Policy 
Institute served as Commissioners for part of the Commission’s lifespan. 

The Commission was supported in its work by a small team of Council officers 
led by Tom Conniffe: 

 Tom Conniffe, Programme Manager to the Commission 

 Nivene Powell 

 Helen Rowbottom 

 Rob Rix 

 Duncan Smith 

Other specialist officers contributed their time and expertise as required: 

 Zahra Beg 

 Amber Burridge 

 Lee Fitzjohn 

 Anna Waterman 

Valuable contributions to the Commission’s work and report were also made by: 

 Sir William Atkinson 

 Professor Paul Gregg 

 Henry Peterson 

  

Page 74



4 

 

Commission vision, terms of reference and approach  

Vision 

The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (hereafter largely referred to as 

H&F) is located in a relatively wealthy part of one of the richest cities in the world.  It 

supports a high level of employment and enterprise, is home to several multinational 

companies and hosts a world-class university.  Yet, within the borough, entrenched 

pockets of poverty and worklessness still exist that, to date and despite multiple 

interventions over the years, have proved intractable. 

The Hammersmith & Fulham Poverty and Worklessness Commission (“the 

Commission”) therefore set out to: 

 Identify the factors underpinning the continuing prevalence of both poverty and 

worklessness in the borough.  In doing so, it drew upon the perspectives of local 

people living in, or on the edge of poverty and/or worklessness, as well as 

professionals, leading experts and best practice from elsewhere in the UK and 

around the world.   

 Formulate recommendations for interventions and/or service redesign, to deliver 

better outcomes for local people living in, or on the edge of, poverty and/or 

worklessness, and increase economic, employment and other opportunities for 

all. 

 Make proposals to national policy makers for freedoms, flexibilities and funding 

where necessary to implement these longer-term, in so doing helping central 

government to deliver on its agenda of encouraging self-reliance in society while 

saving public funds. 

Terms of reference 

To deliver the vision, the Commission set out to: 

 Define poverty and worklessness in relation to Hammersmith & Fulham through, 

inter alia, a thorough review of available data and intelligence. 

 Oversee a review of the available literature on poverty and worklessness, 

drawing on studies and commissions from elsewhere in the UK and 

internationally. 

 Steer research with local people and groups identified as living in poverty and/or 

worklessness, to identify i) the factors that prolong each state and ii) the support 

and interventions that could increase access to economic, employment and other 

opportunities, helping them to leave poverty and/or worklessness. 

 Make recommendations to regional and national policy makers to help people 

leave poverty and/or worklessness and widen access to economic and 

employment opportunities. 

Page 75



5 

 

 Propose interventions and potentially service redesigns for implementation 

locally, or more widely, to help people to leave poverty and/or worklessness and 

promote self-reliance. 

 Make the case, where appropriate, to regional and national policy makers to 

provide freedoms, flexibilities and funding for programme(s) to tackle poverty and 

worklessness in Hammersmith & Fulham and beyond, to be evaluated in the 

medium and longer term. 

The Commission met every two months, supported by stakeholder consultation as 

required and by working groups as appropriate. 

Approach and methodology 

As originally conceived, the Commission’s focus was on worklessness, but it was 

quickly recognised that this was too narrow a brief and a proper evaluation could 

only be undertaken by investigating the determinants of poverty that led to and 

influenced the state of worklessness. 

The Commission was expected to take between a year and eighteen months from 

inception to reporting and so a detailed work programme was devised in five phases 

to allow sufficient time to complete each phase.  As Commissioners were drawn from 

a mixture of partners, third sector organisations and local residents, meetings were 

scheduled for approximately every two months to allow sufficient time for them to 

contribute to and deliberate on each element of the work programme. 

The five phases of the work programme were broken down as follows: 

 Scope – agreeing the vision and terms of reference, appointing Commissioners. 

 Preparation – data analysis, learning from past H&F programmes and other 

Commissions, literature and evidence review. 

 Investigation – field research and analysis, customer journey mapping, initial 

recommendations production and refinement. 

 Testing and evaluation – draft recommendations/report tested with local 

stakeholders, practitioners and policy makers, expert witnesses, research 

participants. 

 Reporting and deployment – final report launch and implementation. 

Chaired by a local resident and retired senior civil servant, the Commissioners were 

drawn from a mix of national and local partners, third sector organisations and local 

residents with appropriate skills and experience.  They have been supported in their 

work by a small team from the Council’s corporate policy and insight units, with 

specialist expertise drawn in from elsewhere as required. 

A schematic diagram of the Commission’s workplan is below. 

Page 76



6 

 

 

Given its wide range, the Commission’s remit was necessarily strategic and 

structural, and so the specialist needs of certain groups have instead been 

addressed as follows through more focused investigations and processes: 

 Children and young people – Hammersmith & Fulham Council is developing a 

separate but complementary Child Poverty Strategy that will be informed by the 

work of the Poverty and Worklessness Commission.  It will be published in 2017. 

 Disabled people – The Hammersmith & Fulham Disabled People’s Commission 

launched in September 2016 and will consider a range of issues relating to 

disabled people in more depth.  It will report in mid-2017. 

 Business – the H&F Business Commission, launched in May 2016, will report in 

spring 2017 and the Council will publish an Economic Growth Strategy to 

complement it and implement its findings. 

 

 

 

  

Page 77



7 

 

Summary report 

Increasing levels of wealth inequality across H&F are at the heart of the challenge of 

poverty and worklessness in H&F. Great opportunities for change lie in: economic 

regeneration; various excellent current initiatives inside and outside the Council; and 

the enormous human and organisational resources of the borough. 

H&F is a relatively wealthy borough in one of the richest cities in the world.  It 

supports a high level of employment and enterprise, is home to several multinational 

companies and hosts a world-class university.  Yet around one third of residents are 

affected by poverty1, often with worklessness, which multiple interventions over 

decades have not succeeded in eliminating.  The north of H&F has a long-term 

unemployment rate almost three times higher than that in the south2. 

 
Source: LondonMapper

3
 

 

The Commission, made up of local residents and representatives of local and 

national organisations, and supported by Council officers, aimed to understand the 

effects of poverty and worklessness on residents, identify underlying causes, learn 

from good practice, understand what approaches are and are not working and make 

sustainable recommendations. 

Residents told our researchers that they want to: 

 Obtain a better/more stable/full time job or become self employed 

 Gain qualifications/training to improve their job chances 

 Buy a property or live in better quality housing 

 Enjoy better mental and physical health 

                                                 

1
 Analysis conducted by Adam Tinson from the New Policy Institute in January 2017 using MSOA-level ONS data.  

2
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2015. Local Economic Assessment.  

3
 LondonMapper. Poverty and wealth 1980 – 2010.  

 

Page 78



8 

 

 Improve life chances for their families4 

 

Our programme of ten recommendations requires strong leadership from the Council 

using a multi-agency (all sectors) approach, with participation from residents. If we 

can harness the substantial human, financial and organisational resources 

available, we can set a goal of cutting poverty and worklessness in H&F by a 

quarter in five years.  

CHAPTER 1: RESIDENTS AFFECTED BY POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS 

How many residents are affected? 

Although poverty data is not publicly available at local authority level, a bespoke 

analysis carried out by the New Policy Institute for the Commission gives a figure of 

approximately 50,000 or nearly one third of H&F residents in poverty, through 

worklessness, low pay or low resources in old age5. 

How many residents are poor and above working age? 

H&F is in the top ten local authorities for income deprivation for older people.  

According to the Mosaic segmentation analysis 5% of H&F’s population (some 

9,100) are classified as “Older People Inner City Urban – Low Incomes” and 0.7% 

(some 1,274) as “Older People in Sheltered Housing”6.  So we are looking at a 

population of approximately 10,500 of older people in poverty, for whom generally 

paid work is unlikely to be an option.   

How much poverty is owing to worklessness? 

Therefore roughly 39,500 people in poverty are of working age or below.  Using 

Housing Benefit figures as a proxy: 

H&F Residents Receiving Housing Benefit 

 In work Not in work 

Live in social rented sector 24% 56% 

Live in private sector 11% 9% 

 

                                                 

4
 See Chapter 2b.  

5
 Analysis conducted by Adam Tinson from the New Policy Institute in January 2017 using MSOA-level ONS data.  

6
 Based on 2010 MOSAIC segmentation work carried out by EXPERIAN. Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough 

Profile 2014.  

 

Page 79



9 

 

Worklessness appears to be a strong factor in local poverty.  A smaller number of 

residents in poverty are directly affected by low pay, few hours or irregular 

employment7. These factors also have an indirect disincentivising effect on workless 

residents8. Poverty and worklessness tend to be associated with social housing9 

(unsurprisingly since social housing is allocated on the basis of need) with significant 

concentrations in five estates: Clem Attlee, Edward Woods, White City, Charecroft 

and Ashcroft Square.     

How much worklessness is owing to lack of jobs? 

H&F has a high economic base with 1.15 jobs for every resident of working age, 

which is the 7th highest job density in London and is increasing.  However, only 20% 

residents work in H&F and the borough imports many residents daily for work, 

including low paid and part time jobs (ibid.).  This means that residents do not always 

feel it is worth taking the lower paid jobs that people living outside H&F are willing to 

take.  Employers report difficulty in recruiting people with the right skills (ibid.).  This 

points to a jobs/skills mismatch. 

Self-employment rates are high with 18% of the working population running their own 

businesses, but this is lower at the northern end of H&F (ibid.).  Business survival is 

improving from a low base.  So again, the skills required for modern self-employment 

may not be present to a great extent in the workless population. 

Which groups are most at risk of worklessness? 

 People with mental and physical health conditions 

 People from black and minority ethnic backgrounds 

 Women 

 People aged 35+ 

 People with physical and learning disabilities 

 Informal carers10 

 

Long-term unemployment is a particular problem in H&F, with half owing to mental 

health problems; the number of people claiming ESA for mental health-related 

reasons exceeds the total number on Jobseeker’s Allowance11.  Unemployed people 

with mental health problems tend to live in single person households.  Evidence 

                                                 

7
 See Chapter 1a.  

8
 See Chapter 2b.  

9
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b). 

10
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. Indices of Multiple Deprivation.  

 

11
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b). Uses JSA and ESA rates in Hammersmith and Fulham, 

aggregated by area.  

Page 80



10 

 

shows that workless people with mental health problems find it particularly difficult to 

enter or get back into work12.  

Where do affected residents live? 

Of those receiving Housing Benefit, 80% live in the social rented sector and 20% live 

in the private sector.  Deprived neighbourhoods are concentrated in the north of the 

borough.  The numbers of most deprived and least deprived neighbourhoods have 

both gone up over the last decade, demonstrating an increasingly polarised borough 

in terms of poverty and affluence13. 

How much do high housing costs contribute to poverty and worklessness? 

Around one third of residents live in the social rented sector, another third in the 

private rented sector and the remaining third are owner-occupiers.  Rents for those 

living in social housing are around 25% of market rents, so there is real income 

protection for this group.  Fewer poor people rent from the private sector and a 

higher proportion of those who do so work.  New owner-occupiers need to have high 

incomes or capital, but small numbers of long standing owner-occupiers have low 

incomes (ibid.). 

Population profile 

Foreign-born residents made up 43% of H&F's population in 2011 (London has 37% 

and England & Wales 13%).  H&F has the second highest rate of population 

movement into a borough in London, and the fourth highest in England (ibid.).  

Looking at outflow, the effect of the chasm between social and other private housing 

costs is to disable social renters (and their children, on becoming adults) from 

progressing in life, getting a greater stake in their property and remaining in the 

borough.  So those who stay may miss out on opportunities and fall ever further 

behind.   

Future trends 

The welfare reform agenda marks the most extensive changes to the welfare state 

since its inception. Universal Credit (UC) is a new, single, means-tested benefit for 

people of working-age, replacing six existing benefits; Income Support, income-

based JSA, income-related ESA, Housing Benefit, Working Tax Credit and Child Tax 

Credit. It is aimed at maintaining incentives to work.  The taper rate – how quickly the 

benefit is withdrawn as recipients earn more – has been criticised as being too 

steep.  In the 2016 Autumn Statement the taper rate was reduced from 65% to 63%, 

meaning claimants will be able to keep 63 pence of every pound they earn.  

                                                 

12
 Gardiner, L and Daffney, G. 2016. Retention Deficit. Resolution Foundation.  

13
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b). 

Page 81



11 

 

UC applications are made online with claimants managing their own accounts on the 

UC Full Service.  From 29 June 2016, a UC pilot was launched in Hammersmith for 

all new claimants or those with certain changes in circumstances have been directed 

to claim UC Full Service.  Pilot UC schemes were also implemented in Shepherds 

Bush and Fulham at the end of 2016. It is too early to determine what the full impact 

has been on employment statistics and poverty rates, although anecdotally residents 

have commented on delays of up to seven weeks in receiving UC while being 

transferred onto it.  

The Benefit Cap, introduced in November 2016, has capped benefits, and affects 

those receiving Housing Benefit and Universal Credit with some exemptions for 

vulnerable groups.  

Benefit claimants 

Previous cap 

(per week) 

New cap from 

November 2016 

(per week) Impact 

Couples and families 

in London £500 £442.31 

£57.69 per week 

worse off 

Single people in 

London £350 £296.35 

£53.65 per week 

worse off 

Single parent in 

London £500 £442.31 

£57.69 per week 

worse off 

 

Income Support has been changed to remove the obligation to support lone parents 

whose youngest child is aged 5 or over. The Government reduced the way benefits 

change with inflation in 2011, switching from the Retail Price Index to the Consumer 

Price Index, and also placed a temporary 1% cap on some benefits for three years.  

  

Page 82



12 

 

CHAPTER 2: RESIDENTS’ EXPERIENCES OF POVERTY AND 

WORKLESSNESS  

We tried to understand residents’ experiences of poverty and worklessness in two 

ways: 

 Focus groups with 18 organisations experienced in supporting affected residents 

(Chapter 2a) 

 104 interviews with individual residents, conducted by a research company 

(Chapter 2b) 

 

The work included a wealth of detail as well as a richness of suggestions, which not 

only inform our recommendations but should be made widely available to the 

community to take forward.  The research findings are complementary and distilled 

into a single overview below. 

Findings 

Life events – such as family breakdown, divorce, illness, disability, bereavement, 

pregnancy, sudden caring responsibilities and job loss – can, at one end of the scale, 

prevent people looking for jobs.   At the other end of the scale, it is often the 

interaction between multiple and complex problems, or a sudden major problem, 

which starts a downward spiral, and possibly a crisis, from which it is very difficult to 

climb up.  A frequent comment from these residents is that they did not plan their 

lives this way.  Life events and crises drive higher interactions with public services 

and voluntary and charitable organisations.  Residents find that services tend to be 

delivered in isolation from other services, resulting in time wasted through duplication 

and problems being missed.  There is also a distrust of public services as not being 

ultimately accountable to residents.   

Low wellbeing and mental health problems are both a cause of, and are caused by, 

poverty and worklessness.  Key causes are social isolation and the operation of the 

benefits system, and key effects are low confidence, mood and energy.  Socially 

isolated older people experience particular difficulties coping with major life events 

and financial issues on their own. 

Low levels of skills and qualifications restrict job opportunities, particularly in BAME 

communities.  Affected residents generally accept that there are plenty of lower 

skilled/minimum hours jobs in H&F but feel the incentives to take them are weak 

because of barriers, such as the additional costs of childcare and travel and the 

effects of the benefits system.  There is a desire for more skills training, including 

vocational and life skills training for young people. 

Migrants from outside the UK experience distinct difficulties including insufficiently 

good English, an unfamiliar bureaucracy and culture, foreign qualifications not 

recognised, only low level jobs available to them, a lack of awareness of services 

available to help them and the absence of wider community links. 

Page 83



13 

 

Cost of living problems are exacerbated by a lack of awareness of the money which 

is rightly residents’ (underclaimed benefits and grants), methods of obtaining more 

economical goods and services and ways of making more money legitimately (for 

example, by taking in a lodger).  Emotional problems resulting in addiction to alcohol, 

drugs and gambling destroy personal finances; recovery is difficult where residents 

are surrounded by opportunities to continue the addictive activity. 

Poorly maintained social and private rented housing is demotivating, as residents do 

not see how they can improve matters themselves.  It also has negative health 

impacts. 

Aspirations 

Looking to the future, respondents said their aspirations were: 

 Obtaining a better, more stable or full time job or becoming self employed 

 Gaining qualifications/training to improve job chances 

 Buying a property or living in better quality housing 

 Enjoying better mental and physical health 

 Improving life chances for their family 

CHAPTER 3: KEY PROBLEMS AND CHANGES NEEDED 

The data analysis (Chapter 1) provided the Commission with priority areas for further 

investigation.  The findings from both sets of research (Chapter 2) confirmed these 

as priority areas for the Commission to focus on. 

Mental health 

Mental health problems are significant in their own right and have major impacts on 

physical health as well.  In H&F some 30,000 residents are affected by mental health 

issues, a disproportionate amount drawn from those affected by poverty and 

worklessness.   H&F has very high rates of mental health related Employment and 

Support Allowance claims: five wards rank in the top five in London for prevalence of 

mental health related Employment Support Allowance.  Incapacity benefit claimant 

rates owing to mental ill health and other medical reasons are highest in Shepherds 

Bush, Wormholt and White City and Hammersmith Broadway.  H&F has more 

hospital admissions for alcohol-related injuries or illnesses and more alcohol-related 

crimes than the national average.  The estimated number of problem drug users is 

well above the London average14. 

Much of the problem with mental health is linked to poverty and worklessness.  The 

causality goes both ways.  Mental health directly affects a person’s ability to free 

                                                 

14
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b).  

 

Page 84



14 

 

themselves from poor circumstances, and those circumstances adversely affect the 

person’s mental health.  Services do not tend to address the range of social 

determinants the person faces and therefore little progress is made. Social cohesion 

is a key way of preventing mental health problems arising. 

The NHS only treats conditions which have crystallised or already become severe; a 

preventative approach is required to address problems when they are incipient rather 

than full blown.   

Older people 

Social isolation, low incomes and poorer health than the borough average depress 

the quality of life for many older people living in the more deprived areas of H&F. 

Measures to provide emotional support and befriending, together with advice on 

improving finances, would require a much larger number of volunteers but could 

make a substantial difference. 

Low employment rates 

Black and ethnic minority groups are more likely to be workless than the borough 

population as a whole.  The gap is narrowing, but these inequalities are a cause for 

concern15.  Our research has found: 

 Inequality is not consistent among all groups.  Caribbean, African, Pakistani and 

Bangladeshi people experience lower employment rates, particularly for women 

(often influenced by religion and culture in relation to childcare), refugees and 

asylum seekers (ibid.). 

 Employer and DWP attitudes are perceived as more negative by minority ethnic 

groups16. 

 Language difficulties and lack of facility in dealing with bureaucracy hamper 

ethnic minority groups – 15% of H&F households have no people that speak 

English as a main language17. 

Low pay 

The proportion of H&F residents on low pay (less than the London Living Wage) rose 

moderately from 11% to 14% in 2014, but the number of low paid jobs has risen from 

10% to 18%, so many are filled by residents of other boroughs travelling to H&F to 

work (ibid.).  Low level jobs, low pay, underemployment, job insecurity and 

unpredictable hours affecting childcare provision all contribute to the weak work 

incentives at the bottom end of the jobs market. 

                                                 

15
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014.  

16
 MEL Research. 2016. Poverty and Worklessness Commission: Interview programme (See Chapter 2b).   

17
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis (See Chapter 1b). 

Page 85



15 

 

Labour market 

While we have done some business analysis, this work has passed to the H&F 

Business Commission.  However, any findings about reported skills shortages, high 

job vacancies, high job density and low apprenticeship starts are also relevant to 

worklessness.  Key information is not currently available to the Council, including the 

precise skills gaps, why lower skilled vacancies can be hard to fill and why 

apprenticeship starts are so low and tend not to be taken up by older people.  The 

Commission found that in-depth partnership working with local employers has not 

been happening to a great extent in recent years and that there is no substitute for 

this if we are to answer these and other questions.  More importantly, the Council 

needs to work side-by-side with employers in tackling their problems.  The Work 

Zone, which was set up to do just this, with its links to the adult education budget, 

currently does not seem to be fulfilling this function satisfactorily and funds need to 

be better spent and re-allocated. 

Employment support 

According to the Commission’s qualitative research with residents, Jobcentre Plus is 

seen almost wholly negatively (Chapter 2). 

The Council needs to fulfil the strategic role of undertaking a skills audit and forward 

look – with employers – of the skills needed for the future.  Once identified, tailored 

support meeting individual needs has better outcomes for improved sustained 

employment than other methods.  “Place then train” models have been clearly 

demonstrated in academic research to be more effective than “Train then place” 

models for getting people into employment, as employers can co-design the process 

and tailor people’s skills to the job.  The introduction of the Apprenticeship Levy in 

April 2017, which will apply to public and private organisations with a payroll volume 

of £3m and over, will open up more in-work learning opportunities for employees. 

However, employment support programmes are currently designed at national level 

which means they have a tendency to miss local challenges and opportunities to 

help people with the most complex constraints into work.  Targets are based on 

regional or national benchmarking; they need to be based on borough aspirations 

and take into account local inflows and outflows. Only one in four DWP Work 

Programme participants achieve sustained employment18.  The local DWP Work 

Programme has been grossly defective for residents with mental health problems19.  

In fact, insensitive or badly targeted work programmes exacerbate mental health 

problems20.  With the new Work and Health Programme due to start in November 

                                                 

18
 Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Work and Career Support for the long-term unemployed.  

19
 See Chapter 3e.   

20
 Mind. 2016. Life Support.  

Page 86

file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Evidence%20and%20literature/Helen%2035+%20evidence%20review/Work%20and%20career%20support%20for%20the%20long-term%20unemployed


16 

 

2017 (with funding much reduced from current levels) there has been some attempt 

to get local input to the design via the West London Alliance and other parties. 

Instead of top down programmes, and while recognising that some funding to 

support local programmes is available through the Flexible Support grant and 

community budgets, the Council needs to have the total expenditure in its hands, or 

to work as it sees fit in conjunction with other Councils as in the West London 

Alliance grouping.  The Council can then work in-depth with other local agencies, 

such as housing associations and commercial employment agencies. 

We expect similar themes to emerge from the H&F Disabled People’s Commission in 

relation to the employment of disabled people. 

Housing 

The rigid demarcations of housing tenure and other key facts illustrate deep-rooted 

structural problems in the local housing market: 

 At one extreme there is space that potentially could be better utilised. 16% of 

homes (across housing tenure types) are under-occupied by two or more 

bedrooms, and a quarter are under-occupied by one bedroom.  There are also 

over 7,000 second homes in H&F. 

 At the other extreme, over-crowding is an issue in 13% of homes, and, beyond 

that, there is a significant homeless problem. 

 And in the middle there is a high unmet demand for intermediate housing. 

 In 2015 lower quartile house prices were 19 times higher than lower quartile 

earnings21. 

 

Housing costs impact significantly on poverty.  For example, 18% of private tenants 

nationwide are in poverty before housing costs are taken into account and 38% are 

in poverty after housing costs are taken into account22.  The social housing in H&F 

acts as a buffer to what would be even higher rates of poverty, but this stock has 

reduced and the resident population is relatively static23.  Residents feel 

disempowered when it comes to improving or repairing their homes, or public spaces 

surrounding them24. 

It is only possible to make marginal improvements within the current paradigm.  

Breaking through this log-jam will require a new model for housing allocation, social 

housing management and estate regeneration.    

                                                 

21
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. Housing Market Assessment 2016.  

22
 London’s Poverty Profile. 2016. Hammersmith and Fulham poverty indicators.  

23
 See Chapter 1b.  

24
 See Chapter 2.  

Page 87

http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/boroughs/hammersmith-and-fulham/


17 

 

Root causes 

For the myriad of issues faced by poor or workless residents we have sought to 

identify underlying structural problems.  We consider that there are six key root 

causes.  The approaches to address them should ensure that we get the greatest 

outcomes for our efforts: 

Root cause Approaches required 

High levels of poor mental health and 

wellbeing 

Create strong communities. 

Increase income and reduce costs in the 

short-term so poverty does not become 

entrenched. 

Improve life chances longer term to break 

the cycle of poverty. 

Adopt preventative measures to reduce 

the risks of poverty occurring in the first 

place. 

Weak work and financial incentives 

Jobs/skills mismatch 

Too few affordable housing choices 

Lack of overarching goals leading to 

fragmented delivery 

Council to lead multi agency approach  

Discontinuous, top-down approach to 

change  

Devolution and empowerment 

 

These approaches drive the recommendations in Chapter 6.  Before turning to those 

we take a look at past initiatives and attempt to assess them (Chapter 4) and then 

we examine the landscape of delivery organisations in the borough (Chapter 5).  

CHAPTER 4: APPROACHES TRIED IN H&F OVER RECENT DECADES 

Absolute levels of poverty and worklessness in H&F have lessened over the 

decades, owing to the economic strength of the borough, central and local 

government efforts, and the continuous thread of local voluntary and charitable 

activity.  Educational attainment has shown significant and sustained improvement; 

Council housing has been brought up to meet decency standards; supported 

housing is provided by housing associations; and adults in need of social care 

continue to benefit from low cost, high quality homecare. 

However, relative poverty – the inability to full participate in society – is, if anything 

worsening.  Increasing levels of wealth inequality across H&F are at the heart of the 

issue. Between 1975 and 2015 a multitude of interventions have been deployed 

under different administrations to tackle poverty and worklessness in H&F.  Similar 

issues and root causes have been identified as causes over the years, including 

gulfs in housing opportunities.  Interventions have had little continuity with changes 

of political administration at local and national level.  Central government has 

Page 88



18 

 

consistently refused to devolve power, for example freedoms and flexibilities over 

welfare payments. 

Council interventions have been many and various including: supporting private 

sector industrial and commercial investment; training and education to address the 

skills mismatch; support for families with children under 5; intervention in the lives of 

troubled families; youth projects; new places and centres; community self-support; 

parent champions; community development workers on housing estates; raising 

awareness of the availability of welfare benefits; reviewing Council services and 

policies for their accessibility to low income residents; supporting agencies involved 

in preventative and educational work; specific support for disadvantaged groups; 

encouraging enterprise; job readiness support; area regeneration; partnership 

working; construction training scheme; targets; integration of budgets and co-design; 

preventing and reducing crime; attempts at devolution. 

Improvements have undoubtedly flowed from these interventions but monitoring and 

evaluation have been practically non-existent – disincentivised by local and national 

changes of administration – so it is difficult to say how successful these initiatives 

were.  Given the mobility of H&F’s population and the structural problems of the local 

housing market, there may have been significant success enabling people to get on 

and “get out”. 

Reviewing these interventions takes us back to the sixth barrier to change, viz. the 

discontinuous, top down approach to change 25.  Our solution to this is devolution 

and empowerment at all levels.  We:  

 Should assume that public expenditure will continue to be constrained for the 

foreseeable future. 

 Cannot rely on centrally funded initiatives for lasting changes since they are 

dependent on the political cycle. 

 Must develop further the current thrust to involve residents in developing local 

solutions to enable them to drive the changes they would like to see in order to 

fulfil their aspirations. 

 Should be driven by a clear set of locally derived and simply expressed priorities, 

such as those set out in this report. 

 Need increased strategic leadership across the Council and beyond. 

 Should not equate Council leadership with Council delivery.  Resources from the 

whole delivery system across the borough should be re-used or leveraged 

through Council partnerships, relationships and arm’s-length bodies, such as 

social enterprises, as people do not live their lives in compartments, and there 

are large amounts of resources when all is added together. 

 Must undertake long-term monitoring and evaluation. 

                                                 

25
 See Chapter 4. 

Page 89



19 

 

The Troubled Families programme is a prime example of a large, top-down policy 

programme that is expensive and ineffective at national level.  An evaluation of the 

first phase of the national programme published in October 2016 concluded that it 

had ‘no discernable impact’ (Appendix C).   

CHAPTER 5: CURRENT DELIVERY LANDSCAPE  

The local delivery landscape is a mixture of:  

 Local operations, plans and policies of central government (DWP, DfE, DCLG, 

NHS including CCG, GPs, IAPT and STP) 

 Regional government (GLA) 

 Groupings of London Councils (West London Alliance) 

 Third sector delivery organisations and two co-ordinating organisations  

 Housing associations 

 Distinct governance arrangements across Council and NHS functions 

 Distinct elements of the Council (Adult Social Services – one department across 

three boroughs; Public Health – also across three boroughs; Children’s Services 

such as childcare, Children’s Centres, children in care, Troubled Families 

Programme – also across three boroughs; various arms of the Housing and 

Regeneration Department, including Adult Learning and Skills and Section 106 

agreements, managed on a sole-borough basis) 

 Local initiatives such as social enterprises, residents’ associations, community 

champions 

There is also the whole commercial environment, which is important in many ways.  

For example, the number of employers paying the London Living Wage impacts on 

low pay; and betting shops, payday loans companies and equity release companies 

affect people’s financial health and put many into debt. 

We have found that this environment: 

 Is complicated to understand; many people have an incomplete picture, not least 

residents as the end users of the system. 

 Allows for components of people’s lives to be dealt with in isolation, hampering 

progress for individuals and creating inefficiencies in the system. 

 Contains overlapping functions so that the same issue is being tackled several 

times over, often not very well.   

 Has fuzzy governance with several approaches claiming to be the overarching 

one. A good example is provided by the excellent analysis in the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment series, which unfortunately only appears to be loosely 

attached to action under the aegis of the Health and Wellbeing Board, itself the 

creation of top-down government reforms. 

CHAPTER 6: RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 90



20 

 

In the early days of the Commission’s work we considered the role that improving the 

local economy has on addressing poverty and worklessness.  We identified 

partnership working between the Council and local businesses as key, and the 

Commission acted as a catalyst in bringing Imperial College fully into dialogue with 

the Council.  However, the Business Commission was set up in the course of our 

work so recommendations on strengthening the local economy will come from it 

instead. 

In Chapter 4 we identified six broad approaches to address poverty and 

worklessness in H&F.  Our recommended programmes are grouped under these 

approaches.  In practice, of course, some recommendations span two or more 

approaches.  Measures of success have not been defined for all recommendations 

because some recommendations require a broader approach to delivery.  There is a 

danger that defining measures at this stage could focus attention on what can be 

measured at the expense of what actually needs to be done. 

Create strong communities 

Research has demonstrated that getting, sustaining and progressing in work is a 

large part of the answer to poverty for much of the working age population.  But 

many workless residents are not close to being job ready, so we need to start with 

where residents actually are in emotional and practical terms rather than where we 

would like them to be.  This means starting with communities where wellbeing and 

mental health could be better and where social isolation is a key factor.  

Recommendations 1 and 2 are concerned with building social capital, improving 

wellbeing, and supporting people to use the services which will help them.   

Recommendation 1: Develop community hubs to deliver resident-led change 

and holistic support 

Community hubs constitute clusters or networked clusters of the services and 

organisations in a community locality that its residents want.  Residents should be 

fully involved in their design.  They can provide services in a holistic fashion, 

maximise resources from the voluntary and charitable sector and the Council, 

generate income for the community, improve the quality of life for residents and 

increase social cohesion.  Community hubs can offer help with: 

 gaining and staying in employment 

 accessing education, training and development opportunities 

 improving financial capability and resilience 

 developing self-confidence and aspiration 

 supporting health, wellbeing and relationship building 

 maximising income 

Given the particular issues of worklessness and poverty outlined in this report, the 

H&F vision for community hubs could be as “life centres” where people can grow in 

confidence, personal development and skills, enabling some to progress to a 

Page 91



21 

 

pathway to work.  Community hubs can be sited in areas of highest need in H&F as 

a way of targeting resources. 

A linked issue is un- and under-utilised buildings on Council estates.  We endorse 

any exploration currently underway involving tenants and community centres.  We 

have not been able to investigate this fully but recommend that this review is 

pursued vigorously.  One option to explore is transferring some buildings to a 

charitable trust for the use of local voluntary and community organisations as part of 

securing sustainable services at the Community Hubs, and also exploring “air rights” 

to generate income and provide additional housing, as recommended in the 

Council’s Third Sector Review in 2016. 

In the interests of sustainability, we recommend that consideration is given to 

working through a social enterprise model, such as the Urban Partnership Group has 

already set up in H&F.  The Council should provide support to community 

organisations such as these to become community hubs, allowing the Council to 

more of an ‘enabler’ than a ‘doer’.  The third sector can identify and harness 

additional, independent funding streams against a background of likely reductions in 

public funding in future.  There are already various nuclei of hubs in H&F and we 

recommend building on these.  Each hub will be different depending on the 

population served and existing infrastructure.  

The Community Champions initiative funded by Public Health already recognises the 

need for local preventative action undertaken by residents themselves working with 

other residents, and forms a potential building block for community hubs.  CCGs and 

Public Health should have an interest in funding community hubs, since there is a 

strong link between poor health and poverty and worklessness, and therefore the 

holistic approach is strengthened.  Health funding would often be more efficiently 

spent on a broadly preventative service which will lead to reduced health costs in 

terms of visits to GPs and hospitals. 

The face to face service should also be the gateway to introducing residents to a 

simple portal, which we recommend should be developed to link people to existing 

local support services showing them how to increase their income, gain access to 

low cost credit, find out about debt and advice services and so on.  Equally, the 

portal can help identify those who need more support and direct them to volunteers.  

Perhaps this could be done by reusing the research and structure behind the People 

First website, so the Council does not have to reinvent the wheel. 

Recommendation 2: Transform H&F’s volunteer offer 

Volunteering brings huge benefits for volunteers and their clients in terms of health 

and social cohesion.  It helps people on pathways to work and represents 

meaningful work for those whose circumstances prevent them from taking a paid job.  

Our study of the economic health of this sector in H&F demonstrates that the Council 

gets good value for the money it provides to volunteer organisations directly serving 

Page 92



22 

 

residents.  The width and breadth of this sector provides for choice for residents and 

competition between the organisations drives better performance.   

The local population contains untapped potential for volunteers in terms of skills and 

time.  Two target groups would be retired and workless residents.  These and other 

potential volunteers need an excellent website of local volunteer opportunities, which 

can be navigated readily according to potential volunteers’ requirements, rather than 

relying as we do currently on the national Do-It website.  They then may need face to 

face help, perhaps delivered via a community hub, to link them with the right 

volunteering opportunity. 

However: 

 The borough needs more volunteer roles. These are needed in areas to address 

the social determinants of mental health with services such as befriending, 

floating support or crisis mentoring.  Equally, volunteers could be used to build up 

capacity for existing services like social prescription.  More local volunteers are 

also required to undertake advocacy and navigational services, and there is a 

shortage of high quality trustees on boards of volunteering organisations. We 

envisage some volunteer roles could be based in community hubs. 

 Volunteers should be consistently recognised and rewarded by a Time Bank 

scheme to signal that H&F really values their contribution. 

 Strategic oversight requires the ability to track the number of volunteers placed, 

the time they spend volunteering and on what they are doing, information that is 

currently absent and will be necessary to measure the success of the 

Commission's recommendations.  This data would be a by-product of a Time 

Bank scheme. 

 All organisations using volunteers require a more systematic process for 

managing and developing volunteer opportunities.  There are some models of 

good practice in H&F.  There also need to be ways to bring the sector together on 

cross-cutting issues.  This is happening with the current work on a borough-wide 

Advice Strategy but this needs to be done more widely and systematically. 

However, implementation would be problematic under current arrangements.  No 

one body is responsible for strategic oversight and leadership for volunteering but it 

is instead spread between the Council, the Volunteer Centre and Sobus, with no 

clear delineation of function and responsibility between them.  This means that 

things can fall between the gaps and Council funding is potentially spent twice or 

three times over.    

We recommend that the Council should direct some of the funding going to this co-

ordination level over the next funding cycle as "development funding" in order to 

produce a timeline and template for one overall charitable and voluntary sector 

intermediary organisation.  This could be a merger of the functions from all three 

organisations or an entirely new body.  This should include a draft constitution, 

articles of association and trust deeds.  If the new organisation were to be a newly 

Page 93



23 

 

set up as a social enterprise, it would have the same fund-raising advantages as 

outlined under Recommendation 1. 

 Measure of success: 1 million hours of volunteering by 2021. 

Increase income and reduce costs in the short-term so poverty does not 

become entrenched 

Healthier personal finances directly address poverty.  Better money management 

can improve the incentive to work and can start a virtuous circle in the lives of those 

struggling with money problems.  Changes to the welfare system alone require better 

money management skills, with the monthly payments and a need for online access 

and competence that Universal Credit brings under claimants’ direct responsibility.  

There are some solutions and mitigations available but their presence is not widely 

known. 

Recommendation 3: Work with borough experts to reduce the cost of living 

and improve personal money management 

There are excellent local repositories of financial advice in H&F including expertise 

on reducing the poverty premium, avoiding debt, budgeting, buying goods and 

services economically, avoiding exploitative companies, obtaining credit on 

reasonable terms and maximising grants and benefits.  The bodies should be 

involved in training and supporting volunteers in community hubs so that there are 

people in the community who can offer practical advice in this field and are 

knowledgeable about the different sources of information.   This would provide a 

financial health check for all who wanted one, and would also provide excellent skills 

and knowledge for volunteers on the pathway to work.  

As well as reducing costs, people could be supported to undertake local co-operative 

schemes on, for example, shared childcare or ways of raising money, on the path to 

self-employment.   Many people may be able to increase their income significantly by 

use of the Government’s Rent a Room scheme.  This is an optional scheme open to 

owner-occupiers or tenants, including social tenants, who let out furnished 

accommodation to a lodger in their main home.  It allows them to earn up to £7,500 a 

year tax-free, not affecting most welfare benefits.  The level of rent would be good 

value for lodgers in many cases. Greater use of the government’s Rent a Room 

scheme could turn the problem of H&F’s high land values into a solution for: low 

incomes; under-occupied housing; the scarcity of affordable rented accommodation; 

lack of diversity on estates; and social isolation.  Lack of awareness of the scheme, 

limited understanding of what steps are necessary for the scheme to work, how to 

advertise vacancies using existing websites and reassurance for both parties could 

be addressed by setting up an information and advice service.   

Finally, the Council should lead by example, promoting the London Living Wage 

through its planning and procurement activities and spending powers.  The 

Commission would like to see an aim that by 2020 H&F will be a social value-based 

Page 94



24 

 

commissioning borough that is known for working with developers and service 

providers who understand the social impact they can make by paying the London 

Living Wage, employing local unemployed people and engaging with and giving back 

to the community. 

 Measures of success: increasing benefit take up; debt reduction; numbers of 

London Living Wage businesses. 

Improve life chances longer term to break the cycle of poverty 

Recommendations 1 and 2 are about improving residents’ confidence, wellbeing and 

practical circumstances so that, if currently workless, they begin to want work or to 

stay in work despite obstacles.  Recommendation 4 is about turning those wishes 

into reality and requires a borough-wide brokering agency to co-design programmes 

with employers, based on a “place then train” model which are twice as effective 

“train then place models”.   

So Recommendations 1, 2 and 4 share the same concept as the two-part current 

“Work Matters” initiative.  However, we do not think that the execution of this idea 

has met expectations, as to either of its component parts: 

 One Place, whose aim is to provide holistic support service to build confidence 

and skills to the point at which clients can be passed on to services such as Work 

Zone.  One Place locates staff at Hammersmith or Shepherds Bush Jobcentre 

Plus, but our research found that many people did not trust statutory services.  

Instead of expanding this concept to other Council-owned buildings (a proposal 

currently being considered under Smarter Budgeting), we think that 

Recommendation 1 should be implemented instead (community hubs in the most 

deprived areas).  

 Work Zone is a recruitment service focusing on employment skills and finding 

work.  However, its focus does not appear to be on getting H&F residents into 

work.  Out of 397 people helped into work between April and October 2016, only 

112 were H&F residents. 

Recommendation 4: employment support 

The Commission recommends an independent agency to take a strategic view of 

local jobs and workforce development.  It would be formed as a result of a number of 

key partners coming together: employers, local government, housing associations 

and community groups.  This would involve the organisations who know the clients, 

organisations who know the jobs and the political support of the Council.  The 

agency should be grown starting with the north part of H&F where deprivation is 

highest and where opportunities are high. It will need to go through a path of 

development and will require patient work to build-up, starting with small numbers 

and gradually expanding as we establish proof of concept, and build on good 

practice already in the borough.  

Page 95



25 

 

This agency would replace Work Zone.  The focus would be on: flexible working; in-

work progression; recognising overseas qualifications and sourcing English as a 

second language education; mental health and disability training to keep people in 

jobs rather than incurring a time-out penalty; tailored support for people with mental 

and physical disabilities, particularly around retaining them in work, as they are out of 

work for twice as long once they become unemployed.  The perception that 

employing disabled people involves extra cost should be challenged.  

The priority at the beginning should be about engaging large employers who have 

the capacity to help to get this off the ground – the likes of Imperial, Westfield, BBC 

etc., together with community-based organisations who know the clients / customers 

that can be referred.  The apprenticeship levy that will affect all organisations with a 

payroll of more than £3m is being rolled out and could provide an impetus in this 

area.  

Apprenticeships often fail to develop and advance new skills in participants 

especially at Level One.  Employers label/classify standard on-the-job training as 

“apprenticeships” without adding anything new.  The most vulnerable group – and 

the group we fail to support in the UK (we perform badly in comparison with other 

European countries) – is people who lack basic literacy and numeracy skills.  This is 

a major cause of poverty and worklessness.  There is a great opportunity to set up 

intergenerational learning with older people in H&F encouraging younger people to 

develop – simply put, to get better at reading, writing and basic numeracy. 

 Measures of success: Reduction in numbers claiming ESA and other out-of-work 

benefits; increase in number of residents in employment; reduction in number of 

workless households. 

The virtually unbridgeable chasm between social rents, on the one hand, and market 

rents and purchase prices, on the other, is a key structural barrier preventing 

residents affected by poverty and worklessness from realising the aspirations they 

have voiced in the research interviews.  It is arguably the most intractable issue the 

Commission encountered.   

Moreover, while benefiting residents in the immediate present, social rents at 25% of 

market rents in an area of high land values create a large disincentive to moving on 

from social housing, as reflected in the low movement figures.   This lack of 

movement prevents the poorest (the homeless and those in temporary 

accommodation) from moving into permanent housing.  There needs to be a greater 

variety of housing tenures for those in social housing who are improving their work 

chances and wish to improve their housing chances in step with their aspirations, 

while remaining in their communities.  This is easier said than done.    However, in 

general terms it is important to move towards increasing housing tenure options. 

Recommendation 5: Increased housing tenure options 

Page 96



26 

 

To this end, we recommend that the Council is an early adopter of the 

Supplementary Planning Guidance from the Mayor of London.  This will promote 

higher levels of affordable housing in three tenures: social rent; London living rent 

and shared ownership.  The Council should aim to achieve the long term goal of 

50% affordable housing in new developments at the earliest possible date.  The 

Council’s ambition to build 600 more genuinely affordable homes by May 2018 is 

welcome and there will need to be a significant amount of work undertaken on how 

to achieve this step-change in the Borough’s affordable housing provision.  

The Council should promote the shared ownership tenure, in particular to retain 

people who have grown up in the borough and also to students who have lived here 

while studying, as both groups are great assets for the future.  This would mean that 

people on around 35% of median incomes in a particular ward could have some of 

their rent going towards a stake in the property they live in, giving them the 

opportunity for shared ownership.  There are various ways of achieving this, which 

require detailed investigation. 

 Measures of success: numbers in part-owned/part-rented affordable homes; 

numbers of homeless; numbers in temporary accommodation. 

Recommendation 6: community-led estate improvement 

Given significant concentrations of poverty on the large Council estates in H&F, 

these physical environments are important, as the Council recognises.  It is an area 

where badly conceived and executed approaches can mar the chances for change, 

so a careful approach is required.  As the H&F Residents’ Commission on Council 

Housing stressed, the key is for changes to be resident-led. 

This could be done gradually starting with devolution of repairs and maintenance 

budgets to communities.   Our research with residents indicated widespread 

frustration with their dependency on the contracted-out service to provide repairs and 

maintenance, and we understand this is reflected in Councillors’ case work.  Piloting 

an approach which could put solutions in the hands of tenants, such as delegated 

repair budgets to estates, would be an excellent way of testing whether residents 

can have more control and develop their skills and proactivity into the bargain.  It is 

not, however, clear whether the current contract with Mitie allows any scope for this, 

although we think there must be a way of testing this approach on a small scale.  

Key to any such pilot would be the involvement of tenants to participate fully in 

solutions.    

Following on from that we recommend that the Council, leading a full suite of local 

registered providers and other partners, conducts a full feasibility study of the options 

for resident-led estate regeneration in the borough by the end of 2017, with an 

explicit aim of redefining what the term “regeneration” has come to mean.  The 

principle that the assets – the tenancies on high land values – are those of residents 

and it for them to have a large say in how value could be unlocked for their benefit.  

Page 97



27 

 

We also recommend that the Council pilots one or more approaches to tenant 

involvement in estate services and management as contractual arrangements allow. 

Recommendation 7: supported tenancies 

Simply providing Council housing for people with complex problems is not sufficient 

to address the underlying causes that may have led to the need for Council housing 

in the first place.  Local Housing Associations have led the way in supported housing 

models tailored to individual tenants’ needs, such as provision for apprenticeships 

and mentoring alongside housing provision.  The Council should also adopt 

supported housing for certain tenants in need who could then be linked by a key 

worker or volunteer to services they need while providing emotional support. This 

would enable the Council to move away from a simple age-based criterion of need. 

This thinking is in line with recommendations from the H&F Residents’ Commission 

on Council Housing.  If a much greater choice of affordable housing became 

available through Recommendation 5, this could pave the way for time-limited 

tenancies, tailored to individuals and allowing enough time and support to enable the 

resident to work on a plan to reach their own aspirations. 

Adopt preventative measures to reduce the risks of poverty occurring in the 

first place 

Clearly, several of the recommendations would have a preventative effect.  The 

additional recommendation here is for the Council to use available data more 

proactively to spot early patterns which correlate with the risk of crises 

(homelessness, children going into care, addiction), and to develop programmes to 

intervene with support to address the fundamental causes of potential crises. 

Recommendation 8: Develop more preventative services  

The Council’s Smarter Budgeting financial planning initiative has identified the 

proposal for a floating support service led by the Housing and Regeneration 

Department.  This will enable it to fulfil its new statutory duty (being introduced in 

2017) to prevent homelessness and will require an expanded housing advice service 

and an action plan for individual residents to whom the Council has this duty.  The 

floating support service will use predictive data, such as rent payment patterns, to 

identify households at risk of losing their home.  It will take an integrated approach, 

enabling a right first time approach to accessing services.  The project could pave 

the way for the Council using and providing data to predict and prevent other crises 

associated with poverty and worklessness, such as children going into care. 

Council to lead multi agency approach  

The Council needs to set a stronger, simpler strategic direction in the area of poverty 

and worklessness.  In undertaking the work of this Commission, it has been very 

difficult to pull together the whole picture across the Council and the eco-system of 

delivery organisations.  Knowledge and governance are fragmented and not always 

Page 98



28 

 

harnessed by a clear set of strategic priorities for addressing poverty and 

worklessness, or measures of success and monitoring procedures.  There are many 

strategies but it is not clear which are overarching, how prioritisation takes place or 

what the accountability mechanism is for making things happen.   

Setting priorities implies not doing some things or stopping, or not funding, activities 

already under way.  This report has made several suggestions in this regard.  To 

further illustrate the point, we do not have a dedicated recommendation for children, 

because we have been driven by a disciplined set of priorities thrown up by an 

analysis of the data.  However, children are affected by parental unemployment, 

poor housing conditions and the high concentrations of worklessness and poverty in 

parts of H&F, all of which we have prioritised. 

Recommendation 9: Council to take strategic lead in implementing this 

Poverty and Worklessness Strategy across all local sectors 

We recommend that this programme of ten broad recommendations should be led 

and monitored at the centre of the Council.  This requires all the usual structures of 

programme management. There should be a designated Senior Responsible Owner, 

perhaps based in the Delivery and Value Department, which should have 

programme management functions, including the capacity to bring activity together; 

communicate across and outside the Council; involve residents; identify and 

progress cross-cutting issues; and monitoring and evaluation for the programme as a 

whole.  The Commission has involved work by officers to a greater extent than first 

thought and the work of the Policy and Strategy team has started the momentum for 

the programme itself.   We recommend that members of this team could be 

considered for the nucleus of some implementation projects, including consideration 

being given to secondments to work with the community on employment support 

(Recommendation 4) and the community hubs pilot (Recommendation 1). 

The first step would be to communicate the rich findings of the full report to as many 

relevant players as possible with the aiming of aligning efforts across the borough.  

This programme should be carried out using new ways of working with residents so 

that the Council is enabling them to create the solutions they have identified.  

Devolved powers at all levels 

Recommendation 10: Council to lead on discussion of a package of policy 

enablers  

In order to take power for solving problems the Council should seek budget 

devolution in a number of areas.  For example, we do not believe that residents gain 

significant value from the Jobcentre Plus and Work Programme operations of DWP, 

in view of the poor Work Programme outcomes for key groups such as those with 

mental health problems and negative feedback from residents.  Devolving money 

from the day to day Jobcentre Plus operations to the group we propose setting up 

Page 99



29 

 

with employers (Recommendation 4) would mean that decisions are made nearer to 

the people who are affected. 

There are also several regulatory areas where we should seek Whitehall consent to 

vary.  Two examples of this are: 

 Increasing the use of the Rent a Room scheme (Recommendation 3) is made 

easier, as most means-tested benefits do not count rent from lodgers as income.  

However, there is an interaction with Housing Benefit, from which we should seek 

a derogation from Central Government on a pilot basis.  If successful, this could 

enable Government to encourage a wider use of the scheme, or even relaunch it, 

as part of a broader package of measures to address housing shortages. 

 Housing Benefit entitlement changes when claimants’ children turn 18 and are no 

longer classified as dependants.  Many families are unaware of this and it is a 

common cause of rent arrears.  Tension is caused if the “child” can’t contribute 

financially and some families are obliged to turn them out. This cannot have been 

the intended effect in a time of housing shortages. Piloting a change which 

recognises that children may need to stay at home for longer nowadays, for 

example to take a low paid job to get experience, or undertake training for a more 

sophisticated jobs market, would reflect today’s reality and also ease housing 

shortages. 

Based on the findings from the Troubled Families programme review, it could be 

more effective for central government to give local authorities freedoms and 

flexibilities around how to spend that budget in order to have real, responsive impact.  

Knowledge is also critical in effective delivery.  Having a consistent, national 

approach to information-sharing with central government departments provides a 

significantly greater chance of improving outcomes for our residents, businesses and 

visitors if we feel empowered and encouraged to share data to tackle shared, 

complex problems. 

For residents, the Council should build on its approach to involving residents in 

policy and decision making and should consider, in the case of Council tenants, 

devolving public sector budgets to give people more control over their homes and 

their immediate environment.  More control correlates positively with wellbeing and 

will also develop transferable skills e.g. financial management. An early candidate for 

devolving a budget to an estate would be the repairs and maintenance budget at a 

suitable breakpoint in any contracted-out arrangement. 

Finally 

We confine ourselves to ten far-reaching recommendations, preferring high quality 

early delivery of a smaller number of significant projects over a larger number of 

recommendations whose effect could be diluted if delivery capacity and resources 

were stretched more thinly.   

Page 100



30 

 

  

Page 101



31 

 

  

Page 102



32 

 

Contents 

Summary Report 

1. Which residents are affected by poverty and worklessness? 
a. The poverty profile of H&F 
b. Economic data analysis 

2. How residents are affected by poverty and worklessness 
a. Focus group views and insights 
b. Individual experiences and insights 

3. Analysis of problems and ideas for addressing them 
a. Findings from other poverty and worklessness-related Commissions 
b. Business survival and the economic base 
c. Training and skills 
d. Reducing the long-term unemployment rate (including for people aged 35+) 
e. Mental health 
f. Employment for people from black and minority ethnic communities 
g. Part time work and elementary occupations 
h. Vulnerable older people, their wellbeing and support 
i. Local housing and its affordability 

4. Social investment – the last forty years in H&F 
5. The current delivery landscape 

a. National government 
b. The Council 
c. Public sector partners 
d. The local voluntary, community and faith sectors 
e. Private sector  
f. Informal networks 

6. Recommendations 

 Create strong communities 

 Increase income and reduce cost of living 

 Improve life chances 

 Adopt preventative measures 

 Council to lead multi-agency approach 

 Devolved power at all levels 

 Using data and predictive analytics 
7. Best practice  

Appendices 
 
A Collaborators and consultees – organisations and individuals  
B Using data and predictive analytics 
C Troubled Families programme evaluation 
D Community Hubs report 
E Lodgers proposition paper 
F Ethical framework 
G Value of the local voluntary and community sector paper  
H Time bank scoping paper 

Page 103



33 

 

 

  

Page 104



34 

 

1. Which residents are affected? 

Priority groups 

According to the H&F Local Economic Assessment and the Indices of Multiple 

Deprivation, the cohorts particularly affected by poverty and worklessness in H&F 

are: 

 People from BAME backgrounds 

 Women 

 People aged 35+  

 Disabled people (physical and learning disabilities) 

 People with mental and physical health conditions  

 Informal carers  

 Older people 

1a. The poverty profile of H&F compared to London 

Analysts from the New Policy Institute (NPI), Adam Tinson and Hannah Aldridge, 

have provided data analysis of poverty in London and how it has changed, how this 

relates to H&F, the implications of this, and areas of relative distribution within the 

borough. 

Key points 

 Poverty in London is higher than the rest of England, in large part due to higher 

housing costs. 

 Overall poverty rates in London have not changed much from 27% over the last 

decade, but the composition of who is in poverty had. There are more people in 

in-work poverty, in the private rented sector, and in Outer London than before. 

 Administrative benefits data show that H&F has average levels of out-of-work 

benefit receipt for London, although higher rates than all of its neighbouring 

boroughs bar Brent. 

 Poverty in H&F tends to be more concentrated in workless, social rented sector 

families than the London average. Duration of receipt of benefits is also higher, 

linked to higher rates of sickness and disability benefits.  

 Deprivation in H&F is concentrated towards the north western and south western 

boundaries. 

 

  

Page 105



35 

 

Poverty in London 

In 2014-15, 27% of people in London were in poverty after housing costs.26 This is 

considerably higher than the average poverty rate for both the UK and for England. 

Much of the difference can be attributed to the role of housing costs (which includes 

rent, mortgage interest payments, water charges and other similar payments): 

London has largely the same poverty rate as the rest of England on a before housing 

costs basis, before rising to seven percentage points higher on an after housing 

costs basis.  

Figure 1.1. Poverty rates over time in London and the rest of England 

 

The overall poverty rate in London has not changed much over the course of the 

decade, from 26% in 2004-05 to 27% in 2014-15, as can be seen in figure 1.1. 

However, in this period there were large changes to the composition of who was in 

poverty. 

Figure 1.2 looks at this changing poverty composition. The number of people in a 

working family in poverty rose from 760,000 to 1.2 million, while the number of 

people in a workless family in poverty declined by around 100,000 to 800,000. The 

number of people in poverty while living in the private rented sector effectively 

doubled to over 800,000, while the numbers in poverty in the social rented sector 

                                                 

26
 The definition of ‘poverty’ used here is having a household income, adjusted for household size, that is below 60% of the 

median household income for that year.  

Page 106



36 

 

declined and those for people who own their own home remained constant. The 

number of people in poverty in Inner London increased slightly, whereas it increased 

by 300,000 in Outer London.  

Figure 1.2. Change in the number of people in poverty by work, tenure and location 

 

These trends are also occurring across the rest of the UK, though London has higher 

relative shares of both in-work poverty and private rented poverty.   

What lies behind these trends? For in-work poverty, it is partly as a result of more 

people in London working. More people in employment, all else equal, imply more 

people in in-work poverty. But there are several other trends at work as well. The first 

is that an increasing number of Londoners are low paid: in 2014, nearly one in five 

(18%) employees in London were paid below the London Living Wage, compared 

with 11% in 2004. The proportion of both full-time and part-time employees who are 

paid below this level has increased. The other major change is that families who do 

not have every adult working, with at least one working as a full-time employee, have 

become more common in London, at the same time as the proportion of these 

families in poverty has increased from around 26% to 35% since 2003-04.  

The growth in poverty in the private rented housing is again partly explained by the 

growth in the sector overall: from 14% of households in 1991 to 26% in 2014. The 

growing cost of the private rented sector is also behind this: in 2015, the average 

market rent in London was £1,600, 19% higher than five years earlier and over twice 

as high for the average in the rest of England. There are related problems to its 

growth however: it has higher rates of non-decency (30%, compared to 15% for 

Page 107



37 

 

social rented homes), and a higher turnover of residents: two thirds of private renters 

have lived in their current home less than three years (social rent average is 11 

years). 

It is important not to overstate these shifts in the low income population in London, 

substantial though they are. There are still 800,000 people in poverty in London 

living in the social rented sector, and a similar number in workless families.  

How does H&F compare to London trends? 

Although poverty data is not publicly available at local authority level, an analysis of 

ONS data at MSOA (medium super output area – typically 5,000 to 15,000 people) 

level gives an approximate figure of 50,000, or nearly one third of H&F residents, 

living in poverty, through worklessness, low pay or low resources in old age. 

The ONS estimates that the average weekly income in H&F was £1,002 per week, 

compared to £894 per week for London as whole in 2011-12. However, poverty data 

is generally not available at local authority level. 

However, we can use other data as a proxy to understand H&F’s position. One such 

source is administrative data for social security benefits. These have value as a 

proxy as they are means-tested for income: 60% of working-age adults on these 

benefits are in poverty, around three times higher than the UK average.27 This rises 

to 63% for those receiving housing benefit.  

Figure 1.3 compares the proportion of the working-age population receiving out-of-

work benefits in February 2016 across London boroughs. Around 13,000 or 10% of 

the working-age population of H&F were in receipt of one of these benefits, exactly 

the same as the London average.  H&F has closely resembled the London average 

on this statistic every year since 2000. This figure remains higher than all of H&F’s 

neighbouring boroughs, with the exception of Brent which is slightly higher at 11%. 

H&F’s proportion is slightly above the Inner West sub-region’s average of 9.5%.  

  

                                                 

27
 Jobseekers Allowance, Employment and Support Allowance, Income Support and Incapacity Benefit.  

Page 108



38 

 

Figure 1.3. Out-of-work benefit claims by London borough 

 

Despite resembling the London average on benefit claims, H&F differs in key ways.  

Figure 1.4. Working-age claimants of housing benefit by tenure and employment 

 

Figure 1.4 explores one of these dimensions by looking at housing benefit claimants 

by tenure and employment status. 57% of working-age housing benefit claimants in 

Page 109



39 

 

H&F are not working and live in the social rented sector, substantially higher than the 

London average of 43%. H&F has much higher share of claimants in the social 

rented sector overall at 81% compared to 65% in London.  

35% of housing benefit claimants in H&F are working, compared to 47% of those in 

London overall. These taken together suggest that while London overall now has 

majorities of people in poverty in the private rented sector and in-work, this is not 

case for H&F. In other words, compared to the London average, poverty in 

Hammersmith and Fulham is much more concentrated among workless social 

renters in a way that characterised London at the start of the 2000s.  

Figure 1.5. Types of benefit claimant  

 

Another way of looking at this is by the types of benefit claimant in H&F compared to 

the London average. These statistics cover the main income-related benefits but not 

those such as tax credits. 56% of those claiming income-related benefits in H&F are 

claiming sickness benefits such as Employment and Support Allowance (ESA). 

There is also a longer duration of claim for these benefits in H&F compared to the 

London average: 48% of those have been claiming for over five years, compared to 

43% in London overall. This suggests that those on low incomes are more likely to 

be “longer-term” claimants, linked to a higher incidence of illness or disability.  

Geography of poverty in H&F 

Figure 1.6 shows the picture of benefit receipt by ward across H&F. The highest 

concentration of out-of-work benefit claims tends to be in the north and west of the 

borough, around Shepherd’s Bush and White City. This also tends to be the case 

Page 110



40 

 

with both social and private renters. Social rented housing benefit claimants are 

more evenly dispersed across H&F than private renters: for example, there are 

relatively few private renters around the southern boundary with the Thames in 

contrast to social rent. 

Implications for a H&F poverty strategy 

The poverty profile of H&F tends to be older, more likely to be in social rent, and less 

likely to be in work. This has a range of implications for any strategy to tackle 

poverty.  

The first is that this offers some upside. Housing costs are lower in the social rented 

sector, so any prospective income gains are more likely to be realised by tenants. 

Housing conditions also tend to be better, reducing the prospects of fuel poverty and 

poor health resulting from poor accommodation. The duration of tenancies also 

tends to be longer than those in the private rented sector, meaning it should be 

easier to identify families in need and connect them with, for example, advice 

services. 

A larger share of poverty in H&F is related to illness and disability. This means that 

attempts to get people into employment need to take this into account as a potential 

barrier. The longer duration of benefit claims in H&F compared to London also 

suggests that work may not be appropriate for many claimants, and that many will 

have been away from the labour market for many years. This requires realistic 

expectations. This higher proportion of sick or disabled people in poverty means that 

they need to be at the forefront of service design for localised benefits such as local 

welfare assistance.  

Finally, the fact that H&F does not fully reflect the changing nature of London poverty 

in terms of work status and tenure does not mean that in-work poverty and poverty in 

the private rented sector do not exist in H&F. These types of poverty raise 

challenges in terms of the higher transience, lower quality and higher cost of the 

private rental market; and challenges of reducing barriers to progression in-work.  

Page 111



41 

 

Figure 1.6. Benefit claimants by tenure 

 

1b. Economic data analysis  

H&F is a borough of contrasts and contradictions. On one hand we have some of the 

most affluent areas in the country, and on the other we have an increasing number 

of areas considered to the most deprived. We have one of the highest business and 

job densities in the country yet also have a population prone to long-term 

unemployment. H&F has one of the most competitive economies in the country, but 

has a concern around long-term business survival rates. 

While self-employment levels are very high, levels of part-time work are very low. 

While long-term unemployment remains high, we ‘import’ people to work in low paid 

and part time occupations (and hence have a high level of commuting). At the time of 

the 2011 Census, the education level of the resident population was high, but not as 

high as those who work here, suggesting a large degree of underemployment. 

We have high levels of employment in H&F, but at the same time some sections of 

the resident population have significantly lower rates – for example those with 

disabilities; and there are also wide geographical variations across H&F with the 

north of the borough often having an unemployment rate almost three times higher 

than that of the south. 

Research also shows that house prices correlate with economic effectiveness and 

strength, but at the same time are now so high, that most people will now find home 

ownership in H&F extremely difficult to achieve. 

Page 112



42 

 

Background 

H&F is situated in the centre-west of London on the transport routes between the 

City and Heathrow airport. It borders the boroughs of Brent to the north, Kensington 

& Chelsea to the east, Wandsworth and Richmond-upon-Thames to the south, and 

Ealing and Hounslow to the west. The borough has three thriving town centres – 

Hammersmith, Fulham and Shepherd’s Bush.  

It is the fifth smallest local authority in the country, covering 1,640 hectares (Census 

2011). H&F is made up of 16 electoral wards from College Park & Old Oak in the 

north to Sands End in the south.  

Diversity 

H&F is a diverse inner-London borough with people from many different social and 

economic backgrounds, ethnicities and faiths. 

The H&F population is of very mixed origins. Almost 12% are of Black origin, 9% of 

Asian ethnic origin, 6% of mixed origin and 4% are of Irish origin. H&F’s school 

children speak over 100 languages. 

H&F has great cultural diversity, with people from many countries coming to live and 

work in the area; the Irish community since the 19th Century, a significant Polish 

community since the Second World War and the Caribbean community since the 

1950s and 1960s. 

Wormholt & White City and College Park & Old Oak wards have the highest ethnic 

minority populations in H&F, at above 50%. 

Foreign-born residents made up 43% of H&F’s population in 2011 (London 37% and 

England & Wales 13%). H&F ranked the highest in England & Wales in terms of the 

proportion of population born in Australasia (Australia, New Zealand and Oceania) 

as a percentage of the total population (4%), the second highest in proportion of 

population born in France (3%). 

15% of households in H&F have no people that speak English as a main language; 

this is the thirteenth highest proportion in England & Wales. 

The most common foreign languages spoken in H&F are French, Arabic, Spanish, 

Polish, Italian, Somali, Portuguese, Farsi/Persian, Tagalog/Filipino and German, in 

that order. 

Households and Tenure 

H&F is the sixth most densely populated area in London, this also makes it the sixth 

most densely populated area in the country. H&F has a density of 111.2 people per 

hectare. This is double both the West London and Greater London densities. 

Page 113



43 

 

According to the 2011 Census, there were an estimated 84,214 household spaces in 

H&F. 80,590 consisted of at least one usual resident (95.7%); this is the same level 

as in England as a whole but lower than the London average of 96.4%. The number 

of household spaces occupied by usual residents in H&F had increased by 5,152; 

from 75,438 households in 2001 (6.8% increase). 

The average household size in H&F in 2011 was 2.26 persons, a slight increase on 

2001 figures (2.19 persons). This is the 6th lowest average size of any local authority 

in London. 

23,090 (28.7%) of H&F households consist of a single person under pensionable 

age (the 6th highest among local authorities in England); that was a 1.3 percentage 

point increase on the 2001 Census figure.  

22.9% (18,465) of H&F  households contain dependent children (30.9% in London 

and 29.1% in England); that is the 6th lowest level in London and 15th lowest in 

England with only a slight increase (1.4 percentage points) on the 2001 figure.  

The proportion of lone parents also increased, by 1.2 percentage points, from 9.9% 

(7,491) in 2001 to 11.1% (8,981) in 2011. H&F ranks the 21st highest in London and 

94th highest in England on the proportion of lone parents to the overall population. 

Tenure 

31.2% of households who live in H&F live in social housing (either Council or other 

landlord). This is the 9th highest of all London boroughs and is ranked 314th out of 

326 local authorities. 35.6% of properties are owner occupied (including shared 

ownership) and 33.3% are private rented (including those living rent free). 

In terms of the tenure mix within H&F, the North sub sector has the highest 

proportion of social rented properties (44%), and the lowest proportion of owner 

occupied properties (29%). The South sub sector has 42% owner-occupiers and 

25% social rented. 

At ward level, the percentage of households that are social rented ranges from 

almost 56% in College Park and Old Oak, down to just over 14% in Palace 

Riverside. The private rented sector ranges from 41.4% in Avonmore and Brook 

Green down to 18% in College Park and Old Oak. The owner occupied sector 

ranges from 20% in College Park and Old Oak up to almost 57% in Palace 

Riverside.  

Mobility 

At the time of the 2011 Census almost 22% of the population of H&F were living at a 

different address a year ago. This illustrates a high degree of population movement 

into the borough, reflecting a very mobile population. 

Page 114



44 

 

H&F has the second highest rate of “inflow” of all London boroughs, with only 

Westminster having a higher proportion of their population at different address a year 

ago. Nationally our position is also very high – the 4th highest, behind Westminster, 

Oxford and Cambridge. 

Part One – Business and Enterprise 

There is very little data which assesses the overall strength of an economy at a local 

authority level. The data that does exist, for example from the 2016 Huggins 

Competitiveness Index, shows H&F to be one of the strongest local economies in the 

country, ranked 5th out of all authorities. 

In terms of the value of the local economy, the estimated Gross Value Added for 

H&F is in the region of £9bn per annum. 

Like most of the London authorities, the local economy is predominantly service-led 

with very little manufacturing left within H&F. The borough also has a relatively large 

proportion of employees who work in the public sector – not too surprising given the 

presence of two major hospitals in H&F. 

The borough has one of the highest business densities of all local authorities in 

England and Wales, at 68 businesses per thousand residents (ranked 13th out of all 

local authorities). There are approximately 12,500 VAT / PAYE registered 

enterprises in H&F, with an estimated further 7,000 businesses that do not reach the 

relevant thresholds. 

Between 2014 and 2015 there was an 8.6% increase in the number of VAT / PAYE 

registered enterprises in H&F. Whilst higher than the growth rate for England, this 

was low when compared to the growth for London (at almost 11%). The number of 

businesses in 2015 has increased by almost 25% since 2011. 

Based on employment numbers, there are a number of strong industrial sectors in 

H&F. These include the Information and Communication sector, Professional and 

Technical services and increasingly wholesale and retail. H&F also has a strong 

presence in emerging sectors and clusters such as knowledge based industries, 

creative and digital services and life sciences. Other strong sectors include the arts, 

entertainment, and recreation services and the accommodation and food services.  

Weaker sectors include education, construction, and finance and insurance. 

Businesses in H&F tend to be small, with 89% of all enterprises being micro 

business (that is with fewer than 10 employees); and only 0.5% of enterprises have 

more than 250 employees. This is very similar to the make-up of businesses in 

London as a whole. 

1.9% of enterprises in H&F have a turnover of £1m pa or higher. This is low 

compared to Inner London (which is not too surprising given the presence of City of 

Page 115



45 

 

London and Westminster in that region), but higher than Outer London, London and 

England as a whole. Conversely, almost 40% of businesses have a turnover of less 

than £100k pa, higher than Inner London and London, but lower than England and 

Outer London. 

Enterprises also appear to be relatively young in H&F, with 24% being less than 2 

years old compared to 23% for London and 17% for England. 32% of enterprises in 

H&F are 10 years old or older, compared to 34% for London and 43% for England.28 

The fact that the number of business births is greater than the number of deaths is 

significant and drives the increase in the overall number of enterprises in H&F. It also 

indicates a fair degree of business churn.  In isolation, business churn with low 

vacancy rates might indicate a healthy economy, but it poses a risk in terms of stable 

employment, especially given that our population is so susceptible to long-term 

unemployment. 

In 2014, there were 13,465 VAT / PAYE registered enterprises that were active at 

any point. Of those, 1,535 ‘died’ in that year, accounting for 11.4% of total active 

enterprises.  This is the highest level since 2010, and slightly higher than the London 

and Inner London levels (10.6%) and 9.7% for England. 

Of the total number of active enterprises, 2,380 were ‘born’ in that year. This equates 

to 17.7% of active enterprises. This is at the same level as London, but slightly lower 

than the level for Inner London. The level for England is 14%. 

For every business death in 2014, there were 1.55 business ‘births’, lower than the 

1.72 for Inner London as a whole and 1.67 for Greater London. 

As suggested above by the deaths data, business survival in H&F is a major 

concern. Why this is so remains a major intelligence gap. Of those businesses that 

were born in 2009, only 36.5% have gone on to survive 5 years or more. This is low 

compared to levels for Inner London (37.8%), London (38.6%) and 41.8% for 

England as a whole. This is the 7th lowest long-term survival rate out of all of the 

London boroughs. 

Shorter term survival rates are improving though. For those businesses born in 2013, 

93.2% survived at least one year, just lower than the England level, but higher than 

the level for London and Inner London. This is the best survival rate for some time in 

H&F. 

Self-employment in H&F is relatively high – with almost 18% of the working age 

population running their own business. This compares to 17% for London and 14% 

for England as a whole. Whilst the self-employment rates for men are similar to 

                                                 

28
 2013 data. 

Page 116



46 

 

London and England, the rates for women are significantly higher in H&F than they 

are nationally or regionally. 

Self-employment rates are highest in the south and central parts of H&F, and 

significantly lower in the northern wards. 

Job density 

Given the high business density, it is not too surprising that H&F contains a lot of 

jobs, in fact more jobs than there are people of working age. 

Job density is defined as the number of jobs in an area divided by the resident 

population aged 16-64 in that area. For example, a job density of 1.0 would mean 

that there is one job for every resident aged 16-64.  

The total number of jobs is a workplace-based measure and comprises employee 

jobs, self-employed, government-supported trainees and Her Majesty’s Forces. 

H&F has the 7th highest job density in London at 1.15 – effectively meaning there are 

more jobs in the borough than there are working age residents. In other words, for 

every resident of working age there are 1.15 jobs. It is also the 16th highest 

nationally.  

Figure 1.8.  Job density by London Borough 

 

Source: Nomis 2014 Job Density statistics 

Since 2002, job density in H&F has continued to increase at a higher rate than 

Greater London’s and England’s as a whole for the majority of years. The job density 

Page 117



47 

 

figures only decreased from around 2008-09 and 2012-13 with the first drop possibly 

related to the financial crisis. 

 

Deprivation levels 

Despite the economic strength of the borough and high business and job density, 

H&F remains a relatively deprived part of the country, with a deepening level of 

polarisation with more areas now considered as being among the least deprived in 

the country, and more areas considered as being in the most deprived 10%. 

According to updated Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) published in 2015 by 
DCLG, H&F is the 76th

 

most deprived local authority in England (out of 326) and the 
16th

 

most deprived in London.  

There are six measures of deprivation at local authority level and the ranks for H&F 
are as follows:  

 Average score – 92nd most deprived. 

 Average rank – 76th most deprived. 

 Extent – 99th most deprived.  

 Concentration – 129th most deprived.  

 Income scale – 87th most deprived. 

 Employment scale – 90th most deprived.  

In 2015 17 LSOAs in H&F fell within the 10%-20% of most deprived, compared to 25 
in 2010. These areas are mostly in the north of the borough but also in parts of 
Hammersmith and north Fulham.  

Figure 1.9.  Percentage of LSOAs in H&F by 10% national bands (IMD2015) 

 

Page 118



48 

 

Figure 1.9 shows the distribution of LSOAs within the national categorisation of the 
rankings on the overall IMD. H&F has a greater number of LSOAs on the left-hand 
side (most deprived) of the graph, showing that its deprivation is more spatially 
concentrated than the country as a whole. 

7% (12,538) of H&F’s population live in the most deprived decile of neighbourhoods 

and further 15% (26,424) in the second most deprived decile. 24% (24,012) of the 

population are income deprived (in the 20% most deprived) while 15% (19,380) of 

the working-age adults are in the most deprived 20% in the employment domain. 

The population that is in the most deprived decile in the overall IMD score is 13,191, 

an increase from 6,699 in the 2010 IMD. Since 2010 the total number of H&F 

children aged 0-18 living in the most deprived areas overall nationally has increased 

by 107% from 1,529 to 3,167 in 2015. 

However, at the same time, the number of local areas that are included in the least 

deprived 30% in the country has increased from 1 to 11. In summary, H&F has more 

deprived areas than ever before, as well having more areas that are considered the 

least deprived in the country. 

Page 119



49 

 

Map 1.1 IMD 2010 at a local level in H&F      Map 1.2 IMD 2015 at a local level in H&F 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Source: DCLG IMD 2010                   Source: DCLG IMD 2015

P
age 120



   

                

  

49 

 

Qualifications (Census 2011) 

The working age resident population is highly educated. Almost 53% of the population is 

educated to level 4 or higher (i.e. degree-level or higher), with 9 percent having no 

qualifications at all. In terms of degree level education, this is the 7th highest out of all 

local authorities in the country.  

By way of comparison, almost 57% of people who work in H&F are educated to degree 

level of higher, with almost 5% not having any qualifications. 

Given that the proportion of residents who work in H&F is so low, this data does suggest 

that there are some highly educated people who work in the borough but in relatively 

elementary or entry level occupations (“under employment”). 

Part Two – Jobs and Employment 

Economic Activity 

The characteristics of the local population are closely correlated to the overall 

effectiveness and competitiveness of an economy. H&F has a very young population 

profile which means that it has a very large, potential pool that a workforce can be 

drawn from. 

At the time of the 2011 Census, 74% of the population aged 16 to 74 were economically 

active (working or looking for work and some full-time students) and 26% were 

economically inactive (not in employment e.g. retired, looking after home/family, long-

term sick or disabled and some full-time or part-time students).  

The economic activity figure is comparatively high when compared to all local 

authorities, with H&F ranked 50th out of 326 areas. Compared to London authorities 

H&F is ranked 7th out of 33. This effectively means that the actual ‘pool’ of working age 

population that local businesses can actually draw upon is relatively high compared to 

most other English local authorities, and a number of other London Boroughs.  

The latest (March 2016) Annual Population Survey shows that over 76% of H&F’s 

working age population (16-64) is economically active. 

The economic activity rate in H&F has increased by 5 percentage points from 2001 to a 

current level of 107,754 economically active people. The economic activity rate for 

males is 78.2% (the 10th highest in London) and for females is 70.1% (the 4th highest in 

London). 

The northern wards of Wormholt & White City and College Park & Old Oak have much 

lower levels of economically active residents in H&F (67.2% and 67.5% respectively). 

Town and Addison have significantly higher levels of economically active residents 

(78.9% and 78.4% respectively). 

Page 121



   

                

  

50 

 

Out of 37,798 economically inactive residents in H&F, 31.5% are students, 24% retired, 

17.6% are looking after family/home and 15% are long-term sick or disabled. 

Figure 1.10 Economically inactive cohorts 

 

Employment rates 

Employment rates in H&F are high. 77% of the working age population is in 
employment, either as an employee or self-employed. 
 
H&F is currently ranked 139th out of 352 areas in England. Within London, this is the 6th 

highest employment rate, which has seen a significant improvement since June 2013 

(69.9%).  

It is clear though that some sections of our population are not necessarily benefitting 

from, or contributing to, the overall economic strength of the local economy, with wide 

variations in employment rates. 

There are marked differences though in the employment rates by gender. 80.9% of 

males aged between 16 and 64 are in employment – ranked 173rd out of the 351 areas 

with data. Whilst this is reasonably high given the overall employment rate, the 

employment rate for women aged between 16 and 64 in H&F is 74.2%, and ranked the 

106th highest out of 324 in the country.29 

Employment rates vary within H&F by ethnic group. 81.3% of the working age 
population from White ethnic backgrounds are in employment, compared to 66.5% for 
those from Black and minority backgrounds and 51.1% for those from mixed ethnic 
backgrounds.  
 

                                                 

29
 Annual Population Survey 2015, based on all local authorities with available data 

31.5 

24 

17.6 

15 

11.9 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Students Retired Looking after
family/home

Long term
sick/disabled

Other

Economically inactive cohorts (%) 

Page 122



   

                

  

51 

 

85.9% of males of working age from White backgrounds are employed compared to 
67% for males of the same age from minority backgrounds. 76.1% of females of 
working age from White backgrounds are in employment compared to 70.7% of females 
from minority groups.  
 
Those people from Asian backgrounds tend to have higher employment rates than 
people from other minority groups. When broken down by gender, males from an Indian 
background have a higher employment rate than other groups and for females, those 
from a Black / Black British background had higher rates. 
 
Employment rates for people of working age living with specific health problems are 
significantly lower than the rate for the general population. The employment rate for 
those people with a health condition lasting 12 months or more is 57.9%, which is lower 
than the London average of 63.5%.  This is a reduction from 64.7% in 2014.  
 
48.7% of those in H&F with problems or disabilities connected with arms, legs, hands, 
feet, back or neck are in employment, which is lower than the London average of 
55.3%.  This is a reduction from 54.1% in 2014.  
 
H&F has a lower employment rate for people with seeing or hearing difficulties, and a 
lower rate for people living with blood or circulatory problems, stomach, liver, kidney or 
digestive problems or diabetes in employment than London as a whole.  
 
It is those people with depression, learning disabilities, mental problems and nervous 

disorders that have significantly lower employment rates than most other groups of 

people. Only 20.4% in H&F are in employment compared to 33.8% in 2014 and 

compared to 36.4% in London as a whole. 

Employment rates for carers are also low when compared to the general population, 

especially among those carers who provide the most intensive levels of care. 

Workplace compared to resident occupations 

There are large differences between the workplace (i.e. those that work in H&F 

regardless of where they live) and resident-based occupations (i.e. those who live in the 

borough regardless of where they work). 

Those who reside in H&F tend to work as corporate managers and directors or are 

business, media and public service professionals (or associate professionals). These 

three groups make up around 40% of all occupations of residents. 

For those who work in H&F, the occupational structure is less focused on specific 

groups.  Professionals and associate professionals appear again, but this time with 

those who work in elementary occupations, sales professions and administrative 

professions. 

Page 123



   

                

  

52 

 

This difference shows that H&F effectively ‘imports’ people to work in specific 

occupations. These tend to be those at the lower end of the pay spectrum including 

construction, caring and personal service occupations, sales and administration. 

It is therefore not too surprising that the mean income of those who work full time and 

reside in H&F is significantly higher than those that work full time in the borough – 

almost 24% higher. This is the sixth highest variance between resident and workplace 

based incomes out of all the London boroughs. 

Commuting 

The daytime population of the borough increases rapidly. 90,331 people commute into 

H&F from other local authorities in the UK.  65,241 people commute out of H&F to other 

local authorities in the UK or abroad.  Overall, commuting results in a daytime 

population increase of 25,090 people in H&F. 

In 2011, 20% of H&F residents worked in the borough. This is the 8th lowest rate in 

London. Westminster (including City of London) has the highest rate with 54% and 

Lambeth has the lowest with 15.2%. 

In 2011, 15.2% of those who work in H&F also lived in the borough. This is the 6th 

lowest rate in London. Croydon has the highest rate with 54.8%.  Including the City of 

London, Westminster has the lowest rate with 5.4%. 

Working Patterns 

The proportion of residents who work between 10 and 34 hours per week has steadily 

declined since 2004, to a current position of 18.2%. Similarly the proportion of residents 

that work 35-44 hours has remained fairly consistent and is currently at 41%. 

Out of all English local authorities, H&F has the 3rd lowest proportion of residents who 

work less than 35 hours per week, with just over 21% of the population working less 

than 35 hours per week compared to 27% for London and over 31% for England as a 

whole. 

There are significant variations locally and nationally between genders, with the 

proportion of female residents working part time being over double that of males (11.3% 

for males, 24.2% for females in H&F).  The level of males working part time is low (149th 

lowest out of 329) and the rate of females working part time stands out as particularly 

low (ranked the third lowest out of 329 local authorities). 

For some reason employers in the borough struggle to fill local part time vacancies with 

local people and this warrants further investigation as the supply of part time jobs in 

H&F is comparatively high. Almost 18% of H&F residents work part time, but this is low 

when compared to over 22% for the workplace-based population.  

JSA Claimants 

Page 124



   

                

  

53 

 

Jobseeker’s Allowance is the main benefit for unemployed people.  To qualify for JSA 
applicants must normally be capable of, and actively seeking work. Usually claimants 
have to be 18 or over, but is possible to claim if 16 or over if ‘severe hardship can be 
proven if not in receipt of JSA’. Claimants must be under pension age. 
 
1.7% of the H&F population aged 16-64 in 2016 received JSA, compared to 2.1% in 
2015. The rate is on par with London (1.6%) and the UK (1.5%) as a whole.  
 
In real terms, H&F has seen a 20% decrease between the two years. London has seen 
a 19% decrease and the UK has seen a 22% decrease over the same period. 
 
As of April 2016, the southern wards of Palace Riverside, Munster, Parsons Green and 
Munster have the three lowest claimant rates in H&F (at 0.6%, 0.8% and 0.9% 
respectively). 
 
The central and northern wards of Wormholt and White City, Shepherd’s Bush Green 
and Askew have the four highest JSA claimant rates in H&F (at 3.4%, 2.7%, and 2.5% 
respectively). 
 
At a sub-borough level the north of the borough has the highest rate of JSA claimants at 
1.4% of the population aged 16-64, compared to 2.1% in the central area, and 1.5% for 
the south. 
 
Comparing April 2015 and April 2016, all three sub-areas of the borough have seen 

decreases in the numbers of JSA claimants. The south has seen a 23% reduction, the 

north a 20% reduction and the central sub-area 17%.  

Data from April 2016 suggests that a large proportion of those claiming JSA in H&F are 
aged 25-49 years old (60%), which falls in line with London (58%) and England (58%).   
 
In H&F, 16-24 year olds make up 8% of those claiming JSA, compared to 13% in 
London and 15% in the UK.  In relation to those aged 50-64 years old, the borough has 
a higher percentage than London or the UK, with 32% of those claiming JSA falling into 
this age group compared to 29% in London and 27% in England.  70% of JSA claimants 
in H&F are aged 35 years and over compared to 63% for London and 59% for England. 
 
Long-term unemployment is defined as claiming JSA for six months or more. Since 
entering recession, the general trend for H&F, London and the UK has been upwards, 
and overall there was a significant rise in claimants between April 2010 and April 2013. 
The number of claimants on long-term JSA peaked in April 2014 but has started to 
decline again.  
 
However, H&F’s population remains susceptible to long-term, entrenched 

unemployment. 

Page 125



   

                

  

54 

 

In February 2016, 1,090 (48.2%) of all JSA claimants in H&F are in long-term 

unemployment (39.7% in London and 41.2% in the UK); this is the 3rd highest level in 

London and 47th highest in the UK.30 

Figure 1.11 shows the 10-year trend in long-term JSA claimants.  Since entering 

recession, the general trend for H&F, London and the UK has been upwards, with both 

London and the UK seeing a decrease since Spring 2013.  However, H&F remains 

significantly higher than the UK and Greater London. 

Figure 1.11.  Long-term (6+ months) claimants as % of all claimants 

 

Number of JSA claimants (duration 12+ months) 

In February 2016, 770 (34%) of all JSA claimants in H&F have been claiming for 12 

months or more (24.5% in London and 26.8% in the UK); this is the 2nd highest level in 

London and 35th highest in the UK. 

Figure 1.12 shows the 10-year trend in long-term JSA claimants. Since entering 

recession, the general trend for H&F, London and the UK has been upwards, with both 

London and the UK seeing a decrease since Spring 2013. 

                                                 

30
 Source: DWP, Feb 2016 

Page 126



   

                

  

55 

 

Figure 1.12.  Long-term (12+ months) claimants as % of all claimants 

 

 
As before there are wide variations, with the long-term claimant rate in the north of the 
borough being almost three times that of the south, and twice as high as the central 
sub-area. The Wormholt and White City and Shepherd’s Bush Green wards have the 
highest long-term unemployment rates. 

Housing and affordability 

Previous research such as Experian Resilience and the Huggins Competitiveness Index 
point to house prices being a good indicator of economic strength and resilience. 

Historically H&F has a very high average house price when compared to other parts of 
the country and most other London boroughs. H&F remains a very attractive place to 
live.  

At March 2016, the average price for a property sold was almost £767k, compared to 

£467k for London. Since January 2013, Figure 1.13 shows a relatively steady increase 

in house prices, but from September H&F has seen a changeable market compared to 

London and England, which have both remained on the increase.  

  

Page 127



   

                

  

56 

 

Figure 1.13.  Long-term trend in average house prices for H&F and London  

 

Source: UKHPI June 2016 

Affordability of Entry Level Housing 

Figure 1.14 below shows a trend in lower quartile house prices for H&F compared to 

London and for the last ten years. Lower quartile house prices are often used as proxies 

for entry level housing. The entry level house price in H&F is now £500k, compared to 

£295K for London and £140k for England as a whole. 

Figure 1.14.  Trend in lower quartile prices 

 

Source: HPSSA Dataset 15. Lower quartile house price for national and subnational geographies, quarterly rolling year, published 

June 2016 

Page 128



   

                

  

57 

 

Table 1.1 below shows the trend in the ratio between lower quartile house prices and 

the lower quartile earnings for each of the London boroughs. The affordability ratios are 

calculated using ONS House Prices Statistics (based on Land Registry data) and 

earnings from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings. The earnings relate to the 

respondents’ place of work rather than place of residence. This means that affordability 

in commuter areas reflects the earning power of commuters. 

In 2015, lower quartile house prices were 19 times higher than the lower quartile 

earnings.  This is the 3rd highest of all the London boroughs and 3rd highest nationally 

(out of 326 local authorities). This ratio of 19 is the highest in H&F since records began 

and highlights the continuing difficulty in purchasing properties in the borough, 

especially for low or middle income families and those in key worker professions.  

Table 1.1 – trend in the lower quartile house price / lower quartile earnings ratio

 

Source: DCLG live tables, Table 576 Ratio of lower quartile house price to lower quartile earnings by district, from 2015.Please 

note: London, Outer-London and Inner London ratios are all average of the 33 local authorities in London 

Page 129



   

                

  

58 

 

  

Page 130



   

                

  

59 

 

2. How residents are affected by poverty and worklessness 

Focus group were carried out with 18 H&F-based voluntary and community sector 
organisations and a total of 104 individual interviews with H&F residents affected by 
poverty and worklessness were conducted by an independent research company.  
 
2a. Focus group views and insights 
 
Methodology  

The Commission’s data analysis identified the priority groups most affected by poverty 
and worklessness in H&F. Organisations supporting and working with these priority 
groups were each invited to nominate representatives to attend one of a series of focus 
groups in order to share their experiences of and insights from working with people in 
poverty and/or worklessness.  Eighteen focus groups were conducted with voluntary 
and community sector organisations operating in H&F, facilitated by Commissioners 
and Council officials.  A full list of organisations is included in Appendix A of the report.   
 
The research complies with the Ethical Framework developed for the Commission (see 
Appendix D) and adheres to data protection requirements. The Youth Council also fed 
in their priorities to help shape the questions asked of participants. 
 
The focus group meetings took place from 7 July to 17 August 2016.  
 
Findings 
 
Young People 

Young people are not taught the life skills necessary to gain employment and manage 
money, and there is not enough support for those who are not academically-minded. 
This stigma is felt by young people, particularly surrounding apprenticeships and BTEC 
qualifications.  
 
Older People 

Isolation was identified as a common problem for older people, not just those in poverty. 
Moving out of a family home and into unfamiliar areas can lead to a spiral of isolation, 
withdrawal and loneliness.  
 
Many are living in homes unfit for people with limited mobility, particularly in the private 
rented sector.  One group commented that even three steps in front of a house can 
cause isolation.  Older people who want to keep their privately-owned homes are 
unaware of potential benefits or services for which they might be eligible. They are 
targeted by, and in some cases turning to, “equity release” companies aiming to 
convince them to liquidate their assets.  Older people often distrust social services, who 
they feel pressure them into moving.  
 
Hospital discharge is particularly challenging. The strain on statutory services and social 
workers means that third sector organisations are becoming integral to providing care. 

Page 131



   

                

  

60 

 

Instances of hoarding and older people falling victim to doorstep conmen are common 
problems.  
 
Case study: An eighty-year-old client lived in a house worth over one million pounds, 
but was still in work due to accruing debts. The client refused to tell her children about 
the situation due to embarrassment and pride, and they continued to borrow money 
from their mother because they assumed she could afford it. As a result, she continued 
to borrow against the property, meaning the house will eventually be in the hands of the 
asset liquidation company.  
 
Carers 

Carers experience high levels of poverty, often feeling undervalued and pressurised to 
get ‘proper’ jobs.  Carers find it very difficult to maintain careers alongside their caring 
responsibilities due to the unpredictable hours involved, and struggle to return to 
employment after long periods away from the labour market.  
 
Ex-offenders 

Ex-offenders particularly struggle with mental health issues and a lack of skills 
necessary to gain employment.  They lack confidence to go out and get work because 
of the stigma of their situation and the difficulties of being continually rejected for 
positions because of their past.  
 
BAME communities 

BAME-specific priorities include insufficient accommodation for large families, a 
perception that BAME communities do not get access to reputable schools across the 
borough, and inadequate language and literacy skills provision.  
 
Existing language classes were not available across many parts of the borough, did not 
cover a curriculum BAME communities could identify with, and did not address cultural 
and bureaucratic differences around how services are accessed in the UK.  Language is 
a barrier for people accessing welfare, exacerbated by feelings of being overwhelmed 
by bureaucracy and a lack of knowledge about available services.  Following 
redundancy or challenges finding work, BAME people often retreat into their own 
community, worsening their language skills.  
 
People suffering from poor mental health   

Poor mental health was the most common problem identified across the groups, and 
issues are worsening.  Anxieties are exacerbated by contact with the welfare system.  A 
participant from a debt advice organisation commented that “I struggle to think of a 
client I’ve seen who isn’t at the very least suffering from clinical depression”.  
 
Mental health support agencies differentiated between people experiencing a crisis 
which triggers mental health issues (e.g. loss of job or relationship breakdown) and 
people experiencing long-term mental health problems, who particularly seek support 
when their benefits are being reassessed. 
 

Page 132



   

                

  

61 

 

Mental health is also associated with isolation.  One participant stated how difficult it can 
be to help those “silently struggling behind closed doors”. 
 
Case study: “There’s definitely people living at home with mental health problems, just 
lying in their bed, no duvet… the electricity’s off, the gas is off and they’ve got no food in 
the fridge.  And they’ll just stay like that for days, waiting for their benefits, or their 
benefits have been sanctioned and they’ll just sit in their flat.  We went around to one 
woman’s flat and all her light bulbs were gone…some people are so overwhelmed by 
their illness that even changing a light bulb is too much.” 
 
Many people have a ‘head-in-the-sand’ mentality with piles of unopened letters relating 
to benefits, Council tax or medical appointments.  People avoid facing problems they 
feel unable to deal with, leading to deteriorating health, debt, court cases and eviction.  
Some people have difficulty prioritising their problems and making the right decisions in 
times of crisis, often ignoring the most severe problem because they don’t feel they can 
face it.  This was particularly common among people with mental health issues.  
 
Case study: One woman with four children has a husband suffering from a chronic 
illness and cannot work.  While being transferred onto Universal Credit, she did not 
have access to benefits and received advice in relation to her debt issues.  It only 
emerged after some discussion that she was also facing eviction.  The client had 
difficulty prioritising the most pressing issue to address: “The eviction thing was too 
scary that she actually wasn’t going to deal with it…there were just too many things”. 
 
Cost of Living 

The cost of living causes poverty and debt.  The Food Bank participants described how 
clients do not have enough money for food after rent and bills are paid.  Despite 
originally being intended as a last resort in times of emergency, an increasing number of 
Food Bank users are repeat visitors.   
 
Addiction 

Six groups identified drug and alcohol addiction as a common issue among people who 
use their service, making it difficult to engage with them.  One debt organisation 
identified gambling as an increasingly prevalent issue for young men, who maintain their 
habit using payday loans and ruin their credit history at a young age.  Once people 
become involved with payday loan companies, it is particularly difficult to prevent them 
from returning to use their services due to the sophisticated marketing strategies these 
companies use.   
 
Relationship Breakdown 

Relationship breakdown was identified by participants in six groups as a factor that can 
trigger a number of other issues for clients, such as depression, homelessness, job 
loss, debt, health problems, childcare and benefits.  This is a particular issue when the 
higher-earning partner leaves.  
 
  

Page 133



   

                

  

62 

 

Domestic Violence 

Six groups identified domestic violence (DV) as a common issue among their clients. 
Female DV victims are often relocated to unfamiliar surroundings without essential 
belongings such as clothes, bank statements or other important paperwork required for 
welfare claims.  
 
Job loss 

Loss of income after losing a job is a key trigger point for poverty.  Changes introduced 
in employment legislation in 2013 can create perverse incentives for employers; 
employees have to work for two years before their dismissal can go to an employment 
tribunal, leading employers to make people redundant before the two-year period.  This 
had led to employee anxiety about job security.  Benefit sanctions are incurred if people 
are deemed to be at fault for their own dismissal, and authorities generally take the 
employer’s side despite the reasons given for dismissals often being spurious.  
 
Housing and homelessness 

Poor quality social housing is a big issue and damage is often not repaired.  One 
participant claimed that the list of things the Council will not deal with seems to be 
growing.  Poor living conditions often trigger physical and mental problems that 
contribute to cycles of poverty.  Tenants in the private rented sector were not 
specifically consulted via the focus groups, so their issues were not captured.  
 
30-40 year olds are particularly vulnerable to homelessness, requiring intensive 
engagement before they reach old age and their issues worsen.  
 
Multiple, complex issues 

Many clients have multiple complex and interrelated problems, and a difficult life event 
can trigger a series of other challenges.  Presenting issues are often the tip of the 
iceberg, with interventions only made available once multiple issues have built up.  
People experiencing emotional distress often do not inform relevant authorities that their 
circumstances have changed, which can impact their benefit claims.  Services often 
deliver focused on a specific issue rather than holistic needs, and there is a lack of 
awareness amongst providers about services they can refer clients on to.  This leads to 
urgent needs not being identified and dealt with.  
 
‘Revolving door’ service delivery 

Many people experience ‘revolving door’ services, and are ‘passed around’ between 
organisations with no one person taking responsibility for their care.  DWP was criticised 
for being too quick to refer complex or difficult cases to advice organisations.  Many 
public services are restricted within borough boundaries, with people denied access to 
nearby services if they live outside the catchment area. 
 
The nature of third sector funding contributes to this dynamic: “we don’t share 
responsibility because we don’t share money”.  Organisations felt incentivised to pass 
clients on to other services if they don’t fit the particular criteria for which that 

Page 134



   

                

  

63 

 

organisation is funded.  This can be problematic for clients that experience a variety of 
complex issues which do not fit neatly into any single organisation’s remit.  
 
There was a feeling of there being ‘flavour of the month’ funding, whereby organisations 
bend towards issues generating the most funding in order to survive.  This can lead to 
services that clients have been depending on being suddenly withdrawn.  One 
participant had to tell a client: “Sorry – we can’t deal with you unless you fix your drug 
addiction, and we can’t refer you to the drug program because the funding’s been cut”.   
 
Lack of information and awareness of services 

Many people are unaware of the services available to them – both benefits they are 
entitled to or available support from the third sector.  Third sector organisations are 
often unaware of all the services available in the borough and that signposting could be 
much improved.  
 
Changes to the welfare system 

Changes to welfare provision and benefit entitlements, particularly related to Universal 
Credit, creates significant issues; benefit sanctions, difficulties dealing with form-filling 
and bureaucratic processes, medical assessments for Employment and Support 
Allowance and claims for housing benefit affected by non-dependents.   
 
Universal Credit is a single monthly payment for people in or out of work, which merges 
some of the existing benefits and tax credits. Universal Credit’s full digital service was 
piloted in Hammersmith in June 2016, and Fulham and Shepherd’s Bush transitioned in 
December 2016.  
 

 There is often a six-week gap in benefit payments during the transition period, 
pushing some people into debt.  

 So far, UC has been implemented without sufficient digital skills training or support.  

 There have been technical glitches with the new system, with some clients 
incorrectly prompted to claim UC, despite their circumstances not changing.  

 A feature of UC payments is that the landlords of people claiming benefits are no 
longer paid directly; claimants have to pay their landlords. This puts the burden of 
budgeting onto benefit claimants, who often lack budgeting and money management 
skills.   

 
Benefit sanctions 

Incorrectly completed paperwork or missed JCP appointments results in benefit 
sanctions, pushing people into poverty.  While groups recognised the rationale behind 
penalising claimants for misdemeanours, it was felt that there was a ‘one-strike-and-
you’re-out’ approach, which was too harsh and failed to understand the challenges 
people face in adhering to certain requirements.  
 
Poor people have more complex benefit situations, such as multiple benefits claims or 
zero hours contracts, which is more likely to lead to errors and lapses.  For people 
struggling with severe mental health issues, complex form-filling or attending a benefits 
appointment is sometimes an unrealistic expectation.  

Page 135



   

                

  

64 

 

 
Case study 1: A man with an alcohol problem lived in an overcrowded bedsit, and only 
the landlord had access to the mailbox.  As a result, he missed mail, failed to return 
some benefit forms on time and was issued sanctions, resulting in a visit to the Food 
Bank.  
 
Case study 2: “I’ve worked with a lot of young people who are dealing with mental 
health issues.  They’ve been in hostels first of all… their relationship with their social 
worker breaks down, their behaviour spirals out of control, then they get kicked out of 
their hostel, and then their benefits get stopped.  A lot of it is benefits related; there’ll be 
some sort of hold up with their benefits which creates more problems…it happens all 
the time.” 
 
Case study 3: A woman who suffered from mental health issues missed a benefit 
appointment, and was subsequently sanctioned by having her benefits cut off.  She 
could afford food for the rest of the week but didn’t have enough money left to wash her 
clothes, resulting in a deterioration of her personal hygiene, leaving her feeling unable 
to leave the house. 
 
Medical assessments for Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) 

Medical assessments for Employment and Support Allowance require claimants to 
provide intimate details of their medical conditions.  This can be distressing, particularly 
when related to mental health.  The assessments were heavily criticised as they are not 
conducted by medical professionals.  People are often found fit to work, with the 
healthiest possible scores, when in reality they are suffering from severe health 
conditions.  This suggests that the number of people affected by mental and physical 
health conditions in H&F is even higher than ESA figures suggest.  
 
Clients are entitled to appeal, but during this process they are not be able to access 
ESA, which can have a knock-on effect to other claims.  On appeal, claimants are 
assessed by an independent medical practitioner.  Participants claimed that the amount 
of successful appeals led DWP to create bureaucratic obstacles for claimants’ appeal 
assessments.  Systemic failures and inconsistencies exacerbate the anxieties and 
mental health problems of claimants, who struggle to understand what is happening to 
them.  
 
Case study: One client suffered with incontinence, diabetes, schizophrenia (including 
hearing voices), podiatry problems (she was unable to wear shoes during winter), and a 
number of other health issues.  She was given the best health score possible at an ESA 
medical assessment and declared fit to work.  
 
Non-dependants 

Benefits entitlement changes when claimants’ children turn 18, and are no longer 
classified as dependants.  Many families are unaware of this, and it is the most common 
cause of rent arrears.  This causes tension within families if children are reluctant or 
unable to contribute financially to the household.  If the child is ‘sofa-surfing’ but still 
registered to their parents’ address, people are often forced to disenfranchise the child.  
 

Page 136



   

                

  

65 

 

  

Page 137



   

                

  

66 

 

Debt 

Debt goes “hand-in-hand” with benefit issues, particularly with the advent of Universal 
Credit.  People in poverty can make bad financial decisions, such as taking out a 
payday loan, which exacerbates their situation and creates long-term financial hardship 
that is difficult to escape from.   
 
Many people are unaware of local financial advice services and take out loans with a 
high interest rate, unaware of the total long-term cost which ties them into a cycle of 
debt.  This can lead to not being allowed a contract phone and having to pay extra for a 
pay-as-you-go device, or being excluded from mainstream bank accounts. 
 
Lack of trust towards local authority and statutory services 

Many people have feelings of hostility, mistrust and suspicion towards local authority 
and statutory services, perceiving dealing with them to be antagonistic and a “battle”.  
Instances where this mistrust was generated include: 

 social services taking children away. 

 social services persuading older people to give up their homes.  

 receptionists at hospitals and GP’s attempting to prevent clients from using 
interpreters. 

 housing benefit authorities assuming clients are lying and being generally 
challenging to deal with. 

 
One advice agency said that a lot of their work is doing things that people should be 
able to do themselves but clients’ voices are not listened to by relevant authorities.  It 
was suggested that negative attitudes towards state services can be a barrier to 
community engagement and the implementation of preventative services. 
 
Paperwork and bureaucracy 

Many claimants are overwhelmed by paperwork and the complex navigation of 
bureaucracies – particularly DWP and the Council.  This often leads to benefit sanctions 
and exacerbation of mental health issues.  Clients describe the process as being 
humiliating and stressful, and a barrier to accessing services.  Many older people 
disengage with services to avoid filling out forms.  
 
Incidences of lost paperwork are common, which housing benefit authorities claim to 
have never received.  Receipts of applications are not issued automatically, so 
claimants are prompted to continually repeat the process.  The lack of a backdating 
mechanism and delays by housing benefit authorities pushes people into rent arrears.  
 
Clients are uncertain about what to do following a change of circumstance, such as 
dependants becoming non-dependants, income from zero-hours contracts fluctuating, 
or when housing benefit has been suspended due to changes with another claim.  In the 
last instance, it is necessary that clients provide the right information quickly to prevent 
the housing claim from stopping completely.  It is difficult communicating with the 
authorities; a minimum 30-minute telephone wait is common to speak to someone from 

Page 138



   

                

  

67 

 

the Council, leading to expensive telephone bills.  The written communication from the 
Council is often unclear about what action is required from clients.  
 
Case study: A mother with two children was receiving tax credits.  When one reached 
an ineligible age she informed the relevant authorities at which point – due to an error 
by HMRC – she was stripped of all tax credits and told she did not have any eligible 
children.  After many months and a formal complaint, they acknowledged that she did 
have a qualifying child.  Without the assistance of CAB she simply would not have the 
time or resources to persist with the case.   
 
The skills gap 

The majority of groups identified gap in job-readiness skills necessary for employment, 
such as application writing skills or interview training.  Young people are not being given 
these skills at school, and lack useful work experience.  Many people lack confidence 
and the motivation to work.  DWP’s Work Programme was criticised for being too 
punitive and sanctions based, and was considered to be an ineffective use of public 
money. 
 
Many lack money management and digital skills – particularly older people.  The 
shortage of digital skills is increasingly a barrier to accessing services effectively and 
communicating with friends and family, which could reduce social isolation.  

2b. Individual experiences and insights 

MEL Research, an independent research company, was commissioned to conduct 100 

qualitative one-to-one interviews with residents affected by poverty and worklessness 

over the summer of 2016.  Its full report is included here.  The research was conducted 

with the support of Hammersmith & Fulham Council, MIND, the H&F Law Centre and St 

Mungo’s Trust.  

Background 

The Hammersmith and Fulham Poverty and Worklessness Commission (HFPWC) was 

established to use evidence and insight about the complex issues of worklessness and 

poverty in the Borough. Its aim is to inform service re-design and targeted interventions 

to increase employment and other opportunities for all residents, against a wider 

backdrop of increasing self-reliance on public and other services and promoting social 

inclusion.  

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (H&F) contains a largely young 

population, generally ranks relatively low on deprivation levels across the London 

Boroughs and has high levels on employment. There are plenty of low-entry level jobs 

but generally, unemployed residents in the Borough do not apply for these.  There are a 

range of social and health inequalities between the more affluent South of the Borough 

and the more deprived North where there are higher unemployment levels, more social 

housing, and higher Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) uptake levels. However, there are 

Page 139



   

                

  

68 

 

pockets of deprivation within the more affluent South as well which can easily be ‘lost’ 

within analyses.  

Poverty and worklessness are complex issues and inter-related with an array of wider 

determinants. Housing costs are a key factor, with concerns that few can afford to both 

live and work in Hammersmith and Fulham.  This has a knock-on effect on commuting 

costs and time becomes an additional factor, along with other logistical challenges such 

as balancing a lengthy commute with childcare arrangements. The area has high rates 

of female unemployment, perhaps confirming the difficulties of juggling work with family 

commitments. There are generally low levels of in-work poverty in the Borough – most 

poverty can be found amongst workless households. The biggest health challenge in 

terms of poverty and worklessness in the Borough is mental health, especially for single 

people aged 35+. The links between positive employment and positive mental health 

and wellbeing have been documented in a range of policy documents, including The 

Marmot Review (and conversely, the links between negative employment and poor 

mental health and wellbeing)31.  

The national picture is that income poverty in the UK is set to rise by 2020 and the 

prediction is that relative child poverty will increase by 6% up to 2020–2132, reversing all 

of the reductions between 2000 and 2011. Getting people into work is a key policy goal. 

Recent welfare reforms, including the introduction of Universal Credit, have been an 

attempt to simplify the benefit system and make the transition into work more 

straightforward. 

The Marmot Review33 re-iterated that access to work needs to be ‘positive 

employment’, not insecure, short-term work.  It is not as simple as enabling people to 

find work but about wider factors such as juggling the economies and logistics of paid 

employment alongside childcare, other caring responsibilities, commuting, and irregular 

and/or antisocial working hours. The range of issues around poverty and worklessness 

are hugely complex and encompass a wide range of factors. 

HFPWC has therefore highlighted a need to capture the lived experiences of residents 

in H&F, facing poverty and worklessness, to yield valuable qualitative insight which the 

existing evidence base cannot provide.   

HFPWC is keen for this insight generation to explore the underlying reasons and 

motivations for poverty and worklessness, capture the order of events triggering poverty 

and worklessness, and to distinguish between the causes and symptoms. The aim of 

this important study is to inform targeted and evidence-based interventions designed to 

tackle the complex issues of poverty and worklessness in the Borough. In July 2016, 

                                                 

31
 Marmot, M. (2010). Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot review Executive Summary. London: The Marmot Review. 

32
 Barnes, M; Lord, C (2013), Poverty, Economic Status and Skills: What are the Links? Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 

33
  Marmot, M. (2010). Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot review Executive Summary. London: The Marmot Review. 

Page 140



   

                

  

69 

 

M·E·L Research was commissioned by the HFPWC to undertake this qualitative study.

  

The topics of poverty and worklessness are particularly topical issues reflected in 

current policy and in the priorities of Public Health England, particularly linked to mental 

health and wellbeing issues, a population living and working for longer and 

fundamentally the need to reduce the costs associated with long-term unemployment 

and absence from work.  The recent Public Health England (PHE) Annual Conference 

in September 2016 shared the PHE Mental Health Toolkit for Employers34 and there is 

a real opportunity for the PWC to build the approaches in the toolkit, based on an eight 

step approach to engaging employers with mental health issues, into local solutions to 

tackle poverty and worklessness. 

A recent publication by the Government Office for Science35 highlights that with much of 

the population wanting and needing to work for longer to achieve a good later life, the 

relationship between work, health and wellbeing has become increasingly important. An 

ageing population living and working for longer are likely to experience (more than one) 

long-term health issue to be balanced alongside working, as well as the need the 

pressure of balancing care with other responsibilities including work. The report includes 

a number of recommendations aimed at doing more to harness the potential of those 

aged 50 and over. 

A Green Paper consultation36 demonstrates that the Government recognises the need 

to support people who face barriers to work, with new measures set out in the draft 

consultation on health and work to help people with disabilities and long-term health 

conditions back into employment. The Green Paper highlights that too many people are 

falling into a downward spiral of declining health and being out of work, denying them 

the benefits that employment can bring, creating pressures on the NHS and sustaining 

a major injustice in our society. Currently there is no support readily available for many 

people over the age of 50; there are different waiting times for mental health treatment; 

and fundamentally ill-health amongst working age people costs the economy so there is 

considerable potential for cost savings here. Crucially, the Green Paper highlights that 

too many people experience a fragmented and disjointed system which does little to 

support their ambitions of employment, and indeed can erode those ambitions. 

This piece of innovative and exploratory research has highlighted a broad range of 

issues which touch on and re-iterate a number of the issues which have informed recent 

and current policy trends and guidance, which confirm their priority as issues for local 

action as well as providing wider triangulation of the robustness and validity of our 

                                                 

34
 PHE Toolkit available at: www.wellbeing.bitc.org.uk 

35
 Government Office for Science and Foresight (2016). Future of an Ageing Population.  

36
 Department for Work and Pensions and Department of Health (October 2016). Improving Lives: The Work, Health and Disability 

Green Paper. 

Page 141



   

                

  

70 

 

analysis. Finally, this would suggest that the issues in H&F are not specific to that area 

but are also more widely applicable to other geographical areas. 

Finally it is vitally important the findings of this important study link in with the NHS 

North West London Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) and that service 

development implications are rooted in newly configured local infrastructures. STPs are 

all about People and Places and present a major a re-imagining of Health and Care 

around People and Places by 2020, led by the strategic drivers in the NHS Five Year 

Forward View. 

Methodology 

Following a scoping meeting with HFPWC it was agreed that the study should focus on 

five main target groups, recognising that these are not exhaustive or mutually exclusive 

groups, but can be traced back to the comprehensive work carried out by the 

Commission to date: 

 Unemployed residents aged 35+ 

 Unemployed residents from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds 

 Long-term unemployed residents (12 months or longer) 

 Residents with mental health conditions affecting their ability to work 

 Older residents in/at risk of social isolation 

Stage 1: Recruitment and profiling 

The first stage involved recruiting residents who live in the borough and also meet the 

following criteria: 

 Residents in the target groups in poverty/edge of poverty37 

 Residents in the target groups who are workless/edge of worklessness38 

 Residents in the target groups who are working yet but in or on the edge of poverty 

In order to ensure we recruited appropriate respondents for this research, we used the 

following two methods.  

Method one: Recruitment using ACORN 

ACORN helped us to combine geography with demographics and lifestyle information 

(such as benefits, Annual Household Income, Housing status and Health and 

wellbeing). This allowed us to identify the most deprived areas in the borough and 

obtain more accurate recruitment of participants across the five target groups (as 

outlined above). Once we identified ‘hotspots’ in ACORN (and extracted the associated 

                                                 

37
  Household incomes around the 60% of median income mark (£284 or less per week, based on benchmark median of £473) 

– Department of Work and Pensions, 28
th
 June 2016. 

38
  Workless is defined as unemployed (out of work and actively seeking employment) plus economically inactive (retired, 

unable to work due to illness, looking after the home, in education/training etc). 

Page 142



   

                

  

71 

 

postcodes) we began recruitment using a mixture of telephone and face-to-face 

methodologies. 

 

Figure 2.1: ACORN map of the Hammersmith and Fulham Borough depicting deprived 

areas using ACORN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Method two: Recruitment using the Commission’s networks/contacts  

The second method involved using contacts provided via the Commission’s local 

agencies and/or service providers. These included: MIND, the Law Centre and St 

Mungo’s Trust. We achieved the following split between workless and employed 

residents in the Borough. Our sample profile is displayed below for reference. 

Table 2.1: Summary profile of residents who participated in the interviews 

SITUATION 
NUMBER OF   

IN-DEPTH 

INTERVIEWS 

ADDITIONAL 

CUSTOMER 

JOURNEY 

MAPS 

TOTAL 

NUMBER OF 

INTERVIEWS 

Page 143



   

                

  

72 

 

WORKLESS  

Unemployed  

Economically inactive (retired, carer 

etc) 

 

25 

35 

 

4 

4 

 

29 

39 

TOTAL WORKLESS 60 8 68 

EMPLOYED 31 2 33 

UNKNOWN* 3 0 0 

TOTAL INTERVIEWS 94 10 104 

 

Stage 2: Rapid evidence review and definitional work 

The second stage involved a rapid evidence review. The aims of this stage were as 

follows: 

To ensure we build on existing work of the Commission (without duplicating), local 

demographic intelligence and knowledge, and other relevant typologies 

Obtain clarity about the definitions of poverty, the Council’s five key/target groups  

Help inform the recruitment profile/questionnaire 

Inform the themes for the analysis of data and to inform the typologies emerging from 

the qualitative data 

Stage 3: Fieldwork 

We used a combination of face-to-face and telephone interviewing. A total of 94 semi-

structured in-depth interviews (Please refer to Appendix One on page 112 for topic 

guide) were conducted comprising of the following: 

77 Face-to-face interviews 

17 Telephone interviews 

We also conducted a further 10 face-to-face customer journey mapping interviews. 

These interviews had particular focus on capturing the triggering events over time which 

led to poverty/worklessness and the lifecycle of these events. Please see refer to 

Appendix One for the topic guides. 

Stage 4: Analysis - thematic patterning 

Page 144



   

                

  

73 

 

The data from the interviews was digital audio recorded with the prior permission of the 

respondent. This data has been extracted and added to an analysis grid based upon the 

key discussion areas within the interview topic guides. We subsequently carried out 

thematic patterning analysis on the qualitative data. Thematic analysis is a method for 

identifying, analysing, and reporting patterns (or themes) within data.  

Stage 5: Creating typologies 

The fifth stage of the project looked to segment the data into discrete/semi-discrete 

groups and identify any typologies (where they existed) of individuals or groups that 

have traits and characteristics in common (e.g. single parents, migrants/BAME groups 

etc). To assist in defining typologies we consulted the following published sources: 

NATCEN’s Multi-Dimensional Poverty: A Research Methodology to create Poverty 

Typologies 

University of the West of England Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic 

analysis in psychology.  

Joseph Rowntree Foundation Poverty (Matt Barnes and Chris Lord), Economic Status 

and Skills: What are the links? 

Institute for Employment Studies: Understanding worklessness in Newham 

Policy Studies Institute: Understanding the worklessness and financial exclusion of 

Riverside tenants’ 

Analysing different ways of tackling worklessness: CLES Consulting  

Stage 6: Customer Journey Mapping (CJM) Interviews 

The final stage of the project involved conducting 10 Customer Journey Mapping (CJM) 

interviews. These had a particular focus on capturing the triggering events over time 

which led to poverty/worklessness, and to give a flavour of the lifecycle of these events - 

in order to do this effectively we designed the CJMs around a version of Marmot’s life 

course approach39.The CJMs captured: 

 factors and contexts contribute to worklessness/poverty 

 factors and contexts enable worklessness/poverty to be overcome 

 How the causes of poverty/worklessness could be overcome for that individual 

 Future aspirations and what would help the individual get there/realise these 

To inform the CJM interviews, we conducted a rapid review of existing resources to 

ensure we followed best practice guidelines. We consulted the following resources for 

guidance:  

                                                 

39
   Marmot, M. (2010). Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot review Executive Summary. London: The Marmot Review. 

Page 145



   

                

  

74 

 

Langley, From Poverty to Prosperity – Working Towards a Healthier Community 

Douglas Recreation Centre, Langley BC, September 17, 2015 

Customer Journeys & Worklessness (Learning to deliver)40  

South West London Consortium: Unemployed Customer Journeys41 

Findings 

Based on the interviews we conducted, it is evident that the majority of the respondents 

we spoke to: ‘hadn’t planned their lives in this way’ but an unexpected or unwanted 

situation arose which meant they have not been able to work for long periods. Some of 

these factors are illustrated very powerfully and ‘brought to life’ in the 10 CJMs, in 

particular unexpected pregnancy, the impact of mental health and wellbeing issues, 

migrating to the UK from another country at a crucial life-forming age, and caring 

responsibilities. The circumstances frequently mentioned across the 104 interviews 

conducted were as follows: 

 Difficulties/challenges after moving to the UK from other countries 

 Unable to work due to disabilities and/or illness 

 Caring for children/family members with disabilities/sick relatives 

 Long-term unemployed due to lack of qualifications/low skill levels 

 Key life events such as pregnancy, bereavement, family breakup/divorce, 

redundancy, etc. 

This following focuses on the pertinent circumstances, reasons and situations for the 

Commission’s five target groups: 

 Unemployed BAME and migrant groups 

 Unemployed aged 35+ 

 Long-term unemployed 

 Older residents aged 50+ 

 People with mental health issues affecting their ability to work 

It is important to note that these groups are not mutually exclusive and there will be 

overlaps between them. We will also look at the issues affecting those who are working 

but still struggling to make ends meet. 

Unemployed BAME and migrant groups 

Figures from the 2011 census indicate that foreign-born residents make up around 43% 

of the Borough’s population. In our sample, there are also a relatively high proportion of 

people that moved to the UK.  (29 out of the 100 completed interviews). These we have 

                                                 

40
 http://www.educe.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2008/05/L2D_customer_journeys_wness_brfg.pdf  

41
 http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=bb9b27db-87ff-4c31-b790-f2c65bb253b7&groupId=10180  

Page 146

http://www.educe.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2008/05/L2D_customer_journeys_wness_brfg.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=bb9b27db-87ff-4c31-b790-f2c65bb253b7&groupId=10180


   

                

  

75 

 

termed ‘migrants’ (having come from Afghanistan, Brazil, Columbia, Hong Kong, 

Jamaica, the Philippines, Somalia, Sudan, etc.). Six respondents also moved to the UK 

from EU countries (including Ireland, Italy and Poland). In addition, nearly 37% of the 

BAME population in the borough are either unemployed or economically inactive.  

Published reports indicate that BAME and migrant groups are at one of the greatest 

risks of being out of work.  A number of our CJM interviews were carried out with 

migrants and these highlight some of the challenges faced, particularly when they 

involve migration at a key age in the education system. The most common reasons 

mentioned during the interviews for being out of work are outlined below. 

Lack of recognition for foreign qualifications 

The general feeling from the comments is that these people moved to the UK with the 

intention of securing work. Some residents also hold high level qualifications/ or 

degrees from their home countries. However, transferability and a lack of recognition of 

these qualification(s) and skills in the UK are perceived to be an issue when finding 

employment. 

"I think anything outside of UK is under classed though.  I think if you don't have UK qualifications 

business are less likely to accept you.” (Female, 25-34) 

Language barriers 

Another challenge which was frequently mentioned by this group was applying for jobs 

when their first language was not English. This included writing CV’s and attending 

interviews (should they get that far).  

“I have been in the UK for 16 years, I feel embarrassed to go to work as I feel that people will think I’m 

stupid because my English is not as good as it was before. It really affects my confidence and I don’t 

think people to think I’m stupid because of my lack of English” (Female, 35-44, Single parent) 

It should be noted that the lack of language fluency has been found to have a considerable 

impact on employability – reducing the probability of migrant employment by 20-25 

percentage points according to an influential National Survey of Ethnic Minorities42. 

Therefore to increase employment rate amongst migrants in the borough, more work needs 

to done encourage these groups to attend ESOL (English for Speakers of Other 

Languages) classes to develop their spoken capabilities. 

New migrants to the borough also face other challenges such as cultural differences 

(reluctance to ask for help from organisations) and understanding how the job search 

and job application mechanisms work. For example, migrants from many war torn areas 

have a distrust of ‘Authority’ organisations which also impacts on the likelihood of 

accessing support services. Use of third sector support organisations, that can also 

signpost to relevant services, may be a way of supporting these new migrants. 

                                                 

42
 https://discover.ukdataservice.ac.uk/catalogue?sn=3685  

Page 147

https://discover.ukdataservice.ac.uk/catalogue?sn=3685


   

                

  

76 

 

 

Lack of support/coping strategies and resilience 

There are also issues reported which relate to accessing wider support, such as 

relatives or other family members, most of whom were back home. These residents 

therefore report that they have no-one else around to discuss things with. This can have 

a very negative on mental health and wellbeing, ability to cope and sense of 

prospective/reassurance. For example, due to the transient nature of the borough, a 

number of respondents did not know their neighbours. One resident we interviewed said 

‘You don't know no-one around here; the neighbours are always swapping and 

changing.” (Male, 35-44) Another said: “I want to go home, to Africa. I have very much 

more support there, a lot of help there that I cannot get here.” (Male, 35-44, single 

parent) 

Unemployed 35+ and long-term unemployed  

There are a number of reasons why residents (aged 35+) in H&F may be out of work for 

long periods. These may include low skills levels or limited qualifications, availability of 

job types, disabilities/illness and because they are looking after the home or have care 

responsibilities. 

Low skill levels /qualifications 

One of the reasons for high worklessness in the borough appears to be due to low 

qualifications, particularly amongst single mums and older residents.  Some 

respondents reported only having a basic level of schooling and others left school 

before their O levels/GCSEs, etc.  

One respondent said: “I got chucked out at 14” (Male, 35-44, and living with parent) 

whilst another said: “I didn’t get any qualifications whatsoever” (Female). 

A high proportion of respondents stated that they lack vital skills to help them either 

secure employment such as IT, CV writing, English Language and management skills 

(for higher paid jobs).   

“I can’t use a computer very well” (55-64, unemployed).  

Another female interviewed said: “I don’t have a CV, no qualifications or experience so I 

can’t find a job” (45-54, single parent)  

Availability of job types 

There is a general perception amongst some participants that there are plenty of jobs 

across the borough but these tend to be lower-skilled jobs (such as those in the care 

and retail sectors). These are often seen as minimum wage jobs and less secure 

contracts (i.e. zero hours or temporary contracts). 

Page 148



   

                

  

77 

 

“Temporary jobs - employ lots of people at Christmas but then they are jobless again in 

January. If people work night shifts then they can't go to cheap shops in the day 

because they’re sleeping.” (Male, 35-44, Employed) 

Given the educational attainment of some participants, particularly those with degrees, 

access to higher paid and more technical jobs was said to be only available outside of 

the Borough, e.g. in the City of London. The additional challenge and affordability of 

travel costs is therefore seen as a further barrier to accessing suitable and rewarding 

work. 

Disability and health conditions 

Illness and disability are major contributors to worklessness and poverty. A number of 

residents we interviewed have disabilities or health conditions (including mental health 

issues). As a result, they felt this limited their ability to work or find a suitable job for a 

number of reasons, including: 

They need regular time off work to attend medical appointments and/or it restricts the range 

of jobs they can do. 

One female interviewed said: “It’s a struggle as I can’t just switch off a button to stop 

feeling depressed.  It has a huge impact on my work; I am unable to function and would 

take days/weeks off because of my depression, hence me unable to keep permanent 

work.” (Female) 

Discrimination from employers (particularly if they have been unemployed for long periods or 

they have been claiming sickness benefit) 

Another interviewee said: “When you put that down on paper, employers look and they 

think "oh what's the chances of her having a week or two off with depression". When I 

spoke to the Jobcentre Plus they agreed with me and said companies prefer to employ 

younger people” (Female, 45-54, unemployed) 

Looking after the home/have caring responsibilities 

Some respondents state they are prevented from working due to caring responsibilities, 

either looking after a child or a sick relative. One respondent said:  

“Stopped working after my second child. Both of my boys have ADHD and have special 

needs.” (Female, 35-44, looking after the home) 

For others, balancing working life with having children was problematic and led to them 

giving up work to bring up their children. This issue is captured within the lived 

experience of an individual who took part in a CJM interview. 

“I had to give up my training to become a teacher to that I can care for my daughter full 

time.” (Male, 45-54, single parent) 

Page 149



   

                

  

78 

 

Cost of childcare and finding work that offers flexibility was a barrier for many of those 

with children.  

“Difficult to get a job… can't afford to get someone to look after my children… difficult to 

find hours to fit around children.”(Female, 25-34, single parent, unemployed) 

“There are a lot of jobs but hours aren't good if you have kids. If you leave benefits you 

can't get a job to support your kids… there aren't jobs that pay for rent and childcare.” 

(Female, 55-64, Unemployed) 

A few respondents said they would return to work when their children start school to 

reduce the burden of child care costs. Others anticipate returning to their studies and 

work once their childcare responsibilities are concluded.  

“I went to college here, studied accounting.  Had to give it up to look after my kids but I 

would like to go back into studying and maybe get a degree.” (Female, 25-34, single 

parent, looking after the home) 

“Had a few jobs before I had my son.  I couldn’t go back to the job as it was in retail on 

Oxford Street and I couldn’t meet the long hours.  I retrained and studied plumbing and 

engineering for when my son goes to school as I can find a job in training and design.  I 

was with Office Angels before I was made redundant. I am a qualified engineer and a 

single mother, my son is autistic and is going through a tough stage at the moment.  I 

have taken time out at the moment and I'm claiming carers allowance, I'm looking for 

role where I can work around hours.” (Female, 35-44, single parent, unemployed) 

The impact of high childcare costs is also reflected in the latest Chamber of Commerce 

Survey which reports that one in four employees have cut their hours and one in ten 

have quit due to the high costs of childcare. Therefore more should be done to ensure 

minsters consider a universal childcare entitlement up until a child starts school to 

enable single mums in particular to work as many hours as possible. 

Older residents aged 50+ (at risk of isolation) 

In Hammersmith and Fulham, 38 per cent of households are one person households, a 

higher figure than nationally. Almost half (43%) of older people live alone, carrying a risk 

of social isolation.  This is also reflected in the interviews with a high proportion of those 

interviewed stating that they ‘don't talk to anyone in their area’. The risk of social 

isolation could be further exacerbated  as most of people we interviewed aged 50+ were 

no longer working either because they had retired early due to illness or had become a 

full time carer to look after a partner husband/sick relative.  

“I don't work due to a disability” (Male, 55-64, Unable to work due to illness/disability) 

“Living with husband who has dementia and cancer” (Female, 55-64, carer) 

“Out of work since 2010. Was a Carer for my husband” (Female, 55-64) 

Page 150



   

                

  

79 

 

From December 2018, the state pension age will start to increase for both men and 

women, to reach 66 by October 2020.  A recent article published by the Centre for 

Ageing Better (https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/news/government-draft-consultation-health-work/) states, ‘as 

more people are wanting and needing to work for longer to achieve a good later life, the 

relationship between work, health and wellbeing has become increasingly important’.  

The article also states that the single biggest factor which pushes this age group out of 

a job and prevents a return to work is health.  

The Centre for Ageing Better also outlines the following practical ways that employers 

can support older workers: 

Support employees to be healthy and manage health conditions. Evidence 

suggests that older people are more likely to remain in work if they are in good quality 

employment that is characterised by low physical and mental stress. 

Having career conversations with employees. Employees should discuss their 

training and development needs with their employer to ensure they are equipped for 

different roles in the future. 

Providing training and learning for older workers to help increase productivity and 

ensure employees have higher levels of financial, social and mental capital in later life. 

A female we interviewed also echoed the need to train older workers: 

“Training for older people, like apprenticeships but better pay - don't give people a 

chance to prove themselves if they don't have the skills” (Female, 55-64, employed) 

Supporting those who have caring responsibilities. This was one of the reasons 

why the residents we interviewed aged 55+ were not working. In the future, employers 

in the borough need to understand how many carers they employ and ask them what 

might help.  

Offering flexible retirement schemes. Certain employees may want to reduce their 

working hours without wishing to take full retirement.  

‘In work’ poverty  

The evidence review we conducted and intelligence from the H&F Poverty and 

Worklessness Commission indicates that there are generally low levels of in-work 

poverty, with most poverty being found in workless households. We however 

interviewed a number of people living in the borough who are working but on low 

incomes (earning less than £284 a week excluding housing costs). They felt their pay 

was too low to cover the high costs (e.g. rents, utility bills, Council tax, food and child 

care costs) of living in London.  Most people we interviewed stated that making ends 

meet was difficult (unless they received additional support from family members) and 

they had to stick to a tight budget.  Some of the CJM interviews illustrate the 

Page 151

https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/news/government-draft-consultation-health-work/


   

                

  

80 

 

demoralising everyday impact on the individuals we interviewed who have worked all of 

their life but are still struggling financially. Some comments from respondents include: 

“Every week I struggle.  My monthly wage goes on my bills, Council tax, rent, water bill, 

TV licence, and phone bill.  My weekly money (working tax credits and child benefit) 

goes on gas, electric, shopping and my daughter’s childcare (which I pay 2 weeks in 

advance) every week.  How to survive? I have to rely on loans for that month for the 

loss of money I have each month (either a payday loan, credit union loan or budgeting 

loan).  No matter, you’re never winning, it’s another bill added on to the month or a 

certain period.  It’s a vicious cycle and difficult to get out of unless I live on rice and 

beans for the whole year.” (Female, 25-34 years, employed) 

Most respondents who took part in the interviews also stated that even if though they 

are working they had no spare money to put into savings or spend on treats. Any extra 

money they had left over was eaten up by an unexpected/emergency purchase. 

"Not being able to buy expensive clothes, go to parties every weekend, travel , make 

regular visits back home in Jamaica /seeing family” (Female, 25-35 years, Employed) 

Barriers preventing residents seeking/finding suitable work 

It is evident from the interviews that many residents face a combination of barriers to 

work. 

It is clear from the data that people are not actively choosing not to work but there 

appears to be evidence that ‘working doesn’t always pay’ due to the benefits trap. 

Participants suggest that benefits reduce or stop altogether when they either start work 

or look to increase their hours. This means that they are struggling to make ends meet 

as they are no longer receiving subsidies for rent, Council tax etc. 

A significant issue that arises in the results is travel and transport costs (travelling to 

work and to get about in everyday lives) as only a few people mentioned having access 

to a car. Higher wage roles are more likely to be found in Central London but this 

involves higher transport costs and more travel time so any increase in wages are said 

to be negated. One of the CJM interviews indicates the particular challenges of travel 

and transport costs particularly when allied with only short shifts being available (4 

hours), meaning that there are higher costs of travel for relatively less financial return in 

any worked day. 

“Jobs… high rent. There are suitable jobs in central London but not many in 

Hammersmith & Fulham… not in Shepherd's Bush. You can get travel cards which 

aren't too bad but if you travel across 3 zones it adds up.”  (Male, 16-24, unemployed) 

Another big issue emerging from the data is childcare costs and child friendly hours 

for working couples and/or single parents living in the borough. Comments from 

respondents include: 

Page 152



   

                

  

81 

 

 “I was studying an accountancy course but had to stop as I had to take care of my kids 

as couldn’t afford childcare.” (Female, single parent, 25-34) 

“Childcare is very expensive… there are differences in childcare costs between 

neighbourhoods. If two parents are working then one person's salary might go just to 

childcare.  Lack of education… not having the right connections... You lack references if 

you come from elsewhere (are not from the UK). Employers don't recognise your skills if 

you come from elsewhere.  Me and my flatmate have a 10 year career but are 

struggling to find anything. Shouldn't allow zero hours contracts… shouldn't allow these 

problematic labour conditions to continue.” (Female, 35-44) 

Some respondents also discuss the challenge of balancing long/unsociable working 

hours and the ‘fit’ between working conditions/hours and their other commitments (e.g. 

caring for sick relatives etc.) 

Emotional state 

A lot of people who we interviewed have been worn down by worries about money/work 

(especially for long time periods) and also said they lacked confidence and self-worth. 

People in these situations found it more difficult to ‘sell’ themselves at interviews and 

have belief in their own abilities. The CJM interviews provide some powerful illustrative 

examples of individuals who have had this experience, often underpinned by mental 

health and wellbeing issues.  

The impact of mental health wellbeing (MHWB) and social isolation of not working is 

also a substantial issue which is emerging from the data.  The consequence of not 

working is having little to fill time, lack of reason to go out and interact with others. As a 

result MHWB worsens and isolation increases. All of which make it difficult for 

respondents to feel motivated to find work. This is a key finding and one which 

highlights the cyclical ‘downward spiral’ of being out of work for long periods of time and 

an associated increased inability to be positive during the job seeking process.  

The following outlines the ‘emotional’ state of those we interviewed: 

“I feel sad… I want to do something; I don't want to go on benefits. I'm healthy and able 

to work so I should be able to work. I don't care how much I'm paid an hour, but I want 

to do something. Not sit here and do nothing. A lot of people are like me, and don't 

know what to do.” (Male, 35-44, working part time) 

“Depression… self-harm. Never felt depressed when I was working, it's when I do 

nothing and am just sitting around that I feel depressed.” (Female, 25-34, unemployed) 

There are challenges of maintaining motivation if experiencing numerous rejections 

from employers.  

Feelings of ‘not being given a chance’  which highlights respondents’ frustrations with 

the ‘system’ and process.  

Page 153



   

                

  

82 

 

One CJM interview in particular highlights the perceived negative stigma associated 

with living in a particular geographical area when applying for work. 

Another CJM interview perceived racism as being a barrier to the individual’s job 

search. 

As mentioned previously, there is a general feeling from respondents that they hadn’t 

planned their lives this way. Very few interviewed want/planned to ‘just live on benefits’. 

They also feel like they’ve let themselves and others down. 

Motivational/future aspirations 

The data shows that the majority of participants who took part in the research generally 

expressed a lack of certainty about the future. Even those who were working were 

unable to save and put sustainable financial plans in place. However, their hopes often 

centred on their family and that life will improve for them.   

“Schooling and education is important as you need to get the qualifications to get the 

job you want… so when my children are a little older I will study to get the job I want.” 

(Female) 

A number of respondents provided their thoughts on what they would like to improve in 

short-term (next six months) and the longer term (next 3 years). Their hopes and 

aspirations included the following: 

 Obtaining a ‘better job’, more stable or a full time job to save for holidays/other 

luxuries 

 Owning their own business/become self -employed 

 Re-train or gain a qualifications to improve their chances of securing a better paid 

job 

 Buy a property or live in better quality housing 

 Improved health levels 

Typologies 

Stage five of the research involved creating typologies from the data.  A typology is a 

‘way of describing groups of respondents displaying clusters of behaviours, attitudes or 

views of the world’. We consulted the following published sources to help inform this 

stage: 

 NATCEN’s Multi-Dimensional Poverty: A Research Methodology to create Poverty 

Typologies 

 University of the West of England Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic 

analysis in psychology.  

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation Poverty (Matt Barnes and Chris Lord), Economic 

Status and Skills: What are the links? 

Page 154



   

                

  

83 

 

 Institute for Employment Studies: Understanding worklessness in Newham 

 Policy Studies Institute: Understanding the worklessness and financial exclusion of 

Riverside tenants’ 

 Analysing different ways of tackling worklessness: CLES Consulting 

We looked to see how our data compared to other findings, and in particular NATCEN’s 

Multi-Dimensional Poverty Research, to attempt to create the typologies.  The following 

poverty types from NATCEN’s research are based on ‘life stage’ (a particular interest to 

the Commission).  

Table 2.2: Poverty types by life stage  

Child poverty types 
Working age without 

children 
Pensioner types 

Grafters New poor Stoics 

Full house families Insecure singles Coping couples 

Pressured parents Stressed groups Cheerful grans 

Vulnerable mothers One man bands Troubled shared 

Managing mothers Empty nesters Left alone 

 

Our data mostly closely fits with the following groups: Pressured parents (unemployed 

families living in social housing) and Vulnerable/Managing mothers (single parents). 

However, in order to effectively assign NatCen poverty types43 accurately to each 

individual in this study, we would have needed to collect a substantial amount of 

quantitative data (such as financial situation, whether households were behind on bills, 

etc) which was beyond the scope for this study.  

After an in-depth analysis of the qualitative data collected for this study, and having 

considered the findings in the publications we have reviewed, we do not feel that there 

are sufficiently discrete characteristics, behaviour or attitudes to accurately create 

specific typologies.  

This is due to the following reasons: 

 The data we have collected is very broad as it covers both poverty and 

worklessness issues. 

                                                 

43
 An independent social research body who created a new model by which to understand multi-dimensional poverty with 15 distinct 

segments.  

Page 155



   

                

  

84 

 

 The interviews conducted are qualitative in nature; a larger scale quantitative stage 

was not the scope of this research. 

 The characteristics are not discrete or mutually exclusive; they can be inter-linked 

(e.g. unemployed 35+ can also be BAME and/or long-term unemployed, etc.). 

Nevertheless, the following observations and commonalities have been seen in the 

data, which will be useful in identifying those at risk: 

Worklessness and poverty as a result of economic and social change. This could be 

due to high numbers of low paid/low skill jobs in the borough.  The data we collected 

contained a high proportion of residents living in social housing, younger job seekers, 

lone parents and those on sickness benefits. The problems faced by these individuals 

included poor qualifications and skills, ill-health, perceptions of a benefit trap and 

extended periods out of work. 

Importing worklessness. In our sample, there are also a relatively high proportion of 

people that moved to the UK from countries such as Afghanistan, Brazil, Colombia, 

Hong Kong, Jamaica, the Philippines, Somalia, Sudan, etc. The reasons for high levels 

of worklessness amongst these groups are said to be due to the fact that it takes a long 

time for migrants to assimilate, learn English and understand how the job search and 

application mechanisms work. 

Older residents aged 55+ (at risk of isolation). Due to transient nature of the borough 

and the increased state pension age for men and women in the coming years, residents 

aged 50+ will be a group to focus on in the coming years. Our data shows that the 

majority have become involuntarily workless due to poor health or the need to care for a 

partner or family relative. These are also a risk of social isolation as these individuals 

don’t know their neighbours or leave the house very often. 

Customer Journey Mapping (CJM) interviews 

The final stage of the project involved conducting 10 Customer Journey Mapping (CJM) 

interviews. These have a particular focus on capturing the triggering events over time 

which lead to poverty/worklessness, and to give a flavour of the lifecycle of these 

events. As noted earlier, we based these on a version of Marmot’s life course. The 

CJMs provide very powerful insights into the lived experience of individuals in H&F and 

provide a snapshot of a broad range of themes captured in the wider data analysis. 

The CJMs captured: 

 factors and contexts contribute to worklessness/poverty 

 factors and contexts enable worklessness/poverty to be overcome 

 How could the causes of poverty/worklessness be overcome for that individual 

 Future aspirations and what would help the individual get there/realise these 

Page 156



   

                

  

85 

 

Similarly to the 94 in-depth interviews, we recruited both workless and employed 

participants for these interviews. Table 3 below shows the split between the two groups.  

We ensured we covered the Commission’s target groups (e.g. BAME groups, long-term 

unemployed/sick etc) and followed a ‘life stage’ approach to ensure we captured the 

triggers/life events that have contributed to the individual’s situation/circumstance. 

Table 2.3: Summary profile of residents who participated in the CJM interviews 

SITUATION NO OF INTERVIEWS 

WORKLESS  

Unemployed  35+ 

Unemployed BAME 

Long-term unemployed (12 mths+) 

Long-term sick (e.g. mental health) 

Looking after family/unpaid carer for sick relatives 

Retired 

 

1 

1 

2 

2 

2 

1 

TOTAL WORKLESS 8 

EMPLOYED 2 

TOTAL INTERVIEWS 10 

 

The next section outlines the customer journey maps (based on life stage) for each of 

the 10 individuals.  The customer journey maps highlights ‘touch points’ or opportunities 

for interaction and engagement with the customer/service user as well as ‘moments of 

truth’ or especially influential touch points (where there are particular opportunities to 

impact on factors associated with poverty/worklessness). We have also gathered 

positive and negative feelings to help identify priority actions for each individual. 

Following presentation of the CJMs we provide an overview of the key priority actions 

emerging from these.  

Page 157



 

85 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 1:  Retired 

Profile: Female, 65-74 years, retired, has mental illness and mobility impairment  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 158



 

86 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 159



 

87 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 2:  Unemployed BAME 

Profile:  Male, 55-64 years, Afghanistan male, Unable to work due to illness/disability (Longer than 12 months) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 160



 

88 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 161



 

89 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 3: Unemployed BAME 

Profile:  Female, 55-64 years, Caribbean, Unable to work due to illness/disability (Longer than 12 months) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 162



 

90 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 163



 

91 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 4: Unemployed for 12+ months 

Profile:  Male, 45-54 years, unemployed for longer than 12 months, mobility impairment  

 

 

 

  

P
age 164



 

92 

 

  

P
age 165



 

93 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 5: Employed 

Profile:  Male, 35-44 and employed 

 

 

  

P
age 166



 

94 

 

 

  

P
age 167



 

95 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 6: Looking after the home 

Profile:  Female, 25-34 year old, Single parent with two children (four and under), looking after home/children/other dependents  

 

 

  

P
age 168



 

96 

 

  

P
age 169



 

97 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 7: Employed 

Profile:  Female, 35-44 years, White, Single Parent, Employed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 170



 

98 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 171



 

99 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 8: Unable able to work due to illness 

Profile:  Male, 55-64 years, unable to work due to illness (longer than 12 months) 

 

 

 

  

P
age 172



 

100 

 

  

P
age 173



 

101 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 9: Unemployed BAME 

Profile: Male, 25-34 years, Unemployed for less than 6 months 

  

P
age 174



 

102 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 175



 

103 

 

Customer Journey Map Interview 10: Unemployed for longer than 12 months 

Profile: Female, 16-24 years, unemployed for longer than 12 months 

 

 

 

P
age 176



 

   

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services  Page 104 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 177



 

   

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 105 

Priority issues/actions emerging from the CJMs to inform the targeting of evidence-

based interventions: 

Ongoing support is needed for continuing education and aspirations in a more flexible 

way around being a young mum/unplanned life events – the CJMs highlight the impact 

of a range of unplanned events (pregnancy, bereavement, migration) on life aspirations 

and experience – there I a need for ‘a Plan B’/back-up plan and support to achieve 

aspirations. 

The impact of social isolation and lack of family support is clear within the CJMs – this 

has a very real impact on quality of life, confidence and coping mechanisms. 

Support to balance parenting responsibilities and continuing education and aspirations. 

There is a need to match recruitment approaches with local area demographic and 

skills, and upskilling local people to make them more employable in relation to local job 

vacancies. 

Some CJMs highlight that they are still living in/on edge of poverty in later life – 

demonstrates the very real impact of being in/on edge of poverty despite a lifetime of 

working. This can be allied with a strong feeling that work doesn’t pay and feelings of 

struggling more than if you aren’t working – this is a considerable systemic challenge. 

There is a need to develop and encourage (and provide the necessary support for 

individuals) to effectively self-manage long-term health conditions. 

Complexity of life – relationships, work and mental health are intertwined. The CJMs 

demonstrate the impact of early childhood experiences on sense of self-esteem and 

self-worth and the impact of the area you come from and associated stigma which can 

stay with you later in life can impact on employability. 

Grandparents supporting children and helping to raise and care for grandchildren – the 

financial and logistical impact for older people at a key point later in life.  Some adult 

children live with their elderly parents therefore this has a wider financial impact on older 

relatives at a later stage in their lives (providing emotional and financial support to adult 

children). 

The policy documents reviewed have highlighted the fragmented nature of services and 

support and the CJMs confirm this – there is a crucial need for more joined-

up/integrated services, shaped around the individual. 

The challenges of the management of serious long-term mental health conditions 

alongside working – self-management and what can employers do to help? There is a 

potential wider issue of stigma and therefore non-disclosure to an employer. The CJMs 

also highlight the inter-generational impact of mental health and wellbeing issues so 

there is a fundamental need to break this cycle. 

Page 178



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 106 

There is a need for joined up support from mental health and employment services 

around poverty and employment, and for more proactive information about support 

available, tailored to the individual and not relying on generic information sources. 

There is a need for more practical guidance and support to enable people to proactively 

‘navigate the system’ and access the support they need – this is particularly true for 

newly arrived migrants to the UK. 

The importance of more practical mentorships, workshops, apprenticeships - for those 

with more academic and those with more practical skills. How can school and learning 

be made appealing for dis-engaged young people who may not see its value/may not 

receive family support during the school years? 

There is a need for fundamental change in attitudes to recruitment of people from 

certain areas with a perceived ‘reputation’ – currently reinforces the feeling that ‘nothing 

will ever change’. 

There is a perceived over-reliance on a ‘one size fits all’ approach in local support 

services, in particular the Jobcentre Plus. There is a need to move away from this to 

more tailored, individualised approaches and focus on getting people into the ‘right type’ 

of employment, not ‘any employment’. 

There is a need for more motivational support to tackle the challenges facing those who 

have been long-term unemployed, and to tackle the cyclical effects of unemployment on 

‘perceived employability’. There is a need for free/discounted courses and training for 

those on low incomes/unemployed. 

There is a need to move away from generic information online to different 

sources/means of producing information which are more accessible. The CJMs highlight 

the logistical childcare and financial challenges of poverty and worklessness and caring 

for young children, particularly when a child has an additional need. 

The CJMs vividly demonstrate how poverty and worklessness are inextricably linked to 

feelings of self-worth, and the associated difficulties of ‘selling yourself’ during a period 

of feeling disenfranchised and low self-esteem. They confirm a vital need for a holistic, 

whole-system, joined-up approach of support, which covers more than just ‘applying for 

jobs’. 

Page 179



 

   

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 107 

Conclusions and recommendations 

It is evident from the interviews that the majority of the respondents we spoke to: ‘hadn’t 

planned their lives in this way’ but an unexpected or unwanted situation arose which 

meant they have not been able to work for long periods. The circumstances frequently 

mentioned across the 104 interviews conducted were as follows: 

 Difficulties/challenges after moving to the UK from other countries; 

 Unable to work due to disabilities and/or illness; 

 Caring for children and/or family members with disabilities/sick relatives; 

 Long-term unemployed due to lack of qualifications/low skill levels; 

 Key life events such as pregnancy, bereavement, family breakup/divorce, 

redundancy, etc. 

We identified the following reasons, circumstances and situations for the five target 

groups.  

Unemployed BAME and migrant groups 

Published reports indicate that BAME and migrant groups are at one of the greatest 

risks of being out of work. Our data included a relatively large proportion of foreign-born 

residents who have moved to the UK to find work but many have struggled for the 

following reasons: 

 Lack of recognition of their qualifications 

 English language is not their first language 

 Difficulty accessing wider support as relatives or other family members are back 

home 

Unemployed 35+ and long-term employed 

There are a number of reasons why residents (aged 35+) and/or those who have been 

unemployed for long periods in H&F may be out of work for long periods. The reasons 

include low skills levels or limited qualifications, availability of job types, 

disabilities/illness and because they are looking after the home or have care 

responsibilities. 

Older works aged 50+ (at risk of social isolation) 

In Hammersmith and Fulham, 38 per cent of households are one person households, a 

higher figure than nationally. This is also reflected in the interviews with a high 

proportion of those interviewed stating that they ‘don't talk to anyone in their area’. This 

could be further exacerbated as most of people we interviewed aged 50+ were no 

longer working either because they had retired early due to illness or had become a full 

time carer to look after a partner husband/sick relative. This is going to be an area of 

focus in the coming years as more people are wanting and needing to work for longer 

due to the recent pension age changes. 

Page 180



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 108 

  

Page 181



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 109 

People with mental health issues affecting their ability to work 

The firth target group that the Commission was interested in was people with mental 

health issues affecting their ability to work. It is important to note that this group is not 

mutually exclusive and was evident across the other four target groups as well.  

People we interviewed felt their illness or disability limited their ability to work or find a 

suitable job for a number of reasons including: 

 They need regular time off work to attend medical appointments and/or it restricts the 

range of jobs they can do. 

 Discrimination from employers (particularly if they have been unemployed for long 

periods or they have been claiming sickness benefit). 

 If they do get a job, they still worry about money if they are on a low income. This could 

theoretically make people more prone to stress, illness and MHWB issues. It may 

therefore be harder to keep their job or the need for regular time off maybe frown upon. 

In-work poverty 

We also interviewed a number of H&F residents who are working but still struggling to 

make ends meet. They felt their pay was too low to cover the high costs (e.g. rents, 

utility bills, Council Tax, food and child care costs) of living in London.  Most people we 

interviewed stated that making ends meet was difficult (unless they received additional 

support from family members) and they could only afford to pay for essentials. 

In H&F, 38 per cent of households are one person households, a higher figure than 

nationally. This is also reflected in the interviews with a high proportion of those 

interviewed stating that they ‘don't talk to anyone in their area’.  

Emotional state 

Based on the above, the emotional state of the residents we interviewed was mixed.  A 

lot of people we interviewed have been worn down by worries about money/work 

(especially for long time periods) and also said they lacked confidence and self-worth. 

People in these situations found it more difficult to ‘sell’ themselves at interviews or 

have belief in their own abilities. A number of respondents also felt that they were not 

given a chance and were frustrated with the system.  

Motivational/future aspirations 

The data shows that the majority of participants who took part in the research generally 

expressed a lack of certainty about the future. Even those who were working were 

unable to save and put sustainable financial plans in place. However, their hopes often 

centred on their family and that life will improve for them.  A number of respondents 

provided their thoughts on what they would like to improve in short-term (next six 

months) and the longer term (next 3 years). Their hopes and aspirations included the 

following: 

Page 182



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 110 

 Obtaining a ‘better job’, more stable or a full time job to save for holidays/other 

luxuries. 

 Owning their own business/become self-employed. 

 Re-train or gain qualifications to improve their chances of securing a better paid job. 

 Buy a property or live in better quality housing. 

 Improved health levels. 

The next section focuses on some practical suggestions from respondents and our own 

set of recommendations to tackle poverty and/or worklessness in the borough. 

Practical suggestions from respondents 

Respondents mentioned that training courses (such as Maths, English and IT) should 

be free of charge for all residents on benefits. A many of the residents interviewed 

stated that they were unaware of the support which is available in H&F.  

New businesses could prioritise recruitment for people living in the borough first 

(particularly in the retail, construction, health and social care sectors) as these are the 

sectors that those we spoke to claimed to be skilled in. 

A number of respondents suggested practical solutions such as: mentorship schemes, 

Government training programmes, apprenticeships, internships, voluntary/community 

groups to help them gain valuable work experience or help them find a suitable job. 

Need for greater proactive promotion of services/support available particularly for 

migrants or people who are suffering from de-motivation (long-term unemployed etc.) so 

they know ‘where to go for what’. 

More personal and tailored advice and support from services and support agencies 

(particularly from Jobcentre Plus). Those interviewed suggested that these agencies 

should be talking to residents on an individual basis, not just referred to online generic 

information (which can be difficult if respondents don’t have an internet connection or 

computer at home). 

Our recommendations 

There is a fundamental need to move away from a fragmented system of siloed support 

agencies (employment, financial, health, advice etc) towards a more joined-up, whole 

person approach focus around the individual.  Joined-up and tailored approaches of the 

local health, social care and welfare systems are absolutely vital in tackling the broad 

range of interlinked factors around poverty and worklessness, and to enable people to 

move into and remain in sustainable employment.  The CJMs and wider qualitative 

evidence have highlighted how inextricably interwoven mental health, employment, 

employability, housing, poverty and a range of other factors are, and support services 

need to be shaped coherently around the individual. 

In a time of increasingly limited public funds and at a crucial point in the re-imagining of 

the public services, there is a wider policy focus on transitioning investment away from 

Page 183



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 111 

costly treatment (and a reliance on services) towards more upstream preventative 

approaches. In order to build the confidence and capacity of those living in/on the edge 

of poverty and worklessness we recommend the use of assets-based approaches 

locally, working with vulnerable residents before they reach ‘crisis point’ to help them 

achieve their vision of what ‘a good life’ looks like. This can be achieved through non-

traditional service models such as Local Area Coordination and Social Prescribing 

schemes to help break the cycle for residents, especially those who are longer-term 

unemployed and/or have mental health and wellbeing issues. This is particularly vital 

given the inter-generational impacts of poor mental health and wellbeing. 

There needs to be a fundamental change in approach from a focus on ‘getting people 

into work’ to providing them with the personalised, motivational and longer-term support 

needed to result in more sustainable and ‘good’ employment – this is where assets-

based approaches can play a key role.  This is particularly the case for those people 

with an existing physical or mental health condition, and/or those who have been 

unemployed for some time. 

We recommend that there is a need to promote the effective self-management of 

physical and mental health conditions for residents, allied with a review of local waiting 

times for referral to talking therapy services for people experiencing mental health and 

wellbeing issues. 

More collaborative approaches are needed and we recommend that the PWC builds on 

learning from other areas (for instance the Solent Jobs Pilot, Southampton). This 

innovative project is an intensive programme for people who are long-term unemployed 

and/or have a health condition, who receive support from a Case Support Worker and 

enter a Transitional Employment Programme, including a paid work placement. The 

project involves proactive partnership engagement with employers and the private 

sector, and initial evidence indicates this approach is effective for the long-term 

unemployed, in particular when working with smaller employers. The project highlights 

that the transition to employment is a time of vulnerability in which many variables can 

go wrong on both sides (employer and employee) and this project comprises a more 

managed, proactive and sustainable approach44. 

Another useful approach would be to investigate the development of local buddying, 

mentoring and peer-to-peer support schemes amongst those looking to return to work 

and partnering them with people who have successfully made the transition back to 

sustainable employment. 

As a priority, we recommend that the PWC actively reviews, adapts and builds-in to its 

evidence-based interventions and approaches the BITC PHE Mental Health Toolkit for 

Employers45. This outlines the fundamentality of mental health for employers and the 

                                                 

44
 PHE Annual Conference 2016.Good  Work is Good for Health: Tackling the Health-related Employment Gap https://www.phe-

events.org.uk/hpa/frontend/reg/absViewDocumentFE.csp?documentID=10985 

45
 BITC PHE Mental Health Toolkit: How to Engage Employers with Mental Healthavailable at: www.wellbeing.bitc.org.uk 

Page 184

https://www.phe-events.org.uk/hpa/frontend/reg/absViewDocumentFE.csp?documentID=10985
https://www.phe-events.org.uk/hpa/frontend/reg/absViewDocumentFE.csp?documentID=10985


 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 112 

wider economy in terms of sickness absence, and the ‘health cost’ to the individual – 

only one third of employees received any support to manage workplace stress 

associated with the stigma around disclosure. This toolkit contains an eight step guide 

to engaging employers with mental health including positive culture, support and 

training, managing mental health and providing the right support. 

In our view, those residents entering employment, particularly after a long-term period of 

unemployment, need support to ease the transition into a routine, with skills refreshing, 

and support with issues which may emerge (such as time-off being needed for medical 

appointments). One option may be Workplace Health Champions. 

We recommend that the PWC explores funding sources, such as the DWP Flexible 

Support Fund, which funds Employment Engagement Officers in some London 

boroughs to ‘match’ public sector employment to residents with mental health conditions 

looking to return to work. This provides support for the transition period, and this type of 

approach would provide ongoing and potentially more sustainable support for those 

people returning to work who have a pre-existing mental health (or physical health) 

condition. We also recommend that there is scope for the PWC to learn from what 

works / what the challenges have been in the DWP-funded projects, and to use this 

knowledge from other London boroughs to inform approaches within H&F. 

The 2016 Green Paper46 has announced that £115 million of Government funding is to 

be invested to develop new models of support to help people into work when they are 

managing a long-term health condition or disability. We recommend that the PWC 

explores whether this will provide a suitable funding stream for any locally-funded pilot 

work, or at least reviews approaches in other areas and builds on what works, within 

H&F. 

There is a key role to play for local partnerships, potentially facilitated / driven by the 

PWC, such as private and public sector employers, the local NHS and the third sector. 

We recommend that worklessness and its links to poor physical and mental health need 

to play a more prominent role within local commissioning decisions and in clinical 

practice within local health services. Work is needed to raise partner awareness of this 

issue so that opportunities to support people in employment are taken and sustained by 

a range of partner agencies.  

We recommend that employment-related outcomes should be considered as a KPI in 

local commissioning arrangements and in developing shared outcomes frameworks 

across local partners. 

We recommend that resulting interventions which focus on poverty and worklessness 

should clearly be embedded within the developing NHS North West London 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan, and the wider local prevention agenda. 

                                                 

46
 Department for Work and Pensions and Department of Health (October 2016). Improving Lives: The Work, Health and Disability 

Green Paper. 

Page 185



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 113 

We recommend that links are made from these findings and the resulting service 

improvements to the Making Every Contact Count initiative for frontline local service and 

support organisation staff. 

We recommend that there is a requirement for up-to-date labour market information in 

H&F to forecast demand and plan associated interventions effectively. Questions 

remain as to whether the types of employers with employment opportunities available 

locally in H&F (which appear to be lower-entry and lower-skill level) are going to be 

amenable to / interested in the sort of innovative partnership interventions which may 

help develop more sustainable employment opportunities for local residents. The 

qualitative findings indicate that many local jobs are lower skill for lower pay and are 

based on more short-term, insecure contracts. Instead, it may be more productive for 

the PWC to build links with local public sector employers and third sector organisations 

who may be more receptive to partnership approaches to support those in/on the edge 

of worklessness (and poverty). 

We recommend that there is a role for the PWC to play in helping local employers adopt 

a longer-term view on the skills and capabilities of their workforce, in light of an 

increasing ageing workforce, and to be focused on keeping people in work rather than 

reactively taking action only with they lose staff. 

We recommend that the PWC should explore what it (and partners) can do to harness 

and develop the potential of those aged 50 and over in the workplace. This should 

include the removal of barriers to remaining in work, enabling workers to adapt to new 

technologies, and a focus on continuing learning, training and professional 

development. 

This research has highlighted the issue of older respondents in our sample who, as well 

as maybe caring for a partner, due to housing and living costs and other factors, provide 

financial, housing and practical support for their adult children and help to raise and 

care for their grandchildren. This is illustrated within some of the CJMs. This has a real 

financial, practical and emotional impact on older people, at a key point later in their life, 

which they will increasingly need to manage alongside working to an older age. The 

PWC needs to consider this when exploring what can be done to harness the potential 

of those aged 50 and over in the workplace living in H&F. 

As well as the need for more joined-up and less fragmented support from health, care 

and welfare organisations, more proactive and tailored information and support needs to 

be available for individuals, as opposed to ‘generic’ information which over-relies on 

online access. The provision of information in a range of written and spoken community 

languages needs to be reviewed.  A more joined-up and whole-system approach should 

result in greater promotion and awareness of the ways in which support can be 

accessed and how ‘the system’ can be navigated effectively. This is particularly 

important for migrant communities who may not understand the Westernised concept of 

how public services are delivered. 

Page 186



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 114 

The findings indicate that there is a perceived over-reliance by respondents we 

interviewed on a ‘one size fits all’ approach in local support services, in particular the 

Jobcentre Plus. There is a fundamental need to move away from this to more tailored, 

individualised approaches and towards a focus on getting people into the ‘right type’ of 

employment for them, not ‘any employment’.  We recommend that PWC builds on and 

taps into the support introduced within the 2016 Green Paper47, whereby the 

Government is expanding the number of employment advisers in talking therapies as 

well as introducing a new Personal Support Package offering tailored employment 

support, which Jobcentre Plus work coaches will help people with disabilities or those 

with health conditions to access. 

The research has highlighted that a number of the individuals we interviewed were living 

in/on the edge of poverty despite working for most of their adult life. A considerable 

systemic challenge is the perception for some that ‘work doesn’t pay’ (due to having to 

pay increased childcare costs or losing Council Tax benefit payments for instance). The 

CJMs have highlighted the logistical childcare and financial challenges of poverty and 

worklessness and caring for young children (and older relatives), particularly when a 

child has an additional need.  This tends to weigh most heavily on women. For some 

there is a perception that there is little or no net financial gain of working compared to 

not working. We recommend that the PWC should review the promotion and uptake of 

the universal 15 hours Free Early Learning Entitlement for 3-4 year olds, and for 2 year 

olds (with employment criteria); and should review how partners are promoting the more 

recently introduced additional 15 hours entitlement for 3-4 year olds (again with 

employment criteria). These could all help with increasing the net financial gain of 

working for those who have young children. It is possible that there could be cultural 

barriers amongst certain BAME groups in H&F, which may limit their uptake of this 

entitlement. In addition, there may be scope for the PWC to review the support and 

information available around the financial aspects of working and entitlements to 

working benefits, including working tax credit and child tax credit. 

We recommend that there are some practical steps the PWC can endorse, including 

exploring the provision of free/discounted courses and training (including English skills, 

literacy, numeracy, ICT) for those who are on low incomes and/or are unemployed. 

There is a need for early education and awareness raising about effective financial 

management and affordable borrowing. 

Finally we recommend that the findings of this extensive insight generation research are 

shared with local partners and with other similar commissions, to contribute to the 

existing evidence base on poverty and worklessness. 

 

                                                 

47
 Ibid. 

Page 187



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 115 

Lessons learnt after study completion 

Below is a list of our lessons learnt from the study that the Commission, other Councils 

and partners may wish to take into account when conducting or commissioning similar 

research in the future: 

We began with a telephone approach for recruiting participants and undertaking 

interviews but found only a small amount of residents were happy to engage with this 

method. Given sensitivities of the topic, we would recommend that the Commission 

consults with residents face-to-face if any future research is conducted on this topic. 

To accurately assign typologies, a large amount of quantitative data also needs to be 

collected (which was out of scope for this study). 

Assigning typologies was also difficult as the data we collected is very broad and we 

found the characteristics of individuals were often inter-linked (e.g. unemployed 35+ 

could also be BAME and/or long-term unemployed, etc.). 

The Commission was very keen to see the triggers which led to worklessness and 

poverty during an individual’s life course. The Customer Journey Maps are a very 

powerful tool to display this information visually and it is one we recommend for any 

similar projects the Commission may work on/commission in the future. 

 

 

 

  

Page 188



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 116 

Appendix One – Topic Guide (In-depth)  

H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commissioon 

Interview Topic Guide 

INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND TO PROJECT  

My name is ______ and I from M·E·L Research. You met my colleague Reena a couple 

of days ago and agreed to take part in the interviews that we are doing on behalf of 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. The interview is likely to take around 30-45 minutes 

depending on your responses. Is now a good time for you?  

READ OUT IF REMINDER IS REQUIRED: So Reena may have covered some of this 

already but just to give you a bit of background, we are an independent market research 

company and we are speaking to a range of people to understand experiences of work, 

money/finances and wider lives. Your valuable contribution will help the Council shape 

future support services and to increase employment opportunities for all.  As a thank 

you for your time we will send you £25 in Love2Shop Vouchers which can be used at 

100’s of different High Street shops and attractions.  

 Please note that the call will be recorded so that we can review people’s responses 

when writing the report. However, your comments will be anonymised and you will not 

be personally identifiable in the findings or report. Are you happy to continue?  

Introduction 

The Council has set up a working party to look at the things that continue to cause a 

lack of suitable employment opportunities in the borough, leading to people struggling to 

make ends meet. The Council has identified well-off and less well-off areas.  

How many people do you know in your local neighbourhood that are struggling to make 

ends meet? 

How can you tell if someone is struggling to make ends meet? Why is that/why not? 

What other words could be used to describe ‘struggling to make ends meet’? 

When people are struggling to make ends meet, what do you think are the main causes 

of this? PROBE FOR: 

Lack of suitable jobs (including uncertainty of income) 

Lack of suitable affordable housing 

Lack of suitable transport 

Cuts and changes to welfare payments (e.g. Universal Credit) 

Benefits ‘trap’? 

Difficulties logistics/cost of childcare / support for carers 

Page 189



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 117 

Debt/high living costs 

Lack of relevant/up to date skills to suit what market needs? 

‘internal factors’ making it hard to get or keep a job e.g. self-esteem, confidence  

Lack of ‘culture’ of working for some e.g. no working role models when growing up etc 

Difficulties in keeping a job (not just finding work in first place)? 

There are said to be fewer residents that both live and work in the Borough – why do 

you think that’s the case? 

What types of jobs should there be to help people who are struggling to get 

work/financially? PROBE FOR: 

Better pay (Living Wage) 

More suitable hours and days? 

Fixed contract versus zero hours contracts – more permanent/secure jobs? 

Jobs in different sectors (not all manual/low paid work) 

Jobs that make it financially worthwhile to move off benefits 

Jobs that make it possible to come off benefits for a short time e.g. to get short-term 

work for experience, then go back on benefits without delay later on if need be (lack of 

flexibility in benefit system) 

Jobs that will lead to a career and more linked to personal interests, rather than task 

and finish ‘jobs’? 

When people are struggling to make ends meet, what impact do you think this has on 

their home life and relationships? PROBE: Why do you say that? 

And what about their health and wellbeing and mental wellbeing? What impact does 

struggling to make ends meet have on this? PROBE 

And what impact does health and mental health and wellbeing have on ability to find 

and keep employment? PROBE 

Personal situation 

I’d now like to discuss your own personal and home situation.  

Can you tell me a little bit about your circumstances? Are you currently working? What 

about other people in the household- are they working? 

IF YES: How suitable is it in supporting you and your family? Why do you say that? 

IF NO: What are the difficulties you are facing in finding work? Why is that?  

Page 190



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 118 

What is your work history and background [tell me a little bit how you have got to where 

you are now]? 

How easy is it for you to make ends meet each week? Why do you say that? 

What was it like growing up? Did you grow up in this area?  

What type of family background did you have? PROBE FOR: 

How supportive was the family setting, help with schooling, homework etc. 

Twin parent or single parent household? 

Who in the household was the breadwinner? What type of work did they do? 

Was there talk of and support for your future work hopes/aspirations when you were 

growing up? 

Did you leave school with qualifications? Did you go on to further education? 

Did you have an idea about what you wanted to do for work when you were younger? 

If anything, what impact does your schooling and education have on finding suitable 

work? Why is that? 

What impact has your wider background had on finding suitable work? Why is that? 

Has health and wellbeing been an issue for you? In what way? 

IF HIGHLIGHTED STRUGGLING:  

What impact does struggling to make ends meet have on you? How does it make you 

feel? 

What impact does it have on your immediate family e.g. partner, children etc? 

What do you do to cope? 

Obtaining support  

What could improve your current situation? 

Who do you think should be involved in providing support? Why is that? 

Who else should support you? 

What can you do to improve your own situation? Why do you say that? 

How easy is it to obtain the emotional support you need? How about practical support? 

Have you used any support organisations (e.g. from the Council or Jobcentre Plus etc?) 

What was your experience of the support organisations you have used? How have they 

benefitted you, if at all? What could be improved? 

Page 191



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 119 

Which support organisations need to have greater involvement? Why is that? 

What would need to change to help you ‘make ends meet’/ good or acceptable quality 

of life? 

Future prospects 

What are your future hopes or fears? 

And what about your aspirations for yourself and your family? 

What would help you to reach/realise your future aspirations? 

What would you like the next six months to look like? Why do you say that? 

Where would you like to be in say 3 years? What would you like your life to look like 

then? 

What three key things would help you get there? [these questions will identify practical 

actions] 

What three key things could you do to help you get there? 

What three key things could other agencies/services do to help you get there? 

Do you have any other comments to make about any of the issues we have discussed? 

Thank you for answering these questions. We will post the gift voucher out to you and 

you should get this within the next couple of weeks. 

INTERVIEWER PLEASE CONFIRM NAME AND ADDRESS DETAILS (Where they 

would like the vouchers to be sent).  

PLEASE ALSO INFORM RESPONDENT THAT THE VOUCHER WILL BE SENT 

RECORDED DELIVERY (2 to 3 days) AND THAT SOMEONE WILL NEED TO SIGN 

FOR THEM. 

  

Page 192



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 120 

Appendix Two – Topic Guide (CJM)  

H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commission 

CJM Interview Topic Guide 

INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND TO PROJECT  

My name is ______ and I am calling from M·E·L Research. We arranged to speak today 

to carry out an interview on behalf of Hammersmith and Fulham Council. Is now still a 

good time for you? The interview is likely to take around 30-45 minutes depending on 

your responses. 

READ OUT IF REMINDER IS REQUIRED: So just to give you a bit of background, we 

are an independent market research company and we are speaking to a range of 

people to understand your experiences of work, money/finances and wider lives. Your 

valuable contribution will help the Council shape future support services and to increase 

employment opportunities for all.  As a thank you for your time we will send you £25 in 

Love2Shop Vouchers which can be used at 100’s of different High Street shops and 

attractions.  

Please note that the call will be recorded so that we can review people’s responses 

when writing the report. We will draw up a visual customer journey map based on our 

discussion today. However, your comments will be anonymised and you will not be 

personally identifiable in the findings or report. Are you happy to continue?  

Interviewer note: 

See CJM template which needs to be populated by data from the interviews 

Need to tailor questions to the individual being interviewed – each journey will be 

different. Each individual journey map jump around – will need to be pieced together 

afterwards 

Introduction 

The Council has set up a working party to look at the things that continue to cause a 

lack of suitable employment opportunities in the borough, leading to people struggling to 

make ends meet. The Council has identified well-off and less well-off areas.  

How many people do you know in your local neighbourhood that are struggling to make 

ends meet? 

How can you tell if someone is struggling to make ends meet? Why is that/why not? 

What other words could be used to describe ‘struggling to make ends meet’? 

When people are struggling to make ends meet, what do you think are the main causes 

of this? PROBE FOR: 

Lack of suitable jobs (including uncertainty of income) 

Page 193



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 121 

Lack of suitable affordable housing 

Lack of suitable transport 

Cuts and changes to welfare payments (e.g. Universal Credit) 

Benefits ‘trap’? 

Difficulties logistics/cost of childcare/support for carers 

Debt/high living costs 

Lack of relevant/up to date skills to suit what market needs? 

‘internal factors’ making it hard to get or keep a job e.g. self-esteem, confidence  

Lack of ‘culture’ of working for some e.g. no working role models when growing up etc 

Difficulties in keeping a job (not just finding work in first place)? 

There are said to be fewer residents that both live and work in the Borough – why do 

you think that’s the case? 

What types of jobs should there be to help people who are struggling to get 

work/financially? PROBE FOR: 

Better pay (Living Wage) 

More suitable hours and days? 

Fixed contract versus zero hours contracts – more permanent/secure jobs? 

Jobs in different sectors (not all manual/low paid work) 

Jobs that make it financially worthwhile to move off benefits 

Jobs that make it possible to come off benefits for a short time e.g. to get short-term 

work for experience, then go back on benefits without delay later on if need be (lack of 

flexibility in benefit system) 

Jobs that will lead to a career and more linked to personal interests, rather than task 

and finish ‘jobs’? 

When people are struggling to make ends meet, what impact do you think this has on 

their home life and relationships? PROBE: Why do you say that? 

And what about their health and wellbeing and mental wellbeing? What impact does 

struggling to make ends meet have on this? PROBE 

And what impact does health and mental health and wellbeing have on ability to find 

and keep employment? PROBE 

  

Page 194



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 122 

Personal situation 

I’d now like to discuss your own personal and home situation.  

Can you tell me a little bit about your circumstances? Are you currently working? What 

about other people in the household- are they working? 

IF YES: How suitable is it in supporting you and your family? Why do you say that? CJM 

Q: IF YOU COULD CHANGE ONE THING, WHAT WOULD IT BE? 

IF NO: What are the difficulties you are facing in finding work? Why is that? CJM Q: IF 

YOU COULD CHANGE ONE THING, WHAT WOULD IT BE? 

What is your work history and background [tell me a little bit how you have got to where 

you are now]? CJM Q: WHAT WOULD YOU SAY HAVE BEEN THE HIGH AND LOW 

POINTS SO FAR? 

How easy is it for you to make ends meet each week? Why do you say that? 

What was it like growing up? Did you grow up in this area? 

What type of family background did you have? PROBE FOR: 

How supportive was the family setting, help with schooling, homework etc. 

Twin parent or single parent household? 

Who in the household was the breadwinner? What type of work did they do? 

Was there talk of and support for your future work hopes/aspirations when you were 

growing up? 

CJM Q: So thinking back to you early years/childhood, what 3 things do you think 

have most influenced where you are now (in terms of work and money/finances)? What 

would you change looking back and what would you keep/what was good? 

Did you leave school with qualifications? Did you go on to further education? 

Did you have an idea about what you wanted to do for work when you were younger? 

If anything, what impact does your schooling and education have on finding suitable 

work? Why is that? 

CJM Q: Thinking back to you schooling and education, what 3 things do you think 

have most influenced where you are now (in terms of work and money/finances)? What 

would you change looking back and what would you keep/what was good? 

Whilst you were at school/in education, did you use any services or support linked to 

future work/employment? What was good or bad about any services/support you used 

[Key Touch Points]? 

Page 195



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 123 

What impact has your wider background had on finding suitable work? Why is that? 

CJM Q: And thinking about growing up and the influence of your parents/family, what 3 

things do you think have most influenced where you are now (in terms of work and 

money/finances)? What would you change looking back and what would you keep/what 

was good? 

Has health and wellbeing been an issue for you? In what way? 

IF HIGHLIGHTED STRUGGLING:  

What impact does struggling to make ends meet have on you? How does it make you 

feel? 

What impact does it have on your immediate family e.g. partner, children etc? 

What do you do to cope? 

CJM Q: If you could change one thing, what would it be? 

Obtaining support  

What could improve your current situation? 

Who do you think should be involved in providing support? Why is that? 

Who else should support you? 

What can you do to improve your own situation? Why do you say that? 

How easy is it to obtain the emotional support you need? How about practical support? 

Have you used any support organisations such as for training, skills and employment 

(e.g. from the Council or Jobcentre Plus etc?) What was your experience of each of the 

training, skills and employment support organisations you have used [Key Touch 

Points]? What was good or bad about any services/support you have used? How have 

they benefitted you, if at all? What could be improved? 

Which support organisations need to have greater involvement? Why is that? 

CJM Q: And thinking about training, skills and employment what 3 things do you 

think have most influenced where you are now (in terms of work and money/finances)? 

What would you change looking back and what would you keep/what was good? 

What would need to change to help you ‘make ends meet’/ good or acceptable quality 

of life? 

Future prospects 

What are your future hopes or fears? 

And what about your aspirations for yourself and your family? 

Page 196



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 124 

What would help you to reach/realise your future aspirations? 

What would you like the next six months to look like? Why do you say that? 

Where would you like to be in say 3 years? What would you like your life to look like 

then? 

What three key things would help you get there? [these questions will identify practical 

actions] 

What three key things could you do to help you get there? 

What three key things could other agencies/services do to help you get there? 

CJM Q for older residents: what has gone well and what do you think should be 

improved in terms of: 

Help and support for those moving towards retirement age 

Help and support for those coming to the end of their working life 

Help and support for those who need to continue working beyond traditional retirement 

age (e.g. employer attitudes, discrimination, re-skilling etc) 

CJM Q: Standing back, what would you say have been the main high and main low 

points in your journey to this point, thinking about work/finances and money? 

Do you have any other comments to make about any of the issues we have discussed? 

Thank you for answering these questions.  

INTERVIEWER PLEASE CONFIRM NAME AND ADDRESS DETAILS (Where they 

would like the vouchers to be sent).  

PLEASE ALSO INFORM RESPONDENT THAT THE VOUCHER WILL BE SENT 

RECORDED DELIVERY (2 to 3 days) AND THAT SOMEONE WILL NEED TO SIGN 

FOR IT 

Page 197



 

                                              Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services Page 125 

  

Page 198



                     

126 

 

 3. Analysis of problems and ideas for addressing them 

3a. Findings from other poverty and worklessness-related commissions  

The Commission reviewed seven existing local authority strategies and commission 
reports relating to poverty and worklessness, which offer lessons in the different 
approaches that can be taken to tackle these issues.  

1. Newham Council – Tackling Child Poverty Scrutiny Commission48 

2. Greater Manchester Poverty Commission49 

3. Leicester City Council – Child Poverty Commission50 

4. Renfrewshire Council – Tackling Poverty Commission51 

5. Islington Council – Employment Commission52 

6. Greater Manchester Health and Worklessness Commission53 

7. Tower Hamlets – Reducing Worklessness Among Young Adults Strategy54 

The findings of the various Commissions can be grouped according to the following 
themes, with the number of commissions making the recommendation in brackets 
(out of 7 reviewed commissions). 

Early intervention, advice and advocacy  

 Co-location and/or partnership working between currently siloed services, 

including satellite support e.g. employment support in GP surgeries, welfare 

support in Children’s Centres. (6/7) 

 Training for caseworkers, frontline staff and residents. (6/7) 

 Explicit link between health and employment services for staff and service-users. 

(3/7) 

 Work with community leaders to identify vulnerable individuals and work with 

excluded communities. (2/7) 

 IT training to reduce digital exclusion. (2/7) 

 Household budgeting and financial support. (2/7) 

 Provide access to free legal services. (1/7) 

 Careers advice from primary school age. (1/7) 

                                                 

48
 linksUK. 2008. Tackling Child Poverty Scrutiny Commission. Newham Council.  

49
 Greater Manchester Poverty Commission. 2013.  

50
 Leicester City Council. 2013. Leicester Child Poverty Commission.  

51
 Renfrewshire Council. 2015. Tackling Poverty in Renfrewshire: Tackling Poverty Strategy 2015-2017.  

52
 Islington Council. 2014. Islington Employment Commission.  

53
 CLES Consulting. 2010. Greater Manchester Health and Worklessness.  

54
 London Borough of Tower Hamlets. 2010. Reducing Worklessness Among Youth Adults Strategy.  

 

Page 199



                     

127 

 

 Language development programme review with relevant partners. (1/7) 

 Mental health services for young people. (1/7) 

Welfare, wages and the cost of living 

 Free public transport, or review affordable fares. (3/7) 

 Reduce Council tax, or spread payments across a longer time period. (3/7) 

 Initiatives to reduce energy bills, source the cheapest tariffs and invest in energy 

efficiency. (3/7) 

 Review additional school costs, such as uniforms, meals and trips. (3/7) 

 Enforce the minimum wage. (2/7) 

 Introduce a Living Wage. (2/7) 

 Food poverty initiatives, with coordinated support. (2/7) 

 Monitor and reduce the usage of payday loans and lenders. (2/7) 

Childcare  

 Identify those eligible for free childcare to ensure take-up. (2/7) 

 Improve the quality and accessibility of affordable childcare. (1/7) 

 Provide universal health visiting for mothers and babies vulnerable to poverty. 

(1/7) 

Local economy, jobs and skills 

 Work with employers to generate internships and apprenticeships. (7/7) 

 Build relationships between schools and employers. (4/7) 

 Produce jobs fairs. (1/7)  

Migrants  

 Boost language skills through ESOL provision. (1/7) 

Housing 

 Improve the quality of housing in the private rented sector. (1/7) 

 Introduce rent controls in the social housing sector. (1/7) 

Lobbying central government 

 Ensure ongoing monitoring to lobby central government for more data. (2/7) 

 Improve the Invest to Save case. (1/7) 

 Demand more social housing. (1/7) 

 Review, reduce or remove welfare sanctions. (1/7) 

Internal governance 

Page 200



                     

128 

 

 Anti-poverty strategy and bodies, tracking and measurement written across 

Council policy and agendas. (4/7) 

 Use data, both predictively and to identify vulnerable cohorts and inform 

interventions. (3/7) 

 Joint lobbying with other Councils with similar commissions. (1/7) 

The following analysis pieces look at data-driven priorities related to poverty and 

worklessness in H&F around: 

 Business survival and resilience. 

 Training and skills. 

 Reducing the long-term unemployment rate (particularly for people aged 35+). 

 Mental health. 

 Employment for people from black and minority ethnic communities. 

 Part-time work and elementary occupations. 

 Vulnerable older people. 

 Local housing and its affordability. 

3b. Business survival and resilience 

What we know 

 The borough has one of the lowest survival rates for business in London at 

1,2,3,4 and 5 year marks.  

 There is high churn of businesses; in 2014 the borough had one of the highest 

business deaths rates nationally (302nd), as well as one of the highest rates of 

business births. 

 The local population is prone to long-term unemployment. 

What we do not know 

 Why does a low survival rate exist within the borough? 

 What types are businesses are dying within H&F – sector, size, age, location. 

 The impact for the employees of these businesses. 

 What are local businesses struggling with and what can be done to assist? 

 Which are the current businesses at risk, and which are growing. 

 What businesses and their employees think about H&F as a place to base their 

business and work. 

H&F Business Survey (2016) findings55 

                                                 

55
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. H&F Business Survey.  

 

Page 201



                     

129 

 

 Decreased employees: 6% of businesses had lost more than 10% of their 

employees, 11% lost under 10% whilst 24% saw an increase and 60% no 

change. 

 Increased employees: More employees were hired due to an increase in 

demand for goods or services (38%), business expansion/restructuring (29%) 

and the need for staff with specific skills (15%).  Redundancies were attributed to 

a fall in demand for goods and services (31%). 

 Satisfaction rates: 52% are very satisfied or satisfied with H&F as a place to do 

business, 14% are either very dissatisfied or dissatisfied.  

 Space is a big issue for businesses. 53% rate the borough as poor or very 

poor in relation to parking facilities, 46% of respondents rate the borough as poor 

or very poor in relation to suitable and affordable workspace. 

 Many aren’t aware of or don’t use available business support. 34% rate the 

quality of business support as poor, though when one looks more closely, 63% 

have not used the business support helpline, 73% have not used the enterprise 

club and 57% have not used “other” business support initiatives. 

Business deaths may simply be due to a change in demand for a good or service.  

This may indicate that businesses, particularly small ones, do not have the ability to 

transition smoothly into another sector. Experian’s research supports this, noting that 

the borough has a poor score for “adaptive industries”.  

KPMG and the Federation of Small Business published a short study56 examining 

the level of burden felt by small businesses. Factors included infrastructure, cost and 

local administrative burden.  H&F had the 8th overall highest burden.  The borough 

had the 5th highest cost burden (including commercial, residential premises, parking, 

business rates and Council tax), was an impressive 21st on local administrative 

burden (business supportiveness of Council’s policies and ease of dealing with 

Council) and 15th on infrastructure challenges (public transport accessibility, 

broadband quality, road congestion and availability of commercial space).  

Growing employment sectors 

Data from the Mayor of London’s London Plan57 projects employment growth by 

sector between 2011-2036.  

                                                 

56
 KPMG. 2014. The small business burden for London boroughs.  

57
 Greater London Authority. London Plan.  

 

Page 202

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-one-context-and-strategy-2


                     

130 

 

 

 

 H&F is one the boroughs set to benefit most from these changes in employment 

profile, with growth set at 28.5% over 2011-2036, second only to Haringey at 

29.5%.  

 This could be attributed to the fact that the high growth sectors are currently well-

represented in their share of major employers. Professional, real estate, scientific 

and technical activities will create almost half of new jobs (49%), and currently 

represent 12% of the borough’s employment. This doesn’t account for the 

additional boost of Imperial College’s research hub and its plans for business 

incubators in the borough. 

 Other growth areas are administrative and support services (currently at 11%), 

information and communications (currently at 15%), accommodation and health 

and education.  

 Retail – a significant employment sector in the borough – will have low growth.  

 Only one major employer sector in the borough is declining: Wholesale at 6%.  

 Although not major employers, collective decline in sectors such as ‘public 

administration’, financial and insurance’ sector and ‘construction’ may affect 

employment in H&F. 

 Manufacturing will continue to decline. 

The Hammersmith & Fulham Business Commission (2016) aims to make the 

borough a more attractive place to do business. Interviews with the borough’s 

business leaders of large companies as well as technology, creative and lifestyle 

companies, had the following findings: 

Page 203



                     

131 

 

 Companies generally felt that H&F is not a bad place to do business, but few are 

truly wedded to being in the borough in the long-term.  

 Great transport links enhance the ability of businesses to attract good quality 

staff. 

 Key concerns are around rent and the lack of appropriate office space; start-ups 

in Hammersmith in particular cite this as one reason why they move out of the 

borough as they scale-up. 

 Better amenities including a more vibrant nightlife and reasonably priced non-

chain restaurants are some of the general asks of businesses interviewed. 

Companies with young, skilled staff felt that the borough could do more to 

improve the vibe of the area, particularly in Hammersmith.  

 All businesses, particularly those who had more traditional office spaces, wanted 

to see more business and creative hubs, where companies could meet clients or 

each other and exchange ideas in a relaxed environment. 

 Technology focused companies would like to see better broadband connectivity. 

 Most companies had no involvement with the Council at the senior level.  

 There are concerns about the cost and availability of parking for employees and 

visitors (in Hammersmith).  

 Several small businesses said that support, particularly around publicity and 

events would help them (e.g. Small Business Saturday). 

3c. Training and skills 

What we know 

 A high proportion of local businesses report skills shortage vacancies or existing 

skills gaps.  

 However, relatively low skills gaps exist within the borough.  

 There is a high proportion of job vacancies.  

 High job density with more jobs than people of working age.  

 The borough has a low proportion of residents in apprenticeships starts at all 

ages with total of 610 - ranked 283rd nationally. 

What we do not know 

 The current skills gaps within H&F and why local employers cannot fill them. 

 Why are apprenticeship starts low? 

 More details on the how apprenticeships are being used or promoted in the 

Borough 

 A lack of investment in skills development risks leading to a cycle of low level 

skills/poorly paid work/poverty. On a national level, low skills lead to low 

productivity. 

 Employers are now at the centre of training policy, but don’t invest enough 

Page 204



                     

132 

 

 Funding to subsidise training by private employers has been severely reduced 

with serious implications for further education (FE) 

 Funding directly to colleges for courses offered to adults has effectively been 

withdrawn – ‘a long established element of the education and training landscape 

[is] under considerable threat’ 

An overview of apprenticeships 

The Government’s ambition to have 3 million apprenticeships by 2020 includes an 

Apprenticeships Levy being introduced in 2017 for larger enterprises, which will 

include organisations and businesses in H&F.  

Apprenticeships are paid jobs that incorporate both on and off the job training.  A 

completed apprenticeship will qualify with a nationally recognised qualification. 

Apprenticeships are seen as being key to tackling a skills gap in the UK labour 

market, and there is particular demand for high-level skills in the construction, 

manufacturing, engineering and technology industries58.  

There are three apprenticeship levels: intermediate (equivalent to 5 GCSE passes at 

grades A*-C), advanced (equivalent to 2 A level passes) and higher (equivalent to a 

foundation degree and above). Most apprenticeships are at intermediate Level, 

although the number of higher apprenticeships is increasing.  

Nationally, the majority of apprenticeships are in the service sector, with 71% of all 

starts concentrated in: Business, Administration & Law; Health, Public Services & 

Care and Retail & Commercial Enterprise. 

The average apprentice’s salary during their apprenticeship is £13,105 annually. It is 

unclear as to how many completed apprenticeships lead to a job immediately, what 

the employment retention rates and in-work progression are, and how this compares 

to other education and qualification routes.  

Apprenticeships should be used to recruit new workers but, currently, most 

employers are using apprenticeships to develop existing staff who are already in 

secure employment. The 2014 Apprenticeship Pay Survey concluded that two-thirds 

(67 per cent) of intermediate and advanced level apprentices in England were 

already working for their employer when they started their apprenticeship (Ibid).  

Many people who start apprenticeships do not complete them; in 2014/15, only 30% 

of apprenticeships were completed (260,900 completed out of 871,000 started). 

Retaining apprentices is key to apprenticeships being a success.  

                                                 

58
 Dolphin, T. 2016. IPPR. Apprenticeships in England: matching skills to employment opportunities.  

 

Page 205



                     

133 

 

In H&F, the number of apprenticeship starts is small and, contrary to the national 
trend, is not increasing: 
 

Parliamentary 
Constituency 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Hammersmith 540 410 370 460 440 

Chelsea and Fulham 220 200 180 190 210 

 
(Source: Constituency Apprenticeship Statistics, 2016) 

There is a skills deficit in H&F, and employers need incentives to set up successful 

apprenticeships. 

 

The benefits of apprenticeships 

NIACE reviewed apprenticeship data and evidence59 to conclude the following: 

 Apprenticeships lead to an increase in productivity. 

 Government spending of £1 gets a return of £28 (Department for Business, 

Innovation and Skills estimate). 

 19% of advanced apprenticeships (Level 2) progress to higher education. 

 ‘Trailblazer’ apprenticeships (these are formulating standards for the 

government’s reformed apprenticeships) are effective.  

 Sectors with a tradition of apprenticeships – motor vehicle, construction and 

engineering industries – run successful schemes. 

Barriers to participation and successful implementation of apprenticeships 

 One in three apprentices didn’t know they were on an apprenticeship. 

 Apprenticeship provision can be poor because employers do not invest enough in 

apprenticeships. 

 In some cases, employees’ existing skills are accredited; no new learning takes 

place. Apprentices are not developing the advanced professional-level skills 

needed by businesses.  

 The focus is on service sectors such retail and customer care. 

 Large employers dominate successful schemes.  

 Small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) offer few apprenticeships (16% in 
2014). 

 Schools often fail to promote apprenticeships; apprenticeships are not seen as a 
good alternative (the government goal) to a university education. 

                                                 

59
 Learning and Work Institute and NIACE. 2015. Apprentice charter: higher quality, better outcomes.  

 

Page 206

http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/sites/niace_en/files/resources/Apprentice%20Charter%20Policy.pdf


                     

134 

 

 Parents of children on apprenticeships do not qualify for child benefit/tax credit. 

Disadvantaged groups 

 Gender differences – sectors follow gender stereotypes. 

 Provision for disabled apprentices is inadequate; reasonable adjustments are not 
made (consider the Equality Act 2010). Only 13% of apprentices are disabled 
(16% of working age adults are disabled). 

 25% of applicants are from Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups, but only 

9% of current apprentices are BAME (15% of the general population is BAME). 

Uncompleted apprenticeships 
 

 Twenty per cent of apprentices fail to complete their apprenticeships60.  

 BAME, disabled and 25+ cohorts are less likely to complete their apprenticeships.  

 Women are less likely to complete apprenticeships in male-dominated industries 
(e.g. electrotechnical).  

 Those with a higher educational attainment when they start their apprenticeships 
are more likely to succeed.  

 Apprentices starting apprenticeships in areas of high unemployment are also less 
likely to complete.  

 
Other evidence suggests that uncomfortable working environment, possible bullying 
and exploitation, and a mismatch between the apprentice and the apprenticeship 
hinder the completion of apprenticeships.  
 
Traineeships 

A report on outcomes suggests traineeships are generally positive for both trainees 
and employers61. Traineeships target unemployed 16-24 year olds qualified below 
Level 3 (roughly equivalent to A Levels), funded by the Skills Funding Agency. 
Traineeships last for six weeks to six months and provide a route to work or 
apprenticeships62. Employers are not required to pay trainees but trainees can 
receive benefits (welfare and bursaries). In 2014/15 there were 15,100 traineeship 
starts.  
 
Lifelong learning 

Continuing education and learning is key to supporting the retention of older workers 

as active contributors to the labour market, and is essential in this policy era of 

ageing populations. However, there has been a national decline in lifelong learning, 

especially in the over-50 age group. People from poorer backgrounds with lower 

                                                 

60
 Gambin L and Hogarth T. 2015. 'Factors affecting completion of apprenticeship training in England'.  

61
 Department for Business, Innovation & Skills. 2015. Traineeships: First year process evaluation.  

62
 Delebarre, Jeanne. 2015. Traineeships. 

 

Page 207

http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/24517/2/CBP-7305_Redacted.pdf


                     

135 

 

educational attainment are less likely to participate in lifelong learning. Financial and 

time constraints as well as limited availability of workplace training all act as barriers.  

3d. Reducing the long-term unemployment rate (including for people aged 35+) 

What we know 

 H&F is prone to long-term unemployment. 

 Very high rates and proportions of JSA claimants for 12 months or more (31%), 
and high rates for 6 months or more (51%).  

 The claimant rate in the north of the borough is a lot higher compared to the 
south sub area of the borough. 

 Poor business survival in the borough. 

 Employment rates for people aged 35-49 and 50-64 are low compared to other 
boroughs. 

 76% of claimants are aged 35 or over. 

 Low employment rate for people aged 35+. 

 High rate of businesses stating they have vacancies and skills gaps / shortages. 

What we do not know 

 Detailed characteristics of the long-term unemployed in H&F - age, ethnicity, 

location, housing tenure, household composition, education history (education 

attainment) and skills. 

 Current service provision and effectiveness. What other services and support is 

in place - how is this managed and how effective is it? 

 What has worked in other areas? 

 Links to other problems and issues, and barriers to returning to work. 

 The individuals and households concerned – question over information sharing 

and what can be achieved without it. 

 Sought occupations, apprenticeship approaches, and self-employment 

promotion. 

 Why are there poor employment rates for those aged 35+ within H&F. 

 Why self-employment levels are so low in areas of social housing. 

H&F differs from the London average as the majority of out-of-work benefit claimants 

are longer term claimants, and are out-of-work due to illness or disability. 

The poverty trap 

Many people experiencing unemployment and worklessness at a national level are 

cycling through low pay/no pay jobs, with high churn of entry and exit to the jobs 

market. Short hours and part-time or temporary work holds back labour market 

progression63.  Low pay is part of this picture – the number of jobs paid below the 

                                                 

63
 Gibb et al. February 2016. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. How does housing affect work incentives for people in poverty?  

Page 208

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty


                     

136 

 

Living Wage is 18% of all jobs, 43% of part-time jobs64. There should be a focus on 

quality jobs, not just more jobs65.  

There are multiple disincentives to work; the cost of housing, transport and childcare, 

worsened by flexibility in labour and house markets.  H&F is one of London’s top 

three boroughs for having the highest gap between weekly income after housing 

costs between homeowners and renters66.  More secure tenancies would improve 

people’s willingness to move, and lower rents would provide a much clearer financial 

incentive to work; social rented housing should be a springboard to employment67.  

Strong social networks boost proximity to jobs gained through them, and shared care 

and childcare responsibilities can make work feasible68.  

Contrary to the myth of a ‘culture of worklessness’ where unemployment is 

normalised, evidence found that multiple generations of worklessness was correlated 

with social exclusion and poverty; poor schooling, drug and alcohol use, illicit 

economies, criminal victimisation, offending and imprisonment; domestic violence, 

family and housing instability and physical and mental ill health. These factors all 

affect proximity to the jobs market69.  

A 2010 study on recurrent poverty by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation used the 

policy phrase ‘low pay, no pay cycle’ to describe how ‘once poor, people will suffer 

poverty repeatedly’. The study looked at income poverty, financial strain and material 

deprivation using longitudinal data over a 15-year period and found that certain 

groups were prone to recurrent poverty; those with limited education; skilled manual 

and lower skilled workers; single parents and unemployed and economically inactive 

people70.  

The study also stressed the importance of the ‘quality of employment’, rather than 

the mere status of being employed, and training and good employment conditions 

were seen as integral to providing this quality. A job on the ‘periphery of the labour 

market’ which was ‘temporary or unstable’ did not adequately protect people from 

poverty. Changes in family composition, such as a new baby or a divorce, access to 

childcare and changes in the labour market, have a high impact on poverty levels.  

Devolving employment support from national to regional level 

                                                 

64
 Aldridge et al. October 2015. New Policy Institute and Trust for London. London’s Poverty Profile.  

65
 Gardiner, L and Daffney, G. 2016. Retention Deficit. Resolution Foundation.  

66
 Hannah, K and Bosetti, N. 2015. Centre for London. Inside Out Inequality.  

67
 Gibb et al. February 2016. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. How does housing affect work incentives for people in poverty?  

68
 Gibb et al. February 2016. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. How does housing affect work incentives for people in poverty?  

69
 Shildrick et al. 2012. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Are ‘cultures of worklessness’ passed down the generations?  

70
 Shildrick, T. 2010. The low-pay, no-pay cycle: Understanding recurrent poverty.  

Page 209

http://centreforlondon.org/publication/inside-out-the-new-geography-of-wealth-and-poverty-in-london-2/
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty
http://wbg.org.uk/pdfs/worklessness-families-employment-full.pdf


                     

137 

 

Employment support programmes are currently designed at national level and would 

benefit from being more local71.  Data sharing is encouraged between Jobcentre 

Plus, local authorities, providers of contracted employment support and housing 

associations72.  The Work Programme is ineffective and is not designed for the most 

disadvantaged claimants.  Only one in four Work Programme participants achieve 

sustained employment73.  No more than 10 per cent of Employment Support 

Allowance claimants found and kept work (as low as 7% in evidence from certain 

time periods)74.  

Local authorities and services have a better understanding of what their communities 

need. Local schemes are significantly cheaper and more effective at getting people 

into work75. Devolution of employment support through City Deals and LEPs has 

been successful at flexing national policies, providing tailored services to suit local 

needs76. They have also incentivised local employers to engage with the system by 

giving them a mandate, shaping local training provision according to local priorities 

and needs. 

Housing associations have been identified as one of the best sources of support for 

workless people due the sustainability of their housing, support packages and 

employment opportunities, their unique, trusted relationship with residents, access in 

deprived areas, opportunity to attract financial investment and strong connections 

across public and private sectors77. 

Local jobs for local people  

An analysis of H&F’s industries and employees shows only 27.9% of its workplace 

population live in the borough, which ranks it low at 27th out of 33 London 

boroughs78. Local residents should have access to a jobs broker that prioritises them 

above out-of-borough applicants.  This requires an audit of the existing skills in the 

borough, particularly of unemployed people.  It also requires a review of the 

provision of training and adult learning to match skills to current and future jobs.  

‘Place then train’ models are more effective than ‘train then place’ models for getting 

people into employment, due to employers being able to co-design the process and 

tailor people’s skills to the job.  Personalisation – tailored support which meets 

                                                 

71
 London Councils. June 2012.  Getting London working: a 10 point plan to improve employment provision.  

72
 Gstir, V. 2015. The Guardian. Social housing – worklessness behind numbers.  

73
 Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Work and Career Support for the long-term unemployed.  

74
 Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Better support for disabled people and those with health conditions. 

75
 London Councils. June 2012.  Getting London working: a 10 point plan to improve employment provision.  

76
 Clayton, C and McGough, L. July 2015. Centre for Cities. City deals and skills.  

77
 Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion. July 2015. Worklessness, welfare and social housing.  

78
 See Chapter 1b.  

Page 210

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw
http://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment
file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Evidence%20and%20literature/Helen%2035+%20evidence%20review/Work%20and%20career%20support%20for%20the%20long-term%20unemployed
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw
http://www.centreforcities.org/reader/city-deals-and-skills/executive-summary/
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/sites/niace_en/files/publication_additional_downloads/Worklessness,%20welfare%20and%20social%20housing%20-%20executive%20summary.pdf?redirectedfrom=cesi


                     

138 

 

individual needs – has better outcomes for improved, sustained employment than 

black box or payment by results methods79.  

Mental health 

Mind reports that only 5% of the 150,000 people with mental health problems on 

ESA who have been placed on the Work Programme have been helped into work, 

compared to 24% of people without a health condition80.  The majority of people 

deemed ‘Fit for Work’ by the Work Capability Assessment still needed two or more of 

the following: flexible hours; periods of disability leave or access to a support worker, 

which aren’t always available.  Beyond being ineffective, participation in the Work 

Programme often worsens people’s mental health issues.  Work Choice success 

rates far exceed the Work Programme, as it is designed for people with more 

complex needs – such as long-term health issues and disabilities.  A new offer 

based on need rather than by type of benefit should be made to all claimants so that 

they receive the right support at the right time.  

Money problems and mental health problems are cyclical, with poor mental health 

found to be the main cause of falling behind on household bills, which can lead to 

uncertainty of tenure81. 

Disabilities 

Those affected by a health problem or disability are far more likely to be in low pay 

jobs, live in deprived areas, and to be out of work82. Current health-related 

employment support is too late to engage and there needs to be a shift to retaining 

people in work rather than getting them back into work.  

Half of all disabled people are out of work, compared with one quarter of those who 

are not disabled83. The most recent analysis of disability employment rate found that 

it currently stands at 46 per cent, 34 percentage points below the employment rate 

for non-disabled people84. Over half of all workless households now contain at least 

one adult with a disability (Ibid.). One in three people in poverty live in a house with a 

disabled person (Ibid.). 

                                                 

79
 Centre for Mental Health. 2016. Individual Placement and Support (IPS). Available at: 

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support   

80
 Mind, December 2014, We’ve Got Work To Do.  

81
 Money and Mental Health Policy Institute. June 2016. Money on your mind.  

82
 MacInnes et al. July 2014. New Policy Institute. Disability, long-term conditions and poverty.  

83
 Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Better support for disabled people and those with health conditions.  

84
 Gardiner, L and Daffney, G. 2016. Retention Deficit. Resolution Foundation.  

Page 211

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/1690126/weve_got_work_to_do.pdf
http://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Money-on-your-mind-exec-summary.pdf
http://npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_poverty.pdf
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support


                     

139 

 

Just 1 in 10 of the 3.6 million people who are out of work and have a work-limiting 

health condition, are receiving support through DWP employment programmes – 

Work Choice and Work Programme85.  

Carers 

Caring responsibilities are a key characteristic of workless people in Hammersmith 

and Fulham, and caring responsibilities is one of the main barriers to work.  

According to Nomis data, in 2015 in H&F, 7,100 workless people, representing 

29.5% of the borough’s workless population, were ‘looking after family/home’.  

A Care UK survey found that half of carers had to give up work to care, which could 

have been prevented through more support from care workers (54%), with 

household chores (45%) and with managing or coordinating care (34%). Nearly a 

third (31%) of working carers thought that the Carers’s Assessment didn’t properly 

consider the support they needed to manage work and care or to return to work86. 

Workplace support must be boosted for carers to remain in and return to work.  

Social housing 

In social housing, almost twice as many residents are economically inactive 

compared to other housing tenures. Only 10% of people living in social housing can 

be classified as unemployed (defined as looking for work recently and able to start 

work immediately); 40 per cent of people are economically inactive87.  

Of the economically active population, more than half are long-term sick or disabled, 

34% are carers and 4% are temporarily sick, attributing 88% of the barriers to work 

for this workless population to illness, disability or caring responsibilities.  

3e. Mental health  

What we know 

The main health conditions behind out of work benefits are mental health and 

behavioural disorders.  

Key findings 

 3,560 people claim Employment Support Allowance due to mental health and 

behavioural disorders. This is higher than the total number of JSA claimants in 

H&F. 

                                                 

85
 Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Better support for disabled people and those with health conditions.  

86
 Care UK. 2015. State of Caring.  

87
 Gstir, V. 2015. The Guardian. Social housing – worklessness behind numbers.  

Page 212

http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment


                     

140 

 

 Residents with mental health issues represent nearly 50% (48%) of the ESA 

claimants. 

 In some local areas, the ESA claimants due to mental health issues are as high 

as 7.4%88 of working age population. 

 The estates in H&F have the highest number of claimants due to mental health 

conditions. 

 There is a high correlation in areas where people living in one-bedroom 

apartments and the prevalence of mental health disorder.  

 Residents in social housing are more prone to mental health conditions. 

 The ESA claimant rate for MH does not necessarily follow deprivation – for 

example Edward Woods estate has a high rate, but other similarly deprived 

estates such as White City do not. The situation is more complicated than just 

deprivation. 

What we do not know 

 Individual details about this cohort – age, conditions, location, education, skills 

etc. 

 What type of services are on offer to this cohort? 

 What are the causes and triggers of mental health and how these contribute to 

these individuals being unemployed? 

 How many of these people are known to local mental health services and what is 

being done to assist them getting back to the labour market. 

 What other services are these individuals or households receiving? 

Summary 

 People with mental health problems form the largest component of people on 
ESA, nationally and locally.  

 There is a huge amount of evidence around the positives for mental health on 
‘good work’. 

 There is a symbiotic relationship between mental health, employment, stage in 
the life course, stigma and a full range of social determinants of health including 
demography, income, wealth and ethnicity.  

 Services should be based on outcomes according to local need, rather than 
regional or national benchmarking.  

 Understanding the above may lead us to question the efficacy of previous 
interventions and force us to make decisions around the balance between 
prevention, early intervention and work with the long-term socially excluded 
population. 

 New services need to take into account changes within health and adult social 
care settings, such as shifting settings of care.  

Mental health: the big picture 

                                                 

88
 This rate occurs on the Edward Woods estate in the north of the borough. See Chapter 1b.  

Page 213



                     

141 

 

Mental health, like physical health, is on a spectrum and fluctuates over time. Mental 

health problems manifest at different stages of life, requiring a preventative approach 

to effectively tackle them.  

 One-third of people with long-term conditions also have a mental health problem. 

 Among people under 65 mental illness accounts for nearly 50% of all ill health. 

 Life expectancy for people with serious mental health problems is 20 years less 

than the general population. 

 Between one-third and two-thirds of people who access substance misuse 

treatment services also experience mental health difficulties, but haven’t been in 

contact with mental health services89.  

Mental health in H&F 

 250,000 people in NW London, which includes H&F, live with mental health 

conditions including 30,000 with serious mental illness and 16,000 with dementia. 

Mental health accounted for almost 12.5% or £460 million of the total NHS spend 

across NW London in 2012/13 and West London has the 4th highest rate of 

serious mental illness in the country.90 

 2,452 patients are registered with GPs as having for severe and enduring mental 

illness – the 8th highest rates in the country91.  

 ONS wellbeing data from 2016 shows that, although residents’ reported levels of 

happiness and life satisfaction have significantly increased, so have their anxiety 

levels. H&F currently has the highest anxiety levels in London92.  

 27,803 people in H&F have mild to moderate depression and anxiety disorders93. 

IAPT services are commissioned to provide services for 16% of this cohort, with 

patients are spread relatively uniformly throughout the borough.  

 H&F has very high rates of mental health related ESA claims; 5 wards in the 

borough rank in the top 5 in London for prevalence of mental health-related 

ESA94. 

 Incapacity benefit claimant rates due to mental ill health and other medical 

reasons are highest in Shepherd’s Bush, Wormholt & White City and 

Hammersmith Broadway (Ibid.).  

 5.2% of patients aged 18+ registered with GP practices have depression95  

                                                 

89
 Mind. 2016. Recreational drugs and alcohol.  

90
 Hammersmith and Fulham CCG. 2015. Transforming Services for two million people across North-West London.  

91
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Hammersmith and Fulham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

92
 ONS data. 2015. Measuring National Wellbeing.  

93
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. Tackling social isolation and loneliness: A strategy for Hammersmith and Fulham.  

94
 See Chapter 1b. 

95
 NHS Digital. 2014. Quality and Outcomes Framework 2013/14.  

Page 214



                     

142 

 

 H&F is an ‘outlier’ for alcohol-related harm; it has more hospital admissions for 

alcohol-related and specific harm (e.g. liver disease) and alcohol-related crimes 

than the national average.  

 As at 2009/10, the estimated number of problem drug users in H&F was 1,450, a 

rate of 11.5 per 1,000 population aged 15-64, the 9th highest in London96 

The social determinants of mental health 

Social determinants significantly influence mental health, and subsequent 

employment opportunities97.  Poverty significantly increases the risk of a person 

developing a mental illness.  As household income increases, the prevalence of 

mental health problems decreases.  Low socioeconomic position, low education, 

unemployment and under employment, food insecurity and early nutrition deficiency, 

gender inequity and low incomes are all strongly correlated with an increased 

chance of having mental health issues. Children from low-income families exhibit risk 

factors for mental health issues early on in their childhood.  

Deprivation data for H&F as at 2010 shows that 45,464 people (26 per cent of the 

population) were living in the most deprived quintile of the borough.  Twenty-nine per 

cent of children (under 16s) – 9,500 in total – were part of low income families98.  

50% of all mental illness starts before a child reaches 14 years old.  75% of lifetime 

mental health disorders have their first onset before 18 years of age (Ibid.).  

A DWP commissioned report99 found that a person is more likely to have a common 

mental disorder if they are: 

 A woman (59%).  

 Aged between 35 and 54 (45% compared with 38%).  

 Separated or divorced (14% compared with 7%). 

 Living alone (20% compared with 16%). 

 Part of a one parent family (9% compared with 4%).  

 Without formal qualification (31% compared with 27%).  

 Employed in unskilled labour (7% compared with 5%). 

 A local authority housing or housing association tenant (26% compared with 

15%). 

There is a relationship between debt and mental health issues.  People with an 

existing mental health problem are three times as likely to get into debt.  People with 

                                                 

96
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Hammersmith and Fulham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

97
 UCL Institute of Health Equity. 2014. Social Determinants of Mental Health.  

98
 Like Minded. 2015. Improving mental health and wellbeing in North West London: Case for Change. 

99
 Singleton et al. 2003. Mental health and Work. DWP.  

Page 215



                     

143 

 

unmanageable debt are a third more likely to then develop depression and 

anxiety100.  

Social cohesion and mental health 

Loneliness increases the risk of depression, suicidal behaviours and stress levels 

and can contribute to mental health problems.  Over half of people who have 

experienced depression or anxiety isolated themselves from friends and family101. 

Psychiatric admissions in small areas of London can be associated with a lack of 

social cohesion as well as social deprivation102.  

Social isolation can be measured through the percentage of people living alone, 

adults not in married couples, and the churn in the private rented sector – the 

percentage of people in rented accommodation and those who have moved in last 

year.  

There is a direct link between empowerment of communities and increased 

wellbeing, affected by factors like the ability to influence decisions affecting the 

neighbourhood, control over local circumstances and regular contact with 

neighbours103.  

 Stigma surrounding mental health issues 

Stigma prevents people from getting help, in work or out of work.  Stigma prevents 

people from engaging with others and increases the likelihood of social isolation.  

Nine in 10 people with mental health problems experience stigma and discrimination 

towards their condition, with 60 per cent finding it as damaging or more damaging 

than the symptoms of the condition104.  Research shows that 1 in 5 workers have 

called in sick due to unmanageable stress, but 93% lied to their boss about the 

reason105.  

Fewer than 4 in 10 employers would consider hiring a person with a mental health 

problem, compared to more than 6 in 10 who would hire a person with a physical 

disability106.  

                                                 

100
 Mind. 2016. In the Red.  

101
 Mind. 2016. Life Support.  

102
 Curtis S et al. 2006. The ecological relationship between deprivation, social isolation and rates of hospital admission for 

acute psychiatric care: a comparison of London and New York City.  

103
 Mulgan et al. 2008. Neighbourhood + Empowerment = Wellbeing. The Young Foundation. 

104
 Time to Change. 2016. Myths/facts.  

105
 Mind. 2010. The final taboo: millions of employees forced to lie about stress.  

106
 Mental Health and Social Exclusion Unit. 2004. Mental Health and Social Exclusion.  

Page 216



                     

144 

 

MENTAL HEALTH AND EMPLOYMENT 

Workplace mental health 

Mental ill-health has been identified as the leading cause of sickness absence in the 

UK, accounting for 70 million sick days in 2013107. Recent estimates of annual costs 

to the UK economy resulting from mental health problems are £70-100 billion108.  

MH issues lead to absenteeism, presenteeism and high staff turnover at work109.  

Presenteeism – being physically in work but affected by mental health issues at work 

– is on the rise, with many employees particularly concerned about taking time off in 

a pressured employment climate.  Many businesses need to take a closer look at 

their policies around the mental health of their employees, and how the working 

environment affects this.  Training alone isn’t enough -- systemic change needs to 

occur at every level.  

Employment Support Allowance (ESA)  

The likelihood of having a period of sickness absence before entering on ESA is 

important as it means an individual is more likely to have had a formal agreement to 

return to work.  National-level research as at 2015 shows that 45% of ESA claimants 

had a period of sickness absence first (36% paid and 9% unpaid); 19% of claimants 

moved straight from work without claiming any period of sickness absence at all and 

36% were unemployed immediately before making their ESA claim.  

People claiming ESA for mental health reasons are more likely to have been 

unemployed prior to their ESA claim.  They were also more likely to feel attached to 

the labour market, and were more keen to use in-house support.  They were less 

likely to have discussed their condition with their employer and more likely to feel 

that the employers had not been supportive.  They were less likely to find that 

adjustments had been helpful, and less likely to have a formal agreement to return to 

work.  Only a third of all ESA claimants had access to any kind of occupational 

health, and only one in five had independent counselling110.  

ESA claims in H&F 

DWP data, as at August 2015, shows the breakdown of the total ESA caseload.  The 

ESA caseload is broken down into two main different groups: the Work Related 

Activity Group (WRAG) and the Support group.  WRAG aims to move people back 

into employment, whereas those in the Support category are deemed not able to 

                                                 

107
 Mental Health Foundation. Managing mental health in the work place.  

108
 Like Minded. 2015. Improving mental health and wellbeing in North West London: Case for Change.  

109
 Centre for Mental Health. 2007. Mental health at work.  

110
 Sissons et al. 2015. Routes onto Employment and Support Allowance. DWP.  

Page 217



                     

145 

 

work.  Strikingly, overall the ESA caseload has fallen, but the number of people 

claiming ESA because of mental health conditions has increased to more than the 

number of people claiming JSA overall.  (Totals refer to thousands of people, e.g. for 

Hammersmith, 7.19 means 7,190 people). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The majority of people claiming ESA have been claiming it for 2 to 5 years.  The 

percentage of people with MH conditions seems consistent across all duration 

groups.  

Recently produced DWP local data needs developing to produce a fuller picture.  On 

the one hand it looks like the overall health related benefits caseload has reduced 

since 2011 but in 2015-16 there appears to have been a very large increase.  

A better understanding is needed around the transition from JSA to ESA, and 

interventions that can prevent a spiral of worsening mental health issues.  People on 

JSA reported that their health worsened due to factors related to housing, finance, 

debt, linked to the social determinants of health (Ibid). 

The Work Capability Assessment splits claimants into three separate groups: the 

Fit to Work, WRAG, and Support groups.  The assessment has received widespread 

criticism and is regarded by most as not being fit for purpose.  The impact of this is 

that many people locally may be on benefits, or off benefits, in a way that is 

unsuitable for them.  

The growth of young people on ESA 

Since 2010 the proportion of young people aged 16-34 within the ESA caseload has 

increased by 20%.  This group faces increased risk of suicidal ideation, which means 

they are more likely to be subject to a DWP rule which means they will go into the 

August 15 Composition Total < 3 months  %

3-6 

months %

6 

months 

to 1 

year %

1 to 3 

years %

2 to 5 

years %

5 

years 

and 

over %

National 2,355.16 175.67 7.46 149.87 6.36 263.96 11.21 469.45 19.93 1156.56 49.11 139.65 5.93

London 289.65 20.21 6.98 18.81 6.49 37.38 12.91 59.87 20.67 134.31 46.37 19.06 6.58

Hammersmith 7.19 0.46 6.40 0.36 5.01 0.79 10.99 1.47 20.45 3.65 50.76 0.46 6.40

MH National 1137.20 79.30 6.97 70.62 6.21 129.25 11.37 230.83 20.30 565.26 49.71 61.95 5.45

MH National % 48.29 45.14 47.12 48.97 49.17 48.87 44.36

Aug 15 Quarter Flow

National Total National MH Local Total Local MH

On Flow 190.3 84.43 0.49 0.22

Off Flow 177.5 73.36 0.5 0.2

Net Change 12.8 11.07 -0.01 0.02

Source: DWP tabulation tool - https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/employment-and-support-allowance-caseload-statistics

ESA Composition and early flow analysis National and Local at August 15

Page 218



                     

146 

 

‘Support’ group without appropriate employment support111.  According to the 

Litchfield Review: “assignment of young people to the support group has long-term 

implications for the employability of what could become a ‘lost generation.”112 

Precarious employment 

Whether someone is employed directly or indirectly is the single biggest indicator of 

likeliness of receiving sickness pay; people who aren’t directly employed by the 

organisation they work for are far less likely to have a period of sickness before 

unemployment.   Casual workers are at greater risk of going straight on to ESA.  

People working part-time (16 hours or less per week) are twice as likely to leave 

employment without a sickness period than those who work full time (30 hours or 

more), with the risk of this significantly increasing as the size of the organisation 

decreases.  People in micro-businesses are twice as likely to go straight onto ESA 

without a period of sickness than those working for large organisations113. 

 

Untapped potential of GPs and primary care 

Most people have spoken to their GPs regarding how their condition affected their 

work, but did not find that they got any useful advice from them about how to return 

to work (Ibid.).  At least a third of GPs’ time is taken up by people with mental health 

problems.  Many people off sick due to mental health issues will go to their GP as a 

first point of contact.  

3f. Employment for people from black and minority ethnic communities  

What we know  

 The Borough’s Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population is mainly resident in 

the north of H&F. This is also where the population generally experiences higher 

rates of long-term limiting illness, lower life expectancy, higher numbers of 

residents living in social housing and claiming benefits, and more overcrowding 

than in the south of the borough.  

 The 2011 Census found that 100,500 residents are from an ethnic group other 

than White British, comprising some 55.1% of the total population (42% in 2001).  

The proportion is the same as the London average but significantly higher than 

the average for England & Wales at 19.5%. 

                                                 

111
 Holmes et al. 2015. Employment and Support Allowance: the case for change. Reform.  

112
 Litchfield, P. 2014. An independent review of the Work Capability Assessment – year five.  

113
 Sissons et al. 2015. Routes onto Employment and Support Allowance. DWP.  

 

Page 219



                     

147 

 

 According to the 2014 Borough Profile, 55.1% of the population has an ethnicity 

other than White British.  There are a significant number of EU nationals resident 

in the borough.  31.9% of residents belonged to ethnic groups other than White, 

compared to 22.2% in 2001.  The main ethnic minorities identified are Black 

African (5.8%), Mixed (5.5%), Other Asian (4%) and Black Caribbean (3.9%).  

Wormholt & White City and College Park & Old Oak wards have the highest 

proportions of Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population in H&F (69.1% and 

68.4% respectively). 

 Unemployment by Ethnicity data for H&F shows that the Jobseeker’s Allowance 

(JSA) rate is highest among “Other Background” (15.9%), Black Other (14.8%), 

Black Caribbean (13.7%) and Black African (11.2%) ethnic groups.  These rates 

were around four times the rate for White British, Indian and Chinese ethnic 

groups. 

 Self-employment rates for people from the most deprived parts of H&F are low. 

 14.3% of residents are foreign-born people who have resided in the UK for less 

than 5 years (London average 10%) – this may have an impact on professional 

networks for accessing ‘hidden jobs’, accessing benefits and services through 

lack of understanding of administrative processes, and applying for jobs and 

succeeding at interview through language barriers.  

 

  

Page 220



                     

148 

 

What we do not know 

 The main causes of the employment gap for BAME residents in H&F. 

 Reasons for the fluctuations in the employment rate (and gap with the wider 

population – is this group more at risk during economic instability? Do employers 

discriminate against people from some ethnic minorities?)  

 The impact of welfare reform on the employment rate of BAME residents. 

 Data about which residents from BAME groups are unemployed (there is no 

existing data sharing with DWP). 

 Household composition of BAME benefit claimants.  

 The age profile of unemployed BAME residents. 

 Skills, experience and qualifications of individuals in the cohort. 

 Job goals/requirements for people in this cohort. 

 Data about the parents that have migrated to the borough or are asylum seekers 

or refugees and on JSA. 

 Income of BAME groups. 

Summary 

The employment rate for people from Black and Minority Ethnic Groups in H&F is 

increasing over time, while the economic inactivity levels are falling.  However these 

rates fluctuate from year to year and the fact that the gap persists in a borough with 

a population as diverse as Hammersmith and Fulham’s is a concern.  In 2008, 

before the financial crash, the DWP ‘noted that without increased effort it could take 

30 years to eliminate the employment gap between ethnic minorities and the overall 

population’114. 

Research into the employment gap between ethnic minority groups and the White 

population or the overall population identifies some broad themes behind these 

inequalities:  

 Inequality is not consistent among all ethnic groups and sub-groups.  Caribbean, 

African, Pakistani and Bangladeshi people generally experienced lower 

employment; the economic activity rate is higher overall for ethnic minority men 

than women; there have been consistently low employment rates for Pakistani 

and Bangladeshi women and Black men; and there are generally lower levels of 

labour market participation for ethnic minority refugees and asylum seekers 

compared to the rest of the ethnic minority population.  A growing Somali 

community now have greater contact with Council services, the NHS and the 

police.  Within the ‘Other Asian’ there are 2486 residents who identified as 

Filipino.  

                                                 

114
 National Audit Office. 2008. Increasing employment rates for ethnic minorities.  

Page 221



                     

149 

 

 Employment activity for ethnic minority women is more influenced by religion than 

ethnic group but religion has a low impact on economic activity of men. 

 Gender and family responsibilities have an impact on some groups – including 

cultural constraints to accessing childcare for single women from ethnic minority 

backgrounds. 

 Perceived and actual employer discrimination has an impact on employment 

rates. 

 People from ethnic minorities tend to have a less positive experience with 

Jobcentre Plus than their White counterparts.  This is caused by staff attitudes 

and language difficulties.  

 Language difficulties and lack of awareness of the benefits administration system 

can have an impact on update of benefits and services to help people from ethnic 

minority backgrounds into work.  

 In H&F 71.8% of households contain people aged 16 and over who all speak 

English as a main language (74% in London and 91.2% in England & Wales).  Of 

the other 28.2% of households, 13.7% have at least one member who speaks 

English, but in 2.3% of households the only people who speak English as a main 

language are aged between three and fifteen.  11,663 (14.5%) of households 

have no people that speak English as a main language; this is the thirteenth 

highest proportion in England & Wales.   

 The most common foreign languages spoken in H&F are French, Arabic, 

Spanish, Polish, Italian, Somali, Portuguese, Farsi/Persian, Tagalog/Filipino and 

German, in that order.  

There are three broad categories of services that enable ethnic minority employment 

initiatives to be effective: 

 Recruitment and outreach programmes. 

 Pre-employment skills training. 

 Post-employment support. 

3g. Part time work and elementary occupations  

Data provided by the council’s Insight and Analytics team shows that the borough 

has a high proportion of part time vacancies, but a low proportion of the resident 

population that work part time. The borough ‘imports’ people to work part time and in 

elementary occupations. 

What we know 

 H&F has large numbers of vacancies for part time work. 

 H&F imports at least 3000 people to work part-time, whilst there are over 2000 

JSA claimants within the borough. 

 Very low levels of the population work less than 35 hours a week or part time. 

 There is a low rate of women working part-time compared to males. 

Page 222



                     

150 

 

 There is a low rate of residents keen on elementary occupations despite a large 

number of jobs. 

 There is a high rate of underemployment in local take-up of part-time vacancies. 

Employers cite skills gap in IT, problem solving skills, planning and organisation, 

strategic management skills and basic numeracy and literacy skills.  

What we do not know 

 Why are part time jobs/vacancies not appealing to residents and JSA claimants? 

 Why is there a high rate of women not attracted to part-time employment? 

 What part time jobs are currently available within H&F – sector, salary, hours, 

location, skill requirements. 

 What are the skill levels and experience of benefit claimants and how do they 

match against requirements? 

A lack of information sharing is a barrier to understanding 

Currently, the Council does not have access to individual data and household-level 

data, leading to little or no knowledge about how these factors relate to each other at 

household level.  Understanding whether there is a high concentration of households 

with multiple needs will have significant implications for solutions.  Access to 

datasets held by partner organisations needs to be tackled before the majority of the 

research requirements set out in this document can be achieved. 

Wages and the cost of living: the low pay, no pay cycle 

Part time work is low paid work; part-time workers earn less per hour than their full-

time counterparts at every level of qualification, mainly due to different occupations.  

Only 3% of new vacancies in the London labour market are for part time roles paying 

salaries at £20,000 full time equivalent or more115.  The lack of good quality part-time 

work leads people to under-apply and lower their aspirations.  More than a third of 

low-paid workers (38.4 per cent) experience a period of worklessness over a four-

year period116.  

“Elementary occupations” is one the three lowest paying occupations groups 
nationally (alongside ‘Sales and customer service occupations’ and ‘Caring, leisure 
and other service occupations’).  Retail is the fourth lowest paid industry group.  
Elementary occupations are the biggest zero-hours contracts sector (22%), followed 
by Caring/Leisure (20%) and Customer Service (16%)117.  
 

                                                 

115
Timewise Foundation. 2016. Building a Quality Part Time Jobs Market: a transformative approach for families.  

116
 Thompson, S. 2015. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The low pay, no pay cycle.  

117
 Recruitment and Employment Federation. Getting on: what progression looks like for low-paid workers today. 

Page 223

http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle
https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf


                     

151 

 

People in or on the fringes of poverty are trapped in a low pay, no pay cycle, having 

to calculate whether they are financially better off receiving welfare and housing 

payments, or whether to take a job which might be unstable and doesn’t offer 

opportunity for progression118.  The taper rate for income is affected by changes to 

benefits received, taxes and National Insurance, and childcare costs.  There is also a 

poverty premium: essential goods and services that people need to participate in 

society take up a relatively larger share of low-income budgets.  Some families 

facing reduced overall income are actually paying to go to work119. 

The proportion of H&F residents on low pay (less than the London Living Wage) has 
only moderately risen from 11% in 2010 to 14% in 2014.  However, the number of 
low paid jobs in the borough has risen significantly from 10% in 2010 to 18% in 2014 
(London average of 12% and 17% respectively)120.  There is a prevalence of zero-
hours contracts in the borough for elementary occupations, leading to low wages, 
under-employment, job insecurity and unpredictable childcare demands.  The 
sectors which most use zero-hour contracts are elementary occupations; 
accommodation and food – including hotels, restaurants and events catering – and 
administrative and support services, including cleaning and office support121. 
 
Ethnic minority workers were more likely than White employees to receive less than 

the living wage122.  

Women, childcare and flexible working 

Gender inequality, maternal worklessness and family living standards are key 
barriers to improving the quality of part-time jobs.  In H&F, there is a low rate of 
women working compared to men.  At every age bracket, women make up the 
majority of part-time workers.  There is a gender wage gap: women on average earn 
20% less than men and women earn 39% than full-time male employees123. 

H&F also has lots of jobs in sectors requiring flexible childcare arrangements; retail, 

transport, hotel and catering, and health and social care sectors.  

Shrinking tax credits and rising childcare costs lead to a fall in additional income.  

This forces families to work even longer hours, which leaves them increasingly 

stretched both for income and time.  For women, working full time simply does not 

pay enough to justify the compromise made on family time (Ibid). 

                                                 

118
 Thompson, S. 2015. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The low pay, no pay cycle.  

119
 Bushe et al. 2014. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Poverty and the Cost of Living.  

120
 London’s Poverty Profile. 2016. Hammersmith and Fulham poverty indicators.  

121
 Walker, A. 1 April 2015. BBC News. Who uses zero-hours contracts and why?  

122
 Brynin, M and Longhi, S. 2015. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The effect of occupation on poverty among ethnic minority 

groups.  

123
 Timewise Foundation. 2016. Building a Quality Part Time Jobs Market: a transformative approach for families.  

Page 224

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-and-cost-living
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/boroughs/hammersmith-and-fulham/
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-31859468
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups
http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf


                     

152 

 

Research in 2014 showed that nursery provision in West London authorities – 

including H&F – is amongst the most expensive in the country, which is a barrier to 

work.   Nursery prices are £155 per week for 25 hours a week, and £250 per week 

for 9-5 childcare.  Significant gaps in childcare provision exist for two-year-olds and 

in after-school clubs.  Only the lowest income families get support through working 

tax credits, covering 70% of childcare costs (primarily for single mothers).  The 

fifteen hours of free childcare is available for 3 and 4 year-olds, leaving a vacuum of 

provision for 5+ year-olds124.  

Due to the jobs industry mix in H&F, many borough residents work at atypical times 

and there is a prevalence of zero-hour contracts.  Many families who work atypical 

hours therefore cannot take up the 15+ hours of free childcare.  The insufficient 

provision of flexible childcare is largely due to a pressure on premises, which have 

meet minimum cleanliness and safety standards125.  

Many people also juggle ‘sandwich’ caring: people who have care responsibilities for 

older parents or other relatives as well as children126.  

A culture shift is needed amongst employers and applicants around flexible working.  

Current employment, skills and welfare-to-work systems focus on job-seekers being 

work-ready, rather than in work progression and flexibility.  This will limit the impact 

of Universal Credit.  

The Office for National Statistics does not collect information on part-time vacancies 

outside of Jobcentre Plus and does not have a procedure for analysing the flexible 

vacancy market.  

3h. Vulnerable older people, their wellbeing and support  

What we know 

H&F is a deprived area in relation to income deprivation for older people.  Concerns 

exist over isolation – high levels of single bed homes, people living alone, and a lack 

of informal care are all found. 

 Older residents in deprived areas (e.g. in the north of H&F) have poorer health 

compare to the more affluent areas (such as in the south of the borough). 

 There is a higher proportion of people in H&F that do not receive informal care 

assistance. 

                                                 

124
 Rutter, J and Lugton, D. 2014. Family and Childcare Trust. London Childcare Report.  

125
 Interview with Jill Rutter. 27/11/2015. Interviewed by Helen Rowbottom.  

126
 Reward. 22 October 2015. Interview with Sue Macmillan, Commercial Director of Mumsnet and Hammersmith and Fulham 

Councillor.  

Page 225

http://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/london-childcare-report-0


                     

153 

 

 36% of people aged 50+ in H&F live in one-person households, which is higher 

compared to London (24%) and England (26%). 

 The highest rates of people receiving pension credit living in housing estates. 

 H&F is ranked as one of the worst local authorities where older people are lonely 

(ranked 280th – nationally). 

 The borough is ranked 309th out of 326 local authorities as having one of the 

worst income deprivation levels affecting older people127. 

What we do not know 

 Current service provision aimed at the economic wellbeing of vulnerable older 

people. 

 Demographic profile of vulnerable older people. 

 How to improve the economic wellbeing of vulnerable adults. 

 How to enable vulnerable adults to do more for themselves – raising social 

capital and developing community safety. 

Facts, figures and demography  

Five per cent of H&F’s population are older people on low incomes (some 9,100), 

and 0.7% are older people in sheltered housing128 – a total population of 10,500 

people.  These groups can be seen on a map which indicates an association 

between older people on low incomes and living in social housing. 

Characteristics: 

 Given the relatively low turnover in social housing, large numbers of this group 

are likely to have lived in the same area all or most of their adult lives.  Some will 

enjoy high “social capital”, including a friend and family network close by.  Others 

may have less family contact with younger family members who have left the 

area for education, jobs and housing. 

 Those living in social housing are benefiting from rents that are, on average, 25% 

of market rates129.   

 It is likely that the older, poorer population at least matches the proportions in the 

borough as a whole of those under-occupying their property, which are: 25% by 

one bedroom and 13% more than one bedroom.  Older people may be bereaved 

or have a family that has grown up and/or moved away130.  While there is a 

financial restriction to Housing Benefit for over-occupation of social housing, 

                                                 

127
 Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b).  

 

128
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014.  

129
 Interview with Mike England, then Director of Housing Service at H&F Council. 10

th
 February 2016. Hammersmith.  

130
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. Housing Market Assessment 2016.  

Page 226



                     

154 

 

other factors may prevail in deciding to stay put, such as nearby networks and 

the insufficient size of the incentive to undertake a housing swap (around 

£2,000).     

 At an earlier stage in their lives, people in this group may have been members of 

other priority groups, with a background of unemployment, worklessness or low 

pay. This would mean that they are unlikely to have earned income, an 

occupational pension or investment income and to be reliant on some or all of the 

following benefits: State Pension, Pension Credit, Housing Benefit, Attendance 

Allowance and Carers Allowance. Given relatively poor take up figures for some 

means tested benefits (Pension Credit, Housing Benefit, Carers Allowance) they 

may not be getting all the income they are entitled to. 

 Nearly half of this group are likely to have been born overseas, if the profile of 

older people follows that for the population of H&F as a whole131. 

 Older people visit GP’s and A&E departments more frequently. In 2012/13 there 

were 362 emergency admissions per 1,000 people aged 65 and over compared 

to 64 admissions per 1,000 people for working age adults and 52 admissions per 

1,000 people under the age of 18 years. Given the age profile of people 

accessing Accident and Emergency departments and visiting their GPs, this 

group is likely to contribute significantly high rates of hospital admissions.  In 

College Park & Old Oak, for example, there are 740 admissions per 1,000 

population.  Moreover, College Park & Old Oak ward has by far the highest A&E 

admissions rate in H&F132. 

 The proportion of people providing unpaid care in H&F is lower than the regional 

and national averages.  In 2011, 6.7% (12,334) of the population provided 

informal care; down from 7.1% in 2001. This is the third lowest level of any local 

authority in England & Wales133.   Coupled with the high number of single 

households this implies that some of this group are struggling without informal 

help and support. 

 At 1,110 per 10,000 population, the proportion of people aged 65 and over 

receiving community based services in H&F as at 31 March 2013 was higher 

than both the regional and national averages (620 and 460 per 10,000 people 

respectively).  As at the end of March 2013, there were 2,885 residents aged 18 

or over receiving Community Care Packages to support independent living in 

their own homes; this equates to 195 per 10,000 adult population compared to 

160 in London and 170 in England.  

 Loneliness is likely to be a significant feature in this group. The Borough has the 

4th highest proportion of older people (aged 65 or over) that live alone (at 

                                                 

131
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014.  

132
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014.  

133
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014.  

Page 227



                     

155 

 

43%)134. 

The literature emphasises this as a key problem for older people with negative 

impacts on mental or physical health.  This in turn leads to health and social care 

costs, for example lonely people are more likely to visit their GP, use more 

medication, have a higher incidence of falls, have increased risk factors for long-

term care, enter residential or nursing care early and use accident and 

emergency services independent of chronic illness135.   

The following are risk factors for loneliness136:  

 Living on a low income 

 Living alone 

 Head of household 65+ 

 Being part of an ethnic or minority social group 

 Not living near family 

 Living in an area of high population turnover 

 Bereavement 

 Becoming a carer 

 Being childless 

 Experiencing poor health and poor mobility 

 Loss of sight/hearing 

 Lack of transport  

 

How provision is organised 

Policy responsibility for alleviating loneliness appears to be with local authorities who 

are seen to be at the centre of a “whole system” approach, alongside partners in the 

health and voluntary sectors. The Council is taking this forward with Kensington & 

Chelsea and Westminster councils. 

The Care Act 2014, being implemented in stages up to 2020, is based on a shift 

towards prevention, with choice of personalised services by clients as necessary, 

plus interventions in cases of need where prevention and choice have not avoided 

the need. 

Adult Social Care and Public Health, which operates as one department across H&F, 

Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster, works with the three NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Groups covering the same area to promote health and wellbeing.  

                                                 

134
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2015. Older People in H&F analysis.  

135
 Age UK. Undated. Loneliness and isolation evidence review.  

136
 Age UK. Undated. Loneliness and isolation evidence review.  

 

Page 228



                     

156 

 

The department is working towards a goal that all adult social services are 

commissioned by 2020. 

Effective interventions 

The Local Government Association recommends that Councils should adopt a 

strategic approach and recommends use of the following framework, developed by 

the Campaign to End Loneliness and Age UK137: 

 Foundation Services: services reaching lonely individuals, understanding their 

circumstances and help them find the right support. 

 Gateway Services: transport and technology are the glue to keep people active 

and engaged. 

 Direct Interventions: maintaining existing relationships and enabling new 

connections such as group-based support, one-to-one support and emotional 

support. 

 Structural Enablers: needed in communities to create the right conditions for 

ending loneliness, such as volunteering, positive ageing and neighbourhood 

approaches. 

There is some evidence to suggest that the most effective interventions include 

befriending, social group schemes and Community Navigators. 

Churches, mosques and other religious organisations are likely to build social 

networks and alleviate poverty.   

3i. Local housing and its affordability  

What we know 
 
There are large scale variations in household income and financial vulnerability in 
H&F, with those in the North tending to have the lowest income and be the most 
financially unstable.  H&F has a highly transient population with very few both living 
and working in the borough. Key issues are: 
 

 high average property purchase prices and rental values. 

 one third of H&F households are in the private rented sector with a highly 
transient population. 

 a growing disparity between the wealthy and the poorest. 

 a geographical concentration of the poorest in multiple deprivation on social 
housing estates, despite these estates having the lowest rents in the borough. 

 a geographical focus on those estates where income deprivation affects children, 
older people, employment deprivation, health deprivation and disability and 
barriers to housing and services. 

                                                 

137
 Campaign to End Loneliness. 2015. Promising Approaches to Reducing Loneliness and Isolation. Available at: 

http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/. [Accessed 8.2.17] 

Page 229

http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/


                     

157 

 

 benefit changes will reduce income for the poorest by up to £700 per household. 
 
What we do not know 
 

 Despite the lower rents in social housing, there continues to be the highest level 
of deprivation amongst those in social housing.  Is this solely due to allocation 
priorities?  

 What issues are causing there to be very few people who both live and work in 
H&F? Is this a bad thing? 

 What can be done to promote JSA claimants and ESA claimants within H&F 
applying for part time and lower paid occupations? 

 What can be done to increase the incomes of the poorest in social housing and 
particularly those in low paid work? 

 What can be done to ease the passage of those in social housing into better paid 
employment? 

 What can be done to deal with the issues that are causing stress for children, 
health and disability issues and wellbeing deprivation? 

 
Data Analysis: 
 
Across London the high poverty rate amongst social renters fell over the 2000s but 
since the recession has fluctuated around 50%138. The poverty rate for owner-
occupiers in London has remained consistently around 14%, much lower than the 
rate for renters (Ibid). 
 
Housing in H&F 
 
Unlike the rest of London, H&F has relatively low levels of in-work poverty and 
poverty in mostly experienced by workless people claiming housing benefit in social 
rented housing, characteristic of London at the start of the 2000s139. Of the 14,000 
working-age housing benefit claimants in H&F, 81% live in social rented housing 
(64% for London as a whole) and 57% are workless social renters (46% for London 
as a whole)140. People living in social rented housing need support accessing 
services and, if suitable, gaining employment.  These services could be delivered via 
registered providers.   
   
Only one fifth of housing benefit claimants live in private rented housing. Only 14% of 
households in the private rented sector claim Housing Benefit – some 3,600, of 
which 20% or 720 are lone parents141.   
 

                                                 

138
 Aldridge et al. 2015. London’s Poverty Profile. New Policy Institute.  

139
 See Chapter 1a.  

140
 See Chapter 1a.  

141
 Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Housing Market Assessment 2014.  

Page 230



                     

158 

 

 H&F has 7,036 second homes (owned, not rented) – the fifth highest rate in 
London (as at 2011, according to Census data).  

 There are only a small number of shared ownership properties.  

 Significant numbers of homes are under occupied; 16% of homes are under-
occupied by two or more bedrooms; a quarter of homes are under occupied by 
one bedroom. 

 Overcrowding is an issue in 13% of homes, which are over-occupied by one 
bedroom or more. 

 There is a lack of data about the private rental sector – a key intelligence gap.  

 Unaffordability of the private rented sector: average annualised income in H&F is 
1.89 times higher than average annualised rent (2nd lowest in London and 
England). 

 14% of households in the private rented sector claim housing benefit (3,600); 
54% of that cohort are single adults and 20% lone parents.   

 High proportion of households with one adult in owner-occupied houses. 

 High unmet demand for intermediate housing (e.g. shared ownership). 

 8th highest population with severe and enduring mental illness known to GPs in 
the country, including high levels of referrals from the borough's prison 
population. 

 There is a high churn rate of residents in the private rented sector – a median 
tenancy length of 1.7 years. People in social tenancies live in the properties for 
an average of 8 years; the average for owner-occupiers is 12 years (ibid.). 
 

Wealth inequality 
 
There is a growing gap between the wealthy and poorest households in H&F, with 
people on middle incomes unable to afford living in the borough.  In 1980 the 
wealthiest households made up 7.23% of the local population, middle income groups 
made up 62.9% and the poorest households made up 30%142.  By 2010 there had 
been an enormous shift, with the wealthiest households in H&F making up 27% of 
the population, middle income households 33% and the poorest at 40% (Ibid). 
Contrast this with the position in England, where in 1980 the wealthiest made up 
17.9%, the poorest 16.6% and, by 2010, the wealthiest made up 24% and the 
poorest 27% (Ibid).  
 

                                                 

142
 LondonMapper. Poverty and wealth 1980 – 2010.  

Page 231



                     

159 

 

 
Source: LondonMapper 

 
The Joseph Rowntree Foundation produced a report in 2013143 looking at the links 
between housing and poverty. This report analysed the past decade of UK evidence 
to explore the relationship between housing circumstances and the experience of 
poverty. In particular it looked at the questions: 
 

 Do bad housing conditions create poverty and unemployment? 

 Do housing costs create poverty? 

 Does housing equity prevent poverty? 

 Does housing benefit reduce work incentives? 

 Does building homes create jobs? 
 
The definition of poverty used in this report is that an individual is counted as 
experiencing poverty if their household income is below 60% of the national median 
after taking into account the number of adults and children in the household.  
 
The report points out that the housing system with sub-market social housing, 
housing benefit and support for homeless people acts as a buffer to higher rates of 
poverty. Indeed Gavin Kelly, Chief Executive of The Resolution Trust, in a blog on 
poverty and opportunity in London144 pointed out that housing is the source of much 
of London’s poverty challenge and by far its ugliest problem. Before housing costs 
are considered, London has low rates of poverty yet, after they are factored in, the 
city becomes the nation’s poverty capital. Pointing out that there are now more 
working housing benefit claimants in private rented accommodation than there are 
workless, he stated that one in five London households who rent in the private sector 
now pass over half of all their disposable income to their landlord, whereas nationally 

                                                 

143
 Tunstall,R et al. 2013. The links between housing and poverty. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  

144
 Kelly, G. 2016. Blog: What’s happening to opportunity in London? The good the bad and the ugly.  

 

30% 

62.90% 

7.23% 

40% 

33% 

27% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Poorest Middle income Wealthiest

The wealth gap of H&F residents  

1980 2010

Page 232



                     

160 

 

the figure is 12%. In addition, JRF states that “many tenants do not realise that 
housing benefit is available to those in work and only about half of eligible working 
households receive the benefit”, a clear case for more advice in this area.  
 
Turning to the JRF report, it states that low cost decent quality housing in an 
attractive job market makes a substantial contribution to increasing disposable 
income, preventing material deprivation and maintaining work incentives. There is 
also substantial evidence to show that poor housing conditions affect some aspects 
of child development and elements of adult health. There is an important distinction 
to be made to poverty before or after housing costs are taken into account. 
 
Housing costs constitute the most important and most direct impact of housing on 
poverty and material deprivation, with workless households, minority ethnic groups, 
single people and renters most affected. For example, the report says 18% of private 
tenants are in poverty before housing costs are taken into account and 38% are in 
poverty after housing costs are paid.  
 
The report goes on to say that low rents such as Council and housing association 
rents make an important contribution to reducing the degree of housing cost induced 
poverty and material deprivation amongst social tenants. Social housing is highly 
targeted on people with low incomes and has been shown to be the most “pro poor” 
and re-distributive major aspect of the entire welfare state.  
 
When looking at the impact of housing on employment, JRF makes the point that, for 
any given set of low paid job opportunities, housing stock and rents, there will be a 
trade-off between using housing benefit to prevent poverty, material deprivation and 
housing deprivation on the one hand and avoiding a poverty trap on the other.  
 
JRF offers the following recommendations: 
 

 Low rents and limits on housing costs, particularly for renters. 

 Monitoring and maintaining good housing conditions for all households and all 
tenures. 

 Monitoring the impact of housing benefit cuts on the residual incomes of claimant 
households. 

 Increasing take up of housing benefit and Universal Credit, particularly among 
those in work and living in private renting. Housing policy to temper the impact of 
housing on employment should: 
o Build new affordable housing in areas with competitive job markets. 
o Encourage the increase of in work take up and efficient administration of 

housing benefit/universal credit. 

 A greater understanding of how poverty and employment traps vary by area and 
by rent levels and how they interact with local wages and which individuals are 
more likely to be able to respond to financial work incentives. 

 Continuing or expanding income and employment activities by social landlords 
potentially extending them to private tenants. 

 

Page 233



                     

161 

 

A further JRF report from 2016145 looked at how housing affected work incentives for 
people in poverty.  In particular this analysis found that housing can act as a barrier 
to employment when it is located in areas where there are few employment 
opportunities.  Consequently commuting becomes a critical cost factor for 
employment decisions.  Overall the research challenged the perception that there is 
a widespread reluctance of people to work.  Rather, the study found a well 
entrenched work ethic among people who are likely to command only modest 
wages.  It did, however, demonstrate that they face multiple disincentives to 
employment arising from the costs of housing, transport and child care.  The 
recommendations were as follows: 
 

 To continue investment in neighbourhoods to reinforce positive social networks 
and provide a secure basis for employment. 

 Affordable transport which can be a critical constraint on employment. 

 More secure tenancies to improve people’s willingness to move and lower rents 
to provide a clearer financial incentive to work. 

 Greater tenure security would also help to make people more mobile. 

 More flexible operation of housing benefit and universal credit systems. 

 Greater child care availability and affordability. 
 
A blog146 by Chris Goulden in 2012 attempted to deal with the cliché of whether or 
not work is the best way out of poverty.  Using the DWP’s own figures, Goulden 
found that the chance of being out of poverty when someone in the family gets a new 
job is just over one half at 56%.  The new job has a similar impact as a new partner.  
The best chance is when a new full time worker joins the family, which has a poverty 
exit rate of 76%.  The reasons why work is not a route out of poverty for nearly half 
the families who get a job vary, but depends on the kind of job obtained, how many 
hours are worked, the hourly pay, security and the chances of promotion or a pay 
rise.  The jobs that people in poverty get are very likely to be worse than the ones 
done by households who are all already working full time.  
 
More recently, the Office for National Statistics147 has considered the same question. 
Does getting a job lead to people leaving poverty?  It found that between 2007 and 
2012, of those aged 18 to 59 who were in income poverty but then entered 
employment, 70% moved out of poverty.  The other 30% remained in poverty despite 
entering employment.  Not surprisingly, those entering full time employment (30 
hours a week or more) are more likely to leave poverty (76%). 
 
Back in 1977 Lee and Murie looked at poverty, housing tenure and social exclusion 
to examine the link between patterns of multiple deprivation and housing tenure148. 
They found that the national trend for disadvantaged households to gravitate towards 

                                                 

145
 Gibb et al. 2016. How does housing affect work incentives for people in poverty?  

146
 Goulden, C. 2012. Work IS the best route out of poverty – half the time. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  

147
 ONS Digital. 2015. Does getting a job always lead to people leaving poverty? Office for National Statistics.  

148
 Lee, P and Murie, A. 1997. Poverty, housing tenure and social exclusion. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  

Page 234



                     

162 

 

Council housing and the social rented sector generally applied at a local level but 
that disadvantaged groups were not exclusively housed in the social rented sector or 
in Council housing. In particular, those experiencing long-term illness were not so 
heavily concentrated in Council housing and economically disadvantaged 
households from minority ethnic groups were also less concentrated in Council 
housing.  
 
The JRF has recently produced a report on landlord strategies to address poverty 
and disadvantage149 dating from September 2014.  The study looked at fifteen local 
authorities to examine landlords’ written strategies, business plans and other 
policies.  What it found was that, rather than directly mentioning poverty, the majority 
of documents referred to a wider social mission, including addressing disadvantage 
and providing housing for those in need.  
 

 The study found that the development of affordable rents was easing housing 
associations into a position where they aimed to maximise rental income where 
practical but also other associations were aiming to minimise rent or service 
charges where possible.  

 The move of many housing associations to increasingly focus on building housing 
for market sale or rent either as a commercial activity to generate cross subsidy 
for social homes or in some cases as an alternative way of fulfilling a social need 
was highlighted. It also looked at the fact that some housing associations were 
moving away from focussing primarily on those in most severe need in favour of 
a wider range of people including those on middle incomes150.  

 

                                                 

149
 Williams, P. 2014. Landlords’ strategies to address poverty and disadvantage.  

150
 LondonMapper. Poverty and wealth 1980 – 2010.  

 
 

Page 235



                     

163 

 

  

Page 236



                     

164 

 

 4. Social investment – the last forty years in H&F 

This chapter traces the history of initiatives by the Council and partner agencies to 

address problems of 'urban deprivation', low income, and worklessness in H&F since 

the mid-1970s.  

Most of these initiatives were taken in the wider context of central Government 

policies and programmes, through which additional funds were channelled into the 

borough.   Some the Council undertook as part of its own policy priorities, using its 

own resources.  All involved joint working with other national and local agencies, 

through various forms of partnership arrangements. 

The chapter has four aims: 

 to review the thinking behind previous efforts to reduce 'deprivation' in H&F over 

four decades. 

 to look at how far the spatial disposition of poverty and deprivation within the 

borough has changed over time. 

 to consider whether 'machinery of government' constraints on borough-level 

initiatives have become any easier over the period.  

 to attempt to assess 'what worked' and what did not, and whether lessons can be 

learned for the future. 

A SUMMARY TIMELINE 

Table 4.1 sets out the time periods covered by this review of the past, and lists the 

central and local initiatives which are described in more detail in the paper. 

Under each of these initiatives, politicians and policy makers at central and local 

level have debated the balance to be struck between long-term interventions aimed 

at structural economic and societal change, as compared with more immediate 

'sticking plaster' solutions for the relief of need. 

All of the various initiatives and programmes mounted by central government over 

these four decades have been monitored and evaluated, by an array of academic 

bodies.  Yet it remains hard to draw conclusions as to what worked and which 

initiatives and individual projects proved most effective in tackling poverty and 

worklessness. 

The various Government programmes also had multiple aims.  Apart for achieving 

desired outcomes and 'targets' which included reducing poverty and deprivation, 

there was in recent decades a secondary agenda of achieving 'joined up 

government' and reducing the waste of resources resulting from fragmented delivery 

of services and support across a multitude of different central and local agencies.   

The chapter attempts some conclusions on the extent to which problems of poverty 

and worklessness in H&F have changed over the decades and offers a brief view on 

Page 237



                     

165 

 

whether central and local agencies have become any more effective in how they 

tackle these problems.  Readers who would prefer to skip the detail may wish to look 

at the summary timeline below and then skip to these conclusions. 

Table 4.1: A timeline of initiatives in H&F addressing urban deprivation, poverty and 

worklessness from 1970-2015 

Central Government initiative Borough initiative  Government 

controlling 

party 

Borough 

controlling 

party 

1969 Urban Programme 

(known as 'Urban Aid') 

Home Office measure. 

H&F awarded Home Office 

Urban Aid grant for a series of 

borough projects, mainly in the 

voluntary sector, 1970 to 1978. 

Labour Labour 

1977 Central Government 

White Paper on Inner City 

Policy  

Cross-government policy 

framework to tackle urban 

deprivation, led by the 

Department of Environment 

under Peter Shore. 

 

1978 Inner Urban Area Act  

created 5 Urban Partnerships 

and 15 Inner Area Programmes. 

H&F applies for and is  

designated as one of the first 15 

local authorities to prepare an 

'inner area programme'. 

Inner area programmes 

involved the Council in 

assembling an annual selection 

of projects via a multi-agency 

steering group.  Those 

approved by central 

government had 75% of costs 

met from the Urban 

Programme.  The Borough's 

inner area programme (HFIAP) 

was later rebadged as the H&F 

Urban Programme and ran 

continuously from 1978/9 until 

DoE funding was wound down 

from 1992. 

 

 

 

 

Labour 1977 

to 1979 

Con 1979 to 

1997 

 

 

 

Lab until 

May 1978 

Con/Lib  

 

1978-86 

 

Labour 

1986 - 2006 

1985 Joint Local Strategy for 

Long-term Unemployment 

A local initiative involving the 

Council, Greater London 

Council (GLC), Manpower 

Services Commission, Inner 

London Education Authority. 

    

  Con 

 

  Con 

1986 Labour Manifesto for H&F Multiple aims relevant to 

poverty and worklessness, 

including cancelling of planned 

  

Page 238



                     

166 

 

rent increase for Council 

housing and introduction of  

Minimum Earnings Guarantee 

for H&F workforce. 

 

  Con 

 

Labour 

 H&F Anti Poverty Strategy 

Council initiative launched 1989 

  Con Labour 

City Challenge 

Announced by Government May 

1991. 

13 authorities to receive £7.5m 

per year for 5 years, targeted at 

areas of worst deprivation. 

H&F was invited to bid and 

submitted detailed proposals in 

1992 focused on the West 

London Line 'corridor'. 

'Combatting poverty, deprivation 

and poor housing' was one of 5 

strategic objectives.  The bid 

was not approved by the then 

Dept of the Environment (DoE). 

 

 

 

  Con 

 

 

 

 

Labour 

Single Regeneration Budget 

Launched November 1993 by 

Government. 

Pulled together 20 funding 

streams across Whitehall 

departments, creating a total 

£1.4bn 'Single Regeneration 

Budget'. 

H&F not successful initially in 

attracting SRB funds, but in 

1996 was awarded Round 3 

funding for a White City SRB 

programme, and for a further 

and geographically wider 

programme under SRB5.  The 

latter ran until 2005.   

 

 

  Con 

 

 

Labour 

New Deal for Communities 

Programme established 1998 by 

new Labour Government, and 

overseen by Neighbourhood 

Renewal Unit within 

ODPM/DCLG. 

North Fulham NDC established 

following a successful second 

round bid in 1999.  An initially 

approved 10 year programme of 

projects ran from 2002, with 

reduced and 'reprofiled' 

allocations from 2007/08. 

 

 

 Labour 

 

 

Labour 

Local Public Service 

Agreements 

First round of LPSA began in 

2000 and concentrated on 

national PSA targets set by 

Whitehall departments. 

H&F was a second phase pilot 

for LPSA 1 in 2002/3, with a set 

of targets focused on the 

causes of anti-social behaviour 

and unemployment in the 

borough, with a focus on young 

people. 

 

 

Labour 

 

 

Labour 

Page 239



                     

167 

 

Second generation from 2003 

gave local authorities more 

discretion in setting local targets. 

Local authorities could seek 

'freedoms and flexibilities' from 

Whitehall, and received 'reward' 

funding for achieving 'stretched 

targets' (£1m reward in H&F 

case). 

The Borough's LPSA2 

programme was subsequently 

absorbed within its Local Area 

Agreement. 

Local Area Agreements 

ODPM prospectus published 

2004. 

21 'pilot' authorities invited to 

prepare LAAs from 2005/6 

onwards. 

LAAs extended to all English LAs 

by 2008/9 as a cross 

Government programme. 

Agreements involved negotiation 

with Government Regional 

Offices of targets on 35 

'outcomes'.  Reward funding 

provided for achieving targets. 

Programme ended by Coalition 

Government after 2010/11. 

H&F was instrumental in 

developing the thinking on 

LAAs, via the Innovation Forum 

of Councils classed as 

'excellent' under Audit 

Commission's Comprehensive 

Performance Assessment 

regime. 

 

Anti-poverty outcomes included 

in H&F LAA, which was one of 

the 21 pilots in 2005/6. 

Labour Labour, 

then Con 

from May 

2006 

  

Page 240



                     

168 

 

Total Place 

Launched at Budget 2009 as a 

'whole area approach to public 

services' with 'new freedoms from 

central control'. 

The pilot phase involved work by 

63 local authorities, 34 primary 

care trusts, 13 police authorities 

and other partners, on mapping 

totality of expenditure on their 

area.  Linked to concept of 'place-

based budgets'.  Programme 

replaced by Coalition 

Government with Community 

Budgets. 

Lewisham and Croydon were 

the only London Boroughs 

involved in the pilot phase.  

H&F was not involved. 

Labour Con 

Whole Place Community 

Budgets 

Announced by Government as 

part of 2011 Spending Review.   

The 16 'first phase' areas 

included the West London Tri-

borough.  A business plan was 

produced in 2012/3, with the 

main theme being service 

integration across and within 

the boroughs and their partners. 

Con/Lib 

Dem 

Coalition 

from May 

2010 to May 

2015. 

Con until 

May 2014, 

Labour 

thereafter 

Neighbourhood Community 

Budgets 

Announced by Government in 

2011 as part of a Local 

Government Review. 

White City selected as a pilot 

area 

Focus was on delivering a 
bespoke strategy for social 
renewal focussed on: families, 
employment and crime”.   

Con/Lib 

Dem 

Coalition 

Con until 

May 2014, 

Labour 

thereafter 

Page 241



                     

169 

 

Origins of central government 'urban policy' 

From 1945-1965, central government policies towards town and cities were largely 

subsumed within a broader and largely bi-partisan Keynesian approach to restoring 

the economy after the war.  The Macmillan era housebuilding programme 

encouraged suburban resettlement.  Problems of cities were seen in terms of poor 

housing and overcrowding, to be solved through regional policies and measures 

such as the New Towns programme. 

By the mid-1960s it had become clear that such macro-economic policies were not 

going to solve all the problems of the major urban areas.   Disadvantaged sections of 

the society continued to fall through the supposed 'safety net' of the modern welfare 

state.  Government was influenced by the US Federal Government's experience with 

spatially targeted social policies to address 'inner city' problems. 

The Governments programme of 'Urban Aid' was introduced via the Local 

Government Grants (Social Need) Act 1969, as a Home Office measure under 

James Callaghan as Home Secretary.  Projects funded under Urban Aid grant 

included day nurseries, hostels, advice centres, and language classes for 

immigrants.   The Borough was successful in obtaining Urban Aid grant for a series 

of projects, including the Hammersmith Community Law Centre and the Shepherd’s 

Bush Advice Centre.  Coupled with 'Section 11' funding (designed 'to help meet the 

special needs of a significant number of people of commonwealth origin') a 

substantial body of professionalised 'voluntary sector' agencies began to build up in 

the borough.  

The Council established its own Community Development Unit, reporting to the then 

Chief Executive and with three community development workers based on housing 

estates.  Their role was to encourage and foster resident and tenant participation in 

varying forms of 'self-help' projects.  Community workers were also embedded in the 

Social Services area teams. 

Callaghan, as Home Secretary, stated that the Urban Aid programme was intended 

to "provide for the care of our citizens who live in the poorest overcrowded parts of 

our cities and towns. It is intended to arrest ... and reverse the downward spiral 

which afflicts so many of these areas. There is a deadly quagmire of need and 

poverty."  

This 'social pathology' and 'downward spiral' view of urban deprivation reached its 

height with the highly publicised speech by Keith Joseph at Edgbaston in 1974, 

introducing his concept of the “Cycle of Deprivation”.  During this period, a growing 

body of policy makers within the Department of Environment and Home Office were 

rejecting the 'social pathology' approach and recognising that what were by then 

being termed as 'inner city problems' could not be solved through social policy alone.  

It was recognised that the rapid loss of manufacturing jobs within cities was creating 

Page 242



                     

170 

 

major problems of skills mismatch and long-term unemployment.  Different forms of 

longer-term intervention were needed. 

Not for the first or last time, this shift in policy intent was held back by an emerging 

national financial crisis.  At a speech to a local government audience in 1975, 

Secretary of State for the Environment Anthony Crosland warned Councils that “for 

the next few years times will not be normal. The crisis that faces us is infinitely more 

serious than any of the crises we have faced over the past 20 years...With its usual 

spirit of patriotism and its tradition of service to the community's needs, it is coming 

to realize that, for the time being at least, the party is over...We are not calling for a 

headlong retreat. But we are calling for a standstill.” 

The phrase 'the party is over' was one that reverberated around Hammersmith Town 

Hall.   At the time, the Council was Labour controlled (led by Barrie Stead) and had 

an ambitious five-year capital programme of major schemes for Council-house 

building and improvement, new social services establishments, and renewed 

transport and environmental infrastructure.  This programme had suddenly to be 

reviewed in mid-year, with projects deferred or removed. 

The Government's 1978 White Paper “Policy for the Inner Cities” 

Following the mid-1970s recession, local authorities began to argue that more could 

be achieved through initiatives that changed the employment prospects in the 'inner 

cities'.  The Government’s 1977 White Paper, “Policy for the Inner Cities” was a 

major contribution to urban policy development and confirmed a change of analysis 

and direction.  The Inner Urban Areas Act (1978) introduced a long period in which 

'Urban Partnerships' and 'inner area programmes' became the main feature of 

Government policy to address problems of urban deprivation, poverty and 

worklessness. 

H&F bid successfully to become one of the first 15 areas to be selected for 

implementation of an 'inner area programme'.   

In the meantime, a change of Government, continued financial cutbacks, and 

escalating hostility between central and local government over 'rate-capping' meant 

that the 1977 White Paper policies never achieved their intended impact.  The idea 

that extra Urban Programme funding would encourage local authorities to 'bend main 

programmes' towards areas and client groups experiencing the greatest levels of 

deprivation, was not realised in practice. 

Instead, the inner area programme in H&F brought two main consequences: 

 it introduced the principle of consistent 'partnership' work between the main 

public sector agencies in the borough.  Inner area programmes were worked up 

via an inter-agency group involving the then Greater London Council, Inner 

London Education Authority and Area Health Authority. 

Page 243



                     

171 

 

 the programme allowed the borough, through a period of what would now be 

termed 'austerity' and with several rounds of budget cutbacks and mid-year 

financial crises, to continue with an annual programme of economic, employment, 

social and environmental projects, on which 75% of expenditure was met through 

the DoE grant and only 25% met by the local partner authority.   The Council 

embarked on significant economic development activities which were almost 

entirely funded from this source. 

The policy framework for the H&F Inner Area Programme (HFIAP) was developed 

under an administration with no overall control, with two Liberal Councillors voting 

with a Conservative near-majority party.  Leader Stuart Leishman was succeeded by 

Kim Howe, who developed a good relationship with then DoE Ministers, including 

Lord Bellwin and Sir George Young.   

The Department of Environment was responsible for Inner City Policy.  The HFIAP 

approach was welcomed at Ministerial level, with support for the Council's attempts 

to achieve long-term structural change in the borough's economy and workforce, 

while also including social projects aimed at the most deprived sections of the 

population. 

The first year of the Inner Area Programme (1979/80) was focused on five priority 

themes, which continued to be used for the selection of individual projects and 

interventions over the succeeding years: 

 supporting private sector industrial and commercial investment. 

 training and education, addressing the skills mismatch arising from loss of 

manufacturing jobs in the borough. 

 supporting under-fives and working mothers. 

 youth projects (with the ILEA keen to see these included). 

 community self-support (i.e. voluntary sector projects such as community centres, 

advice centres, aimed at harnessing voluntary activity and local participation). 

In making its pitch to the DoE, the Council emphasised its favourable location on the 

Heathrow/Central London axis and its potential as a part of London (compared with 

boroughs in East London) that could escape the inner city 'spiral of decline' with 

some help from central Government.  The Council argued that “if Hammersmith fails 

to stem inner city decline and to make real improvements in the multitude of 

problems the boroughs faces, it is hard to think of any other inner city area 

succeeding”.  The allocation of Urban Programme funds for the first year of the inner 

area programme was modest (£1.8m for both capital and revenue projects) but was 

to rise in later years. 

The population of H&F at the time was 168,000.  Between 1966-75 the borough had 

lost a quarter of its jobs, with a decline in manufacturing jobs of 50%.  Male 

unemployment was 9% and rising.   40% of all households had an income of less 

than £20 per week per person.  Yet already the borough had become an attractive 

Page 244



                     

172 

 

location for owner-occupiers, who made up 23% of all households with 27% in 

Council housing and the balance in a large private rented sector.  Concern about 

'polarisation' of the borough's population was already an issue, with the HFIAP 

submission commenting on “those on low incomes 'trapped' in housing in which they 

have no interest or investment and in the maintenance of which they play no part”. 

The 1979/80 HFIAP submission highlighted the risks of 'selective out-migration' 

leaving behind poor and deprived sections of the population experiencing 

unemployment and depressed income levels.  In demographic terms, the borough 

then had the second highest level of single parent families in the country, and the 

second highest proportion of over 65s.   Despite these immediate demands, the 

Council chose to develop an inner area strategy that looked beyond what it 

described as 'personal deprivation' and which addressed “the underlying effect of 

deep-rooted structural causes within the local economy”. 

HFIAP (later rebadged by Government as the Urban Programme) ran continuously 

until the early 1990s.  Annual funding allocations from Government increased 

steadily to over £5.6m and then dropped back as Whitehall began to turn its attention 

to East London, arguing that that West London no longer exhibited the worst scores 

on national indices of deprivation. 

For much of this period there were continuing efforts to cut back local government 

expenditure.  The Council experienced several years of urgent budget reductions, 

along with occasional years in which Government formulae for 'standard spending 

assessments' and for Rate Support Grant emerged more favourably. 

The range of 'partner authorities' working with London boroughs shrank with the 

abolition of the GLC in 1986 and then the Inner London Education Authority in 1990, 

when H&F took on education responsibilities.  NHS organisations, regional and local, 

came and went.  A range of bodies involved in training and employment support, a 

key part of the HFIAP strategy of addressing the skills mismatch in the local force, 

proved hard to engage as committed local partners.  Their 'vertical' reporting lines to 

Whitehall always proved stronger than their 'horizontal' links with the Council and 

local agencies.  The Manpower Services Commission was created in 1973 by the 

Heath Government. After 1987 the MSC lost functions and was briefly re-branded 

the Training Agency (TA), before being replaced by a network of 72 Training and 

Enterprise Councils (TECs). 

  

Page 245



                     

173 

 

What was the impact of the inner area programme on poverty and 

worklessness? 

Government reviewed its inner city policy in 1981, and subsequently added the 

principle that “the private sector should be encouraged to play the fullest possible 

part”.  But the basic framework of annual allocations for a combination of capital and 

revenue projects survived and ran for 15 years – an unusually long period in the 

history of Whitehall policy initiatives. 

National evaluations of the effectiveness of the policy and programme, as ever, 

provide little by way of clear conclusions.  Too many other variables were also 

changing over the period, in terms of the broader public expenditure climate and 

central Government political direction. 

Evaluations at local level were similarly constrained by a fast-changing institutional 

environment, with the Council having to cope with the consequences of GLC and 

ILEA abolition.   

Three main features of the Council's approach and activities are worthy of note from 

the period up until 1986, when a new Labour administration took control of the 

Council.  These are as follows: 

 H&F began to intervene significantly in relation to the local economy.  The 

Council set up H&F Business Resources and H&F Training Services, initially as 

in-house units and subsequently as third sector bodies.  These agencies 

administered programmes of loans and grants to the business sector (financed 

from Urban Programme funds) and oversaw substantial capital investment 

projects at the Hythe Road and Mitre Bridge Industrial Estates, as well as number 

of small workshop buildings in Fulham and elsewhere (New Enterprise Centre, 

start-up office units at 275 King Street).  The Notting Dale New Technology 

Centre became the model for a series of such centres promoted by Kenneth 

Baker as Minister for Technology from 1981. 

 

Local authorities had no power of general competence at that time, and the 

Council's involvement in economic development activities outsides statutory 

powers relied on permissible 'Section 137 expenditure', commonly known as the 

'2p rate'. 

 

 HFIAP funding provided resources for a series of voluntary sector initiatives 

including new community centres, day nurseries, walk-in counselling centres, 

womens refuges.  Some of these survive in the borough to this day, while others 

fell victim to cuts in grants to meet Government expenditure caps or to 

subsequent Council imposed spending restraint.  The track record of success of 

these projects has to be acknowledged as patchy.  There were a number of 

occasions when community groups proved unable to manage staff and sets of 

premises over any sustained period and in several cases the Council had to step 

Page 246



                     

174 

 

in to pick up the pieces.  The cost-effectiveness of the 'community self-support' 

strand of the inner area programme is therefore questionable, albeit that it helped 

to build a skills base across what was subsequently called the 'third sector'.   

 

 The Council became increasingly concerned at a perceived lack of strategic 

policy making and programme co-ordination within Central Government. 

Government machinery within Whitehall to mount any concerted approach to 

urban problems did not seem to exist.  While the 1977 White Paper on Inner 

Cities had held out the promise of co-ordinated action, this had not materialised.  

The Department of Environment exercised a largely administrative role, vetting 

IAP project proposals at an unnecessary level of detail.  The term 'joined up 

government' (or lack of such) was not then in use, but the same problems and 

issues were apparent.  This was to become a growing concern over subsequent 

decades. 

Council Leader Kim Howe and several H&F officers were invited to give evidence to 

a 1983 Select Committee inquiry on “The Problems of Management of Urban 

Renewal”.  The Council's written evidence pointed to the lack of democratic 

accountability and responsiveness of a range of key agencies (Housing Corporation, 

Manpower Services Commission).  These bodies were proliferating and had no 

'local' dimension which could sensitise them to local needs and opportunities. 

The Council also argued that 'many of the problems of inner cities are not primarily 

area based' and that the Government's continued preoccupation with 'pockets of 

deprivation' and spatially-focused interventions was misguided. 

The problems, from the H&F perspective, were structural and related to massive and 

rapid change in the employment market.  As at 1982, 25% of the under-20s in the 

borough who were registered as economically active were unemployed.  30% of all 

unemployed had been out of work for over a year. Registered unemployment had 

risen to 13.7% in September 1982. 

The Council's general complaint to the 1983 Select Committee was that 'the 

government's response to urban renewal issues remains fragmented, with individual 

government departments pursuing separate and not always convergent initiatives'.  

The same case was to be made by local government in each successive decade. 

Central Government, the Council argued, had failed to develop the potential of inner 

area programmes.  These had swiftly become little more than an annual batch of 

projects, with Government giving no recognition or response to the more strategic 

aims involved.  Specifically, H&F evidence commented, no work seemed to be being 

done by central government on 'the financial aspects of poverty, particularly the 

impact of income support programmes, welfare benefits, and tax thresholds'.  

Instead the focus of the Secretary of State for the Environment (then Michael 

Heseltine) appeared to be on emphasising the role of the private sector and on one-

Page 247



                     

175 

 

off responses (the Merseyside 'Task Force' had been set up by Heseltine the 

previous year, in response to the Toxteth riots). 

Local Strategy for Long-term Unemployment 

This local strategy was developed by the Council in what turned out to be the last 

year of a Conservative/Liberal administration.  It reflected the fact that the H&F 

Economic Development Unit had by then assembled a good deal of information on 

the economic health of the borough, and was routinely working with the GLC and 

Manpower Services Commission on issues of skills mismatch and local 

unemployment. 

At the time, unemployment levels in the borough had risen again from 9,625 to 

11,757 or 15%, with the long-term unemployed making up 36% of the total.  The 

position was not good. 

THE MID 1980s UNTIL 2006  

In May 1986, a widely expected victory in the local elections resulted in a Labour 

administration taking control of the Council after two successive four-year terms of a 

Conservative/Liberal Council. 

The 1986 Labour manifesto for H&F was a lengthy document that set out policy 

proposals on a raft of issues.  Because it was constructed largely around the H&F 

committee structure of the previous administration, the theme of poverty did not take 

centre stage as such, but featured in many sections of the document including 

housing and social services.  The new committees and policy areas created by the 

incoming administration reflected the model of the GLC at the time, including Ethnic 

Minorities, Womens, Decentralisation, and Council, Community and Policing 

Committees. 

In terms of specific actions aimed at reducing poverty, the most significant 

undertaken by the new Council in its first year were to scrap a planned increase in 

Housing Rents and to introduce a Minimum Earnings Guarantee for all Council 

employees.  The latter was introduced from October 1986 at a level of £127 per 

week and for its time was a radical policy, subsequently replicated by the Labour 

Government in April 1998 as the National Minimum Wage. 

A 'Borough Profile' prepared by Council officers and presented to the new 

administration drew attention to the 'distinct polarisation of the H&F population' and 

the existence of an 'increasingly dependent element' reliant on benefits and support 

from the state.  Actions proposed included raising awareness of the impact of long-

term unemployment, the need for better co-ordinated training services and more 

business aid and advice.   

Page 248



                     

176 

 

The future balance within the borough of the 'dependent' and 'non-dependent' 

sections of the population was seen as a big issue for the future.  Once again, it was 

accepted that H&F's location in inner West London was a favourable one, and one 

which positioned the borough to benefit more quickly from an upsurge in the 

economy than would be the case for its counterparts in East London.  

HFIAP (later the Urban Programme) continued during this period, with financial 

allocations gradually reducing (for example, a total of £2.3m in 1988/9).  H&F 

strategy for the programme stressed the importance of 'raising family income levels 

through improved job prospects and a revived local economy'. 

A Council Anti-Poverty Strategy developed in 1989 identified a series of long-term 

objectives: 

 raising awareness of the availability of welfare benefits. 

 reviewing Council services to ensure their accessibility to low-income 

households. 

 considering how policies and decisions of the Council affected low-income 

households. 

 developing and supporting agencies involved in preventative and educational 

work. 

 developing Council initiatives to provide access to employment for disadvantaged 

client groups. 

A Poll Tax/benefits campaign was undertaken, reviewing recovery procedures, along 

with work on debt and fuel poverty and the relocation of Department of Social 

Security offices to improve access. 

In April 1990 the borough took over education responsibilities from the ILEA.  This 

provided the Council with additional levers for tackling poverty and disadvantage 

through education and training projects of its own devising. 

In March 1988 Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher had launched the Government's 

“Action for Cities” programme.  This built on the work of the Urban Development 

Corporations in Merseyside and London Docklands, and placed a heavy emphasis 

on the role of the private sector. 

Involvement of the borough in Action for Cities was limited.  A government Task 

Force in North Kensington extended its activities into parts of Hammersmith.  Such 

Task Forces involved 'a team of 5-6 people drawn from a variety of backgrounds, 

including civil servants'.  These presaged increasingly direct forms of Whitehall 

involvement in addressing social renewal issues. 

The Government perspective on urban policy had shifted significantly by this time, 

from the aspirations of the 1977 White Paper on Inner Cities.  Both the “Action for 

Page 249



                     

177 

 

Cities” publication (1988) and DoE's subsequent “People in Cities” brochure (1990) 

list policy purposes as being to: 

 encourage enterprise and new businesses, and help existing businesses to grow 

stronger. 

 improve people's job prospects, their motivation and their skills. 

 make areas attractive to residents and businesses by tackling dereliction.  

 bring buildings into use, prepare sites and encourage development, and improve 

housing. 

Government in 1991 announced the top-slicing of the Urban Programme budget to 

finance a new City Challenge initiative.  This introduced a significant competitive 

element into bidding for funding.  H&F in 1992 prepared a bid, focusing on the 

'development of long-term employment opportunities as a means of combating 

poverty and deprivation'.   The geographic area covered in the bid was the 'West 

London Line corridor', including White City, Wood Lane, and Shepherd’s Bush.  The 

bid document noted the widening gap between high and low income households in 

the borough.  The bid did not succeed. 

In March 1992 the Council Leader Iain Coleman and MP Clive Soley launched a 

research study on Poverty and Deprivation in the Borough, commissioned from Bob 

Kitching.  This identified the extent to which the Council had conflicting roles as 

service provider, benefits distributor, tax collector and employer.  The study spawned 

an action research project on money advice. 

The 1992 local elections returned a Labour administration for H&F, with a 

Conservative Government continuing to promote enterprise as the primary lever for 

urban renewal.  The annual Urban Programme allocation to the Borough was by now 

barely sufficient to cover continuing commitments.  In 1993 the Home Office 

announced that Section 11 grant (a source of support since 1966 for 'meeting the 

additional needs of people originating from New Commonwealth countries') would be 

phased out.  These measures left the Council with the task of absorbing into its main 

programmes a significant number of ongoing projects, or terminating such grant aid. 

Creation of the Single Regeneration Budget, Government Regional Offices and 

the New Deal for Communities 

In the following year (1994) under the John Major administration, the Government 

made renewed efforts to co-ordinate its urban policies.  Twenty existing funding 

programmes from different Whitehall departments were brought together to form a 

new Single Regeneration Budget.   SRB funding subsequently became a major 

source of central government resources coming into H&F.   

A new Ministerial committee was formed to oversee this new programme, and ten 

Government Offices were created for the regions of England.   Until their abolition by 

the Coalition Government in 2010, these were the primary means by which a wide 

Page 250



                     

178 

 

range of policies and programmes of Whitehall were delivered.  By 2010, twelve 

Whitehall departments were represented in these regional offices and the 

Government Office of London had become a major player in borough efforts to 

reduce poverty and deprivation and boost urban regeneration. 

SRB funds were intended to act as a catalyst in addressing local need, stimulating 

wealth creation and enhancing the local competitiveness of the area as a place in 

which business wished to invest and people wanted to live.  Partnership working was 

seen as an important feature of the approach and as the 'engine-room' of this latest 

Government regeneration initiative.  The SRB programme also included a 

competitive element and involved local authorities and their partners in putting 

together a regeneration package and the associated outputs and capacity building 

that met the requirements of the Government Offices, as the main delivery agents for 

the Government of the system in the first four rounds. 

By the mid-1990s, the Council and other local agencies had long experience 

establishing different forms of partnership body (each Government and EU initiative 

tended to introduce new partnership requirements).  A SRB Partnership body was 

established, and supported by the Council's regeneration function, which moved at 

this stage from a central department to the Housing Directorate. 

By 1995, the Council was also becoming increasingly frustrated at the reluctance of 

Whitehall to devolve power and decision-making to the local level.  Growing 

evidence was showing that the central government response to problems of 

deprivation and urban decline remained fragmented and disjointed, and that key 

parts of Whitehall administering e.g. welfare benefits did not have the machinery (nor 

the inclination) to be responsive and flexible on how their activities impacted locally. 

The Council submitted evidence to a House of Lords Inquiry on central-local 

relations, arguing the case for greater subsidiarity (influenced by comparisons with 

European systems of government), for a change to Whitehall's centralist culture, and 

for local government to be placed on a more secure constitutional footing.  The 

report of the Inquiry (entitled “Rebuilding Trust”) made a number of 

recommendations moving in these directions, but the Select Committee's 

conclusions were largely lost in the upheaval of the 1997 General Election and 

change of Government. 

H&F was awarded major SRB funding for 1997/98 for the White City SRB 

programme.  An executive team of five staff were recruited and a White City 

Partnership formed.  SRB projects and finances were handled more at arm’s-length 

from the local authority, with the Partnership setting the direction of each 

programme, and the Council acting as 'accountable body'.   The White City SRB 

programme involved total funding of £15.2m over a five-year period.  

Page 251



                     

179 

 

During this period the Council was also successful in attracting significant levels of 

European Social Funds to the borough.  These were used in combination with SRB 

funding to mount projects such as a Business Enterprise Centre, the establishment 

of the Urban Partnership Group, and mentoring on ways into work.  The funding bids 

were underpinned by evidence assembled for a European Strategy 1996-99, 

followed by a second such strategy document for 2000-04. 

A total of £18m of EU funds, under the Objective 2 URBAN programme, were 

disbursed in the borough during the 1990s, on job creation, business support, and 

construction training. 

A bid to Government for a further SRB programme in 1998 led to funding of £13m for 

a seven year SRB5 programme, entitled “Bridging the Divide”.  At this time Secretary 

of State John Prescott announced an increased focus on 'addressing social 

exclusion and enhancing opportunities for the disadvantaged through community 

development'.  This reflected the setting up of the high-profile Social Exclusion Unit 

in late 1997. This was established initially as part of the Cabinet Office and 

subsequently moved to the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister in 2002.   

The SEU was an attempt at working across Whitehall departments.  Its early work 

included five reports on neighbourhood renewal; rough sleepers; teenage 

pregnancy; young people not in education, training or employment; and truancy and 

school exclusion.  These highlighted the lack of co-ordination on such issues within 

Whitehall and influenced the introduction of Local Public Service Agreements and 

Local Agreements.  The demand for 'joined up government' grew apace, with 

pressure from Ministers and local authority leaders. 

The Council's SRB3 and SRB5 programmes were ultimately merged and directed 

through a single partnership body re-branded as 'Regenasis'.   The combined 

programme became the local delivery mechanism for major Government initiatives 

such as 1998's “New Deal for the Young Unemployed”, predominantly run by the 

then Employment Service and encompassing several different programmes targeted 

at different groups, including young people; the long-term unemployed over 25; lone 

parents; people with disabilities; and people over 50.   Local projects included an 

Access to Employment Pathway and a Construction Training scheme. 

The range of local agencies involved in SRB partnership work was extensive.  It 

included the BBC, Barclays, Chelsea FC, Wimpeys, Queens Park Rangers FC, 

Notting Hill Housing Trust as well as health, police, and the Employment Service.   

The wards within the area designated for SRB funding were College Park and Old 

Oak, Wormholt, White City and Shepherds Bush, Coningham, Addison, Brook 

Green, Avonmore, Gibbs Green, Normand, Walham, Eelbrook and Sands End.  At 

this time these wards had a combined population of 86,400, with 11.9% of 

Page 252



                     

180 

 

economically active men claiming Jobseekers Allowance and 38.8% of JSA 

claimants being long-term unemployed.   

“Sure Start” was a further Government initiative, originated in 1998 under Gordon 

Brown at the Treasury and implemented by the Department for Children and 

Families.  Coningham and Broadway/Margravine were selected as the initial areas 

for Sure Start projects.  A second phase in 2002 focused on the seven most 

deprived estates in south Fulham.  Responsibility for running Sure Start Centres was 

transferred to local government over the period 2003-05. 

New Deal for Communities 

The concept of focused 'area-based initiatives' to address geographic areas of 

deprivation was not forgotten within Whitehall.   In 1998 Government launched a 

further area-based programme entitled “New Deal for Communities”.  This was seen 

as 'one of the most intensive and innovative area-based initiatives (ABIs) ever 

introduced in England'.  The programme was designed to transform, over a 10 year 

period, 39 small and deprived neighbourhoods in England, each accommodating 

about 10,000 people.  

As with the Single Regeneration Budget, NDC programmes were implemented 

through partnership bodies relatively independent from the local authority.  Perhaps 

idealistically, the Government aimed 'to place the community at the heart of the 

initiative' and a proportion of NDC Board members were required to be elected from 

local residents and businesses. 

The 39 NDC partnerships implemented local regeneration schemes each of which 

was funded by on average £50m of programme spend.  Cited as being 

'fundamentally rooted in partnership working' the NDC initiative's six key objectives 

were to:151  

 transform these 39 areas over 10 years by achieving holistic change in relation to 

three place-related outcomes: crime, community, and housing and the physical 

environment (HPE), and three people-related outcomes: education, health, and 

worklessness.  

 ‘close the gaps’ between these 39 areas and the rest of the country. 

 achieve a value for money transformation of these neighbourhoods.  

 secure improvements by working with other delivery agencies such as the police, 

Primary Care Trusts (PCTs), schools, Jobcentre Plus (JCP), and their parent 

local authority. 

                                                 

151
 The New Deal for Communities Experience: A final assessment  CLG March 2010 

Page 253



                     

181 

 

In 2000, the Council was invited to select an area that would benefit from this 

'comprehensive' approach to regeneration, as one of six boroughs following on from 

18 'pathfinder' NDC areas.  Of several options, the North End Road/Lillie Road area 

was chosen as meeting the criterion of 'a real and recognisable neighbourhood of 

between 1,000 and 4,000 households which would benefit from highly targeted 

support'.    

The selection of this part of the borough was based on an earlier 'Deprived 

Neighbourhoods Project' undertaken by the H&F Housing Department in 1998, using 

SRB funds.  Given the ambitious requirements for setting up a wholly new 

community-led partnership body, the North Fulham NDC Partnership took some time 

to get off the ground, analyse needs, and to put together its programme of projects.   

By 2002 the newly formed North Fulham NDC Partnership had agreed a delivery 

plan of measures and projects with Secretary of State Hilary Armstrong, involving a 

£44.3m grant from Government over a 10-year period. 

In line with other Government initiatives at this time, NDC programmes were framed 

in terms of a set of nationally measurable 'outcomes' and targets.  By 2006 the North 

Fulham NDC had 13 outcomes on track (to reach the 10-year target) and 13 

outcomes not on track.   Outcomes were defined in terms of educational 

achievement, health, income levels, unemployment levels and 'liveability' (measured 

by satisfaction with the environment, housing circumstances, crime and fear of 

crime). 

On the basis of evaluation studies, which it had itself commissioned, CLG concluded 

in 2010 that:   

 There has been considerable positive change in the 39 NDC areas: in many 

respects these neighbourhoods have been transformed in the last 10 years. 

 In general NDC areas have narrowed the gaps with the rest of the country. 

 Partnerships have adopted innovative and insightful solutions to help maintain 

activity into a ‘post NDC’ world. 

In relating such broad conclusions to specific results of the Fulham NDC, it is as ever 

almost impossible to separate out the impact of the programme itself from wider 

socio-economic changes, the effect of other Government policy changes, forces 

within the London housing market, and other externalities. 

  

Page 254



                     

182 

 

Neighbourhood Renewal, LPSAs, Local Area Agreements and Local Public 

Service Boards 2000-10 

In 1998, with Andrew Slaughter as Leader, the Council decided to move away from a 

traditional committee system and to introduce new governance arrangements based 

on an indirectly elected mayor/leader, cabinet, and scrutiny arrangements.   A 

Private Members Bill to allow the introduction of such a system (the 'Hunt Bill') had 

failed in Parliament but the Council found a means of introducing such arrangements 

under the 1972 Local Government Act.  The subsequent 2000 Local Government Act 

introduced 'cabinet government' across English local authorities. 

At the same time, the Council established a 'Borough Partnership Forum' as a 

standing borough-wide partnership body, chaired by a Council cabinet member.  

These arrangements were intended to signal to a growing band of local 'partner 

agencies' (police, health services, the Employment Service, Training and Enterprise 

Council, and the local voluntary sector) that the Council saw itself as an outward-

facing body with a clear view of its role in providing political leadership and direction 

across all public sector agencies in the borough, rather than confining its interest to 

local authority functions alone. 

This view of a local authority's wider role was not the orthodoxy at the time.  It was to 

be a further eight years before the 2006 White Paper, “Strong and Prosperous 

Communities”, redefined local government's role as 'strategic leader and place-

shaper'.  Only ten years previously, Nicholas Ridley as Secretary of State had 

notoriously promoted the vision of the 'enabling authority' outsourcing its activities 

and meeting once a year to award contracts.   

In terms of efforts to combat poverty and worklessness in the borough, the Council's 

then political leadership was very aware that the local authority itself exercised few of 

the relevant levers of influence.  'Partnership' working had been pursued in H&F 

since the early 1980s but had at times led to programmes and projects that were not 

targeted with much analysis or precision, and with each main partner having to be 

granted their 'share' of available funds.    

From 1990, the Council took on responsibility for education services, and 

educational achievement and post-school training became a growing feature of the 

borough's various regeneration programmes.   Reducing drug and alcohol abuse, 

and the links to deprived and often dysfunctional households, had by that time 

become a growing part of the Council's activities.  Partnership working between the 

Council and the Police became very close during the 1990s and H&F was early in 

the field in thinking about 'troubled families' and 'early intervention'.   

The Council's experience in partnership working, and in addressing a wider range of 

social and economic issues than was standard for local government at the time, 

meant that it was able to influence Government thinking as well as remaining in the 

Page 255



                     

183 

 

frame as a candidate for Whitehall regeneration initiatives.  This was despite a shift 

in Government attention to East London. 

On national measures, the borough remained relatively 'deprived' particularly on the 

measure of income inequality.  The Council's 2000 Community Plan, “Your Borough, 

Your Say”, noted that H&F remained ranked as the 8th most unequal English local 

authority in terms of income, with 33% of households in receipts of income support 

and 48.6% of children under 15 in families dependent on benefit.   The Council's 

2000 Regeneration Strategy, prepared in conjunction with the local Learning and 

Skills Council and the London Development Agency, noted that unemployment 

levels 'remain disturbingly high'. 

Central Government policies on regeneration moved onward with the 2001 

publication of A new Commitment to Neighbourhood Renewal, a national strategy 

setting out 'the Government's vision for narrowing the gap between deprived 

neighbourhoods and the rest of the country, so that within 10 to 20 years, no-one 

should be seriously disadvantaged by where they live'.  In a foreword from Prime 

Minister Tony Blair, this strategy emphasised 'the focus is not just on housing and 

the physical fabric of neighbourhoods, but the fundamental problems of 

worklessness, crime and poor public services – poor schools, too few GPs and 

policing’. The strategy ‘harnesses the hundreds of billions of pounds spent by the 

key Government departments, rather than relying on one-off regeneration spending’ 

and put in place ‘new ideas including Neighbourhood Management and Local 

Strategic Partnerships for empowering residents and getting public, private and 

voluntary organisations to work in partnership’.   

These themes were to dominate Whitehall policy-making on deprivation and 

regeneration, and bring change to the central-local government relationship, in the 

subsequent period up until the 2010 General Election. 

An £800 million Neighbourhood Renewal Fund was brought together at national level 

to be applied across England's 88 most deprived areas (including H&F).  

Establishing a Local Strategic Partnership became a condition of funding, an effort to 

bring more co-ordination to the delivery of public services at local level.   The Council 

used for this purpose its existing Borough Partnership, as a body chaired by the 

indirectly-elected Mayor, Andrew Slaughter, and subsequently by Cllr Sally Powell.  

Based on its past experience of partnership working, the Council did not buy into the 

Government's view that LSPs should be 'an equal partnership of many players' 

chaired potentially by any of its members.  Councillors had a clear view on the need 

for political leadership of such bodies. 

Figures are available for 2001/02 spend on what had become a range of 

regeneration initiatives in the borough, and these show the scale of investment being 

made during this period. 

Page 256



                     

184 

 

                                                     £000's 
URBAN (EU funding)       400  
Objective 3 (EU funding)    2,069  
Sure Start       1,065 
SRB grant      5,782 
SRB match (public and private)  8,843 
 
Total      18,159 

 
The Borough's Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy, published in 2001, made the by 
now familiar point that H&F 'contains extremes of poverty and affluence, within wards 
as well as across the borough'.  Hence, geographic targeting of intervention and 
support, as was the norm with Whitehall's concept of 'area-based initiatives', did not 
necessarily make sense. 
 
Local Public Service Agreements 
 
In 2001 the Government also decided to extend its system of Public Service 
Agreements (PSAs) by introducing a devolved version termed Local Public Service 
Agreements (LPSAs).  PSAs had originally been introduced at the time of the 1998 
Spending Review, but initially had little traction.  Immediately after the 2001 General 
Election, the Prime Minister's Delivery Unit was created in the Cabinet Office, 
headed by Michael Barber, to provide support and scrutiny on a selection of the 
Government’s high-priority PSAs. These broadly related to the 2001 manifesto 
commitments152. 
 
Local Public Service Agreements were piloted with 18 authorities in 2001/02 and 
H&F was one of 12 further authorities added in a second round.  Involvement meant 
negotiating a 'contract' with Whitehall to deliver on 12 or 13 of the national PSA 
targets.  £1.1m of pump-priming funding was provided, with the potential of a further 
£5.5m 'reward' payment for achieving the selected targets (seven of which had to be 
from a Government list). 
 
The Council chose to structure its LPSA objectives and targets around a package of 
measures to tackle the causes of anti-social behaviour and unemployment in the 
borough, with a focus on young people, seen as becoming increasingly alienated.  
The idea was for local agencies to work together with a problem-solving approach 
between the Council, police, Employment Service and housing associations. 
 
The implementation of a LPSA increased the awareness of the Council and its 
partners of the extent to which important potential levers to address poverty and 
worklessness remained outside local control.  It also raised consciousness of the 
totality of public spending in the borough, once all Government funding streams were 
included, with accompanying questioning over the overall effectiveness of multiple 
and fragmented funding streams.  In 2002 the Council mapped an estimated total of 
£4bn of public spend across the borough. 

                                                 

152
 Public Service Agreements and the Prime Minister’s Delivery Unit, Institute of Government  

Page 257



                     

185 

 

 
While the Council sought to negotiate some 'freedoms and flexibilities' over how 
welfare payments and benefits were disbursed to borough residents, these remained 
firmly resisted by the relevant central government departments.  Similar resistance 
was to emerge following the transition from LPSAs to full-scale Local Area 
Agreements.  
 
By 2003, the Regenasis Partnership (handling the borough's SRB 3 and 5 delivery 
programmes) was overseeing the 6th year of implementation.  A total of £28.2m had 
been expended (76% of the total).  Annual spend began to decline for the remaining 
years of the delivery plan.  The North Fulham NDC Partnership was meanwhile 
completing its second year, with planned spend for 2003/04 of £3.2m capital and 
£3.8m revenue.  'Jobs, income and enterprise' formed one of the five elements of the 
NDC programme. 
 
In 2004/05 the Regenasis Partnership (led from the H&F Housing Department) took 
on the management of a London Development Agency £3.8m programme on 
construction training, media training, and access to work. 
 
Local Area Agreements 
 
The Council was heavily involved in the next stage of Government policy 
development on public service reform, and the introduction of Local Area 
Agreements.  Working as part of a group of Councils classed as 'excellent' by the 
Audit Commission under the Comprehensive Performance Assessment regime, H&F 
drafted a set of proposals to take the thinking behind LPSAs and local partnership to 
a further stage.   
 
The 2004 Local Government Conference was used to launch proposals for Local 
Public Service Boards and Local Area Agreements (LAAs).  The then Office of the 
Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) published a prospectus for LAAs, seen as a step 
change in the way in which central government, local Councils, and local partner 
agencies worked together to achieve a negotiated set of 'better outcomes' for local 
areas.    
 
H&F was one of 21 pilot areas for Local Area Agreements.  The original conception 
for LAAs was one of 'mature dialogue' between Whitehall departments and local 
authorities, mediated by Government Regional Offices.  A selection of 35 specific 
targets were included in each LAA, with Government offering 'freedoms and 
flexibilities' to overcome any institutional restrictions getting in the way.  Central 
Government funding streams were 'pooled', removing unhelpful hypothecation. 
 
Local Public Service Boards, as a strengthened and politically-led version of LSPs, 
were promoted as the driving force for Local Area Agreements.  These bodies were 
encouraged to map and oversee the totality of public resources coming into an area.  
H&F and Kent were seen as pioneers of Public Service Boards, in the same way that 
these two Councils had pioneered 'cabinet' decision-making within local authorities. 
 

Page 258



                     

186 

 

The Council's LPSA 2 targets were merged into the Borough's Local Area 
Agreement for 2005/06 and beyond.  These included targets on job retention, child 
poverty, educational achievement and other issues relevant to worklessness and low 
incomes.  A specific target was 'to increase family income by supporting lone parents 
to move from benefits to sustained employment'. 
 
Local Area Agreements originated in John Prescott's Department (ODPM and later 
rebadged as the Department of Communities and Local Government – DCLG).  His 
personal involvement achieved the necessary buy-in to the approach from all major 
departments across Whitehall.   The Every Child Matters agenda, and health 
improvement measures, were adjusted by DCF and DH respectively to fit within the 
LAA framework.  Regional Government Offices had by that time increased their remit 
and influence, and included civil servants from all major Whitehall departments.  The 
goal of 'joined up government' appeared to have come a step closer. 
 
LAAs were extended across all 150 English local authorities by 2007, and ran until 
2010 and the start of the Coalition Government.  The Prime Minister's Delivery Unit 
took a growing interest, and regrettably this new framework for joint working and a 
'grown up' relationship between central and local government became heavily 
weighed down with process and performance management requirements.  The 
opportunities for radical 'freedoms' on e.g. allowing local authorities to rethink the 
use of welfare and benefits budgets for their area, did not materialise. 
 
The Treasury was however supportive of the idea behind pooling of Government 
budgets and a degree of devolved decision-making.  In March 2010, shortly before 
the General Election, the Treasury and DCLG launched proposals for “Total Place”, 
following on from 13 pilots (of which H&F was not one).  This more ambitious 
framework was trailed as 'A fundamentally different approach to public service 
reform, which puts local authorities and their partners at the forefront of a drive to 
look at all local public service spending: uncovering waste and duplication and 
freeing up resources to refocus on what people actually want and need'. 
 
Within weeks of the start of the Coalition Government, Secretary of State Eric 
Pickles announced the demise of Government Offices in the Regions, and the 
winding up of Local Area Agreements.  Both parts of government machinery were 
portrayed as part of a 'target culture' dating from the Blair years which had proved in 
the view of the new Government to be both ineffective and unproductive.   The basic 
principles of 'whole place budgets' and 'freedoms' were however to resurface shortly 
in the new Government's prospectus for “Community Budgets” launched in October 
2011. 
 
2010 to 2016 – Whole Place Community Budgets and Neighbourhood 
Community Budgets 
 
Whole Place Community Budgets were introduced at the start of the current period 
of austerity, with the intention that local authorities would use new found freedoms to 
deliver 'more with less'.  Central government planned at the 2010 spending review to 
reduce funding of local authorities by 26 per cent (£7.6 billion) in real terms, between 
April 2011 and March 2015.  Further spending cuts were to follow. 

Page 259



                     

187 

 

 
A 2013 report from the National Audit Office153 notes in relation to the forerunners 
(LAAs and Total Place) 'It is generally recognised, however, that these initiatives did 
not lead to widespread or fundamental changes in local public services, or in the 
relationship between central and local government.  Even so, with the current 
pressures on local public services, there is now even greater incentive to assess 
whether, when and how increased integration can help provide services within 
increasingly tight budgets'. 
 
Following a competitive process, the newly formed 'West London Tri-borough' (with 
Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea councils) was chosen as one of the pilot 
areas to work up a 'business plan' for Whole Place Community Budget.  Themes 
encouraged by DCLG were service integration (especially across health and social 
care) and elimination of duplicatory processes in the delivery of services.  The Tri-
borough Business Plan was published in October 2012. 
 
The business plan included a 'Tri-borough Guarantee', two elements of which were 
relevant to poverty and worklessness: 
 

 We will work together to ensure that every young person under 25 has a job or is 
in training or education. 

 We will ensure that those in the middle (combined household income below 
£60k) have access to high-quality affordable housing. 

 
The subsequent NAO evaluation of Whole Place Community Budgets concluded that 
‘the work done by the four areas has potential to be developed to provide cost 
savings in other areas, but it is very early days... The true scale of potential savings 
and improved outcomes from a Whole Place Community Budget approach will only 
become clear if, building on the plans local areas have set out, projects are now 
implemented in the local areas and evaluated robustly’.  
 
White City Neighbourhood Community Budget Pilot (White City Challenge) 
 
The Neighbourhood Community Budget pilots were initiated by DCLG in 2011 to 
help progress the Coalition Government's decentralisation and the localism agenda.  
The wider policy context was that of 'community ownership' and 'neighbourhood 
control' including other element of the Localism Act such as the 'Community Right to 
Bid' and neighbourhood planning.  Integration of budgets, and co-design, co-
commissioning and co-production of services were also themes. 
 
Twelve pilot areas were selected by DCLG through a competitive process, including 
White City and Poplar in London.   The objectives of the White City pilot were to 
“…give the people of White City ultimate control over the decisions which affect 
them” and “…delivering a bespoke strategy for social renewal focussed on: families, 
employment and crime”. 
 

                                                 

153
 Case study on integration: Measuring the costs and benefits of Whole-Place Community Budgets, National Audit Office 2013 

Page 260



                     

188 

 

The mechanisms proposed involved routing funding for physical regeneration, 
economic development and social investment through a single neighbourhood pot – 
including public, private and third sector resources.  Priorities were to set by the 
community through a new Neighbourhood Forum representing the range of local 
community groups – backed up by local polling and community engagement 
volunteers.  Financial support from DCLG was £132,500. 
 
A project team (Team White City) was recruited to develop business cases for 
devolving budgets and commissioning powers.  Six programme areas and proposals 
were identified and published in March 2013: Decentralising public services; 
Occupancy of social housing; Supporting and creating working households; A 
network of parent champions; Preventing and reducing crime; A community health 
and wellbeing hub.  
 
Four of these business cases were carried through to the implementation year of the 
Neighbourhood Community Budget programme. A social enterprise, White City 
Enterprise (WCE), was incorporated, and control of community assets (specifically 
the White City Community Centre) was handed down by the Council to provide a 
revenue stream for the new body.  It also took over the administration of a Big Local 
award from the National Lottery. 
 
The project ended in September 2015.   The Council view154 is that the two-year 
timespan imposed on the pilots by DCLG – one year for planning and one year for 
implementation – was far too tight to deliver any sustainable neighbourhood 
community budget programmes.  The best that could be delivered were small scale 
community-based projects that supplemented existing mainstream services.  A five-
year programme is the least considered necessary to develop and support any 
devolved services to local social enterprises or similar organisations. 
 
A national evaluation of the pilots by DCLG155 was cautious in its findings, noting that 
Neighbourhood Community Budgets offered ‘some potential’ of efficiencies through 
service redesign.  Following on from the pilots, this Government initiative was 
rebranded “Our Place!” and £4.3m nationally was committed in July 2012 to help 
more communities take up the approach. 

HOW HAVE PROBLEMS OF POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS CHANGED IN 
H&F? 
 
Much of the change over the past 40 years reflects what has happened at national 
level, rather than being specific to the borough.  Forecasts in the 1970s that the 
majority of UK citizens would work shorter hours, have more leisure (as well as the 
income to enjoy that leisure) have not come to pass.  Instead, the increase in part-
time jobs, flexible contracts, and self-employment has redefined the nature of 'work' 
and of 'worklessness' for many people. 
 

                                                 

154
 Report to H&F Business Board July 2015 

155
 Neighbourhood Community Budget Pilot Programme Research, Learning, Evaluation and Lessons.   CLG July 2013 

Page 261



                     

189 

 

Unemployment levels, as defined by successive governments, are much lower than 
the levels of 10-15% experienced by the borough at periods in the 1980s and 1990s.  
The rapid disappearance of manufacturing jobs in H&F during the late 1960s and 
1970s, leaving many job-seekers ill-equipped to find alternative work, has not for 
many years been the main driver of worklessness in the borough. 
 
The availability of housing in H&F, and the proportion of household income absorbed 
by housing costs, have long been critical factors in the socio-economic make-up of 
the borough.  As the above history of Government and local initiatives demonstrates, 
the theme of a 'rich/poor' borough with wide variations in income between different 
parts of H&F has been a constant for forty years.  The 1980s vocabulary of 'a 
polarised population' requiring intervention and support that 'bridges the divide' has 
not changed greatly. 
 
Huge gulfs in the housing opportunities that are available to individuals and 
households continues as a major determinant on how H&F residents lead their lives.  
Owner-occupation in the borough has become a distant dream for most of those 
working in the public sector, whereas in the 1970s it was not unusual for Council 
staff to both work and own a home in the borough.  The availability of social housing 
has shrunk.  Private rented accommodation was the housing solution for half of all 
H&F households in 1977, with 27% of the remainder being Council housing and 23% 
owner-occupied.  Rent controls were in place until the 1988 Housing Act.  Average 
private sector rents in H&F are now £615 per week. 
 
According to the 2015 Indices of Deprivation, the Borough now ranks 75th most 
deprived on income levels out of 326 local authorities.  But this measure does not 
take account of housing costs156. 
 
National indices of deprivation are not measured on the same factors as they were in 
the 1970s and 1980s.  Measures on which H&F used to score 'highly' in the 1980s 
as compared with other London boroughs included 'poor amenities' (lack of exclusive 
use of a bath and WC), population loss (a 21% loss between 1971 and 1982) and 
having the third highest proportion of elderly population in London.     So it is not 
possible to provide a simple measure of the extent to which the borough has become 
less 'deprived' on Government indices over the last forty years.  It clearly has in 
many respects, and has continued to do so between 2007 and 2015, a period in 
which H&F has dropped down the national league table significantly on 'average 
score' and 'average rank'.  
 
Whether H&F residents in 2016 perceive their levels of life satisfaction and wellbeing 
to be higher now, on average across the borough, as compared with the 1970s is 
another matter.  The national indices on 'wellbeing' are a relatively new set of data 
from the Office of National Statistics for which only 3 years of figures are available, 
broken down at regional level with too small a sample for meaningful borough 
analysis. 

                                                 

156
 The 'income deprived' indicator is based on numbers in a Super Output Area in receipt of six types of income support, tax 

credit, or other form of benefit. 

Page 262



                     

190 

 

 
The extent to which geographic concentrations of deprivation have changed in H&F 
is easier to assess.   Comparing the maps of deprivation included as Map 1.1 and 
Map 1.2 in this reference report with the lists of wards and areas featuring as most in 
need of intervention, in the series of initiatives from the 1979 Inner Area Programme 
onwards, there are some familiar candidates.   White City and Wormholt, College 
Park and Old Oak, Edward Woods estate, parts of North Fulham including the Clem 
Attlee estate continue to rank high on terms of deprivation indices.  Areas such as 
Coningham, Addison and Sands End, which were included in the Single 
Regeneration Budget programmes of the 1990s, have subsequently fallen out of the 
local list of 'most deprived'. 
 
The White City estate has been the subject of focused intervention by the Council 
and partner agencies since the 1970s, and has featured in most of the Government 
regeneration programmes.  Yet many characteristics of a deprived area continue.  A 
2012 study by NHS North West London157 showed that on the White City estate, 
‘29% of working age residents receive Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance or 
Employment and Support Allowance / Incapacity Benefits (WCOA 22% and borough 
13%).  The Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) claimant rate on White City estate is 9.9% 
which is more than double the borough average at 4.2% (WCOA 7.5%).  Long-term 
unemployment (over 6 months) remains a key issue and accounts for 53% of all 
claimant residents (borough average 46%). Youth unemployment represents 25% of 
all JSA claimants (borough average 21%)’.   
 
HAVE CHANGES IN GOVERNMENT MACHINERY MADE IT ANY EASIER TO 
ADDRESS POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS IN H&F? 
 
A continuous theme pursued by the Council over the last 40 years has been that the 
way in which Whitehall organises itself, and the machinery of central and local public 
service delivery, does not lead to best use of resources.   Nor does it help local 
authorities and other local agencies to work together to address complex and multi-
faceted problems such as poverty and worklessness. 
 
The Council argued this case consistently during the 1980s and 1990s.  In the 2000s 
it took a lead role in building a new framework for central/local joint working through 
LAAs, and subsequently on the integration of health and social care (through a joint 
local authority and Primary Care Trust chief executive).   It has sought on several 
occasions to convince Government to grant more borough-level discretion in the 
disbursement of welfare benefits and employment support through the Employment 
Service and subsequently Jobcentre Plus. 
 
Proposed reforms of the machinery or central/local public service delivery have 
looked promising at times, but arrangements have subsequently reverted largely to 
the status quo ante.   Government's own initiatives to improve cross-departmental 
working in Whitehall have diminished in recent years.  Government Offices in the 

                                                 

157
 White City Neighbourhood Budget Pilot Project  NHS North West London 2012 

Page 263



                     

191 

 

Regions achieved influence for a time, brokering relations between the regions and 
Whitehall, then abruptly disappeared. 
 
Across Whitehall, “Departmental Improvement Plans” were published for 2013 and 
2015.  The Civil Service chief executive John Manzoni announced in July 2015 a 
new set of Single Departmental Plans as a 'roadmap' for each department.  These 
were published in 2016 to cover the five-year period to 2020 and are intended to 
show where departments and cross-departmental functions need to work together to 
deliver the required outcomes. 
 
The themes of devolved decision making and strengthening the political leadership 
of local government remain on the agenda, in the form of developments around the 
'Northern Powerhouse' and the devolution in progress for the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority and directly-elected Mayor.  These measures include (for 
example) a Government and Greater Manchester commitment to joint 
commissioning of employment programme support outside of the Jobcentre Plus 
regime, to assist the long-term unemployed and those with health conditions and 
disabilities to re-enter work. Devolution of £6bn of health spending to Greater 
Manchester is a significant step.  Greater Manchester is also exploring with 
Government options for regulatory change to enable better utilisation of the area's 
social housing asset base in order to increase the diversity of social housing 
provision, and to increase investment in home ownership.   
 
For H&F however, there is little sign of new movement on institutional remits, or 
changes in responsibilities between Whitehall departments, the Mayor of London, 
and the London boroughs, that would place in borough-level hands more of the 
levers necessary to address issues of poverty and worklessness. 
 
  

Page 264



                     

192 

 

WHAT PREVIOUS FORMS OF INTERVENTION AND SUPPORT HAVE WORKED 
BEST IN ALLEVIATING POVERTY AND WORKLESSNESS? 
 
The main aim of this chapter, a review over the past 40 years of initiatives in H&F, 
was to attempt to evaluate what has worked and what has not.  This has proved a 
very difficult task.  The Council has rarely had the resources to evaluate in detail the 
result of its programmes and projects aimed at alleviating poverty and deprivation. 
 
Central Government programmes, on the other hand, have nearly always been the 
subject of major research and evaluation studies.  The problem with most of these is 
that by the time the study appears, Whitehall has moved on and announced a yet 
further initiative.  In some cases, a change of Government has intervened between 
the commissioning of academic research studies and the publication of their findings. 
 
Hence the tone and conclusions of such studies are imbued with what feels like the 
steer of the civil servants who commissioned them.   It is one of 'we are not sure that 
this initiative or programme was entirely successful but in any event it has now been 
wound up and replaced with a bold and radical new approach which we are 
confident will be the answer to everything'.      
 
The reality of course is that it is largely impossible to evaluate the impact of specific 
local programmes and projects to reduce poverty and worklessness, when wider 
economic and societal factors are continuously changing all around them.   There 
was little the borough could do to prevent the massive loss of manufacturing jobs in 
the 1960s and 70s.   National unemployment levels reached peaks in subsequent 
decades which now appear far worse than in recent years. 
 
Some very broad conclusions and thoughts are offered below: 
 
a)  For H&F, housing opportunities (or the lack of them) have for many decades 
been a major determinant of the lives of borough residents.  Residual income after 
housing costs can leave households and individuals feeling that they are living in 
poverty even if, on national measures, they are not.   The Council and local housing 
associations have some, but limited levers, that can impact on the workings of the 
London housing market and its acknowledged dysfunctions.  Are there any 
measures the borough should pursue to intervene more in the housing market? 
 
b) As was the case in the late 1970s, at the start of the borough's Inner Area 
Programme, the Council and its partners have to choose between investment in 
longer-term and more structural interventions, as compared with revenue based (and 
often staff-intensive) support of the immediate needs of vulnerable client groups – 
children in poverty, those with mental health problems, single parents, the unskilled, 
the elderly on basic pensions.  Which route offers the best results over time? 
 
c) Interventions that the borough was able to make at periods when it had access to 
substantial Government or EU funds did achieve some positive results.  The Council 
used IAP capital funds in 1980/81 to build a brand new access road to create an 
industrial Estate at Mitre Bridge (north of Little Wormwood Scrubs).  The jobs 
thereby created remain 40 years later.  A focus on addressing the skills mismatch of 

Page 265



                     

193 

 

the borough's then workforce proved effective, at a time when manufacturing jobs in 
H&F were still disappearing.   EU and SRB funding was substantial during the 
1990s, and the track record of the borough in achieving measurable increases in 
access to work and entry to jobs appears to have been solid.  None of these funding 
sources remain available, and the Government funds involved in more recent 
initiatives (e.g. the White City Community Budget Pilot) have been far more limited.  
Sheer lack of resources is a huge constraint on action. 
 
d)  As the Joseph Rowntree Foundation has noted158 ‘new’ demographic changes 
are arising which add forms of poverty.  As well as a likely rise in lone parenthood, 
these include a further rise in people living alone, including those living alone in mid-
life who have never cohabited, as well as those in young adulthood, returning to their 
parents’ home following partnership breakdown.   
 
e) The Council and its partners have a good track record from the past in identifying 
and addressing complex issues requiring a creative, problem-solving multi-agency 
response.  There is a strong case for H&F claiming credit for pioneering work in 
previous decades on 'early intervention', in coining the term 'troubled families', and in 
integrating health and social care in services for children and older people.   Insofar 
as the totality of problems of poverty and worklessness lie beyond the levers of 
influence that the Council and local partners can themselves exercise, there are 
aspects of the problem, and specific client groups, where a novel and effective 
contribution can perhaps be made. 
 
Central Government has recently returned its attention to some of these issues, 
albeit with proposals that are very modest in resource terms.  
 
As this chapter shows, many ideas have come round for a second if not a third time, 
in Whitehall's efforts to address more complex socio-economic issues such as 
poverty and worklessness.  The pendulum appears to be swinging back, if only 
slightly, to models of intervention as compared with reliance on the market. 
 
Lord Heseltine's encouragement of devolved decision-making coupled with local 
political leadership (as in his 2013 review “No Stone Unturned”) has not gone 
unheeded in Government.  Will we see further Government initiatives on 
regeneration, new freedoms for local government, and service integration that 
extend to London as well as the Northern Powerhouse?  Will the new Mayor of 
London provide scope for more active involvement by boroughs in the workings of 
the London housing market? 
 
                                                                                                                                                                  

  

                                                 

158
 Reducing Poverty in the UK A Collection of Evidence Reviews, Joseph Rowntree Foundation August 2014. 

Page 266



                     

194 

 

                                                 

159
 Figures from National Audit Office: https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/Department-for-work-pensions-

short-guide.pdf 

 5. The current delivery landscape 

National Government 

Department for Work and Pensions 

The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) is responsible for welfare, pensions and 

child maintenance policy. As the UK’s biggest public service department it administers the 

State Pension and a range of working age, disability and ill health benefits to over 22 

million claimants and customers. Jobcentre Plus administers working age benefits such 

as Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) and Employment and Support Allowance (ESA). The 

Pension Service delivers the Basic State Pension and Pension Credit. The Child 

Maintenance Group provides statutory Child Support Schemes.  DWP also provides 

disability benefits and child maintenance, including Employment and Support Allowance, 

Incapacity Benefit and Severe Disablement Allowance, Disability Living Allowance and 

Personal Independence Payments, Attendance Allowance for older people with care 

needs, Carer’s Allowance and Child Maintenance Service159.                               

The Government’s recent welfare reform agenda marks the most extensive changes to 

the welfare state since its inception. Universal Credit (UC) is a new, single, means-tested 

benefit for people of working-age replacing six existing benefits; Income Support, income-

based JSA, income-related ESA, Housing Benefit, Working Tax Credit and Child Tax 

Credit). It is aimed at maintaining incentives to work. The taper rate – how quickly the 

benefit is withdrawn as recipients earn more – has been criticised as being too steep. The 

2016 Autumn Statement reduced the taper rate from 65% to 63%, meaning claimants will 

be able to keep 63 pence of every pound they earn.  

UC applications are made online with claimants managing their own accounts on the UC 

Full Service.  From 29 June 2016 all new claimants or those with certain changes in 

circumstances have been directed to claim UC Full Service.  It is too early to determine 

what the full impact has been on employment statistics and poverty rates, although early 

reactions have focused around residents experiencing up to seven weeks’ delay in 

receiving Universal Credit while being transferred over to it. 

The Benefit Cap, introduced in November 2016, has capped benefits, and affects those 

receiving Housing Benefit and Universal Credit with some exemptions for vulnerable 

groups.  

 

 

Page 267



                     

195 

 

 

Table 5.1  The impact of the Benefit Cap 

Benefit claimants 

Previous cap 

(per week) 

New cap from 

November 2016 

(per week) Impact 

Couples and families 

in London £500 £442.31 

£57.69 per week 

worse off 

Single people in 

London £350 £296.35 

£53.65 per week 

worse off 

Single parent in 

London £500 £442.31 

£57.69 per week 

worse off 

 

Income Support has been changed to remove the obligation to support lone parents 

whose youngest child is aged 5 or over. The Government reduced the way benefits 

change with inflation in 2011, switching from the Retail Price Index to the Consumer Price 

Index, and also placed a temporary 1% cap on some benefits for three years. 

The Work Programme is the current welfare-to-work pathway for long-term unemployed 

people that began in 2011. Claimants of JSA or ESA are eligible after 3 months if not in 

education, employment or training, 9 months if aged 18-24 and after 12 months if aged 25 

and over, and are referred to it by Jobcentre Plus.  

It will be replaced by a new specialist Work and Health Programme (WHP) for claimants 

with health conditions or disabilities and those unemployed for over two years.  This will 

replace the national Work Programme and Work Choice once contracts expire on 31 

March 2017, although won’t commence until October 2017.  Jobcentre Plus will support 

all other JSA claimants up to their eligibility on WHP. 

Department for Education (DfE) 

Children from poorer backgrounds tend to suffer in terms of educational attainment, which 

feeds into cycles of poverty and deprivation. Many contributing factors relate to the 

broader socio-economic context in which education is delivered. However, the DfE has a 

significant influence in terms of how schools in deprived areas are run and managed. 

Academisation was an attempt to improve the education system, by providing schools 

with more autonomy to manage the delivery of education. One fifth of schools are now 

academies or free schools and they account for 35% of pupils. However, the results for 

children from poorer backgrounds are mixed. The best performing academies have 

shown improved results for children from poorer backgrounds, yet the lowest performing 

Page 268



                     

196 

 

academies have shown significantly worse results than mainstream schools for children 

of this demographic.  

An apprenticeship levy will be introduced on 6 April 2017 which will go towards funding 
apprenticeships across the country. The levy requires all employers operating in the UK, 
with a pay bill over £3 million each year, to invest in apprenticeships. This has significant 
potential for apprenticeship opportunities in H&F.  There will be changes to the funding for 
apprenticeship training for all employers. 

Department of Health 

There is a strong correlation between poverty and ill-health, which means those 

experiencing poverty are disproportionately more reliant on health services than the rest 

of the population. This can be related to a number of factors, such as limited access to 

adequate housing, education and other services, as well as to essentials such as a 

healthy diet, fuel and clothing. The stresses associated with living in poverty can create or 

exacerbate health problems. 

The DoH is responsible for setting national policy for adult social care in England. It also 

provides funding to local authorities for adult social care. The main users of publicly 

funded adult social care are people with learning disabilities, those with mental health 

conditions, those with physical or sensory disabilities, and older people, all of whom 

experience poverty disproportionately compared to the rest of the population. The 

demand for social care is rising while public spending is falling, resulting in unmet need. 

Health and care systems often don’t work effectively to meet the complex needs of 

patients.  

Public Health England is the executive agency of the Department of Health. It works 

alongside local government and the NHS to support locally led public health initiatives.  A 

ring-fenced grant is allocated by the DoH to the 152 local authorities to commission public 

health services to reduce health inequalities, although this is due to end in time for 

2018/19. The DoH calculates a target allocation for each local authority, based on the 

population and relative needs in each local area. 

Department for Communities and Local Government 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) is responsible for 

driving up housing supply, increasing home ownership and empowering local 

communities to deliver public services. Government funding to local authorities has fallen 

37% between 2010/11 and 2015/16, however, local authorities have received more 

control over how they use their funding through the 2011 Localism Act. Reductions in 

ring-fenced grants and diminished reporting burdens have increased the flexibility with 

which local authorities can deliver their statutory services.  

DCLG has supported housebuilding through a range of grants and loans to housing 

associations, developers and buyers, including the New Homes Bonus, which 

Page 269



                     

197 

 

                                                 

160
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-evaluation-of-the-first-troubled-families-programme 

incentivises local authorities to build homes, Kickstart, Build to Rent, and the extension of 

Right to Buy.  

DCLG also implemented the Troubled Families Programme, which aimed to turn around 

120,000 families facing multiple problems over three years from April 2012 to May 2015. 

The programme focused on youth crime and antisocial behaviour, children of school age 

not in school, and adults on out-of-work benefits.  The programme’s budget was £448 

million, distributed to local authorities on a payment-by-results mechanism over the 

programme’s three-year life.  A recent review of the programme published in October 

2016 found it to have ‘no discernable impact’160.   

The Council  

Housing and Regeneration 

The amount of house-building done by the Council is minimal; there are currently 50 units 

in construction, with another 60 planned in 2016/17 in a partnership with developers 

Stanhope.  Plans have however been announced for 600 affordable units to buy or rent 

by May 2018.  Recently, the Council has been restricted by a number of factors: the land 

market in London means buying land to build on is expensive; grants for socially rented 

housing were up until 2016 restricted by the Mayor’s Office, which preferred under the 

last Mayor to focus on ‘affordable’ houses at 80% of market rate; and the Housing 

Revenue Account cap, set by central Government to reduce the budget deficit, limits the 

ability of local authorities to borrow money to finance building.  

The majority of housebuilding is done by a variety of private developers operating in the 

borough.  The Council sets a target for private developers to meet regarding affordable 

housing, which for H&F is 50% affordable housing split between 60% rented and 40% 

shared ownership.  Its mechanism for enforcing this is through Section 106 agreements, 

but developers tend to be adept at securing reductions in affordable housing quotas using 

financial viability assessments.   

Section 106 Agreements 

Section 106 agreements are negotiated between developers and local authorities to 

mitigate the impact of a development, and to ensure there is sufficient supply of local 

resources to meet the additional population demand, including training and skills 

programmes. An infrastructure plan for the borough has been developed, but Council 

departments can influence the spend, which is ultimately decided by members.  

Temporary accommodation 

The Council’s housing team provides temporary accommodation for vulnerable people 

Page 270



                     

198 

 

who are facing homelessness.  Potential recipients are assessed based on their need 

and vulnerability, with eligibility dependent on conditions such as having a family, being 

pregnant, having a physical or mental health condition, being an ex-offender, or having 

served in the armed forces.  In order to ensure that accommodation is affordable, the 

Council may monitor a recipient’s finances to make sure the placement is sustainable.  

Due to the housing market in H&F, temporary accommodation can involve placing people 

outside of the borough.  Prevention of homelessness is also a major part of what the 

team do, as every effort is made to keep people in their current housing situation unless it 

is considered unsafe to do so.  In 2015/16, the team received 1,565 approaches, with 406 

acceptances and 49 preventions. As at March 2016, there were 1,161 households in 

temporary accommodation. There are currently 1402 homeless or home seekers on the 

housing register and 380 transfers.  There have been 883 permanent allocations, 636 of 

which have been into Council stock.  The department also work with other services such 

as Jobcentre Plus and Work Zone, as well as third sector organisations such as Citizens 

Advice Bureau and H&F Credit Union, in an attempt to co-locate advice services that can 

prevent housing problems from arising in the first place.  

Floating Support 

The Council provides floating support services to help people address housing related 

concerns and to enable people to continue living as independently as possible.  Floating 

support workers visit residents in their homes, assess their needs and signpost to other 

statutory services or third sector organisations. Support is provided for a range of issues 

including financial management skills, form filling and letter writing, or life skills such as 

cooking and cleaning.  The service is provided by four external suppliers: Hestia Housing 

Support, Notting Hill Housing Trust, Advance Angelou and Bishop Creighton House.  The 

floating support service in H&F is undersubscribed, which is unlikely to be due to a lack of 

need.  It is possible that referral routes from statutory or third sector organisations are the 

cause of this issue.  

Adult Learning and Skills 

The Adult Learning and Skills service (ALSS) offers over 400 courses focusing on three 

mains areas: Skills for Work and Employment; Personal and Community Development; 

and Entry into Learning and Skills. In the year 2014/15, 5,577 people accessed further 

education and adult learning and skills courses in H&F, 3,318 of whom were residents of 

the borough. Of the total learners, 68% were from ethnic minority backgrounds, 21% were 

over 60, and 8% had a declared disability – all groups disproportionately affected by 

poverty. ALSS is funded predominantly by the national Skills and Funding Agency, and 

was allocated an initial grant of nearly £3 million in 2014/15 for adult skills and community 

development. 

Skills for Work and Employment offers a range of accredited vocational courses with the 

aim of reaching employment or further study, with an emphasis given to people returning 

Page 271



                     

199 

 

to study or beginning a new area of learning.  

The Learning for Personal and Community Development strand offers open access 

courses in a variety of areas, where learners generally pay a high proportion of course 

costs which allows targeted provision for specific groups. These groups include people 

with disabilities, people with few or no qualifications and older learners. 

The Entry into Learning and Skills offers courses ranging from entry level to level 2 in 

Functional Skills, English and Maths and English for Speakers of Other Languages 

(ESOL). There is also provision for adults with learning difficulties and/or disabilities 

(LLDD), which focuses on independent living skills, as well as Family and Community 

learning and Family Literacy and Numeracy in partnership with schools and community 

venues across the borough.  A successful program for 50 plus learners, called Agewell, is 

also provided. 

The service is lacking an effective mechanism to fully monitor its impact in terms of how 

many people successfully reach employment.  Feedback incentives are given but 

insufficient information is gathered and measurement remains a significant gap.  In some 

areas, such as childcare, the Council has a long-standing relationship with specific 

employers and is able to track the success of students, but this is not always the case.  

In addition to SFA-funded projects, ALSS is involved with other projects with a number of 

partners in the public and third sectors.  It is working on a project led by the West London 

Alliance, called Trail Blazer, that aims to support residents with disabilities and mental 

health issues to gain employment.  It is also working with H&F Mind and Action on 

Disability on a supported employment programme for people with special educational 

needs and/or disabilities.  The programme has initially supported six young people, who 

spend four days in the workplace and one day in college, and have been placed in roles 

throughout the Council.  This is funded by a £300,000 H&F Transformational Challenge 

Award Fund. 

Work Matters  

This is an employment programme consisting of two parts, OnePlace Hub and Work 

Zone. 

OnePlace Hub is a service that provides housing options, debt and money advice, benefit 

and welfare assistance, and job search facilities all under one roof.  The initial focus of 

the service was to provide local jobs for local people, but its remit has expanded to 

provide a more holistic hand-holding service.  It focuses on building people’s confidence 

and skills to the point at which they can be passed on to services such as Work Zone, 

which then focus on the final hurdle of employment skills and finding work.  

Representatives from Jobcentre Plus work with the OnePlace team, which enables data 

sharing.  Co-location with housing teams also allows for face-to-face information and 

expertise sharing on particular cases. The OnePlace service also works closely with the 

Page 272



                     

200 

 

Troubled Families Programme and the HB Assist Team, which both provide referrals for 

people with entrenched needs who may be some way from being able to enter the 

workforce.  In these cases, the OnePlace service can provide ongoing support for clients 

who in some cases may have more modest targets than finding full-time employment.  

Unfortunately it is lacking a data management system that could provide statistical 

evidence for the effectiveness of its work.  

Work Zone is a recruitment service based in Shepherd’s Bush Library that helps to 

identify skills, assist with CV writing, applications and interview technique and build job 

confidence.  It was initially set up with Section 106 money from the Westfield 

development and began as a partnership between DWP, H&F, Westfield, Tendis, and 

Ealing, Hammersmith and West London College, although the City of Westminster 

College now provides skills training.  Candidates are referred from DWP, OnePlace and 

the ‘Back-on-Track’ supported employment programme for mental health sufferers.  Work 

Zone develops relationships with businesses and other organisations in H&F, and 

functions as a brokerage between candidates and businesses.  It predominantly sources 

jobs in hospitality, retail and construction and the latter two will continue to be significant 

due to the Westfield expansion and the Old Oak development. Its brokerage activity has 

expanded beyond the borough such that it is now recruiting for roles that are some 

distance outside H&F, and will advertise outside of the borough if they cannot be filled 

locally.  

Work Zone does not deal with candidates with severe levels of need.  Although there are 

a relatively small proportion of young people not in education, employment or training, 

there a lot of ESA claimants over 35 who are challenging to place and there is no 

government funding for apprenticeships over the age of 24.  There is also an increasing 

number of people with a greater need of assistance to be ready for employment.  Work 

Zone only recently began to collect performance information.  

HB Assist 

The HB Assist team is not part of Work Matters, but co-locates with Jobcentre Plus, 

OnePlace and Work Zone to provide employment support, such as vocational training 

and CV writing and interview skills.  Its other work streams include welfare reform 

mitigation, tenancy sustainment and personal budgeting support.  It focuses on 

supporting those affected by the overall benefits cap and the migration to Universal 

Credit.  The housing benefits cap, which applies to people not in work, means that many 

residents cannot afford the rent on their current properties and face eviction.  HB Assist 

proactively identifies those who will be affected by forthcoming reforms and advises them 

on how to prepare for the changes in advance.  For those at risk of eviction, HB Assist 

can provide discretionary payments to support their tenancy until recipients can 

demonstrate that they are on route to finding work, and may negotiate with private 

landlords or housing associations to delay an eviction decision. A casework approach is 

employed, which involves a HB Assist member working with a particular household to 

Page 273



                     

201 

 

identify their needs, and then discussing their issues with relevant agencies or referring 

them when appropriate to third sector organisations such as Citizens Advice Bureau and 

Crosslight Debt Advice. Of the 960 tenancies affected by the benefits cap, the Link Team 

have resolved 730 (77%), through employment (355), resettlement (122) or disability 

exemption (77).  

Adult Social Care and Public Health 

Adult Social Care 

Adult Social Care (ASC) provides care for people with mobility or personal care issues, 

older people, mental health sufferers, people with learning and physical difficulties and 

people with sensory impairment.  Those satisfying the National Eligibility criteria receive 

care in their homes, with much of the work carried out by voluntary sector organisations 

as commissioned by the department.  

Aside from commissioning care, a lot of the work ASC does is facilitating people to 

access other services to enable them to live as independently as possible. The 

department is working towards ensuring this signposting is done as effectively and 

humanely as possible, as a system for ensuring staff are aware of all relevant services in 

the Council and third sector is not as comprehensive as it could be.  

ASC is leading on plans to coordinate employment services for people with disabilities or 

complex needs, including mental health issues, across the three boroughs it serves.  The 

programme will have a referral procedure that includes other statutory services as well as 

the voluntary and community sector.  Clients will then undergo a triage assessment, after 

which they will be directed to information and advice, national service provision or to an 

appropriate place within the programme.  Specialist employment coaches will cater for 

the specific needs of clients, and different models within the overall programme will be 

tailored to meet the needs of specific client groups.  For example, mental health services 

might offer a full Individual Placement Support programme, which focuses on placing 

people into work and then provides training, which has been proven to be effective for 

mental health sufferers.  Other services might include specialist non-employment 

provision, training, pre-employment or volunteering, in-work support, and national level 

schemes such as health-and-work programmes.  

The Council will act as a centralised brokerage service that provides strategic 

engagement with businesses.  This will improve engagement with businesses, who 

currently find it difficult to work with the many disparate organisations that currently 

provide employment support services, and who are not necessarily incentivised to work in 

partnership, which can be a detriment to employment services as a whole.  

The programme will begin in 2017 and is currently waiting on funding decisions from the 

NHS before it is implemented.  It will still go ahead despite these decisions, but if the 

CCG funding is not available then the mental health element will be reduced. There is 

Page 274



                     

202 

 

also potential to expand the scheme to include services targeted at other groups with 

specific needs.  

Public Health 

The aim of Public Health is to improve the health of the population through focusing on 

the social determinants of health that can prevent issues from arising in the first place.  

Previously part of the NHS, Public Health is now under the remit of local authorities. 

Mandated services include health visiting, school nursing, stop smoking services and 

NHS health checks.  Public Health also funds the Community Champions programme, 

which supports representatives from local communities to feed back to local service 

providers about the needs of their community.  It also makes its budget available for other 

departments to bid for projects that align with its stated outcomes, such as a housing 

initiative to proactively identify households in deprived areas that are likely to suffer from 

conditions that lead to ill health.  

Trail Blazers 

Public Health has also been working with H&F CCG on a project called Trail Blazers, 

which is being led by the West London Alliance.  It is a supported employment 

programme targeted towards helping mental health sufferers to get back into 

employment. (See West London Alliance). 

Three Borough Supported Employment Strategy 

Public Health is also part of plans to coordinate employment services for people with 

disabilities or complex needs, including mental health issues.  A Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment identified the “disjointed” provision of employment services, which were 

lacking overall strategic direction and resulted in customers receiving support from 

multiple providers.  The strategy will facilitate better relations between service providers, 

which will improve coordination and data collection, and engage businesses to improve 

the employment opportunities on offer.  

 

 

Children’s Services 

Child Poverty Strategy 

The Council is preparing a Child Poverty Strategy, which will reflect how the local 

authority and its partners have worked together to improve outcomes for vulnerable 

children and their families during the economic downturn, and inform future strategic and 

operational commissioning intentions.  This strategy will be organised around four key 

themes that impact on family poverty: housing, health, children’s services and 

worklessness.  

Page 275



                     

203 

 

Schools 

The role of the local authority in education has changed significantly in recent years.  

There was a time when the authority “managed” all state schools, holding budgets and 

appointing staff.  Schools are now largely self-governing; all manage their own budgets 

and may only come into contact with the Council when they choose to make use of its 

services.  The local authority now has more of a strategic role, such as in place planning 

and admission.  The education system locally is now a myriad of academy, free, faith and 

community schools and the Government’s main vehicle to funding disadvantaged pupils 

is via the Pupil Premium.  In September 2013 the Council commissioned a task group on 

the Pupil Premium, which found that its use varied widely, with a broad mixture of 

academic and non-academic actions funded. 

Children’s Centres 

The Council funds 17 children’s centres throughout H&F.  Services include advice and 

guidance, integrated education and parenting skills, school readiness for children, work 

readiness for parents and child and family health.  The Council has protected funding for 

its children’s centres, in spite of continued grant reductions from central Government.  

Children’s Social Services 

The bulk of children’s services are occupied in social work, with high-need families often 

experiencing poverty. The Council is committed to an early intervention strategy, with 

investment in a range of well-tested programmes (low in cost, high in results). The next 

steps for improving early intervention are: more rigorous targeting of children and families 

with additional needs; greater integration of collective services across agencies to reduce 

duplication and inefficiencies; and improved joint commissioning. 

Childcare 

The Council is responsible for implementing a government programme to ensure a 

minimum amount of childcare is available to parents of two-year-olds who are living in 

poverty, enabling them to go to work.  The Council works with private nurseries in order to 

implement this programme, but struggles to convince them to forego the substantial fees 

they are able to charge locally.  Nurseries often fail to cater for children with disabilities or 

children who lack English language skills, and it is very difficult to find childcare that 

accommodates unusual working patterns, such as shift work or zero-hours contracts, 

often associated with lower pay.  

Children in Care and Care Leavers 

The Council assumes corporate parenthood of all children in care and has a number of 

policies to make up for their disadvantages they face and to help them transition into 

adulthood.  Children in care are prioritised for vacancies in H&F schools, where their 

progress is constantly monitored, and they are offered enrichment opportunities from an 

Page 276



                     

204 

 

early age.  People who have been in care are also prioritised when it comes to being 

housed in H&F, and receive employment support that helps them to stay in education, 

employment or training until the age of nineteen.  They are also provided with a link 

support worker who helps them with key life skills, including money management, 

interview skills and healthy eating.  

Troubled Families 

The first phase of the local Troubled Families programme “turned around” all 540 families 

who qualified for the programme. The borough is now engaged with phase two of the 

programme, which will continue until 2020, and will focus on: parents and children 

involved in crime or anti-social behaviour; children who have not been attending school 

regularly; children who need help; families affected by domestic violence and abuse and 

parents and children with a range of health problems. 

Social Inclusion 

Delivery and Value 

The Communications and Community Team is responsible for managing relationships 

with the third sector and funding projects and organisations that further the goals of the 

Council.  In the period between December 2014 and May 2016, the Council provided 

funding of over £3.8 million to 45 third sector groups to address a variety of issues.  The 

Council has provided funding to the H&F Food Bank since 2015, provided premises for a 

new hub to be opened on Bloemfontein Road and funding for a member of the Citizens 

Advice Bureau to be stationed in the Food Bank as part of the Council’s broader social 

inclusion strategy.  This has provided an opportunity for people experiencing severe food 

poverty to receive in-depth support and advice with the aim of addressing the symptoms 

and underlying causes of their financial difficulties.  

In addition, the Council offers Fast Track Small Grants Awards for local third sector 

organisations in need of small grants between £100 and £10,000 to deliver specific 

services or activities.  The scheme supports a wide range of local groups and prioritises 

those not already receiving Council funding.  Between January and September 2016, 

£58,430 was distributed to 16 organisations in the borough, with more awards expected 

in the rest of the year.  Some examples include £8,000 of funding for the Old Oak 

Community & Children’s Centre to run an extensive summer holiday scheme for 5-12 

year olds, £4,000 for the Anti-Tribalism Movement to encourage young Somalis to be 

ambassadors in the community, and £2,000 for the Polish Centre to provide services for 

the older Polish Community.  

Social inclusion is central to the Council’s mission.  Cross-cutting and Council-wide 

initiatives to promote social inclusion include the following: 

Co-located Advice Hub 

Page 277



                     

205 

 

In June 2016, an advice hub was set up at 145 King Street, where the Housing Options 

Division is located.  The hub combines Council services with OnePlace, Work Zone and 

Jobcentre Plus, allowing residents to seek advice on: welfare reform and Universal 

Credit; employment; tenancy sustainment; housing benefit and DWP applications; and 

completing online applications.  

Housing First 

The Housing First Initiative was introduced in April 2016 to support homeless people with 

entrenched complex needs. Council housing stock provides accommodation for homeless 

people who also receive a very high level of support from a wide variety of specialist 

agencies who collaborate to meet people’s needs.   

The Hope Project 

The Council is working in partnership with St Mungo’s Broadway to address the 

increasing levels of homelessness in the borough.  A St Mungo’s worker sits in with the 

Council’s frontline homelessness service to work with single homeless people.  These are 

people with no priority for housing under the 1996 Housing Act because they are single 

adults with no medical conditions, but do have a housing need.  The worker provides 

specialist advice and assistance to support single people to move into private rented 

accommodation.  

Befriending Pilot 

The befriending pilot is part of a broader strategy to tackle isolation and loneliness among 

older people in the borough.  It is a partnership between the Council (Housing Options 

and Adult Social Care) and Bishop Creighton House and was launched in 2015 to provide 

a befriending service for people over 55.  Referrals can come from recipients themselves 

or from other agencies and Council services and is provided by volunteers trained by 

Bishop Creighton who co-ordinate the service.  The pilot has so far proved successful in 

reducing social isolation for older people. 

Public sector partners 

The Mayor of London and the Greater London Authority 

The Mayor of London’s ‘Manifesto for All Londoners’ outlines what will be done at the 

regional level to address some of the issues relating to poverty and worklessness, with 

policy priority areas including Business, Prosperity and Opportunity; Homes for 

Londoners; Affordable Transport; Skills for Londoners; A Fairer and More Equal City; and 

Improving London’s Health.  

Businesses will be incentivised businesses to invest in housing and ensure childcare is 

affordable and accessible.  Homes for Londoners will aim to bring together housing, 

planning, funding and land powers to build genuinely affordable homes. Schemes will 

Page 278



                     

206 

 

include more homes for social rent, a London Living Rent set at one third of average local 

wages, ‘part-buy part-rent’ houses that give first option to Londoners and ‘use-it-or-lose-it’ 

powers to make sure developers do not sit on land that could be developed.  The Mayor’s 

Office will also work with housing associations and councils to keep rents down and 

protect tenants unable to afford markets rents.  Homelessness will also be addressed by 

a “No Nights Sleeping Rough” taskforce which will oversee the Mayor’s rough sleeping 

work, and councils will be coordinated to find stable private rented housing for those in 

need as opposed to being forced to outbid each other.  

The skills shortage will be addressed by mapping the skills gap and creating programmes 

to cater for London’s growth industries whilst encouraging young people to gain career 

skills at a young age. High quality apprenticeship programmes will be developed in 

partnership with industry, and the Mayor’s Office will lobby the Government to restore 

funding of ESOL classes in London colleges.   

The Mayor plans to promote equality and make London fairer by offering business rate 

relief for small firms who pay the London Living Wage and promote financial inclusion by 

partnering the financial sector with credit unions and social enterprises to provide 

affordable access to financial services. There will also be a new team in the Mayor’s 

Office dedicated to promoting economic fairness.  

Mental health will also be addressed through campaigns to break down the stigma of 

poor mental health and efforts to coordinate the various statutory services that deal with 

mental health issues.  

West London Alliance 

The West London Alliance is a partnership between seven north and west London local 

authorities; Barnet, Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, Harrow, Hillingdon and 

Hounslow.  The partnership aims to realise efficiency gains through collaboration and 

share information and best practice in a range of service areas. 

West London Transformation Programmes 

As part of the West London vision for growth, to which H&F is a signatory, the West 

London Alliance is piloting four initiatives to improve skills and employment prospects in 

the borough that, if successful, may be rolled out across the other member boroughs: 

 “Working People Working Places” will assist long-term unemployed in communities 

with the highest numbers of claimants to find and stay in employment. 

 “Skills Escalator” will develop skills for residents in low paid employment, helping 

people to progress with their careers and avoid the growing problem of in-work 

poverty. 

 “Opportunities for Young People” will support vulnerable young people to make a 

successful transition from education into employment and training to maximise their 

Page 279



                     

207 

 

life chances.  

 “West London Mental Health Trail Blazer” is an employment support scheme for 

people with mental issues delivered in partnership with Public Health and 

Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group. The scheme will be based 

on an Individual Placement Support (IPS) model, which aims to get people into 

employment first and then support them with on the job training, and will target over 

1,000 unemployed residents across west London.  There is an international body of 

evidence to suggest that IPS models are the most effective way of placing people into 

work. The programme will trial in one ward in H&F.  Eligibility will be determined by the 

amount of time spent receiving ESA benefits for mental health conditions, and will be 

targeted towards those with moderate mental health issues.  A similar Big Lottery-

funded programme will also trial in one ward in H&F, with eligibility conditional on 

being unemployed and suffering from mental health issues.  

West London Housing Partnership 

The West London Housing Partnership functions as part of the West London Alliance and 

operates an “Out-of-London” homelessness scheme to voluntarily relocate homeless 

individuals and families. The majority of homeless cases are the result of evictions 

because people cannot afford the rent. Due to the benefits cap and the lack of social 

housing, the Council cannot afford to cover the costs of placing people in the private 

rented sector. People are offered the opportunity to relocate to an area where their rent 

will be affordable, often to the West Midlands, where an officer is assigned to help with 

the transition.  

Work and Health Programme 

The West London Alliance is also involved with negotiating a devolved Work and Health 

programme, alongside Adult Social Care and Public Health and the Adult Learning and 

Skills services in H&F and their equivalents in the other member authorities.  The 

programme will replace the current DWP Work Programme from October 2017 and will 

have a special focus on helping people overcome health-related barriers to work. 

H&F Health and Wellbeing Board 

The H&F Health and Wellbeing board is made up of partners from H&F Clinical 

Commissioning Group (see below), various Council service departments and 

Healthwatch Hammersmith and Fulham.  There are also people on the board who 

represent the patients and carers, the community and voluntary sector and local faith 

groups.  Its Health and Wellbeing Strategy includes: integrated health and social care 

provisions; regenerating the White City estate; ensuring all children have the best start in 

life; supporting young people into adulthood; better access to sheltered housing for 

vulnerable people; and improved mental health services for service users and carers.  

H&F Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 280



                     

208 

 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups commission non-primary health services.  Their 

decisions are informed by community engagement, Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 

and broader strategic changes in the way that healthcare is delivered.   A recent 

development has been a greater focus on community care, transferring appropriate 

services from hospitals to locate them within communities.  

Three-Borough Supported Employment Strategy 

H&F, West London and Central London CCGs have partnered with H&F, Kensington and 

Chelsea and Westminster councils to formulate a supported employment strategy for 

people with complex disabilities and mental health issues. 

Third Sector Funding 

H&F CCG also uses £100,000 of its budget to fund third sector projects in the borough to 

cater for a number of groups disproportionately affected by poverty and worklessness; ex-

offenders, carers, mental health sufferers and BAME groups. Organisations funded in 

2015/16 include Carers Network, Catalyst in Communities, H&F Mencap, Foundations 

UK, H&F Mind, People Arise Now and the Somali Men Welfare Foundation. 

Richmond Fellowship Supported Employment 

Richmond Fellowship Mental Health Supported Employment is a charity funded by H&F 

CCG and is co-located with the NHS Treatment and Recovery team, which provides all its 

clients. It uses an Individual Placement Support place-then-train model. Ongoing support 

is provided to the client long after they are initially placed.  The service also engages with 

employers to equip businesses to cater for people with complex needs. The service 

employs three full-time employment coaches and one part-time coach. Although the 

coaches are not medical professionals, they are trained to an appropriate standard.  The 

coaches also benefit from being embedded with the hospital and based alongside NHS 

staff, which ensures that the support provided is timely and effective. The service is 

contracted to deal with 238 people per year, and has a 25% success rate of placing 

people into sustainable employment (at least 6 months to a year). Of the people initially 

placed, a 100% success rate in maintaining that position is achieved. 

Improved Access to Psychological Therapy: Back on Track 

Back on Track Hammersmith is part of the national Improved Access to Psychological 

Therapy (IAPT) programme. It is funded by H&F CCG and delivered by a partnership 

between West London Mental Health Trust, Mental Health Matters and West London 

Centre for Counselling.  The programme is accessed by around 4,500 people per year.  

IAPT offers an employment support scheme that caters for people with mental health 

issues who are either struggling to find work or to maintain their current job.  Service 

users are generally referred by GPs and receive a course of up to six months, or twelve 

sessions.  

Page 281



                     

209 

 

The sessions are employment coaching with an understanding of mental health issues, 

rather than therapy, and are not conducted by medical professionals, although there are 

suggestions for a national training program for IAPT employment coaches.  Once the 

course has finished, service users who have not found employment are referred either to 

a clinician, to Work Zone, the Volunteer Centre, or to an employment programme in 

partnership with H&F Council, Mind and Action on Disability.  However, most service 

users tend to either find work or leave the programme before completion.  Success is 

evaluated by whether service users find employment, training or a volunteer position 

within the course of the programme and in terms of how their psychological state 

improves based on an in-depth questionnaire.  However, service users are not tracked 

after they have left the programme, which means the long-term results are not clear.  

There are plans to improve the ratio of clinical therapists to employment coaches to 1:8, 

but they are being delayed so as to be able to evaluate the success of other pilot 

schemes in the borough.   

General Practitioners 

GPs are often the first point of contact for health issues that are partially determined by 

socioeconomic factors.  The majority of people who suffer poor mental health and present 

for treatment do so through their GP.  GPs are also an important point of referral on to 

other services, such as Adult Social Care or the IAPT programme, discussed above.  

Housing Associations 

Housing associations are private non-profit organisations that provide housing for people 

with low incomes or specialised needs at below market rent. Their role in the provision of 

social housing has varied over the years and today there are 1,700 housing associations 

registered with the regulatory body, which vary greatly in size: the largest 50 associations 

with over 10,000 stock hold 36% of all stock holdings, whilst the smallest 1,100 

associations with fewer than 250 stock account for only 2% of all stock holdings.  

Locally, Shepherd’s Bush Housing Association supports a number of community projects, 

including the Best Chance Employment programme, which has helped 1,621 people into 

work since 2011, and a debt and welfare advice service that took on 536 cases in 

2015/16. It also works with the Council’s HB Assist team to delay evictions of tenants who 

have been affected by housing benefits caps.   

Peabody Housing Association is an example of a larger registered provider operating 

locally that provides a number of community-oriented services as part of its business 

model. These include community centres in more deprived areas, and a floating support 

unit for all its residents over 60 that provide advice about accessing benefits and local 

services. Notting Hill Housing Association also provides a floating support service in H&F, 

which is contracted by the Council. 

The local voluntary, community and faith sectors  

Page 282



                     

210 

 

Third Sector Review 

The Council recently commissioned a third sector review to assess the impact of the 

sector in H&F.  Using data from Sobus, it found that there are 259 charities with a 

combined income of £69 million, and that whilst 415 charities are registered with Sobus, 

there could be as many as 700 organisations working in the borough. There are a full 

range of organisations in the borough, ranging from many that have five or fewer 

employees, or are entirely staffed by volunteers, to large national organisations and 

everything in between.   

The five most common types of organisation are advice (18%), education (17%), health 

(10%), arts (9%) and children (6%). 

 

The Review rated the sector as a whole as effective, but recognised that there are issues 

around collaboration within the sector and that organisations should be better at directing 

clients to other relevant organisations.  This was echoed by representatives from the third 

sector who described it as “fragmented not collaborative”.  While there are notable 

collaborative projects between third sector organisations in the borough (such as the 

Council-funded collaboration between the H&F Food Bank and Citizens Advice Bureau), 

organisations work predominantly in isolation, or with a few other groups.  The fact that 

only 4% of clients who used Council-funded services had been directed to other 

organisations is illustrative of this, although it should be noted that this only represents a 

fraction of service users in the borough.  The competitive dynamic between some 

organisations in the borough can be a hindrance to collaboration. Some organisations are 

reluctant to direct clients elsewhere for fear of losing the funding associated with their 

client base.  It is not uncommon for organisations to approach the Council to fund a 

service that is already in place elsewhere, as opposed to directing their clients to an 

existing service that would be beneficial for them.  

Sobus 

76 

35 
23 

69 

10 
16 15 

8 5 

41 

4 1 2 1 2 
8 3 7 2 7 2 1 2 

14 
4 

17 
6 3 4 

10 15 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

A
d
v
ic

e

A
rt

s

C
h

ild
re

n

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n

m
e
n

t

D
is

a
b
ili

ty

F
a
m

ily
 S

u
p

p
o
rt

C
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
…

C
o

m
m

 S
a
fe

ty

H
e

a
lt
h

M
e

n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h

A
n
im

a
ls

C
a

re
rs

 S
u
p
p

o
rt

C
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
…

C
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
…

C
u

lt
u

ra
l…

D
V

F
u
n

d
in

g

H
o

lid
a
y
…

H
o

u
s
in

g

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re

In
te

rp
re

ta
ti
o

n

M
e

d
ia

ti
o
n

M
u

lt
ip

le

O
ld

e
r 

p
e

o
p
le

P
h
y
s
ic

a
l…

R
e

lig
io

u
s
…

R
e

s
id

e
n

ts
…

V
o
lu

n
te

e
rs

Y
o
u
th

N
o

n
e

Figure 5.1  Number of 3rd Sector organisations affiliated to 
Sobus and active in H&F by activity   

Page 283



                     

211 

 

Sobus is a Council-funded organisation that supports the voluntary and community sector 

in the borough. It does this by providing organisational development support; fundraising 

assistance, monitoring and evaluation guidance, and regular local training on a range of 

topics. It also provides room and desk hire and other office services.  Another core part of 

Sobus’s responsibilities is encouraging collaboration, partnership and the sharing of 

information between organisations in H&F.  

Sobus also produced a youth partnership report, which brought together a range of 

organisations from faith-based groups, charities, colleges and social enterprises, and 

statutory bodies such as the police, the Council and CCG.  It identified a number of 

priority areas for young people in H&F, including employment, housing and mental health 

issues. 

Sobus has also been working with Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation to 

develop a social enterprise employment agency.  It hopes to work with long-term 

unemployed people in the borough and various third sector organisations that aim to 

address the underlying reasons for unemployment. 

H&F Volunteer Centre 

H&F Volunteer Centre is responsible for developing, supporting and promoting 

volunteering in the borough and the surrounding area.  It works closely with local charities 

and community groups with a focus on volunteering as a gateway to opportunities in 

employment, training and education.  As a result it does a lot of work with unemployed 

people in H&F, helping them with training, job searching and confidence-building.  

The Council provides £100,000 of funding to the Volunteer Centre annually to support it in 

helping to reduce poverty in the borough and improving employment opportunities and 

service delivery for groups with additional needs.  For the Volunteer Centre this means 

increasing the number of long-term volunteers and the number of volunteering 

opportunities, particularly targeting BAME groups and deprived neighbourhoods.  

In 2015/16 the Centre created 408 volunteering opportunities.  It also provided training for 

175 individuals on employability, first aid and health and safety, but fell short of its target 

of users matched with local volunteering opportunities (256 out of 637).  The Centre does 

not track the progress of referrals.  It is therefore difficult to assess the overall 

effectiveness of the Volunteer Centre and unclear whether the model is suitably fulfilling 

the needs of the borough.  It is also part of a fuzzy network of accountability and third 

sector strategic leadership, along with Sobus and the Council.  

H&F Advice Forum 

The H&F Advice Forum began as a Big Lottery-funded project to create a single point of 

contact for advice services and facilitate collaboration within the local third sector.  The 

five original partner organisations were H&F Law Centre (the lead partner), H&F Mind, 

Page 284



                     

212 

 

H&F Citizens Advice Bureau, Action on Disability and Tendis.  It now has twenty-eight 

official partners drawn from local third sector organisations, and communicates with over 

forty charities, as well as representatives from the Council and DWP, that attend regular 

meetings and participate in staff training sessions facilitated by the Advice Forum.  

The Forum has been responsible for recruiting and training 60 volunteers able to 

disseminate information about welfare reform, reaching over 3,000 people in the 

community; and providing 24 training courses to 249 staff and volunteers from community 

and advice organisations.  A single telephone number for advice has also been 

established, staffed by trained volunteers, who have resolved nearly three quarters of 

problems at the first point of contact.  

Organisations associated with the Advice Forum helped over 3,100 people to resolve 

over 5,600 problems in 2015/16, across all areas of social welfare law, with the advice 

benefitting over 7,000 people in the borough. Moreover, 89% of people were satisfied 

with the advice received, and felt confident enough to deal with problems they faced.   

Data sharing agreements have allowed the Advice Forum to keep track of its client 

demographics: 31% of clients have a disability (compared to 13% in H&F); 74% of clients 

come from Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic backgrounds (compared to 55% in H&F); and 

disproportionately more people aged between 45-64 seek advice, whilst those aged 20-

34 are under-represented. 

The Forum is also preparing an Advice Strategy for the borough, which will focus on 

identifying the needs of those experiencing poverty in the borough, mapping out what 

services are available, and assessing whether the funding is adequately allocated to 

address the most pressing needs.  A borough-wide referral system, including the Council, 

will also be recommended.  

The private sector 

Living Wage employers 

The London Living Wage is calculated by the Resolution Foundation, overseen by the 

Living Wage Foundation, and defined as the level at which someone living in London can 

afford the essentials to live.  It is up to individual businesses to determine whether they 

want to pay the living wage, and there are currently eleven Living Wage employers in 

H&F, including the Council itself.  The London Living Wage is £9.75 an hour as at 

November 2016. 

Pernicious businesses 

Conversely, a number of business sectors can have a negative impact on people living in 

poverty. 

Betting shops 

Page 285



                     

213 

 

Gambling addiction can have a hugely detrimental effect on people’s lives, diverting 

resources away from essentials like food and rent, as well as having implications for 

employment, quality of life, family relationships and mental and physical health.  

Research has found that betting shops are concentrated in areas of highest deprivation, 

and that customers of betting shops are more likely to be poor, unemployed and from 

minority ethnic backgrounds.  For every percentage point increase in unemployment in an 

area, there is a 20% increase in the number of betting shops.  The fixed-odds-betting-

terminals (FOBTs) used in betting shops allow users to bet up to £100 every twenty 

seconds and are highly addictive.  In 2013, the poorest 25% of the population spent £13 

billion on FOBTs.  In H&F there are 63 licensed betting shops.  

Payday loan companies 

Payday loan companies, often situated close to betting shops on high streets, can 

exacerbate poverty by offering short-term loans at extremely high rates of interest.  

According to research from the charity Christians Against Poverty, four-fifths of users 

spent the money on food, half used them to pay gas and electricity bills, and a third had 

borrowed to meet rent or mortgage costs.  The high interest rates mean debts can quickly 

snowball, trapping borrowers in spirals of debt.  Companies also use targeted marketing 

strategies based on in-depth knowledge of their customers to offer deals that entice 

people back to using their services, and are part of the landscape of services that 

contribute to the poverty premium (see below).  

Equity release companies 

Companies offering equity release on people’s homes are increasingly targeting cash-

poor-asset-rich older people, who are reluctant to downsize and move out of their homes.  

Older people are often unaware of other services or benefits that may be available to 

them, particularly if they have never had to rely on the welfare system before, and may 

feel that these companies are the only way to stay in their homes.  This can result in the 

home ultimately ending up being owned by equity release companies once the owner has 

passed away, or the family having to pay substantial interest on any lifetime mortgage 

payment that has been taken out.  

Poverty Premium 

The term “poverty premium” describes the additional costs of basic goods and services 

for people on low incomes.  Save the Children calculated the premium as amounting to 

£1,280 in 2012, and a 2014 study by Toynbee Hall calculated a premium of £1,080 for the 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets. 

The main areas in which the poverty premium has an effect are borrowing, access to 

cash, fuel, insurance and food. Borrowing is an issue because those on low incomes, or 

not in employment, are generally deemed higher lending risks and so only get access to 

Page 286



                     

214 

 

more expensive credit. Free cash machines are concentrated in higher income areas, 

meaning those in poorer neighbourhoods are more likely to have to pay to withdraw cash. 

The lack of a bank account also means paying to cash a cheque. Fuel incurs a poverty 

premium because discounts on direct debits are unsuitable for people with unsteady or 

unreliable incomes, who often use more expensive prepayment meters. The cost of 

insurance in lower income areas is higher due to the increased risk of a claim; often 

poorer people simply won’t have insurance which means when an incident does occur it 

hits them even harder. Food is also more expensive for poorer people who are likely to 

live further away from large supermarkets where produce is cheaper.  

Two important aspects of how people are affected by the poverty premium are a person’s 

financial capability and their degree of social isolation. Financial capability refers to their 

ability to navigate the often complex range of options on offer to them in order to get the 

best financial deal. This might relate to an understanding of the benefits system and what 

services they are entitled to, a knowledge of what is on offer in the third sector, or simply 

the awareness and drive to shop around and find the best deals. Social isolation 

exacerbates the effects of the poverty premium because isolated people cannot depend 

on the altruism of friends and family during times of need, and are less likely to hear 

about information through their social network that might boost their financial capability.  

However, high levels of financial capability and social connectedness are generally not 

enough to escape the poverty premium entirely, and often will simply mitigate the 

damage. Ultimately, it is the providers of these goods and services who have the most 

significant role in causing the poverty premium. Some local authorities, including H&F, 

have made efforts to alleviate the poverty premium by participating in a collective 

switching scheme (Big London Energy Switch), which allows energy users to collectively 

bargain for cheaper prices.  The Council is also formulating a housing energy strategy 

that will further address some of these issues.  

Informal Networks 

Personal attributes 

The personal attributes of individuals can determine their ability to build strong social 

networks, and whether or not they proactively take advantage of the opportunities 

available through their network. Limits on time and resources also have an impact; 

working long hours or not having the money to socialise inhibits people’s ability to build 

strong networks. 

Family and friends 

Networks consisting of strong ties between family and close friends help people in 

poverty in a number of ways. They provide emotional, financial and practical support and 

act as a conduit for useful information about how to save money and get the most out of 

services on offer, mitigating the effects of the poverty premium. Despite some of the 

Page 287



                     

215 

 

potentially limiting aspects of social networks mentioned below, strong social ties are 

hugely important in helping people to cope in conditions of poverty.  

However, close ties can also lead to dynamics which prevent people from economic 

advancement. Friendship groups can lead to social pressures against taking the kinds of 

steps that help people escape from poverty. A commitment to helping out families in 

various capacities, such as working (often for free) for the family business, or acting as a 

translator for family members, can hold people back from educational attainment and 

advancement in another position.  

For members of some ethnic minority communities, the expectation to send remittances 

to family members in their country of origin can be a significant drain on resources.  

Cultural expectations can also hold women back from entering the workplace and 

establishing social networks of their own.  

 

Broader social networks  

Broader networks of casual acquaintances and friends of friends can be the most 

valuable in terms of employment opportunities and economic advancement. Social media 

has increased the breadth of these extended social networks and can lead to certain 

sectors being dominated by people from the same social network.  

Ethnic differences 

A perception that some ethnic minority communities value strong communal bonds while 

others tends towards individualistic relationships is an oversimplification, although there is 

a variation of communal and individualistic attitudes towards societal bonds both within 

and between different ethnicities.  

One of the more notable differences between ethnic groups is in relation to money 

lending. White British communities are more likely to lend money informally between 

close friends and family or use commercial lending services such as credit cards or pay-

day loans. Minority ethnic groups can be more inclined to pool resources on a semi-

formalised basis, often along kinship, village or regional ties, in order to support family 

members in need or to provide capital for housing or business ventures.  

Class-based networks 

Social networks can also be exclusionary in the sense that they concentrate knowledge 

and opportunities among certain sections of society. Networks generally involve people 

from similar backgrounds, and tend not to offer opportunities for upwards social mobility.  

For example, whilst an extended network of acquaintances is helpful for employment 

opportunities, for working class communities these opportunities are more likely to be 

low-wage jobs with less chance of career advancement. This dynamic is also evident 

Page 288



                     

216 

 

within ethnic minority communities, where ties are also formed on the basis of 

professional status. Those with professional jobs tend to mix with each other, which 

concentrates the knowledge and expertise within that group, and exacerbates differences 

between those in lower wage employment.  

Page 289



                     

217 

 

  

Page 290



                     

218 

 

 6. Recommendations 

In the early days of the Commission’s work we considered the role that improving the 

local economy has on addressing poverty and worklessness.  We identified 

partnership working between the Council and local businesses as key, and the 

Commission acted as a catalyst in bringing Imperial College fully into dialogue with 

the Council.  However, the Business Commission was set up in the course of our 

work so recommendations on strengthening the local economy will come from it 

instead. 

In Chapter 4 we identified six broad approaches to address poverty and 

worklessness in H&F.  Our recommended programmes are grouped under these 

approaches.  In practice, of course, some recommendations span two or more 

approaches.  Measures of success have not been defined for all recommendations 

because some recommendations require a broader approach to delivery.  There is a 

danger that defining measures at this stage could focus attention on what can be 

measured at the expense of what actually needs to be done. 

Create strong communities 

Research has demonstrated that getting, sustaining and progressing in work is a 

large part of the answer to poverty for much of the working age population.  But 

many workless residents are not close to being job ready, so we need to start with 

where residents actually are in emotional and practical terms rather than where we 

would like them to be.  This means starting with communities where wellbeing and 

mental health could be better and where social isolation is a key factor.  

Recommendations 1 and 2 are concerned with building social capital, improving 

wellbeing, and supporting people to use the services which will help them.   

Recommendation 1: Develop community hubs to deliver resident-led change 

and holistic support 

Community hubs constitute clusters or networked clusters of the services and 

organisations in a community locality that its residents want.  Residents should be 

fully involved in their design.  They can provide services in a holistic fashion, 

maximise resources from the voluntary and charitable sector and the Council, 

generate income for the community, improve the quality of life for residents and 

increase social cohesion.  Community hubs can offer help with: 

 gaining and staying in employment. 

 accessing education, training and development opportunities. 

 improving financial capability and resilience. 

 developing self-confidence and aspiration. 

 supporting health, wellbeing and relationship building. 

 maximising income. 

Page 291



                     

219 

 

Given the particular issues of worklessness and poverty outlined in this report, the 

H&F vision for community hubs could be as “life centres” where people can grow in 

confidence, personal development and skills, enabling some to progress to a 

pathway to work.  Community hubs can be sited in areas of highest need in H&F as 

a way of targeting resources. 

A linked issue is un- and under-utilised buildings on Council estates.  We endorse 

any exploration currently underway involving tenants and community centres.  We 

have not been able to investigate this fully but recommend that this review is 

pursued vigorously.  One option to explore is transferring some buildings to a 

charitable trust for the use of local voluntary and community organisations as part of 

securing sustainable services at the Community Hubs, and also exploring “air rights” 

to generate income and provide additional housing, as recommended in the 

Council’s Third Sector Review in 2016. 

In the interests of sustainability, we recommend that consideration is given to 

working through a social enterprise model, such as the Urban Partnership Group has 

already set up in H&F.  The Council should provide support to community 

organisations such as these to become community hubs, allowing the Council to 

more of an ‘enabler’ than a ‘doer’.  The third sector can identify and harness 

additional, independent funding streams against a background of likely reductions in 

public funding in future.  There are already various nuclei of hubs in H&F and we 

recommend building on these.  Each hub will be different depending on the 

population served and existing infrastructure.  

The Community Champions initiative funded by Public Health already recognises the 

need for local preventative action undertaken by residents themselves working with 

other residents, and forms a potential building block for community hubs.  CCGs and 

Public Health should have an interest in funding community hubs, since there is a 

strong link between poor health and poverty and worklessness, and therefore the 

holistic approach is strengthened.  Health funding would often be more efficiently 

spent on a broadly preventative service which will lead to reduced health costs in 

terms of visits to GPs and hospitals. 

The face to face service should also be the gateway to introducing residents to a simple 
portal, which we recommend should be developed to link people to existing local support 
services showing them how to increase their income, gain access to low cost credit, find 
out about debt and advice services and so on.  Equally, the portal can help identify those 
who need more support and direct them to volunteers.  Perhaps this could be done by 
reusing the research and structure behind the People First website, so the Council does 
not have to reinvent the wheel. 

The Solent Jobs Pilot in Southampton is an intensive programme for people who are 
long-term unemployed and/or have a health condition, which could be piloted locally. 
Participants receive support from a Case Support Worker and enter a Transitional 
Employment Programme, including a paid work placement. The project involves 
proactive partnership engagement with employers and the private sector, and initial 

Page 292



                     

220 

 

evidence indicates this approach is effective for the long-term unemployed, in particular 
when working with smaller employers.  

Recommendation 2: Transform the borough’s volunteer offer 

Volunteering brings huge benefits for volunteers and their clients in terms of health 

and social cohesion.  It helps people on pathways to work and represents 

meaningful work for those whose circumstances prevent them from taking a paid job.  

Our study of the economic health of this sector in H&F demonstrates that the Council 

gets good value for the money it provides to volunteer organisations directly serving 

residents.  The width and breadth of this sector provides for choice for residents and 

competition between the organisations drives better performance.   

The local population contains untapped potential for volunteers in terms of skills and 

time.  Two target groups would be retired and workless residents.  These and other 

potential volunteers need an excellent website of local volunteer opportunities, which 

can be navigated readily according to potential volunteers’ requirements, rather than 

relying as we do currently on the national Do-It website.  They then may need face to 

face help, perhaps delivered via a community hub, to link them with the right 

volunteering opportunity. 

However: 

 The borough needs more volunteer roles. These are needed in areas to address 

the social determinants of mental health with services such as befriending, 

floating support or crisis mentoring.  Equally, volunteers could be used to build up 

capacity for existing services like social prescription.  More local volunteers are 

also required to undertake advocacy and navigational services, and there is a 

shortage of high quality trustees on boards of volunteering organisations. We 

envisage some volunteer roles could be based in community hubs. 

 Volunteers should be consistently recognised and rewarded by a Time Bank 

scheme to signal that H&F really values their contribution. 

 Strategic oversight requires the ability to track the number of volunteers placed, 

the time they spend volunteering and on what they are doing, information that is 

currently absent and will be necessary to measure the success of the 

Commission's recommendations.  This data would be a by-product of a Time 

Bank scheme. 

 All organisations using volunteers require a more systematic process for 
managing and developing volunteer opportunities.  There are some models of 
good practice in H&F.  There also need to be ways to bring the sector together on 
cross-cutting issues.  This is happening with the current work on a borough-wide 
Advice Strategy but this needs to be done more widely and systematically. 

 Local buddying, mentoring and peer-to-peer support schemes could be deployed 

to transition people back to sustainable employment. 

However, implementation would be problematic under current arrangements.  No 

one body is responsible for strategic oversight and leadership for volunteering but it 

Page 293



                     

221 

 

is instead spread between the Council, the Volunteer Centre and Sobus, with no 

clear delineation of function and responsibility between them.  This means that 

things can fall between the gaps and Council funding is potentially spent twice or 

three times over.    

We recommend that the Council should direct some of the funding going to this co-

ordination level over the next funding cycle as "development funding" in order to 

produce a timeline and template for one overall charitable and voluntary sector 

intermediary organisation.  This could be a merger of the functions from all three 

organisations or an entirely new body.  This should include a draft constitution, 

articles of association and trust deeds.  If the new organisation were to be a newly 

set up as a social enterprise, it would have the same fund-raising advantages as 

outlined under Recommendation 1. 

 Measure of success: 1 million hours of volunteering by 2021. 

Increase income and reduce costs in the short-term so poverty does not 

become entrenched 

Healthier personal finances directly address poverty.  Better money management 

can improve the incentive to work and can start a virtuous circle in the lives of those 

struggling with money problems.  Changes to the welfare system alone require better 

money management skills, with the monthly payments and a need for online access 

and competence that Universal Credit brings under claimants’ direct responsibility.  

There are some solutions and mitigations available but their presence is not widely 

known. 

Recommendation 3: Work with borough experts to reduce the cost of living 

and improve personal money management 

There are excellent local repositories of financial advice in H&F including expertise 

on reducing the poverty premium, avoiding debt, budgeting, buying goods and 

services economically, avoiding exploitative companies, obtaining credit on 

reasonable terms and maximising grants and benefits.  The bodies should be 

involved in training and supporting volunteers in community hubs so that there are 

people in the community who can offer practical advice in this field and are 

knowledgeable about the different sources of information.   This would provide a 

financial health check for all who wanted one, and would also provide excellent skills 

and knowledge for volunteers on the pathway to work.  

As well as reducing costs, people could be supported to undertake local co-operative 

schemes on, for example, shared childcare or ways of raising money, on the path to 

self-employment.   Many people may be able to increase their income significantly by 

use of the Government’s Rent a Room scheme.  This is an optional scheme open to 

owner-occupiers or tenants, including social tenants, who let out furnished 

accommodation to a lodger in their main home.  It allows them to earn up to £7,500 a 

Page 294



                     

222 

 

year tax-free, not affecting most welfare benefits.  The level of rent would be good 

value for lodgers in many cases. Greater use of the government’s Rent a Room 

scheme could turn the problem of H&F’s high land values into a solution for: low 

incomes; under-occupied housing; the scarcity of affordable rented accommodation; 

lack of diversity on estates; and social isolation.  Lack of awareness of the scheme, 

limited understanding of what steps are necessary for the scheme to work, how to 

advertise vacancies using existing websites and reassurance for both parties could 

be addressed by setting up an information and advice service.   

Finally, the Council should lead by example, promoting the London Living Wage 

through its planning and procurement activities and spending powers.  The 

Commission would like to see an aim that by 2020 H&F will be a social value-based 

commissioning borough that is known for working with developers and service 

providers who understand the social impact they can make by paying the London 

Living Wage, employing local unemployed people and engaging with and giving back 

to the community. 

 Measures of success: increasing benefit take up; debt reduction; numbers of 

London Living Wage businesses. 

Improve life chances longer term to break the cycle of poverty 

Recommendations 1 and 2 are about improving residents’ confidence, wellbeing and 

practical circumstances so that, if currently workless, they begin to want work or to 

stay in work despite obstacles.  Recommendation 4 is about turning those wishes 

into reality and requires a borough-wide brokering agency to co-design programmes 

with employers, based on a “place then train” model which are twice as effective 

“train then place models”.   

So Recommendations 1, 2 and 4 share the same concept as the two-part current 

“Work Matters” initiative.  However, we do not think that the execution of this idea 

has met expectations, as to either of its component parts: 

 One Place, whose aim is to provide holistic support service to build confidence 

and skills to the point at which clients can be passed on to services such as Work 

Zone.  One Place locates staff at Hammersmith or Shepherds Bush Jobcentre 

Plus, but our research found that many people did not trust statutory services.  

Instead of expanding this concept to other Council-owned buildings (a proposal 

currently being considered under Smarter Budgeting), we think that 

Recommendation 1 should be implemented instead (community hubs in the most 

deprived areas).  

 Work Zone is a recruitment service focusing on employment skills and finding 

work.  However, its focus does not appear to be on getting H&F residents into 

work.  Out of 397 people helped into work between April and October 2016, only 

112 were H&F residents. 

Recommendation 4: Employment support 

Page 295



                     

223 

 

The Commission recommends an independent agency to take a strategic view of 

local jobs and workforce development.  It would be formed as a result of a number of 

key partners coming together: employers, local government, housing associations 

and community groups.  This would involve the organisations who know the clients, 

organisations who know the jobs and the political support of the Council.  The 

agency should be grown starting with the north part of H&F where deprivation is 

highest and where opportunities are high. It will need to go through a path of 

development and will require patient work to build-up, starting with small numbers 

and gradually expanding as we establish proof of concept, and build on good 

practice already in the borough.  

This agency would replace Work Zone.  The focus would be on: flexible working; in-

work progression; recognising overseas qualifications and sourcing English as a 

second language education; mental health and disability training to keep people in 

jobs rather than incurring a time-out penalty; tailored support for people with mental 

and physical disabilities, particularly around retaining them in work, as they are out of 

work for twice as long once they become unemployed.  The perception that 

employing disabled people involves extra cost should be challenged.  

The priority at the beginning should be about engaging large employers who have 

the capacity to help to get this off the ground – the likes of Imperial, Westfield, BBC 

etc., together with community-based organisations who know the clients / customers 

that can be referred.  The apprenticeship levy that will affect all organisations with a 

payroll of more than £3m is being rolled out and could provide an impetus in this 

area.  

Apprenticeships often fail to develop and advance new skills in participants 

especially at Level One.  Employers label/classify standard on-the-job training as 

“apprenticeships” without adding anything new.  The most vulnerable group – and 

the group we fail to support in the UK (we perform badly in comparison with other 

European countries) – is people who lack basic literacy and numeracy skills.  This is 

a major cause of poverty and worklessness.  There is a great opportunity to set up 

intergenerational learning with older people in H&F encouraging younger people to 

develop – simply put, to get better at reading, writing and basic numeracy.  

Residents could be prioritised for recruitment, particularly in retail, construction, 

health and social care – the sectors interviewees claimed to be skilled in. 

A priority should be adapting and implementing the Business in the Community/PHE 

Mental Health Toolkit for Employers, which contains an eight-step guide to engaging 

employers with mental health, including positive culture; support and training; 

managing mental health; and providing the right support.  It also includes the 

‘business case’ for employers to take mental health seriously with analysis on the 

impact to the wider economy in terms of sickness absence, and the ‘health cost’ to 

the individual – only one third of employees received any support to manage 

workplace stress associated with the stigma around disclosure.  

Page 296



                     

224 

 

More personal and tailored advice and support is needed from services and support 

agencies (particularly from Jobcentre Plus), not just referring people to online 

generic information, which runs the risk of digital exclusion. 

Ongoing transitional support is needed for residents entering employment, 

particularly after a long-term period of unemployment. This should include a skills 

refreshing, and support with issues which may emerge (such as time-off being 

needed for medical appointments). This could be delivered through Workplace 

Health Champions. 

The potential of those aged 50 and over in the workplace should be continually 

developed. This should include the removal of barriers to remaining in work, enabling 

workers to adapt to new technologies, and a focus on continuing learning, training 

and professional development. 

Interviews with local people showed that many are living in/on the edge of poverty 

despite working for most of their adult life. A considerable systemic challenge is the 

perception for some that ‘work doesn’t pay’ (due to having to pay increased childcare 

costs or losing reductions in supplemented Council Tax payments for instance). 

There are significant logistical childcare and financial challenges for those caring for 

young children (and older relatives), particularly when a child has an additional need.  

This tends to weight most heavily on women.  

The promotion and uptake of the universal 15 hours Free Early Learning Entitlement 

for 3-4 year olds, and for 2 year olds (with employment criteria) should be reviewed. 

Support agencies should proactively promote awareness of the recently introduced 

additional 15 hours entitlement for 3-4 year olds. It is possible that there could be 

cultural barriers amongst certain BAME groups in the Borough which may limit their 

uptake of this entitlement. to review the support and information available around the 

financial aspects of working and entitlements to working benefits including working 

tax credit and child tax credit. 

Training courses (such as Maths, English and IT) should be free of charge or 

discounted for all residents on benefits.  

There is a need for early education and awareness raising about effective financial 

management and affordable borrowing. 

 Measures of success: Reduction in numbers claiming ESA and other out-of-work 

benefits; increase in number of residents in employment; reduction in number of 

workless households. 

The virtually unbridgeable chasm between social rents, on the one hand, and market 

rents and purchase prices, on the other, is a key structural barrier preventing 

residents affected by poverty and worklessness from realising the aspirations they 

Page 297



                     

225 

 

have voiced in the research interviews.  It is arguably the most intractable issue the 

Commission encountered.   

Moreover, while benefiting residents in the immediate present, social rents at 25% of 

market rents in an area of high land values create a large disincentive to moving on 

from social housing, as reflected in the low movement figures.   This lack of 

movement prevents the poorest (the homeless and those in temporary 

accommodation) from moving into permanent housing.  There needs to be a greater 

variety of housing tenures for those in social housing who are improving their work 

chances and wish to improve their housing chances in step with their aspirations, 

while remaining in their communities.  This is easier said than done.    However, in 

general terms it is important to move towards increasing housing tenure options. 

Recommendation 5: Increased housing tenure options 

To this end, we recommend that the Council is an early adopter of the 

Supplementary Planning Guidance from the Mayor of London.  This will promote 

higher levels of affordable housing in three tenures: social rent; London living rent 

and shared ownership.  The Council should aim to achieve the long term goal of 

50% affordable housing in new developments at the earliest possible date.  The 

Council’s ambition to build 600 more genuinely affordable homes by May 2018 is 

welcome and there will need to be a significant amount of work undertaken on how 

to achieve this step-change in the Borough’s affordable housing provision.  

The Council should promote the shared ownership tenure, in particular to retain 

people who have grown up in the borough and also to students who have lived here 

while studying, as both groups are great assets for the future.  This would mean that 

people on around 35% of median incomes in a particular ward could have some of 

their rent going towards a stake in the property they live in, giving them the 

opportunity for shared ownership.  There are various ways of achieving this, which 

require detailed investigation. 

 Measures of success: numbers in part-owned/part-rented affordable homes; 

numbers of homeless; numbers in temporary accommodation. 

Recommendation 6: community-led estate improvement 

Given significant concentrations of poverty on the large Council estates in H&F, 

these physical environments are important, as the Council recognises.  It is an area 

where badly conceived and executed approaches can mar the chances for change, 

so a careful approach is required.  As the H&F Residents’ Commission on Council 

Housing stressed, the key is for changes to be resident-led. 

This could be done gradually starting with devolution of repairs and maintenance 

budgets to communities.   Our research with residents indicated widespread 

frustration with their dependency on the contracted-out service to provide repairs and 

maintenance, and we understand this is reflected in Councillors’ case work.  Piloting 

Page 298



                     

226 

 

an approach which could put solutions in the hands of tenants, such as delegated 

repair budgets to estates, would be an excellent way of testing whether residents 

can have more control and develop their skills and proactivity into the bargain.  It is 

not, however, clear whether the current contract with Mitie allows any scope for this, 

although we think there must be a way of testing this approach on a small scale.  

Key to any such pilot would be the involvement of tenants to participate fully in 

solutions.    

Following on from that we recommend that the Council, leading a full suite of local 

registered providers and other partners, conducts a full feasibility study of the options 

for resident-led estate regeneration in the borough by the end of 2017, with an 

explicit aim of redefining what the term “regeneration” has come to mean.  The 

principle that the assets – the tenancies on high land values – are those of residents 

and it for them to have a large say in how value could be unlocked for their benefit.  

We also recommend that the Council pilots one or more approaches to tenant 

involvement in estate services and management as contractual arrangements allow. 

Recommendation 7: supported tenancies 

Simply providing Council housing for people with complex problems is not sufficient 

to address the underlying causes that may have led to the need for Council housing 

in the first place.  Local Housing Associations have led the way in supported housing 

models tailored to individual tenants’ needs, such as provision for apprenticeships 

and mentoring alongside housing provision.  The Council should also adopt 

supported housing for certain tenants in need who could then be linked by a key 

worker or volunteer to services they need while providing emotional support. This 

would enable the Council to move away from a simple age-based criterion of need. 

This thinking is in line with recommendations from the H&F Residents’ Commission 

on Council Housing.  If a much greater choice of affordable housing became 

available through Recommendation 5, this could pave the way for time-limited 

tenancies, tailored to individuals and allowing enough time and support to enable the 

resident to work on a plan to reach their own aspirations.    

Adopt preventative measures to reduce the risks of poverty occurring in the 

first place 

Clearly, several of the recommendations would have a preventative effect.  The 

additional recommendation here is for the Council to use available data more 

proactively to spot early patterns which correlate with the risk of crises 

(homelessness, children going into care, addiction), and to develop programmes to 

intervene with support to address the fundamental causes of potential crises. 

Recommendation 8: Develop more preventative services  

The Council’s Smarter Budgeting financial planning initiative has identified the 

proposal for a floating support service led by the Housing and Regeneration 

Department.  This will enable it to fulfil its new statutory duty (being introduced in 

Page 299



                     

227 

 

2017) to prevent homelessness and will require an expanded housing advice service 

and an action plan for individual residents to whom the Council has this duty.  The 

floating support service will use predictive data, such as rent payment patterns, to 

identify households at risk of losing their home.  It will take an integrated approach, 

enabling a right first time approach to accessing services.  The project could pave 

the way for the Council using and providing data to predict and prevent other crises 

associated with poverty and worklessness, such as children going into care. 

Use of non-traditional service models such as Local Area Coordination and Social 

Prescribing schemes to help break the cycle for residents, especially those who are 

longer-term unemployed and/or have mental health and wellbeing issues. This is 

particularly vital given the inter-generational impacts of poor mental health and 

wellbeing. 

Local employers need support to adopt a longer-term view on the skills and 

capabilities of their workforce, in light of an increasing ageing workforce, and to be 

focused on keeping people in work rather than reactively taking action only with they 

lose staff. 

Council to lead multi agency approach  

The Council needs to set a stronger, simpler strategic direction in the area of poverty 

and worklessness.  In undertaking the work of this Commission, it has been very 

difficult to pull together the whole picture across the Council and the eco-system of 

delivery organisations.  Knowledge and governance are fragmented and not always 

harnessed by a clear set of strategic priorities for addressing poverty and 

worklessness, or measures of success and monitoring procedures.  There are many 

strategies but it is not clear which are overarching, how prioritisation takes place or 

what the accountability mechanism is for making things happen.   

Setting priorities implies not doing some things or stopping, or not funding, activities 

already under way.  This report has made several suggestions in this regard.  To 

further illustrate the point, we do not have a dedicated recommendation for children, 

because we have been driven by a disciplined set of priorities thrown up by an 

analysis of the data.  However, children are affected by parental unemployment, 

poor housing conditions and the high concentrations of worklessness and poverty in 

parts of H&F, all of which we have prioritised.    

Recommendation 9: Council to take strategic lead in implementing this 

Poverty and Worklessness Strategy across all local sectors 

The Commission recommends that this programme of 10 broad recommendations 

should be led and monitored at the centre of the Council.  This requires all the usual 

structures of programme management. There should be a designated Senior 

Responsible Owner, perhaps based in the Delivery and Value Department, which 

should have programme management functions, including the capacity to bring 

Page 300



                     

228 

 

activity together; communicate across and outside the Council; involve residents; 

identify and progress cross-cutting issues; and monitoring and evaluation for the 

programme as a whole. The Commission has involved work by officials to a greater 

extent than first thought and the work of the Policy and Strategy team has started the 

momentum for the programme itself.  We recommend that members of this team 

could be considered for the nucleus of some implementation projects, including 

consideration being given to secondments to work with the community on 

employment support (Recommendation 4) and the community hubs pilot 

(Recommendation 1). 

The first step would be to communicate the rich findings of the full report to as many 

relevant players as possible with the aiming of aligning efforts across the borough.     

Rigorous monitoring and evaluation should be prioritised in accordance with the 

recommendations to assess whether they are effective and sustainable.  This 

programme should be carried out using new ways of working with residents so that 

the Council is enabling them to create the solutions they have identified. 

Up-to-date labour market information is needed at a local level to forecast demand 

and plan associated interventions effectively. Questions remain as to whether the 

types of employers with employment opportunities available locally in H&F (which 

appear to be lower-entry and lower-skill level) are going to be amenable to / 

interested in the sort of innovative, partnership interventions which may help develop 

more sustainable employment opportunities for local residents. The qualitative 

findings indicate that many local jobs are lower skill for lower pay and are based on 

more short-term, insecure contracts. Instead, it may be more productive to build links 

with local public sector employers and Third Sector organisations who may be more 

receptive to partnership approaches to support those in / on the edge of 

worklessness (and poverty). 

The link between worklessness and its links to poor physical and mental health need 

to play a more prominent role within local commissioning decisions and in clinical 

practice within local health services.  Commissioning should be done in partnership 

with private and public sector employers, the NHS and third sector.  Employment-

related outcomes should be considered as a KPI in local commissioning 

arrangements and in developing shared outcomes frameworks across local partners.  

Interventions should be embedded within the developing NHS North West London 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan, and the wider local prevention agenda 

The Making Every Contact Count initiative for frontline local service and support 

organisation staff could be implemented to share findings from any future 

interventions and the resulting service improvements.  

The provision of information in a range of written and spoken community languages 

needs to be reviewed; migrant communities may not understand the Westernised 

concept of how public services are delivered. 

Page 301



                     

229 

 

Devolved powers at all levels 

Recommendation 10: Council to lead on discussion of a package of policy 

enablers  

In order to take power for solving problems the Council should seek budget 

devolution in a number of areas.  For example, we do not believe that residents gain 

significant value from the Jobcentre Plus and Work Programme operations of DWP, 

in view of the poor Work Programme outcomes for key groups such as those with 

mental health problems and negative feedback from residents.  Devolving money 

from the day to day Jobcentre Plus operations to the group we propose setting up 

with employers (Recommendation 4) would mean that decisions are made nearer to 

the people who are affected. 

There are also several regulatory areas where we should seek Whitehall consent to 

vary.  Two examples of this are: 

 Increasing the use of the Rent a Room scheme (Recommendation 3) is made 

easier, as most means-tested benefits do not count rent from lodgers as income.  

However, there is an interaction with Housing Benefit, from which we should seek 

a derogation from Central Government on a pilot basis.  If successful, this could 

enable Government to encourage a wider use of the scheme, or even relaunch it, 

as part of a broader package of measures to address housing shortages. 

 Housing Benefit entitlement changes when claimants’ children turn 18 and are no 

longer classified as dependants.  Many families are unaware of this and it is a 

common cause of rent arrears.  Tension is caused if the “child” can’t contribute 

financially and some families are obliged to turn them out. This cannot have been 

the intended effect in a time of housing shortages. Piloting a change which 

recognises that children may need to stay at home for longer nowadays, for 

example to take a low paid job to get experience, or undertake training for a more 

sophisticated jobs market, would reflect today’s reality and also ease housing 

shortages. 

Based on the findings from the Troubled Families programme review, it could be 

more effective for central government to give local authorities freedoms and 

flexibilities around how to spend that budget in order to have real, responsive impact.  

Knowledge is also critical in effective delivery.  Having a consistent, national 

approach to information-sharing with central government departments provides a 

significantly greater chance of improving outcomes for our residents, businesses and 

visitors if we feel empowered and encouraged to share data to tackle shared, 

complex problems. 

For residents, the Council should build on its approach to involving residents in 
policy and decision making and should consider, in the case of Council tenants, 
devolving public sector budgets to give people more control over their homes and 
their immediate environment.  More control correlates positively with wellbeing and 
will also develop transferable skills e.g. financial management. An early candidate for 

Page 302



                     

230 

 

devolving a budget to an estate would be the repairs and maintenance budget at a 
suitable breakpoint in any contracted-out arrangement. 

Finally 

We confine ourselves to ten far-reaching recommendations, preferring high quality 

early delivery of a smaller number of significant projects over a larger number of 

recommendations whose effect could be diluted if delivery capacity and resources 

were stretched more thinly.   

Page 303



                     

231 

 

  

Page 304



                     

232 

 

 7. Best practice  

Examples of best practice have been gathered as part of the evidence review 
focussing on the data priorities for H&F, and for cross-cutting issues that emerged 
during the course of the Commission’s work.  

These examples could help to inform commissioning and a future strategy to tackle 
poverty and worklessness in the borough. 

7a. Business survival and the economic base 

Council support (direct or indirect) of flexible and increased working space is a policy 
pattern found across H&F’s closest competitors; Wandsworth, Guildford, Richmond 
and Kensington and Chelsea; which, in descending order, have the most similar 
industrial structure to H&F. (The Krugman Index of Specialisation, 2012) 

Co-working space joint-funded by the GLA 

In 2016 Richmond Council and Richmond Adult Community College, together with a 
joint funding bid from the Mayor of London, created a new co-working space in 
Richmond town centre, to ameliorate the loss of office in the borough. The £663,000 
project, which will open in April 2017, will see the college’s building converted into a 
flexible open plan space, fixed desk space and meeting areas alongside an artist 
studio space. 

Wandsworth Enterprise Week 

The forthcoming Nine Elms development drives Wandsworth’s business 
regeneration but the Council also does more traditional business support activities, 
for instance with an Enterprise Week that has an established programme and well-
known sponsors.  

Free wi-fi for businesses 

Wandsworth Council aims to roll out of free wi-fi to five business areas and actively 
promote Nine Elms area as first choice for international company headquarters, as 
well as develop and implement an inward investment strategy.  

Small loans and business support for SMEs 

Specific support for SMEs includes the Wandsworth Business Loan Fund, which 
offers unsecured loans of up to £70k to develop and grow eligible businesses with 
under 100 employees.  Redevelopment also means the Council has introduced 
“Building for Growth”, a business support programme for small and medium sized 
construction companies. 

Form a strong partnership with Imperial College 

Guildford Council was instrumental in establishing Surrey Research Park in 1985; 
the park, which has a strong focus on ICT and space, also works with the University 
of Surrey on a number of joint ventures.  With the impending arrival of Imperial 
College’s research hub and its plans for business incubators within the borough, 

Page 305



                     

233 

 

H&F’s plans to work closely with Imperial should in time have a similarly positive 
local impact. 

Flexible workspace provision 

Kensington and Chelsea Council has partnered with Sir Rod Aldridge in creating 
“Kensington Creates”, a flexible workspace off Kensington High Street.  On its 
website the Council usefully promotes both public and private spaces that can be 
used for a variety of purposes. 

7b. Training and skills 

Skills Academies  

This is employer-led, work-focused training leading to a work placement and 
guaranteed job interview. It is based on the Jobcentre Plus ‘Sector Based Work 
Academies’ model but is more widely available and focuses on the hardest to reach 
groups.  

A 2008 evaluation conducted by the Institute for Employment Studies (IES) and 
Ipsos MORI161 included qualitative research, evidence reviews, surveys and 
interviews. Skills academies were found to be genuinely employer-led, although 
needing more SMEs.  Providers found National Skills Academies beneficial for 
kudos, helping them to win contracts, networking, staff development training 
opportunities and new business leads.  

7c. Long-term unemployment/ 35+ cohort 

Individual Placement and Support (IPS)162 – a place then train model 

IPS gets people into competitive employment first with training and support on the 
job. It is more effective than the other main approach of getting people into work of 
'train then place', which involves training, development and sheltered work then 
placing the person in paid employment. 

There is now overwhelming international evidence that 'place then train' models are 
much more effective than traditional approaches such as vocational training and 
sheltered work in successfully getting people into work. 
 
Compared to other vocational and rehabilitation services in six European 
countries163: 
 

 IPS clients were twice as likely to gain employment (55% v. 28%) and worked for 
significantly longer. 

 The total costs were generally lower than standard services over first 6 months. 

                                                 

161
 Institute for Employment Studied and Ipsos Mori. 2008. Project Evaluation: National Skills Academies.  

162
 Centre for Mental Health. Individual Placement and Support.  

163
 Burns, T et al. 2008. Individual Placement and Support: the EQOLISE trial. PubMed.Gov.  

Page 306

https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/leisure-and-culture/culture/rehearsal-space
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32298/11-1069-evaluation-national-skills-academies.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32298/11-1069-evaluation-national-skills-academies.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support


                     

234 

 

 Clients who had worked for at least a month in the previous five years had better 
outcomes. 

 Individuals who gained employment had reduced hospitalisation rates. 
 
IPS’s effectiveness is correlated with adherence to these eight principles: 
 
1. It aims to get people into competitive employment. 
2. It is open to all those who want to work. 
3. It tries to find jobs consistent with people's preferences. 
4. It works quickly. 
5. It brings employment specialists into clinical teams. 
6. Employment specialists develop relationships with employers based upon a 

person's work preferences. 
7. It provides time unlimited, individualised support for the person and their 

employer. 
8. Benefits counselling is included. 

Working Well – support for long-term ESA claimants 

Working Well supports ESA claimants who did not enter work during two years on 
the Work Programme.  The Manchester pilot began in 2014 and will run until 2019, 
commissioned by the 10 Greater Manchester local authorities on a payment-by-
results basis, with sponsorship from the DWP. 

The voluntary programme is based on a fully integrated key worker model to address 
clients’ needs in a holistic way, work with them to identify their priorities (which may 
not be initially connected to work), and join up support with other public services. The 
programme is run by mental health professionals and uses the Individual Placement 
Support model.  

Although it is too early to determine long-term impact, an interim evaluation 
suggested a high degree of support for the approach among both clients and staff. 
Motivational interviewing, personalised goals set by participants, and intensive, 
unrushed one-to-one support from key workers are key to the programme’s 
perceived success to date including, crucially, actual jobs. 

Early impact assessments on employment outcomes show that clients’ expectations 
of finding work 7.5 percentage points higher in their most recent reviews compared 
to initial assessments.  

Under the Greater Manchester Devolution Deal, the Working Well pilot is set to 
expand from 5,000 ESA claimants to include another 15,000 people who are on out-
of-work benefits or in low-paid work. The expansion is due to start in early March 
2016 and will run until March 2020. 

This approach will now be used to support a much wider group of people including 
Jobseeker’s Allowance claimants, lone parents on income support and people in 
low-paid work receiving Universal Credit.  The expanded scheme will also implement 
the lessons that have been learned from the pilot. More one-to-one skills training and 
mental health support, including talking therapies, will now form part of bespoke 
support packages.   

Page 307



                     

235 

 

Jobs-Plus – co-location in social housing areas 

Jobs-Plus is an American model for disadvantaged communities, co-locating 
employment services in Jobcentre Plus in social housing areas, personal adviser 
support, building social capital, peer to peer learning, and temporary financial 
incentives for work, such as reduced rents164.  

In the three study sites that fully implemented and sustained the Jobs-Plus program 
(Dayton, Los Angeles, and St. Paul), Jobs-Plus markedly increased the earnings of 
residents relative to the comparison group. Cumulatively over the four years, the 
earnings gains totaled almost $4,600 per resident (averaged overall for all residents, 
including nonworkers), and nearly $6,000 per working resident. Although the 
evaluation did not include a full benefit-cost analysis, the overall government 
expenditure per person on Jobs-Plus for the 1998 research sample – the amount 
above the likely “normal” level of government expenditures made to encourage self-
sufficiency in the comparison developments – totalled roughly between $2,000-
$3,000 over four years. This includes the costs of the Jobs-Plus rent incentives. 
These estimates compare favourably with the per-resident boost in earnings seen in 
the well-implemented sites (especially considering that the gain in earnings had not 
diminished by the end of the follow-up period).  

Employers for Carers 

EFC offer a range of resources165 for employers to best support carers. A business 
case has been created to support flexible working that: 

 attracts and retains staff 
 reduces stress 
 reduces recruitment and training costs 
 increases resilience and productivity 
 reduces sick leave 
 improves service delivery 
 produces cost savings 
 improves people management 
 increases staff morale 

Organisations that have introduced flexible working and special leave arrangements 
for carers have judged them a success. Their message is that it makes business 
sense to care for carers. 

 

Newham Workplace –a jobs brokerage service 

Workplace is a one stop shop providing jobs brokerage between residents and 
employers across London, based at Newham Council in Stratford.  Workplace also 

                                                 

164
 MDRC. 2006. Jobs Plus: A Promising Startegy.  

165
 Employers for Carers. 2016. Research.  

Page 308

https://www.employersforcarers.org/
http://www.giveusachance.co.uk/news-articles/jobs-plus-can-a-pilot-project-in-the-usa-work-for-us/


                     

236 

 

offers training and guidance for start-up businesses; housing benefit and debt 
advice; supported employment (a team that supports candidates who may have a 
physical or learning disability) and a specialised young person’s team.    

Between its launch in 2007 and 2015, Workplace has166:  

 Filled 28,000 vacancies with Newham residents, and helped more than 900 
businesses fill their vacancies. 

 Supported 26,270 residents into jobs and 15,711 residents into training between 
2007 and March 2015. 

 Helped over one thousand employers.  

The annual costs of Workplace in 2014/15 were £6,404,756.  The average unit cost 
per job placement in 2014/15 was £1,420. The average cost for a similar service 
ranges from £2,600 to £13,000. 

Leeds Workplace has experienced similar success. The annual cost to Leeds 
Workplace of supporting someone with severe and enduring mental health issues 
into employment is £5,819, compared to the £13,700 cost to the Work Programme of 
supporting an ESA claimant167. In 2013, 93 people gained paid employment (21 per 
cent), 94 per cent of clients remained employed, 185 (48 per cent) were in training 
and 110 found volunteering places (28 per cent). 

Action West London – a local initiative 

This has consistently outperformed the Work Programme. It offers pre-entry 
employment, helps people build their own enterprises and deal with hardest to reach 
groups, such as the long-term unemployed and BAME communities.  

Working Better scheme – linking the NHS with employment168 

Islington CCG’s Working Better scheme connects health and employment issues. 
Unemployed residents, who face long-term, health-related barriers to work, can 
volunteer to be referred by their GP for personalised employment coaching, offered 
on a one-to-one basis at their GP surgery.   

The pilot was developed following the recommendations from Islington Council’s 
Employment Commission in 2014 to offer disabled or long-term ill residents practical 
support to return to the workplace, and tackle discrimination when searching for jobs. 
So far, 6 GP surgeries are taking part.  

Launched in September 2015, the pilot cost £90,000 and is jointly funded by 
Islington Council and Jobcentre Plus. Jobcentre Plus also sits on a steering group to 
discuss the overall working of the pilot but is not given access to patient data.  The 
scheme is voluntary. 

                                                 

166
 Newham Council. 2016. About Newham Workplace.  

167
 Mind. 2014. We’ve got work to do.  

168
 Islington Clinical Commissioning Group. 2016. Working Better: FAQ’s.  

Page 309

http://www.actionwestlondon.org.uk/


                     

237 

 

The North London Pledge – outperforms the Work Programme 
 
An employment scheme based across four London boroughs, commissioned and 
delivered locally.  It cost £16.5m per year, compared to £24m for the Work 
Programme over the same period, and had a success rate of 26 per cent of 
sustained jobs, compared to the Work Programme’s 3.6 per cent169.  
 
Growth boroughs scheme – establishes touchpoints with the community170 
 
This focuses on long-term workless parents who face multiple barriers to the labour 
market and who were not readily engaged with existing mainstream welfare to work 
support. It cost £2m and ran from April 2009 to June 2011. It moved 42% of people 
into sustained jobs and had an overall job entry rate of 63 per cent.  The 5 Borough 
Single Point of Access project was centred on the need to engage people who 
traditionally have poor or low levels of engagement with the existing welfare to work 
or Jobcentre Plus support. The programme was delivered in Greenwich, Hackney, 
Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest, including at school gates, children's 
centres and libraries, and allowed participants to fill in a single form to access 
different types of assistance to help them return to work. 

Working Capital – a new large-scale London programme  

Working Capital is an innovative scheme designed to assist 3,800 central London 
residents to move closer to employment of which 1,200 are expected to start work 
and 600 to sustain work for a minimum of six months over the five years to 2020 
(Ibid). 

The pilot will test a new model of integrated services to those in receipt of ESA who 
have left Work Programme after two years without finding long-term employment. 

Delivered by APM as part of the London Growth Deal, it is financed by the European 
Social Fund. The Working Capital Programme is designed by the Cabinet Office, the 
London Enterprise Panel, GLA and central London local authorities. 

 

 

7d. Mental health and community resilience 

Social prescribing 

Social prescribing is a process where healthcare practitioners can refer patients on 
to community-based services.  Social prescribing can be done by171: 

 GPs 

                                                 

169
 London Councils. 2012.  Getting London working: a 10 point plan to improve employment provision.  

170
 London Councils. 2012.  Getting London working: a 10 point plan to improve employment provision.  

171
 Nesta. 2013. More than medicine: new services for people powered health.  

Page 310

http://www.giveusachance.co.uk/news-articles/jobs-plus-can-a-pilot-project-in-the-usa-work-for-us/
http://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/more_than_medicine.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw


                     

238 

 

 Nurses 

 Statutory agency working with at-risk people 

 Voluntary sector agency working with at-risk people 

 Primary care mental health workers and nurses 

 Practice nurses 

 Health visitors 

It is aimed at the following groups: 

 People with a history of mental health problems. 

 Frequent attenders of GP clinics. 

 Those with two or more long-term and often untreatable and poorly understood 
conditions (e.g. irritable bowel syndrome, chronic fatigue syndrome). 

 Socially isolated people. 

 Those not benefiting from clinical medicine or drug treatment. 

It increases confidence, builds social networks, increases self-efficacy and improves 
lifestyle-related health issues (e.g. engages people with weight loss programmes). 

Social prescribing is used locally at the Earls Court Health and Wellbeing Centre.  

Time Banks 

Time banks exchange skills between people and organisations.  They require 
professionals to broker the system and build the community. Evidence shows that 
engagement with time banks is associated with reduced levels of medication and 
hospitalisation (Ibid).  Link Workers act across all of these roles to navigate the 
complex landscape.  Appendix H contains some examples of time banks. 

Spice Time Credits 

Spice is a time-banking variant where, instead of paying for a service, participants 
pay back in kind.  Spice’s own data172 claims that participants in one of its schemes: 

 77% of people said Spice had a positive impact on their life. 

 66% of people know more about local services. 

 60% of people feel healthier. 

 58% said their level of social contact had increased. 

 43% of organisations said time credits had helped them become more 
sustainable. 

 46% hadn’t regularly given their time before. 

 42% learned new skills. 

 40% said they can afford to do more. 

 12% of respondents had started a community group after involvement. 

Time to Change – tackling mental health stigma in organisations 

                                                 

172
 Spice Time Credits. 2016. Measuring the impact of our work.  

Page 311

http://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/more_than_medicine.pdf
http://www.time-to-change.org.uk/


                     

239 

 

The largest programme in England to end the stigma and discrimination faced by 
people with mental health problems works with organisations, engaging them on this 
issue and generating tools and resources for them.  Over 260 organisations have 
made a public commitment to tackle mental health stigma by signing the pledge, 
including BAE Systems, British Gas, BT, Channel 4, E-on, Lloyds TSB, and Pepsico. 

7e. Employment for people from BAME communities 

“Increasing employment rates for ethnic minorities”, National Audit Office 2008. 

Mainstream services offered by Jobcentre Plus are the principal vehicle for getting 
ethnic minorities into employment. Starting in 2002 however the DWP ran pilot 
projects specifically aimed at ethnic minorities or their potential employers: 

 Ethnic Minority Outreach – This ran from 2002-06, cost £31.5 million, and more 
than achieved its original target, getting over 13,000 job entries at a cost to the 
programme of £2,400 per job. An external evaluation found it to be a qualified 
success, with those customers with the greatest barriers to employment making 
limited progress in moving closer to the labour market. The pilots ran over 
multiple areas with differing approaches but, overall, the Ethnic Minority Outreach 
workers were able to help their service users to understand more about the 
services available to them; helped those furthest from the labour market to move 
closer to employment; and helped those who were closer to the labour market to 
enter employment by increasing their networks and putting them in touch with 
employers where language would not be a constraint to working in their 
organisation.  

 Ethnic Minority Flexible Fund – The Fund ran from 2004-06 and cost £6.8 million. 
The focus was on progress towards employment rather than job outcomes, but 
over 2,500 customers found jobs at a cost to the programme of £2,700 per job. 
An internal evaluation found the Fund had strengthened partnership working, 
tested methods of engagement with the voluntary sector, and provided additional 
support to those furthest from the labour market. 

 Specialist Employment Advisers – This role was created for a two-year pilot 
period to help tackle discrimination and openup employment opportunities to 
ethnic minorities.  It cost £1.5 million and ran from 2004-06.  The key lesson from 
an evaluation of the project was that engaging with both employers and 
communities was a long-term project that would take more than two years for 
positive results to become visible. 

 

Partners Outreach for Ethnic Minorities  

The Partners Outreach for Ethnic Minorities (POEM) programme began in February 
2007 and ran for two years. It supported people of working age who were not in 
contact with Jobcentre Plus services, who were neither working nor claiming 
benefits. The overall rate of job entry (job entries as a percentage of starts) across all 
providers was 20 per cent. There were considerable differences between the 
providers in and outside London; providers outside London performed more than 
twice as well as London providers on converting starts to job entries, at 35 per cent 
compared to 15 per cent. 

Page 312

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2008/02/0708206es.pdf
file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Report/•%09http:/webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130128102031/http:/www.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rports2005-2006/rrep229.pdf
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/11018/1/rrep561.pdf


                     

240 

 

POEM was primarily targeted at the Bangladeshi, Pakistani and Somali 
communities, but was open to all ethnic minority groups, and focused on outreach as 
the most effective way of engaging clients. The ultimate aim of POEM was to help 
clients into work and a wide variety of activities and support were on offer across 
different providers: 

 flexible, one-to-one support. 

 pre-application preparation, including CV writing, job search advice, help 
completing application forms, interview skills training, help with overseas 
qualification recognition and confidence building activities. 

 English language and basic skills assessments. 

 work experience and self-employment advice. 

 group sessions on, for example, interview techniques, confidence building, talks 
and training focused on entry to a specific industry and basic IT training. 

 
Other professionals, such as English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) and 
basic skills tutors, self-employment advisers and job coaches, were used by some 
providers to provide further in-house assistance to clients.  Clients were also referred 
to partners to access services beyond the remit of the providers.  These included 
local training organisations and colleges, or providing childcare through 
arrangements with local Children’s Centres.  

The key turning points which were identified as being significant to clients in helping 
them move forward were: 

 greater confidence – perhaps the most important turning point of all, this often 
stemmed from the one-to-one support from advisers and grew as clients 
completed various activities through POEM. 

 broadened horizons – many clients reported that POEM had helped them to 
better understand their employment options and to formulate personal goals and 
long-term plans. 

 intensive provider support – the one-to-one support provided through POEM 
appeared to be critical in building up the necessary trust and rapport with clients 
to fully understand their barriers to work. 

 wider family support – the support of the wider family was, for some clients, vital 
in gaining entry to POEM, and in ‘making or breaking’ their journey. 

 positive experience of training and job preparation – these were such 
encouraging experiences for a significant proportion of clients that they proved to 
be key turning points in the client journey.  

 
Providers reported that POEM clients had entered a wide range of work.  The 
majority of jobs obtained were fairly low-skilled, entry-level work, including retail, 
cleaning, catering and security work, and factory and warehouse work.  Working with 
children, for example, in a nursery or as a lunchtime supervisor in a school, was 
popular amongst many of the female clients with children.  Clients with limited 
English had a fairly narrow range of work available to them in the short-term, but 
some providers had considerable success in placing such clients with employers 
from their own communities, and in providing work-focused ESOL classes to quickly 
improve employability.  Some clients already had work experience and/or 

Page 313



                     

241 

 

professional qualifications from overseas, and needed help with converting them and 
having them recognised by employers.  A few clients had degrees from the UK but 
were struggling to find the kinds of work they were looking for.  There were examples 
of such clients entering banking and accounting, and also of POEM clients being 
employed by their provider as outreach workers and advisers. 

7f. Part time work and elementary occupations 

The Timewise Foundation  

The Timewise Foundation supports business and individuals to benefit from flexible 
working schemes. 

 Worked with over 3,000 businesses including SMEs, charities, high growth 
companies and leading employers such as EY, Virgin, Easyjet, Harrods, Tesco, 
Ofcom and Barclays. 

 More than 75,000 people, predominantly mothers, have registered for advice or 
to find part time jobs. 

 6,500 have directly accessed the careers advice and employability programmes 

 Camden Council has become a Timewise employer.  

As at 2012173: 

 It helped over 3,000 women with children into quality part-time work they can fit 
with family life. 

 Women who found jobs through the Timewise jobsite and agency accessed part 
time roles averaging £28,000 full time equivalent – a 51% increase on current 
market average of £18,500 full time equivalent. 

 Low-income families are collectively £260,000 better off through access to quality 
part time jobs, averaging £5,300 per family. 

 £270,000 state savings through economic impact (tax and benefit savings). 

Women Like Us 

Established in 2005, Women Like Us is the leading specialist for women with 
children who want to return to work in London.  It provides career coaching and 
support on job-searching and IT skills, through a bursary scheme for parents and 
carers in low-income households, and offers a paying service for those who do not 
meet the means-testing threshold.  Its services ensure that women needing part-time 
work have the job-searching skills to access the positions that match their skills and 
experience.  It includes career coaching by phone and Skype, a ‘Career MOT’ 
appointment and careers options test and is linked to part-time jobs support offered 
by the Timewise Foundation.  

Brent’s Out of Hours Childcare Scheme 

                                                 

173
 Timewise Foundation. 2012. Social Impact Report 2012.  

Page 314

http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/
file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Evidence%20and%20literature/Helen%2035+%20evidence%20review/Lara%20Husain
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/children-and-family-support/childcare/flexible-child-care/


                     

242 

 

Brent’s service provides childminders to care in the family’s home or in the 
childminder’s home outside normal hours, including an overnight service. 
Childminders are registered, so families can claim money back through tax credits. 

Childminders are all: 

 registered with Ofsted. 

 supported by a network coordinator who regularly assesses them. 

 able to receive help and support if necessary. 

 either quality-assured through the Brent Children Come First (CCF) quality 
assurance scheme, or working towards achieving a quality-assured grading. 

 able to demonstrate to Brent that they can meet Quality Standard One, which 
requires that they take a professional approach to childminding. 

The Career Advancement Service 

 Open to everyone in low paid work in receipt of tax credits or Universal Credit. 

 Provides a free Career Check and online support, alongside personalised support 
from a Career Coach and Personal Career Account. 

 Works with employers to boost their business and create more opportunities for 
people to progress. 

 Delivered locally – managed by Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) and 
councils in order to support local labour markets. 

 Funded by refocusing £100m of existing budgets from the National Careers 
Service and Adult Skills Budget. 

7g. Vulnerable older people, their wellbeing and support 

The Local Government Association recommends that Councils should adopt a 
strategic approach and recommends use of the following framework, developed by 
the Campaign to End Loneliness and Age UK: 

 Foundation Services: specific services reaching lonely individuals, understanding 
their circumstances and help them find the right support. 

 Gateway Services: transport and technology are the glue to keep people active 
and engaged 

 Direct Interventions: maintaining existing relationships and enabling new 
connections such as group-based support, one-to-one support and emotional 
support. 

 Structural Enablers: needed in communities to create the right conditions for 
ending loneliness, such as volunteering, positive ageing and neighbourhood 
approaches. 

 
There is some evidence to suggest that the most effective interventions include 
befriending, social group schemes and Community Navigators.  Churches, mosques 
and other religious organisations are likely to build social networks and alleviate 
poverty.   

7h. Local housing and its affordability 

Page 315



                     

243 

 

Housing First England  

Housing First – already being trialled by the Council – is a model of supporting 
people to make a direct move from street homelessness into ordinary permanent 
housing, with personalised support to address wider issues.  Evaluations across the 
developed world, including England and Scotland, have found that up to 90% of 
people with complex needs have been kept off the streets.  HF England is a new 
project to create and support a national movement of Housing First services. It is led 
by Homeless Link, a national membership charity for organisations working directly 
with people who become homeless in England, and funded by Lankelly Chase 
Foundation and Comic Relief.  

Live and Work Scheme 

Launched in 2015, this enables young people to live benefit-free on an 
apprenticeship wage.  Using grant from the Empty Homes Community Grant 
Programme, the scheme renovates empty properties in partnership with Sandwell 
and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust and offers young apprentices working 
with the Trust the opportunity to live and work on the site, with support.  Rent and 
service charges are minimised.  Funding is received from local partners.  

Camden floating support scheme 

Floating support helps to prevent homelessness and give residents access to a huge 
number of resources to assist them.  It helps people tackle all kinds of issues; from 
rent arrears and benefits issues to activities that reduce social isolation. This support 
enables people to sustain their tenancies, find the services they need and build a 
better life for themselves within their community. Each client is supported by an 
experienced project worker who helps them focus on their strengths, abilities and 
dreams for the future. The Council operates a floating support service, officers make 
the referrals and support is provided by 5 external providers.  The Council refers on 
average 450 new cases per year. 

Camden introduced a new floating support service model.  It is used as a service for 
any resident in the borough who has a tenancy of any type and requires housing-
related support.  It employs 24 Council support workers, who carry out a risk 
assessment for each client and then put an action plan in place.  They help between 
2,000-3,000 people each year.  

The work is kept actively under review and is performance managed to ensure that 
no client is neglected.  It claims to be extremely successful for vulnerable people 
who need support.  Council frontline services have made savings by simply making 
early intervention referrals for support, thereby preventing escalations.  

Camden Council says it rarely evicts Council tenants facing rent arrears.  It also says 
that it supports tenants living in temporary accommodation so that, by the time they 
move into permanent accommodation, they are able to sustain their tenancies. 

People needing help could be from any of the following groups: 

 Offenders and people at risk of offending 

 People fleeing domestic violence 

Page 316



                     

244 

 

 People with health issues 

 People with mental health needs 

 People with a learning disability 

 Young people leaving care 

 People with a physical disability 

 People with substance misuse issues 

 People with sensory needs 

 Families to access required services 

Floating support covers:  

 Getting rent arrears under control. 

 Claiming welfare benefits to which people are entitled. 

 Learning about managing money. 

 Working towards and achieving a healthy lifestyle. 

 Registering with a doctor, dentist and accessing other health services. 

 Support to access specialist services. 

 Issues arising under Care Act.  

Referrals come from: 

 Residents self-referral 

 Housing, including estates managers and offices 

 Adult Social Care 

 Children Schools and Families 

 Registered providers (housing associations) 

 Community Mental Health Team 

 

COST OF LIVING 

Turn2us 

Turn2us is a national charity that helps people in financial need gain access to 
welfare benefits, charitable grants and other financial help – online, by phone and 
face-to-face through its partner charities and intermediary organisations.  Through its 
website, people can find information and tools to help locate appropriate support, 
based on specific needs and circumstances.  By registering for a personal ‘My 
Turn2us’ account, users can make confidential enquiries and applications directly to 
many of the grant-giving charities that they identify through the Grants Search 
function. 

Sheffield Money 

A Council-funded brokerage service working with community lending partners to 
provide loans and other financial services to local residents.  It has a website, city-
centre store and phone application, offering a range of services and quick access to 
loans (in as little as 15 minutes).  Debt advice is embedded in the scheme, with a 
debt advisor available at the store.  SM expected to save low-income residents £20 
million a year by reducing their reliance on high-cost lenders.  

Page 317



                     

245 

 

Big London Energy Switch  

Collective switching schemes are based on the principle of an auction for which any 
household can sign up, with no obligation.  All the registrations are grouped 
anonymously and the energy suppliers submit their best deal.  The price offered by 
the suppliers is independent of the number of participants who make the switch.  The 
more people who sign up, the more likely suppliers are to give an additional 
discount. 

H&F joined the Big London Energy Switch (BLES) in 2014, joining approximately 20 
other London councils in the scheme.  Reverse auctions take place three times a 
year and details are advertised through the Council e-newsletter and on the website.  
Since H&F joined the scheme, residents switching provider through the BLES have 
saved a total in excess of £67,000. 

Social supermarkets 

Sell wholesale supermarket food cheap to people in low incomes. Councils have set 
them up in Haringey, Lambeth, Enfield. They are financially backed by the GLA.  

These supermarkets could bolster the already great work happening in the 
Borough’s food banks, which the Trussell Trust have said are the best in the country.  

Business in the Community’s (BITC) Workwell Mental Health Champions Group 

This group provides clear leadership from business, for business, at boardroom level 
on mental wellbeing. Founding members include BT, Bupa, RBS, and Mars.  

  

Page 318

https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/new-social-supermarkets-to-cut-food-poverty


                     

246 

 

Appendices 

A Collaborators and consultees – organisations and individuals 

Organisations represented on the Commission 

 Desta Consortium 

 H&F Foodbank 

 H&F Mind 

 Imperial College 

 Jobcentre Plus 

 Metropolitan Police – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 New Policy Institute 

 Shepherds Bush Housing Group 

 St. Mungo’s Broadway 

 Trussell Trust 

 Turn2us 

Individual contributors to the Commission 

 Henry Peterson 

 Professor Paul Gregg 

 Sir William Atkinson 

Organisations, groups and individuals consulted by the Commission 

 Centre for Cultural Policy Studies, University of Warwick 

 Department for Work and Pensions 

 Hammersmith United Charities 

 H&F Advice Forum 

 H&F Clinical Commissioning Group 

 H&F Disabled People’s Commission 

 H&F Volunteer Centre 

 Jill Rutter, Family and Childcare Trust 

 Money and Mental Health Institute 

 Shirley Cupit, Member of the H&F Residents’ Commission on Council Housing  

 Sobus 

 Tony Wilson, Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion 

Organisations participating in the focus group programme 

 Big Local Community Development Organisation         

 British Red Cross     

 Carers Network 

 CITAS 

 Community Champions      

Page 319



                     

247 

 

 Crosslight Debt Advice       

 Dr Edwards and Bishop King Grants Organisation Fulham     

 Fulham Good Neighbours  

 H&F Citizens Advice Bureau 

 H&F Food Bank       

 H&F Law Centre      

 H&F Mind      

 H&F Youth Council 

 London Plus Credit Union  

 People Arise Now 

 Standing Together Against Domestic Violence 

 Various BAME community organisations (through Sobus) 

  

Page 320



                     

248 

 

B Using data and predictive analytics 

The following paper discusses the potential of predictive analytics to tackle poverty 
and worklessness.  

What are predictive analytics? 

Recently, there has been a rapid rise in the volumes of data local authorities collect 
and have access to. Predictive analytics mine big data sets and use this information 
to predict trends and behaviour patterns. Predictive analytics have already been 
used by the public sector in diverse ways; to predict emergency hospital admissions, 
to identify tax fraud and by police forces, who have a long history of intelligence-led 
tasking and problem solving grounded in the National Intelligence Model.  The 
Council could do more to get the most out of local data to tackle poverty and 
worklessness.  

How can they be used tackle poverty and worklessness? 

The Council has already created various analytical models and approaches to 
identify fraud and error in systems and developing more advanced approaches to 
assist with improving outcomes for vulnerable residents.  More needs to be done to 
further develop and embed analytics in service development, planning and 
operational practice. 

Predictive analytics could be used to support the recommendations and long-term 
outcomes of the Commission’s work in the following ways:  

1. To analyse the population that is susceptible to long-term unemployment. 

The Council would need to know who was unemployed for six months or more, the 
partnership interventions they had with outcomes (for example, no change or 
sustainable employment), and the characteristics of each person. This would inform 
a model identifying what intervention works, when and for who, with the potential to 
remodel local service provision to maximise the benefits. 

To do this the Council would need a legal gateway to allow the data-sharing in the 
first place, confidence in the agencies working with people to collect data on 
interventions and their potential effectiveness and high quality data.  

The model could be constructed using a historical cohort of people that have been 
previously unemployed for six months or more but are no longer unemployed, 
background information and the interventions that led to employment. This could 
then be modelled to the current cohort as a guide to potentially identify what could be 
done to reduce long-term unemployment. 

If given sufficient data available on historical and current unemployment benefit 
claimants, their characteristics, and additional information such as their educational 
achievement, work history and last job (including the industry), theoretically it would 
be possible to segment current claimants according to their risk of long-term 
unemployment.  

Page 321



                     

249 

 

The DWP has released an excellent Working Paper on this subject174, albeit limited 
to data collected via a sample, which demonstrates how predictive methods can be 
applied to such a complex problem. Building on this approach, including local 
partnership data could improve the local application and accuracy of the model.  

2. Identify while at school the children and young people most likely to be at risk of 
becoming unemployed.  

Some of this work already is in place in the form of RONIs – the risk of NEET 
indicators (not in education, employment or training).  Similarly, central Government 
has released experimental statistics linking further (adult) education to employment 
outcomes175.  If this was to include characteristics of the learner and relevant 
background information, local authorities could predict the courses and 
establishments that are most likely to deliver the best outcomes for different types of 
people. 

3. Identify those children most at risk of not achieving their GCSEs and not being 
ready to attend school.  

This requires a detailed understanding of the characteristics of those who are and 
have been unemployed, their “journey” to unemployment and all of the interventions 
that have been put in place. It also requires of people’s educational attainment, skills 
and, if available, their aspirations and participation in work-related programmes and 
training. This would enable the Council to co-ordinate and improve service outcomes 
for a cohort of people with often complex needs. 

Predictive analytics could also be used to: 

 Identify those most at risk of becoming isolated. 

 Identify segments of the community most likely to volunteer in an informal 
capacity. 

 Develop risk scores to identify those most at risk of fuel poverty, especially over 
the winter periods. 

 Identify businesses in the borough most at risk of failing and tailor business 
support interventions to assist. 

What are the barriers? 

Information-sharing arrangements and related legislation are often seen as a barrier 
to using data, despite the intention to be empowering in a controlled, legitimate, fair, 
transparent and legal way. This is a problem between different services and 
departments within the Council; as well as between different agencies and central 
government departments; sometimes based on a misunderstanding of what 
legislation permits. 

Some local authorities appear to have successfully solved this problem, and there 
are some specific projects – such as the Troubled Families initiative – which have 

                                                 

174
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/210303/WP116.pdf 

175
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564190/SFR-52_2016.pdf 

Page 322

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/210303/WP116.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564190/SFR-52_2016.pdf


                     

250 

 

special legislation to allow the use of DWP data (although councils have to send their 
data to the DWP for matching).  

Having a consistent, national approach to information-sharing with Government 
departments will unlock the potential of predictive analytics. We stand a significantly 
greater chance of improving outcomes for our residents, businesses and visitors if 
we as a local authority and wider local partnership feel empowered and encouraged 
to share data to tackle shared, complex problems from a shared population. 

Whilst the role of analytics in the public sector continues to grow apace, there are 
ongoing, valid discussions about the pros and cons of such approaches, not least in 
relation to the ethics of risk segmentation, the legality of information sharing, and 
system security. However, much of the data and many of the analytical techniques 
have been in existence for several years and used by various agencies to address 
problems. We believe these could assist in this complex area.  

Page 323



                     

251 

 

  

Page 324



                     

252 

 

C Troubled Families programme evaluation 

The Troubled Families programme is a prime example of a large, top-down policy 

programme that is expensive and ineffective.  

The National Evaluation of the Troubled Families Programme was carried out by a 

consortium led by Ecorys UK on behalf of the Department for Communities and 

Local Government (DCLG). Using data collection and analysis carried out between 

January 2013 and September 2015, the evaluation concluded that phase one of the 

programme “had no discernable impact”:  

“across a wide range of outcomes, covering the key objectives of the programme – 

employment, benefit receipt, school attendance, safeguarding and child welfare – we 

were unable to find consistent evidence that the troubled families programme had 

any significant or systematic impact.” 

The Troubled Families programme was a response to the 2011 London riots, aiming 

to “turn around the lives of the 120,000 most troubled households in the country”, 

with the following four priorities: 

 get children back into school. 

 reduce youth crime and anti-social behaviour. 

 put adults on a path back to work. 

 reduce the high costs these families place on the public sector each year. 

Mental health was found to be a prevalent cross-cutting issue. 

The programme was delivered using a payment-by-results model in conjunction with 

local authorities. The first phase, which was deemed ineffective, cost around £400m. 

The second phase began in 2016, costing a further £900m.  

Prior to the independent assessment published in 2016, David Cameron asserted 

that the scheme had been a success, turning around the lives of 117,000 families 

and saving as much as £1.2bn.  

  

Page 325



                     

253 

 

  

Page 326



                     

254 

 

D Community Hubs report 

What are Community Hubs? 

Community hubs are a nexus of services and organisations, in a geographical area, 

that residents want.  They should be independent, sustainable and designed by 

residents.  They can provide services in a holistic fashion, maximise resources from 

the VCS, residents, the Council, external funders and the private sector to generate 

income for the community, improve the quality of life for residents and increase 

social cohesion.  Hubs are a gateway for the community to access multiple services 

in one go and sometimes referred to as a ‘One Stop Shop’. They offer services that 

the local authority would otherwise not be able to offer. 

Pilots should be built on various existing initiatives in H&F which form, in effect, the 

nucleus for fully developed hubs. Each will be different depending on the population 

served.  Some should test public service budget devolution so that residents have a 

real stake in successful health, crime, jobs and wellbeing outcomes. 

Community Hubs aim to: 

 Provide services and activities from one place that will help users to resolve their 

issues and remove the ‘Revolving Door’ experience that residents face when 

accessing services.  

 Maximise resources across the voluntary sector and the Council to foster more 

effective ways of working.  

 Establish strategic partnerships to ensure services work together and avoid 

duplication. 

 Attract additional income generation and cost-saving initiatives.  

 Share lessons learned and implement best practice.  

 Improve social cohesion and the quality of life for local people.  

The demand for community hubs in H&F 

The Poverty and Worklessness Commission’s qualitative research has demonstrated 

the demand for community hubs; thirteen out of eighteen organisations emphasised 

the importance of seamless service delivery and better organisational coordination. 

Co-location of services would assist people with complex needs and avoid the 

‘revolving door journey’ that many people currently experience. 

Focus group participants offered the following insights: 

‘A single point of contact is needed for people facing multiple complex issues to 

access triage advice and assistance to help them cope.’ 

‘People are often unaware of the services on offer, leading them to make bad 

decisions at times of crisis, which triggers financial and other difficulties.’ 

Page 327



                     

255 

 

‘There is a lack of signposting to wider support services that meets the needs of 

people.’ 

‘A more effective referral and signposting structure is required.’ 

‘Services need to be more joined up; they are currently disjointed.’ 

‘There needs to be a system or place that has up-to-date services on offer and can 

direct people to the appropriate services – a ‘Servicepedia’.’ 

‘Establish more education and development hubs across the borough.’  

Existing H&F community hubs 

The H&F Food Bank on Bloemfontein Road provides food for people in need. It has 

partnered with the local Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB), which provides advice, 

support and casework, resolving clients’ underlying and complex issues. Computer 

and internet access is also provided.  

St Paul’s Centre in Hammersmith is part of St Paul’s Church, providing a café, 

meeting rooms for hire and Wi-Fi accessibility. The Centre includes community 

organisations: 

 Crosslight Advice – an independent charity which works to combat poverty 

and hardship caused by the burden of unmanageable debt and lack of 

financial capability.  The organisation aims to restore dignity and hope to 

those in need, helping individuals and families lift themselves out of their 

current difficulties and get back on their feet. 

 Resurgo – helps communities overcome social challenges through bringing 

together skills and resources from across the wider neighborhood to tackle 

complex issues in a transformative way.  Resurgo's main initiative, Spear, bridges 

the gap between unemployed young people and businesses through social 

investment. 

145 King Street currently houses Housing Options support and advice, social 

services advice and drop in services provided by Jobcentre Plus.  There is a plan to 

co-locate services and accommodate H&F Direct and H&F Advice in one place.  

Options for developing a community hub or a network of hubs 

There are various options for developing a hub or a network of hubs across the 

borough. A mapping exercise of existing services and local population data would 

help inform where community hubs would have most impact. 

a. A single community hub 

A single hub pilot would provide a central point where information about services, 

support and advice would be available and easily accessible.  It could be cheaper 

Page 328

http://www.resurgo.org.uk/spear


                     

256 

 

and less resource-intensive than a network of hubs. The location would need to be 

determined factoring in proximity to communities most in need of support.  

Provision of ‘cradle to grave’ services could be effective – for example, a community 

nursery/play group sessions, health and social care services and employment 

projects including advice and support.  

Setting up a community hub would be a medium to long-term project which, if 

implemented effectively, could become a long-term cost-neutral asset to the borough 

and a flagship initiative that would benefit residents in many ways. 

b. A network of community hubs 

A cluster of hubs across the borough would be more resource-intensive and costly, 

but could be based in existing community facilities or unused buildings. 

Multiple hubs could providing similar services or could segment service delivery 

according to immediate population needs according to themes such as employability; 

young people’s advice and support services; health and wellbeing; financial 

management; community nursing; and housing advice and support.  All hubs could 

include a social enterprise to generate income to subsidise the hub’s other activities 

and services.  A cross-borough hub manager would need to have oversight and 

share knowledge and best practice across the network.  

c. Virtual hubs 

Virtual hubs require a strategic approach to join up services, but not around physical 

co-location. The virtual hub could be facilitated through a website or database 

segmenting group organisations by type. One of the key drivers of a virtual hub 

would be to improve the client journey and outcomes by streamlining referrals and 

pathways between agencies, i.e. identifying the client’s advice needs and ensuring 

the correct support (which may be from multiple agencies). 

The Advice Strategy and the Tackling Social Isolation and Loneliness Strategy both 

include a community hub proposal. The Advice Strategy suggests a referral system.  

The Social Isolation and Loneliness Strategy suggests a social network is integral to 

reducing social exclusion.  Virtual hubs could tackle health inequality, tapping the 

resource of multiple stakeholders including Adult Social Care, the NHS, CCG’s, 

Healthwatch, third sector organisations and a network of volunteers. 

A best practice example is digital training sessions for individuals, groups and 

organisations who work with isolated older people to help them complete forms 

online and tap into online communities.  

d. Redesigning existing community facilities. 

Page 329



                     

257 

 

The term ‘Community Centre’ provides a diverse range of services that are 

accessible to local communities. Many local services operate out of these spaces; 

the Masbro Centre, the Edward Woods Centre, Bishop Creighton House, White City 

Community Centre, and St Paul’s Church, which has a social enterprise initiative 

associated with the premises. 

Tenants and Residents Association Halls (TRA) are normally based in or around 

estates in the borough. There are currently 31 TRA halls in the Borough, some of 

which could could be repurposed into community hubs.  A business case will need to 

assess the location and the initial and ongoing costs to the refurbishment. Effective 

community consultation and stakeholder engagement is key.  

Figure D1  Community hubs and relevant strategies 

 

Services and Organisations  

Several existing organisations located in or providing drop-in services to the borough 

could be considered for community hubs. A selection process would need to identify 

eligible services to be included in the hub according to the following criteria:  

 Tailored to the profile and needs of the local communities. 

 Able to generate funding that alleviates the dependency on local authority grants. 

 Provide accessible services, potentially extending hours outside the traditional 

opening hours of 9.00am to 5.00pm.   

The following services could be included: 

 Financial management and advice services. 

 Jobcentre Plus. 

Page 330



                     

258 

 

 Housing advice, including homelessness. 

 Health and wellbeing activities, advice, and support (e.g. a primary care centre). 

 Cookery school. 

 Digital skills. 

 Services for young people. 

 Employability and training services. 

 Social enterprises and income-generation initiatives. 

Income generation through social enterprises cafes or retail units are a feature of 

many existing, financially sustainable community hubs.  This requires quality multi-

purpose community space and meeting rooms that can be hired.  

Governance and funding models 

In 2016/17 the Council is funding 51 third sector organisations to a total of £3.4 

million. Most of these organisations are registered charities.  

To deliver sustainable change, the hub model needs to tap into funding channels 

that the Council cannot access as a statutory body. A charity or a social enterprise 

model should be considered to reduce the dependency on statutory funding and 

generate additional income.  

The hub, crucially, should be independent from statutory services, although satellite 

operations from these services could feature in the hub. 

The Council could consider providing a fundraising post to support the hub.  As the 

initial set-up costs had been paid off, the Council grant allocated to each group could 

be reduced annually.  In the long run, this could provide significant savings for the 

Council.  There are also opportunities to attract corporate sponsorship from private 

companies in H&F, especially where such organisations have corporate social 

responsibility schemes already in place.  From the Council, Section 106 and CIL 

could potentially also be invested in one or more new community hubs. 

Existing community hubs in London have cost anywhere in the region of £300k to 

£3m depending on the following factors: 

  

Page 331



                     

259 

 

 The type of model 

 The local need 

 Location 

 Premises (either new or the refurbishment costs of existing assets)  

 Staff 

It is therefore difficult to define exact expenditure.  A detailed business case and 

project appraisal would need to identify the most suitable model and projected costs.  

Operational staff would be available and on hand to manage the premises and 

provide a front of house service to visitors. Hubs could hire local people and tap into 

rich volunteering assets.  

Best practice community hubs and centres  

As part of the overall research the Council visited existing hubs or community 

centres in London that provide a range of services to their communities. 

1. The Bromley-by-Bow Centre (Tower Hamlets) 

The Bromley-by-Bow Centre is a community organisation in east London, working in 

one of the most deprived boroughs in the UK.  It supports families, young people, 

and adults to learn new skills, improve their health and wellbeing, find employment, 

and develop the confidence to achieve their goals and transform their lives.  At the 

core of the Centre’s thinking is ‘a belief in people and their capacity to achieve 

amazing things’. It helps and supports over 2,000 people per month. 

The Board of Trustees includes members of the local community, GPs, and people 

with a commercial and business background.  It is funded by various statutory 

agencies, including the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, as well as funding and 

grant-making organisations, corporate funders and individual donations. 

It is a registered charity that grew out of a church-based effort to engage with the 

community. It offers a broad holistic range of services so people can find help for 

both their most immediate problems and longer term deep-seated issues. It includes: 

 Employability programmes – sponsored from the private and commercial sector 

e.g. Barclays Bank. 

 Volunteering buddies, including young people and disabled children. 

 Literacy sessions for 3-5 year olds and parents. 

 An online suite from City and Guilds. 

 Unity Works Cafe for people to meet and network.  This helps to build 

relationships and alleviate social isolation. 

 Advice and support sessions provided by various agencies including the Council. 

 Financial inclusion support e.g. money management and energy advice. 

 A healthcare centre and GP practice offering social prescribing. 

Page 332



                     

260 

 

 Children’s nursery. 

 Art & design classes. 

As part of the Mobilising Communities programme, the Bromley-by-Bow Health 

Partnership is exploring developing community-based resources to complement its 

move towards a new model of primary care.  

2. Octopus Communities (Islington) 

The Octopus Network comprises of 12 centres across Islington, tailored to the social 

and demographic needs of the local communities.  A dedicated manager is 

employed to coordinate provisions, exchange resources and share good practice 

across the network. 

One of the centres is situated in a building previously owned by Islington Council, 

however it was sold to private developers in 2002.  The lease remained unchanged 

and rent is waived in exchange for the groups undertaking repairs and other running 

costs incurred. 

The services provide include: 

 Developing programmes and services that help overcome isolation e.g. a 

domestic violence project, Young People’s Intervention Project. 

 Implementing a programme of training for volunteers so that services are 

increased and/or improved 

 Working collaboratively to ensure that job clubs or employability support is 

provided across the network. 

 Facilitating a peer support network to share skills, experience and knowledge. 

 Health and wellbeing initiatives for all ages – raising the awareness of 

independent health programmes. 

 A social enterprise community nursery (10 places allocated at a commercial rate, 

which subsidise the community places). 

The centre was funded by the Council to employ its own fundraiser to source long-

term funding for the services.  This resulted in over £2m being raised with future 

match-funding from the Council wherever possible.  This helped to reduce the grants 

allocated to the groups and produced savings for the Council.   

Ownership is vested in a registered charity, whose directors and trustees are 

representatives from the individual community centres that make up the Network.  

3. St Luke’s Centre (Old Street) 

This state-of-the-art centre is situated in a populated inner city neighbourhood 

comprising over 18,000 residents mainly living in social-rented housing.  The area 

covers the south of Islington and pockets of the City of London, Clerkenwell and 

Hackney.  Issues experienced are similar to other inner-city areas; poverty (including 

Page 333



                     

261 

 

food poverty), unemployment, poor health, and social isolation.  The centre has three 

priorities: 

 Tackling disadvantage. 

 Helping people into employment. 

 Building a sense of community. 

The building is owned by the charity and provides a base to deliver a wide range of 

services to the community and a meeting place for local people.  Additionally, room 

lettings provide a useful source of income. 

It provides a range of services as well a social enterprise venture: 

 Primary care health service/GP. 

 A social enterprise lunch club subsided by the Community Cafe. 

 Cookery School. 

 Community gardening. 

 Transport service supported by experienced staff and volunteers. 

 Advice and support services e.g. welfare advice.  

 Over 50s classes and activities e.g. reminiscence workshops, music therapy, 

seated martial arts, gardening, intergenerational workshops. 

 Room for hire. 

 Business engagement – promoting and facilitating partnerships between 

businesses, local community services and activities. 

 A Job Club including ‘building your own business’ support. 

 Festival and events. 

 Community nursery. 

 Volunteering. 

 Art activities. 

St Luke’s attracts income from a range of sources: the Community Café, room hire, 

charities, business sponsorship, Council grants, other grants and donations.  

St Luke’s Community Centre is part of the St Luke’s Parochial Trust which is a 

registered charity. The Directors are nominative, co-optative and ex-officio, including 

representatives from the London Borough of Islington, the City of London 

Corporation and other organisations and trusts.    

  

Page 334



                     

262 

 

4. Broomhouse Community Centre - Edinburgh  

The Broomhouse Centre is a registered charity and receives funding from a variety 

of sources in the form of grants, contracts, donations and earned income. It also 

depends on the generosity of funders to operate the projects, which support the local 

community and disadvantaged citizens and work to help people improve their quality 

of life. 

It offers a range of the following community support services: 

 Employment support and opportunities. 

 Access to education, training and development opportunities. 

 Improving financial capability and financial resilience. 

 Developing self-confidence and aspirations. 

 Supporting health, wellbeing, and relationship building. 

 Maximising income. 

It also runs the following projects: 

 Volunteering 

 Beacon Club 

 Vintage VIBES 

 Youth Befriending,  

 Young Carers 

 Adult Carers 

 Cafe Training Project 

 Crescent Kitchen at The Broomhouse Centre 

 Careers Clinics 

 Young People’s Counselling Service  

 Community Health Hub 

  

Page 335



                     

263 

 

  

Page 336



                     

264 

 

E Lodgers proposition paper 

The Chair of the Commission, Christina Smyth, wrote a paper exploring the potential 
and benefits of a rent a room scheme for lodgers in under-occupied homes in H&F.  

Proposition 

Greater use of the government’s Rent a Room scheme could turn the problem of 
H&F’s high land values into a resident-led solution addressing: low incomes; the 
scarcity of affordable rented accommodation; and social isolation.  Residents would 
get their own money, not a handout.  This could be done quickly and with negligible 
cost.  

Opportunity 

The Rent a Room scheme is an optional scheme open to owner-occupiers or 
tenants, including social tenants, who let out furnished accommodation to a lodger in 
their main home.  It allows them to earn up to £7,500 a year (£625 pcm or £144 pw) 
tax-free.  It does not affect most benefits.  It seems likely that many residents are 
unaware of this opportunity.  Social tenants may confuse taking in a lodger, which 
does not create a tenancy, with illegal sub-letting, which does.   

The level of rent would be good value for lodgers in many cases. 

Problems addressed  

Residents with low incomes of all types.  In particular, the IMDB score for income 
deprivation for older people puts H&F in the top 10 deprived areas in England. The 
MOSAIC analysis shows 5% of the borough population (some 9,100) are classified 
as “Older People Inner City Urban – Low Incomes”, largely in social housing.   

Mental health problems and loneliness are prevalent in the low income group.    

Resident under-occupation across housing tenures: 16% of residents under- occupy 
their homes by two or more bedroooms; 25% under-occupy by one bedroom. 

There is insufficient affordable rented accommodation in H&F.  The average 
annualised income in H&F is 1.89 times higher than average annualised rent (2nd 
lowest in London and England).  For example, young people from H&F, or who come 
to live here as students, generally need to leave to secure affordable 
accommodation, to the detriment of H&F’s diversity. 

Benefits 

 Increased income for those who want to boost their incomes themselves. 

 Company in the home could reduce social isolation. 

 Reduced under-occupancy, therefore reduced Discretionary Housing Payments 
by the Council and an alternative for residents to moving to smaller 
accommodation away from their communities. 

 More low cost rented accommodation in H&F. 

 Introducing greater diversity in geographically segmented areas of H&F. 
 
Potential demand 

Page 337



                     

265 

 

We do not know how many people are taking advantage of this scheme at the 
moment and we cannot yet quantify what the unfulfilled demand is on both sides of 
the equation.  A small-scale pilot could also help us understand the answers to these 
questions.  Working with a local estate agent, as part of their corporate social 
responsibility to the community, might help get a handle on this. 
 
It seems likely that potential barriers are: lack of awareness of the scheme and 
limited understanding of what steps are necessary for the scheme to work for both 
parties.  These could be addressed by setting up a brokerage scheme.  In a pilot 
phase this could proactively market the scheme to residents likely to benefit from it.  
There is clear guidance available, and the brokerage scheme could translate this into 
support on matters such as: taking up references; matching residents and lodgers; 
and a template agreement covering such things as payments of rent, inventory and 
notice period. 

Issues 

There is an interaction with Housing Benefit from which we should seek a derogation 
from Central Government on a pilot basis. 
 
Possible links with existing services 

Adult Social Care is considering the Shared Lives scheme, whereby a resident 
shares their home with a lodger for reduced or no rent in exchange for help with 
household tasks.  The proportion of people providing unpaid care is the third lowest 
level of any local authority in England & Wales, implying a large unmet need.  

The proposed Social Lettings Agency would help residents on low or modest 
incomes find a home in the private rented sector and will help landlords find suitable 
tenants.  It will incentivise landlords to let to benefit claimants by offering residents 
support to sustain their tenancies. 

 
 

  

Page 338



                     

266 

 

F Ethical framework 

Rosalind Duhs, a Commissioner, created the following paper to inform the ethics of 

the Commission’s qualitative research with local residents.   

Background 

The ultimate aim of our research is to recommend initiatives to lessen poverty and 

worklessness in H&F.  We are exploring poverty and worklessness, gathering data 

so that our recommendations can be evidence-based. Ethical approaches are 

essential, especially as participants in our research may be vulnerable. 

Our overarching research questions are:   

1. What are the causes of poverty and worklessness? 

2. How can we work towards the elimination of the causes of poverty and 

worklessness wherever possible? 

3. How can we mitigate the impact of poverty and worklessness? 

Sources of data to help answer these questions are: 

 Documents (previous research and statistical data) 

 Surveys 

 Interviews 

 Focus Groups 

Ethics in research 

Research should be beneficent – do good – and avoid maleficence – doing harm. 

Ethical research therefore benefits participants and protects them from harm. The 

Ethical Framework below is designed to guide all those involved in gathering data 

through interviews and focus groups so that a high standard of ethics can be 

observed throughout. Surveys are also mentioned. 

The Ethical Framework 

Researchers need to: 

1. Ensure that participants are fully informed of the research and their role in it. 

2. Gain written consent from participants before they begin collecting data. 

3. Invite participants to complete a diversity monitoring form (optional for 

participants). 

4. Enable them to stop participating if they want to without any negative 

consequences. 

5. Ensure that the interview/focus group experience is as positive as possible. 

6. Ensure that data is anonymised but that a record of participants is kept so they 

can be traced. 

7. Ensure that confidentiality is observed. 

8. Ensure that Data Protection protocols are followed. 

Page 339



                     

267 

 

Participants in our research need to: 

1. Participate on a voluntary basis. 

2. Understand the aims of the research and their role in the research. 

3. Provide written consent to participate (one copy to keep, one copy for the 

Commission). 

4. Be free to stop participating any time they want. 

Risks 

1. Research participants who are unable to provide informed consent – those who are 

underage or unable to understand the information about the research. 

Those with mental health issues should not be invited to interviews as Research Ethics 

Committee approval is needed. Surveys are a good alternative. Underage participants 

are not relevant to this research and should not be interviewed. 

2. Limits to confidentiality (see the information below). 

Surveys 

1. Survey respondents are free to choose whether they want to respond or not 

without adverse consequences if they decide not to complete the survey. 

2. Surveys are anonymous.  

Page 340



                     

268 

 

Information for participants 

This information is to help you to decide if you would like to take part in 

an interview [focus group]176. If you agree to talk to us, you will be 

helping us to learn more about being short of money and out of work in 

Hammersmith and Fulham. We want to do a better job of supporting 

people in our area so the information you give us about your experience 

is important. 

We’ll ask you a few questions so we can learn more. You don’t have to 

answer all the questions if you don’t want to and you’re free to stop at 

any time.  

There will be a note-taker to write notes about what you say. Your name 

will not be in the notes. Everything you say will be kept confidential.  

The information you give us will go into a report about poverty and 

worklessness in Hammersmith and Fulham. You will be able to read the 

report and we will let you know about any steps we take to improve 

things. 

Please ask any questions you may have about the Commission and 

your interview [focus group]177. 

  

                                                 

176
 Delete as applicable 

177
 Delete as applicable  

Page 341



                     

269 

 

 

  

Hammersmith and Fulham Poverty and Worklessness Commission 

INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR PARTICIPANTS IN INTERVIEWS [FOCUS 

GROUPS] 

Please complete this form after you have read the information sheet and/or listened 
to an explanation about the research. 

Thank you for your interest in taking part in the work of the Hammersmith and Fulham 

Poverty and Worklessness Commission. Before you agree to take part, the person 

organising the interview with you [focus group] must explain the project to you. 

If you have any questions about the Information for participants or the explanation given to 

you, please ask the interviewer before you decide whether to join in. You will be given a 

copy of this Consent Form to keep and refer to at any time. 

 

Participant’s Statement 

Please print your name: 

…………………………………………………………………………………. 

 

 I have read or listened to the notes written above and the Information for 
participants, and understand what I’m being asked to do; 

 I understand that if I decide at any time that I no longer wish to take part in this 
project, I can let the organisers know and leave immediately; 

 I consent to the processing of my personal information for the purposes of this 
Commission; 

 I understand that such information will be treated as strictly confidential and handled 
in accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998; 

 I agree that the work of the Commission has been explained to me to my satisfaction 
and I agree to take part in this study; 

 I understand that my participation will be recorded by a note-taker and I consent to 
the use of this material as part of the project. 

Signed:                                                                                                                  Date: 

Page 342



                     

270 

 

Surveys 

Survey respondents also need information about the context of the research. It 

would therefore be helpful to include a short text at the start of the survey, for 

example: 

Thank you for completing this survey. It will take you around … minutes.  

You will be helping us to learn more about being short of money and out of work in 

Hammersmith and Fulham. We want to do a better job of supporting people in our 

area so the information you give us about your experience is important. 

Your name is not included with your survey responses. Everything you write will be 

kept confidential.  

The information you give us will go into a report about poverty and worklessness in 

Hammersmith and Fulham. You will be able to read the report.   

If you have any questions, please contact … 

(At end of survey we will include contact details for respondents who may need 

support or help from H & F). 

Guidelines from the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) 

Working with potentially vulnerable groups 

We have decided to avoid working with children and people with mental health 

issues so we don’t need DBS clearance. 

In most cases, researchers working with vulnerable people will need to secure 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) clearance178. The DBS offers organisations a 
means to check the criminal record of researchers to ensure that they do not have a 
history that would make them unsuitable for work involving children and vulnerable 
adults. The responsibility for ensuring that applicants are suitable to work with such 
groups ultimately rests with individual employers. In some cases other individuals 
(such as a head teacher or social services manager) may be better placed to provide 
information on necessary disclosures (see the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 
2006179; Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974180; the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 (Exceptions Order 1975181). 

Limits to confidentiality 

                                                 

178
 https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service 

179
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents 

180
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/53 

181
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1198/contents/made 

Page 343

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1198/contents/made


                     

271 

 

Researchers should, when eliciting consent, make clear the limits to confidentiality, 
particularly when working with potentially vulnerable individuals or groups – for 
example when undertaking research with children, families and vulnerable 
populations, or individuals involved in illegal activities. If for example an interview 
reveals that a participant or another person identified in the interview is in significant 
danger, the researcher will be obliged to take action in response to that disclosure. 
Researchers should have established procedures, necessary systems and 
appropriate contacts in place to activate help and support in the event of a 
disclosure. If the researcher feels it is necessary to break confidentiality, the 
participant should normally be informed what action is being taken by the researcher, 
unless to do so would increase risk to those concerned. In projects collecting data on 
criminal behaviour, it may be necessary to explain to participants that confidentiality 
will be preserved as far as the law permits. Any disclosures of otherwise confidential 
information should be fully justified in the public interest and researchers must be 
able to defend their actions fully, for example to avert serious harm, and disclosures 
should only be made to parties empowered to act on the information182. 

Assessing Risk 

Proposals should be considered in the context of the risks of the project. Ethics 
scrutiny should be proportionate to the level of risk and appetite for risk in the 
specific context of the research proposed and its potential benefits. Risk is often 
defined by reference to the potential physical or psychological harm, discomfort, 
stress or reputational risk to human participants (and participating groups, 
organisations and funders) that a research project might generate. This is especially 
pertinent in the context of health-related research. But, in addition, social science 
raises a wider range of risks that needs to be considered by RECs. These include 
risk to a participant’s personal social standing, privacy, personal values and beliefs, 
their links to family and the wider community, and their position within occupational 
settings, as well as the adverse effects of revealing information that relates to illegal, 
sexual or deviant behaviour. Research, though it may carry no physical risk, can be 
disruptive and damaging to research participants as individuals or to whole 
communities or categories of people, such as those with HIV infection183. 

Guidelines from Anglia Ruskin University 

Research projects and disclosure of information 

The decision as to whether to disclose can arise in a variety of situations, for 
example, when illegal activities by participants come to light.  The issue of disclosure 
becomes even more complex in the area of illegal activities. When a researcher is 
working with certain groups of participants, for example people who take illegal 
drugs, this issue will arise. Clearly, a great deal of valuable research takes place 
within these areas and the issues must be carefully addressed. In general, there is 

                                                 

182
 From http://www.esrc.ac.uk/files/funding/guidance-for-applicants/esrc-framework-for-research-ethics-2015/ 

183
 From http://www.esrc.ac.uk/files/funding/guidance-for-applicants/esrc-framework-for-research-ethics-2015/ p.27 

 

Page 344

http://www.esrc.ac.uk/files/funding/guidance-for-applicants/esrc-framework-for-research-ethics-2015/
http://www.esrc.ac.uk/files/funding/guidance-for-applicants/esrc-framework-for-research-ethics-2015/


                     

272 

 

no legal obligation to report an offence (except in certain terrorism and money 
laundering cases), but careful consideration of the Serious Crime Act 2007 should be 
undertaken by the researcher. This Act deals with offences such as assisting or 
encouraging an offender, which may impose a duty to act in order to avoid liability. 
Legal advice may need to be sought. 

It is important to weigh up the various factors. This will serve to reduce the risk to the 
researcher, as problems are less likely to occur later on. Researchers also need to 
ensure that they are complying with any professional codes of practice and any 
policies within the organisation in which they are working. 

When working with a group of participants where disclosure is likely to occur, there 
should be a clause on the information sheet stating that if certain details are 
revealed, they will need to be passed onto third parties184. 

Guidance from the British Psychological Society (BPS) offers advice on gaining valid 

consent for participation in research.  If any adult participant could find it difficult to 
give informed consent, because of problems understanding the information provided, 
the BPS suggests: 

Where competence to consent is in question, it should be assessed using a 
systematic procedure, such as engaging the potential participant in a dialogue to 
explore their understanding of what it is that they are consenting to. This process 
may usefully include offering a choice to which the response indicates whether the 
individual is capable of making decisions based on likely outcome185.  

  

                                                 

184
 From: 

http://web.anglia.ac.uk/anet/rdcs/ethics/applicants/apply/Research%20projects%20and%20disclosure%20of%20information.pdf 
(Scott, Julie, 2010) 

185
 From 

http://www.bps.org.uk/system/files/Public%20files/code_of_human_research_ethics_dec_2014_inf180_web.pdf 

Page 345

http://web.anglia.ac.uk/anet/rdcs/ethics/applicants/apply/Research%20projects%20and%20disclosure%20of%20information.pdf
http://www.bps.org.uk/system/files/Public%20files/code_of_human_research_ethics_dec_2014_inf180_web.pdf


                     

273 

 

  

Page 346



                     

274 

 

G Value of the local voluntary and community sector paper  

Shani Lee, CEO of the Desta Consortium and a Commissioner, researched and 
wrote the following paper on the value of the local voluntary and community sector. 
Desta is a not-for-profit social enterprise set up by the local voluntary sector in 2011. 
Open to any eligible organisation, Desta currently has 55 member organisations 
which contribute £59 million each year to the local economy, providing nearly 2,000 
jobs and over 2,000 volunteers.  

Introduction  

The local voluntary sector in H&F contributes an estimated £70 million each year to 
the borough economy.  More than £50 million each year comes from non-
government sources – that is, from sources other than local Councils, central 
government departments or the NHS in any of its many forms.  The sector is a 
superb generator of wealth and the smaller the organisation, the more efficient it is at 
generating wealth.  

Definition  

The local voluntary sector is defined as organisations which have a registered 
address within the borough and which operate locally. It does not include housing 
associations, independent schools or faith charities. It also excludes charities which 
have a registered address in the borough but which operate nationally and 
internationally, although it is likely that these contribute to the borough economy 
through jobs, secondary trading and supply chain purchases.  

Size, Structure and Survival Rates of the Local Voluntary and Community 
Sector  

There are 215 charities with a registered address in the borough and which operate 
locally, between them contributing £57 million each year to the H&F economy.  In 
addition, 23 charities based outside the borough contribute a further £5 million each 
year.  

There are 428 incorporated not-for-profit organisations and myriad unincorporated 
community associations in the borough.  There is little aggregated data about their 
income or activity.  From this, it is reasonable to assume that the financial 
contribution of the local voluntary sector to the borough economy is at least £70 
million each year.  

More than 50% of the local sector is comprised of micro organisations with an 
income of less than £10,000 each year, and a further 34% of small organisations 
have an income between £10,000 and £100,000 each year.  

Local voluntary organisations are remarkably resilient, with more than half having a 
survival rate of more than 20 years, and nearly 80% have a survival rate of more 
than five years.  

Wealth and Income Generation and Expenditure  

The local sector as a whole is a superb wealth generator.  Micro and small 
organisations, especially, are highly efficient, raising £10.65 for every £1 of their 

Page 347



                     

275 

 

fundraising budget, and with a greater percentage of their income expended directly 
on charitable activities.  Overall, less than 16% of their income comes from any 
government source.  

By comparison, medium (£100k-£1m pa) and large (£1m-£10m pa) organisations 
generate £8.20 and £4.10 respectively for every £1 of their fundraising budget.  
Overall, income from government sources is 26% for medium organisations and 32% 
for large organisations.  

Expenditure is dominated by health and social services (33%) with 23% spent on 
social services. (Source: Desta Consortium) 

Impact  

In order to retain their charitable status, charities are required to submit a return to 
the Charity Commission each year, documenting how the charity has contributed to 
the public good i.e. what their impact has been. Community Interest Companies and 
Industrial & Provident Societies have similar obligations.  

Issues  

Challenges facing local organisations include access to funding, particularly since 
the effects of the global financial crisis on stock markets and the subsequent low 
interest rates on investments for grant-giving trusts and foundations.  

This is exacerbated by the instability of the current funding situation for both grants 
and contracts. This affects the ability of organisations to plan, especially around staff 
retention. The availability and affordability of premises are a longstanding issue for 
the whole of the sector.  

Although the local sector as a whole contributes over £1 billion each year to the 
north west London economy and over half a billion to the shared service area of 
H&F, Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster, there is minimal investment in 
infrastructure organisations like Sobus, Kensington & Chelsea Social Council and 
One Westminster.  Infrastructure organisations are frequently compelled to compete 
with their own voluntary sector constituency for contracts and other sources of 
funding, with a clustering of activity around public sector delivery (about 28% of the 
local sector’s income overall and diminishing) at the expense of other sources of 
revenue coming into the sector.  

This is also at the expense of the important, wider roles for infrastructure 
organisations of facilitating a rich, diverse, resilient social fabric of micro and small 
organisations; of providing influence and voice for the sector’s beneficiaries and of 
challenging inequality, injustice and discrimination.  

Only about 15% of the local sector is of sufficient size and capacity to engage in 
tendering and contracting for public services. Desta was established as the outcome 
of a £500,000 investment by the local voluntary sector as a specialist membership 
owned and controlled vehicle for this purpose. Even so, the voluntary sector is 
disadvantaged in the provider market and faces prohibitive costs, for example, the 
costs of tendering – typically 5-10% of the annual contract value. Many of these 

Page 348



                     

276 

 

costs are hidden, and they consistently drain economic and social value from the 
sector.  

There are tensions around whether charitable resources should be used to engage 
in unpredictable, costly, high-risk activities such as tendering; and whether contracts 
for services, where the provider becomes an agent for the state, create a conflict of 
interest with charitable objects.  

The volunteer economy is valued at twice the financial contribution of the local 
sector. The current trend towards contracting increased services which are 
dependent on volunteers threatens to disrupt the volunteer economy and destabilise 
existing volunteer activity. There is an assumption that there are minimal costs 
associated with recruiting, managing and supporting volunteers.  

Opportunities  

There are some interesting opportunities about how the Council might work more 
creatively with the voluntary sector to:  

 Support and enhance its inherent wealth generating capacity.  

 Minimise the cost and other barriers to the sector of engaging with the Council. 

 Develop commissioning models, including grants programmes, which are more 
consistent with charitable objects and, in doing so, prevent conflicts of interest.  

 And, in the process, substantially increase the amount of money circulating in the 
local economy through the multiplier effect.  

 
Shani Lee, Chief Executive, Desta shani.lee@destaconsortium.org.uk  
Extracts from Shaping the Voluntary Sector Provider Market (2016) and Delivering 
the New Commissioning Environment (2015), Desta. 
  

Page 349



                     

277 

 

  

Page 350



                     

278 

 

H Time bank scoping paper  

The following paper is from a 2013 Council scoping paper and contains some case 

studies of time banks in operation elsewhere. 

A time bank proposal for Hammersmith & Fulham 

Preamble 

Several projects aimed at promoting social capital and community self-reliance in 

White City are at different stages of development.  In order to align these, and to 

provide a platform for capturing and channelling other organised and ad-hoc 

volunteering initiatives, this paper sets out initial proposals for establishing a time 

bank, initially in White City and later in H&F as a whole. 

What is a time bank?  How do they work? 

Time banking emerged in the United States in the 1980s.  It is a pattern of reciprocal 

service exchange that uses units of time as currency and is an example of a 

complementary monetary system.  The unit of currency, always valued at an hour's 

worth of any person's labour, is generally known as a time credit in the UK.  Time 

banking is primarily used to provide incentives and rewards for work usually done on 

a voluntary basis – see below for examples – which a pure market system devalues.  

Essentially, the "time" one spends providing these types of community services 

earns "time" that one can spend to receive services.  As well as gaining credits, 

participating individuals can potentially gain confidence, social contact and skills 

through giving to others and, through this, build stronger links with neighbours and 

across the community; in other words, develop social capital. 

Examples of services that can be offered by time bank members include: 

 Child care  Writing 

 Legal assistance  Odd jobs 

 Language lessons  Office/business support 

 Home repair and gardening  Tutoring 

 Respite care  Delivery and removals 

Delivering a time bank 

A time bank can, in its simplest form, be paper-based but the system is intended to 

take advantage of computer, and now online, databases for booking and record-

keeping.  Some time banks, such as in Hertfordshire, employ paid co-ordinators to 

keep track of transactions and to match requests for services with those who can 

provide them.  Other time banks select a member or a group of members to handle 

these tasks.  Various organisations, such as Spice Time Credits, provide specialised 

software to help local time banks manage exchanges.  The same organisations also 

often offer consulting services, training, and other materials for individuals or 

organisations looking to start time banks of their own. 

Page 351



                     

279 

 

Developing a time bank in White City 

As part of the Team White City initiative, a time bank could be set up in the White 

City Opportunity Area.  This could bring together under one umbrella a variety of 

different projects to provide a platform for capturing and channelling other organised 

and ad-hoc volunteering initiatives, and to provide a range of incentives for people 

providing their services. 

As no budget currently exists to set up and operate a time bank, any such initiative 

will have to be self-financing.  Seedcorn funding could be provided by the Council 

but, in the light of ongoing budget cuts, the likelihood of this is small and diminishing.   

Another approach might be to let a concession to a social enterprise to set up and 

operate an initial White City-based time bank pilot and, if this is successful, extend 

this to a borough-wide scheme in return for allowing it to bid for grants and raise 

funds for its establishment and operation.  This would allow it to return a profit (or at 

least cover costs) and allow the time bank to be operated by and for the community 

(and at arm’s-length from the council) in line with generally accepted practice 

elsewhere. 

Growing the time bank concept in H&F 

Given the likely financial demands of establishing and running a time bank, 

economies of scale could be exploited by extending the White City concept to other 

parts of the borough.  This could be done in two ways; either by extending the reach 

of the initial time bank to cover the whole borough or by setting up clone time banks 

in other locations, such as Sands End and Earls Court, and joining them together in 

a borough-wide network.  There are pros and cons to each approach; the loss of a 

hyper-local focus in developing a single borough-wide time bank, and with it the 

dilution of social capital, could well be balanced out by the availability of a greater 

range of participants, skills and offerings, for example.  Further, if the time bank is 

extended to cover the borough in whatever format, funding can be levered in from 

other partners, such as local RSLs and housing associations. 

Next steps 

 Decide on the preferred approach 

 Develop a (pilot) implementation plan 

 Appoint operator 

 Secure set-up funding 

 Identify demand for time bank services/offers 

 Recruit participants to deliver these 

 Align with existing projects 
Case studies 

 Hertfordshire 

Page 352



                     

280 

 

Pilot time banks in North Hertfordshire and Watford districts were established in 

2009/10.  The focus of these initial pilots was on older and vulnerable people with 

the overarching aim of reducing social isolation.  The two pilots were stand-alone 

projects with no specific IT involvement.  In addition, there was a longstanding 

‘community chest’ scheme operating in Royston that was incorporated into the North 

Herts scheme.  There was an obvious tie-up with the district voluntary service 

councils (CVSs) in their role as area co-ordinators and promoters of structured 

voluntary activity and so they were selected to operate the pilots. 

In 2011 HCC appointed a senior commissioning manager with the remit for 

developing the time banks.  The existing pilots were widened to embrace the whole 

community, with a special focus on involving schools and encouraging young people 

to volunteer, both informally and through formal schemes such as Duke of 

Edinburgh.  The aim was to try and encourage intergenerational working; young 

people running errands for older people, for example, who would respond with input 

to history projects, etc.  There is now a broad range of individual and group activities. 

Further, the pilots have been encouraged to extend their areas of coverage; the 

North Herts time bank is being supported by Hertfordshire County Council to roll into 

Stevenage BC and will also move shortly into Buntingford, a freestanding town of 

10,000 in the north of the county.  The Watford pilot will be supported to move east 

into Hertsmere district, particularly focusing on Borehamwood, a town of mainly 

London-overspill estates.   

The online booking system Slivers of Time was introduced to support this expansion 

by freeing up administration capacity.  However, some time bank participants still 

require individual off-line support, although the majority of transactions are 

processed online.   

There are two officers currently dedicated to running the pilots – one in North Herts 

and one in Watford – and the total cost of running both pilots is just north of £20k.  

HCC has a limited funding pot and has extended this creatively by using little bits of 

underspend wherever possible (hundreds of pounds).  For this reason the time bank 

network will not extend county-wide for the foreseeable future. 

The next task for HCC is to try and encourage the time banks to network, to share 

expertise and pool management and admin resources where appropriate. 

  

Page 353



                     

281 

 

 Camden Shares 

Camden Shares was set up in May 2010 by the Holy Cross Centre Trust (HCCT), a 

charity that has been in Camden for over twenty years and in 2007 was part of a 

consortium that was successful in securing the mental health day centre tender for 

the borough.   

The King’s Cross Timebank was launched in 2008 as a means of co-producing the 

day centre.  Everyone using the centre is a time banker and can contribute to its 

running.  This sharing of time has led to many user-designed and delivered activity – 

art classes, film clubs, yoga sessions – that extended the HCCT offer.   

Camden Shares came about to provide opportunities for HCCT users to access 

resource across the borough.  At the same time, HCCT recognised that there was a 

lot of under-used resource and capacity in the local voluntary sector that would be 

better used if more people were able to access it. 

To begin Camden Shares, HCCT began doing deals with organisations that provided 

particular activities requested by HCCT service users, such as gym services (to 

support a healthy living project) and a local cinema for tickets.  It soon became clear 

that ‘bigger was better’ and the more members of the time bank – organisations, 

groups and individuals – the more resource could be traded and the more trades 

could be made.  Incrementally, HCCT built up their approach to trading with other 

organisations, building understanding in how to trade fairly and effectively, and 

simultaneously creating the capacity at HCCT to make sure the trades took place. 

As the project grew and a network of interested members developed, the work 

outgrew the role of the King’s Cross Timebank co-ordinator, so HCCT sought 

funding from  Camden Council to recruit a programme manager. 

Even though Camden Shares is a relatively cheap project to run, largely existing on 

one staff member and a website, sustainable future funding remains an area to be 

explored.  Ideas for further funding include exploring the potential commercial and 

strategic value of brokering exchanges and sharing across sectors. 

 Queens Park 

Queens Park does not have a time bank in the conventional sense but uses a 

complementary currency, Spice Time Credits, to reward volunteers for each hour 

worked in one of a variety of local projects and settings: 

 Beethoven Centre Health Hub 

 Friends of Queen’s Park Gardens 

 Queen’s Park Forum 

 Queen’s Park Library (11-19yr olds only) 

 Rainbow Family Centre 

Page 354



                     

282 

 

Spice Time Credits are similar to the Camden Shares rewards in that they can be 

‘spent’ on a variety of different activities in and out of the local area.  For the Queens 

Park scheme these activities include exercise, cinema and selected matches at 

Millwall FC.  Spice operates locally in Queens Park, in the City of London and LB 

Lewisham.  

 Rushey Green 

Rushey Green Time Bank in Catford is one of the longest-running time banks in 

London, having been in operation since 2000.   

It is a registered charity and is the first time bank in the UK to be based in a health-

care setting, the Rushey Green Group Practice.  People can be referred to the time 

bank by their doctors, other healthcare workers or service providers, or they can join 

directly themselves.  It has around 200 members and employs three members of 

staff.  Its website is at http://www.rgtb.org.uk.  

Through joint work between Rushey Green Time Bank and the Rushey Green Group 

Practice, time bank members can be actively involved in improving their own 

wellbeing and in the promotion of good health.  The time bank has received several 

awards including the London Health Commission award for ‘Outstanding 

achievements in partnership with the NHS – activities that bring communities 

together to work with NHS staff to improve health and well-being’; the City of London 

Sustainable City Award for ‘Access to goods and services for disadvantaged 

communities’; and the Founders Award from Dr Edgar Cahn for ‘Pioneers In 

Enlisting The Community To Coproduce Health And Wellbeing’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 355

http://www.rgtb.org.uk/


                     

283 

 

GLOSSARY 

Acorn Acorn is a powerful consumer classification that segments the 

UK population. By analysing demographic data, social factors, 

population and consumer behaviour, it provides precise 

information and an understanding of different types of people. 

ADHD   Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

ALSS   Adult Learning and Skills Service 

ASC   Adult Social Care 

BAME   Black, Asian, and minority ethnic 

BBC    British Broadcasting Company 

BITC   Business in the Community 

BTEC   Business and Technology Education Council 

CAB    Citizens Advice Bureau 

CCG    Clinical Commissioning Group 

CIL   Community Infrastructure Levy 

CJM   Customer Journey Mapping 

CV   Curriculum Vitae 

DBS   Disclosure and Barring Service  

DCLG   Department for Communities and Local Government 

DfE    Department for Education 

DV    Domestic violence 

DWP    Department for Work and Pensions 

ESA    Employment and Support Allowance 

ESOL   English for Speakers of Other Languages 

ESRC   Economic and Social Research Council 

EU   European Union 

FE   Further education 

GLA    Greater London Authority 

Page 356



                     

284 

 

GP   General Practice 

HB    Housing benefit 

HCC   Hertfordshire County Council 

HCCT   Holy Cross Centre Trust 

HFIAP   Hammersmith and Fulham Inner Area Programme 

HFPWC/PWC   Hammersmith and Fulham Poverty and Worklessness 

Commission 

HIV   Human immunodeficiency virus 

HMRC   Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

HPE   Housing and Physical Environment 

IAPT    Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

ILEA   Inner London Education Authority 

IMD    Index of Multiple Deprivation 

IPS   Individual Placement Support 

IT   Information Technology 

JCP    Job Centre Plus 

JSA    Jobseeker’s Allowance 

KPI   Key performance indicator 

LAA   Local Area Agreements 

LB   London Borough 

LLDD   Learning difficulties and/or disabilities 

LPSA   Local Public Service Agreements 

LPSA   Local Public Service Agreements 

MH   Mental health 

MHWB   Mental health and wellbeing 

Mosaic Mosaic UK is Experian's system for classification of UK 

households. 

Page 357



                     

285 

 

MP         Member of Parliament 

MSOA   Medium super output area (an ONS measurement) 

NAO   National Audit Office 

NDC    New Deal for Communities 

NDC   New Deal for Communities 

NEET A young person who is not in education, employment, or 

training. 

NHS    National Health Service 

Nomis Nomis is a service provided by the Office for National Statistics, 

ONS, to give free access to the most detailed and up-to-date UK 

labour market statistics from official sources. 

NPI    New Policy Institute 

NW London   North-West London 

ODPM   Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (now closed) 

ONS    Office for National Statistics 

PHE    Public Health England 

SEU   Social Exclusion Unit 

SFA   Skills Funding Agency 

SRB   Single Regeneration Budget 

STP    Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

Support Group The ESA support group is for claimants who the DWP consider 

to have such severe health problems that there is no current 

prospect of their being able to undertake work or work-related 

activities. 

TRA   Tenants and Residents Association(s) 

UC    Universal Credit 

UK    United Kingdom  

UKHPI   UK House Price Index 

UPG   Urban Partnership Group 

Page 358

http://www.benefitsandwork.co.uk/employment-and-support-allowance/esa-glossary/1486-what-is-esa


                     

286 

 

VCS   Voluntary and community sector 

WCE   White City Enterprise 

WCOA   White City Opportunity Area 

WHP   Work and Health Programme 

WRAG  Work Related Activity Group. The ESA work-related activity 

group is for claimants who the DWP consider will be capable of 

work at some time in the future and who they consider are 

capable of taking steps immediately towards moving into work 

(work-related activities). However, the law explicitly states that 

work-related activities must not require claimants to 'apply for a 

job or undertake work, whether as an employee or otherwise'. 

 

  

Page 359

http://www.benefitsandwork.co.uk/employment-and-support-allowance/esa-glossary/1486-what-is-esa


                     

287 

 

REFERENCES 

Age UK. Undated. Loneliness and isolation evidence review. Available at: 
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-
professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true. [Accessed 
25.1.17] 

Aldridge et al. October 2015. New Policy Institute and Trust for London. London’s 
Poverty Profile. Available at: http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/ [Accessed 
10.2.17] 

Brynin, M and Longhi, S. 2015. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The effect of 
occupation on poverty among ethnic minority groups. Available at: 
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups 
[Accessed 12.12.16] 

Burns, T et al. 2008. Individual Placement and Support: the EQOLISE trial. 
PubMed.Gov. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19085404 
[Accessed 27.12.16] 

Bushe et al. 2014. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Poverty and the Cost of Living. 
Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-and-cost-living [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Care UK. 2015. State of Caring. Available at: http://www.carersuk.org/for-
professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016. [Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
Campaign to End Loneliness. Undated. Alone in the crowd: loneliness and diversity. 
Available at: http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/CEL-
Alone-in-the-crowd.pdf [Accessed 1.2.17] 

Campaign to End Loneliness and University of Kent. 2015. Hidden Citizens: How 
can we identify the most lonely adults? Availabel at: 
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/hidden-citizens/ [Accessed 1.2.17] 

Campaign to End Loneliness. 2015. Promising Approaches to Reducing Loneliness 
and Isolation. Available at: http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-
approaches/. [Accessed 8.2.17] 

Centre for Mental Health. 2016. Individual Placement and Support (IPS). Available 
at: https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support  
[Accessed 10.2.17] 

Centre for Mental Health. 2007. Mental health at work. Available at: 
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/mental-health-at-work. [Accessed 2.12.16] 

Clayton, C and McGough, L. July 2015. Centre for Cities. City deals and skills. 
Available at: http://www.centreforcities.org/reader/city-deals-and-skills/executive-
summary/ [Accessed 29.12.16] 
 
CLES Consulting. 2010. Greater Manchester Health and Worklessness. Available at: 
https://www.rgs.org/NR/rdonlyres/02BFE346-72A8-4BA6-AEE2-
543C55B7E791/0/CLESHealthandWorklessnessReportMar10.pdf [Accessed 2.2.16] 

Page 360

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/effect-occupation-poverty-among-ethnic-minority-groups
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19085404
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-and-cost-living
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-and-cost-living
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/CEL-Alone-in-the-crowd.pdf
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/CEL-Alone-in-the-crowd.pdf
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-placement-and-support
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/mental-health-at-work
http://www.centreforcities.org/reader/city-deals-and-skills/executive-summary/
https://www.rgs.org/NR/rdonlyres/02BFE346-72A8-4BA6-AEE2-543C55B7E791/0/CLESHealthandWorklessnessReportMar10.pdf
https://www.rgs.org/NR/rdonlyres/02BFE346-72A8-4BA6-AEE2-543C55B7E791/0/CLESHealthandWorklessnessReportMar10.pdf


                     

288 

 

Curtis S et al. 2006. The ecological relationship between deprivation, social isolation 
and rates of hospital admission for acute psychiatric care: a comparison of London 
and New York City. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16243678. 
[Accessed 3.1.17] 

Delebarre, Jeanne. 2015. Traineeships. Available at: 
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/24517/2/CBP-7305_Redacted.pdf [Accessed 1 May 2016] 
 
ONS data. 2015. Measuring National Wellbeing. Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/measurin
gnationalwellbeing/localauthorityupdate2015to2016. [Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
Department for Business, Innovation & Skills. 2015. Traineeships: First year process 
evaluation. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41262
3/BIS-15-195-traineeships-first-year-process-evaluation-executive-summary.pdf. 
[Accessed 27.12.16] 

Dolphin, T. 2016. IPPR. Apprenticeships in England: matching skills to employment 
opportunities. Available at: http://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/nsaw-case-
study-dolphin-feb2016.pdf?noredirect=1 [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Employers for Carers. 2016. Research. Available at: 
http://www.employersforcarers.org/resources/research [Accessed 3.3.16] 

Fitzjohn, Lee. 2016.  Economic data analysis. (See Chapter 1b).  

Gambin L and Hogarth T. 2015. 'Factors affecting completion of apprenticeship 
training in England'. Journal of Education and Work. (ISSN: 1363-9080) (DOI: 
10.1080/13639080.2014.997679) 

Gardiner, L and Daffney, G. 2016. Retention Deficit. Resolution Foundation. 
Available at: http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2016/06/Retention-
deficit.pdf [Accessed 8.2.17] 

Gibb et al. 2016. How does housing affect work incentives for people in poverty? 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-
housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty [Accessed 10.12.16] 
 
Goulden, C. 2012. Work IS the best route out of poverty – half the time. Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-best-route-out-
poverty-%E2%80%93-half-time [Accessed 10.12.16] 
 
Greater London Authority. London Plan. Available at: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-
plan/london-plan-chapter-one-context-and-strategy-2 [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Greater Manchester Poverty Commission. 2013. Available at: 
http://www.povertymanchester.org/ [Accessed 2.2.16] 

Page 361

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16243678
http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/24517/2/CBP-7305_Redacted.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/measuringnationalwellbeing/localauthorityupdate2015to2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/measuringnationalwellbeing/localauthorityupdate2015to2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/412623/BIS-15-195-traineeships-first-year-process-evaluation-executive-summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/412623/BIS-15-195-traineeships-first-year-process-evaluation-executive-summary.pdf
http://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/nsaw-case-study-dolphin-feb2016.pdf?noredirect=1
http://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/nsaw-case-study-dolphin-feb2016.pdf?noredirect=1
http://www.employersforcarers.org/resources/research
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2016/06/Retention-deficit.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2016/06/Retention-deficit.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-does-housing-affect-work-incentives-people-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-best-route-out-poverty-%E2%80%93-half-time
https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-best-route-out-poverty-%E2%80%93-half-time
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-one-context-and-strategy-2
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-one-context-and-strategy-2
http://www.povertymanchester.org/


                     

289 

 

Gstir, V. 2015. The Guardian. Social housing – worklessness behind numbers. 
Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-
housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. H&F Business Survey. Available at: 
https://lbhf.citizenspace.com/insight/business/ [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Hammersmith and Fulham Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. Available at: 
https://www.jsna.info/sites/default/files/Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20JSNA
%20Highlights%20Report%202013-14.pdf. [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Housing Market Assessment 2014. 
Available at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing_Market_Assessment_2014.pdf 
[Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. Housing Market Assessment 2016. 
Available at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/shma_final_28.09.16_
0.pdf [Accessed 16.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2014. Borough Profile 2014. Available at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hammersmith_and_ful
ham_borough_profile_2014.pdf [Accessed 25.1.17] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. Undated. Indices of Multiple Deprivation.  

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2015. Local Economic Assessment. Available at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/local_economic_asse
ssment_-_executive_summary.pdf [Accessed 25.1.17] 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2015. Older People in H&F analysis.  

Hammersmith and Fulham Council. 2016. Tackling social isolation and loneliness: A 
strategy for Hammersmith and Fulham. Available at: 
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s85537/Addressing%20Social%20Isolation
%20and%20Loneliness%20In%20Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20-
%20Appendix%201%20Tackling%20social%20i.pdf [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hammersmith and Fulham CCG. 2015. Transforming Services for two million people 
across North-West London. Available at: 
http://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news-and-
publications/news/2015/02/mental-health-and-wellbeing-%E2%80%93-transforming-
services-for-two-million-people-across-north-west-london.aspx. [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Hannah, K and Bosetti, N. 2015. Centre for London. Inside Out Inequality. Available 
at: http://www.centreforlondon.org/publication/inside-out/ [Accessed 10.2.17] 

Holmes et al. 2015. Employment and Support Allowance: the case for change. 
Reform. Available at: http://www.reform.uk/publication/employment-and-support-
allowance-the-case-for-change/. [Accessed 12.12.16] 

Page 362

http://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment
https://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment
https://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2015/aug/18/social-housing-worklessness-behind-numbers-unemployment
https://www.jsna.info/sites/default/files/Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20JSNA%20Highlights%20Report%202013-14.pdf
https://www.jsna.info/sites/default/files/Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20JSNA%20Highlights%20Report%202013-14.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing_Market_Assessment_2014.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/shma_final_28.09.16_0.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/shma_final_28.09.16_0.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hammersmith_and_fulham_borough_profile_2014.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hammersmith_and_fulham_borough_profile_2014.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/local_economic_assessment_-_executive_summary.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/local_economic_assessment_-_executive_summary.pdf
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s85537/Addressing%20Social%20Isolation%20and%20Loneliness%20In%20Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20-%20Appendix%201%20Tackling%20social%20i.pdf
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s85537/Addressing%20Social%20Isolation%20and%20Loneliness%20In%20Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20-%20Appendix%201%20Tackling%20social%20i.pdf
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s85537/Addressing%20Social%20Isolation%20and%20Loneliness%20In%20Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20-%20Appendix%201%20Tackling%20social%20i.pdf
http://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news-and-publications/news/2015/02/mental-health-and-wellbeing-%E2%80%93-transforming-services-for-two-million-people-across-north-west-london.aspx
http://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news-and-publications/news/2015/02/mental-health-and-wellbeing-%E2%80%93-transforming-services-for-two-million-people-across-north-west-london.aspx
http://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news-and-publications/news/2015/02/mental-health-and-wellbeing-%E2%80%93-transforming-services-for-two-million-people-across-north-west-london.aspx
http://centreforlondon.org/publication/inside-out-the-new-geography-of-wealth-and-poverty-in-london-2/
http://www.reform.uk/publication/employment-and-support-allowance-the-case-for-change/
http://www.reform.uk/publication/employment-and-support-allowance-the-case-for-change/


                     

290 

 

Institute for Employment Studied and Ipsos Mori. 2008. Project Evaluation: National 
Skills Academies. Available at: http://www.employment-
studies.co.uk/project/evaluation-national-skills-academies [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Interview with Mike England, then Director of Housing Service at H&F Council. 10th 
February 2016. Hammersmith. 
 
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group. 2016. Working Better: FAQ’s. Available at: 
http://www.islingtonccg.nhs.uk/news-article/Working-Better.htm [Accessed 2.2.17] 

Islington Council. 2014. Islington Employment Commission. Available at: 
https://www.islington.gov.uk//~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-
records/communityandliving/qualityandperformance/reporting/20142015/20141124fin
alreportoftheemploymentcommission [Accessed 2.2.16] 

Kelly, G. 2016. Blog: What’s happening to opportunity in London? The good the bad 
and the ugly. Available at: https://www.trustforlondon.org.uk/news-and-events/news-
and-comments/blog-whats-happening-to-poverty-and-opportunity-in-london-the-
good-the-bad-and-the-ugly/ [Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
KPMG. 2014. The small business burden for London boroughs. Available at: 
https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/10/the-small-business-
macroeconomics-pdf.pdf [Accessed 27.12.16] 

linksUK. 2008. Tackling Child Poverty Scrutiny Commission. Newham Council. 
Available at: http://comlinks.beepweb.co.uk/linksuk/wp-content/PDF/CaseStudies.pdf 
[Accessed 2.2.16] 

Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Apprentice charter: higher quality, better 
outcomes. Available at: http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/promoting-
learning-and-skills/apprentice-charter-higher-quality-better-outcomes. [Accessed 
1.1.17] 

Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Better support for disabled people and those with 
health conditions. Available at: http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-
work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-
support [Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
Learning and Work Institute. 2015. Work and Career Support for the long-term 
unemployed. Available at: http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-
learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/work-and-career 
[Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
Lee, P and Murie, A. 1997. Poverty, housing tenure and social exclusion. Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-housing-
tenure-and-social-exclusion [Accessed 10.12.16] 
 
Like Minded. 2015. Improving mental health and wellbeing in North West London: 
Case for Change. Available at: 
https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/sites/nhsnwlondon/files/documents/Ca
seForChange%20MAIN%20FINAL.pdf. [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Page 363

http://www.employment-studies.co.uk/project/evaluation-national-skills-academies
http://www.employment-studies.co.uk/project/evaluation-national-skills-academies
http://www.islingtonccg.nhs.uk/news-article/Working-Better.htm
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/communityandliving/qualityandperformance/reporting/20142015/20141124finalreportoftheemploymentcommission
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/communityandliving/qualityandperformance/reporting/20142015/20141124finalreportoftheemploymentcommission
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/communityandliving/qualityandperformance/reporting/20142015/20141124finalreportoftheemploymentcommission
https://www.trustforlondon.org.uk/news-and-events/news-and-comments/blog-whats-happening-to-poverty-and-opportunity-in-london-the-good-the-bad-and-the-ugly/
https://www.trustforlondon.org.uk/news-and-events/news-and-comments/blog-whats-happening-to-poverty-and-opportunity-in-london-the-good-the-bad-and-the-ugly/
https://www.trustforlondon.org.uk/news-and-events/news-and-comments/blog-whats-happening-to-poverty-and-opportunity-in-london-the-good-the-bad-and-the-ugly/
https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/10/the-small-business-macroeconomics-pdf.pdf
https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/10/the-small-business-macroeconomics-pdf.pdf
http://comlinks.beepweb.co.uk/linksuk/wp-content/PDF/CaseStudies.pdf
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/sites/niace_en/files/resources/Apprentice%20Charter%20Policy.pdf
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/sites/niace_en/files/resources/Apprentice%20Charter%20Policy.pdf
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/promoting-learning-and-skills/apprentice-charter-higher-quality-better-outcomes
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/promoting-learning-and-skills/apprentice-charter-higher-quality-better-outcomes
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/better-support
file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Evidence%20and%20literature/Helen%2035+%20evidence%20review/Work%20and%20career%20support%20for%20the%20long-term%20unemployed
file://///LBHF.GOV.UK/Root1/FINPP-WORK/+Strategy%20and%20Performance/Poverty%20and%20Worklessness%20Commission/Evidence%20and%20literature/Helen%2035+%20evidence%20review/Work%20and%20career%20support%20for%20the%20long-term%20unemployed
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/work-and-career
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-work/promoting-learning-and-skills/influencing-policy/ten-policies-ten-people/work-and-career
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-housing-tenure-and-social-exclusion
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-housing-tenure-and-social-exclusion
https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/sites/nhsnwlondon/files/documents/CaseForChange%20MAIN%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/sites/nhsnwlondon/files/documents/CaseForChange%20MAIN%20FINAL.pdf


                     

291 

 

 
Leicester City Council. 2013. Leicester Child Poverty Commission. Available at: 
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/179785/leicester-child-poverty-c-sion-
recommendations.pdf [Accessed 2.2.16] 

Litchfield, P. 2014. An independent review of the Work Capability Assessment – year 
five. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/38002
7/wca-fifth-independent-review.pdf. [Accessed 29.11.16] 

Local Government Information Unit. 2015. Loneliness and isolation in older people. 
Available at: http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/loneliness-and-social-isolation-in-older-
people/ [Accessed 1.2.17] 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets. 2010. Reducing Worklessness Among Youth 
Adults Strategy. Available at: 
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s79984/Reducing%20Worklessne
ss%20amongst%20Young%20Adults%2018-24%20-%20main%20report.pdf 
[Accessed 2.2.16] 

London Councils. June 2012.  Getting London working: a 10 point plan to improve 
employment provision. Available at: http://vcsassist.org.uk/news/london-councils-
publish-10-point-plan-to-improve-employment-provision/ [Accessed 29.12.16] 

LondonMapper. Poverty and wealth 1980 – 2010. Available at: 
http://www.londonmapper.org.uk/analysis/poverty-and-wealth-1980-2010/ [Accessed 
8.2.2017] 
 
London’s Poverty Profile. 2016. Hammersmith and Fulham poverty indicators. 
Available at: 
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/boroughs/hammersmith-and-
fulham/ [Accessed 3.1.17] 
 
MacInnes et al. July 2014. New Policy Institute. Disability, long-term conditions and 
poverty. Available at: 
http://www.npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_po
verty.pdf [Accessed 10.2.17] 

MDRC. 2006. Jobs Plus: A Promising Startegy. Available at: 
http://www.mdrc.org/publication/jobs-plus-promising-strategy [Accessed 3.3.16] 

MEL Research. 2016. Poverty and Worklessness Commission: Interview 
programme. 

Mental Health and Social Exclusion Unit. 2004. Mental Health and Social Exclusion. 
Available at: 
http://www.nfao.org/Useful_Websites/MH_Social_Exclusion_report_summary.pdf. 
[Accessed 2.12.16] 

Mental Health Foundation. Managing mental health in the work place. Available at: 
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/CR00233_Ebook_dualbranded_int
eractive.pdf [Accessed 2.12.16] 

Page 364

http://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/179785/leicester-child-poverty-c-sion-recommendations.pdf
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/179785/leicester-child-poverty-c-sion-recommendations.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/380027/wca-fifth-independent-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/380027/wca-fifth-independent-review.pdf
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/loneliness-and-social-isolation-in-older-people/
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/loneliness-and-social-isolation-in-older-people/
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s79984/Reducing%20Worklessness%20amongst%20Young%20Adults%2018-24%20-%20main%20report.pdf
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s79984/Reducing%20Worklessness%20amongst%20Young%20Adults%2018-24%20-%20main%20report.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=5&ved=0ahUKEwi8293tqsrNAhWFAcAKHQD3D9kQFgg_MAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.londoncouncils.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Ffile%2Ffid%2F4153&usg=AFQjCNG04wbR1Rbp6vLdS9FAu2IOoK4XFw
http://www.londonmapper.org.uk/analysis/poverty-and-wealth-1980-2010/
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/boroughs/hammersmith-and-fulham/
http://npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_poverty.pdf
http://npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_poverty.pdf
http://www.npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_poverty.pdf
http://www.npi.org.uk/files/7814/0490/1005/Disability_long_term_conditions_and_poverty.pdf
http://www.mdrc.org/publication/jobs-plus-promising-strategy
http://www.nfao.org/Useful_Websites/MH_Social_Exclusion_report_summary.pdf
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/CR00233_Ebook_dualbranded_interactive.pdf
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/CR00233_Ebook_dualbranded_interactive.pdf


                     

292 

 

Mind. 2016. In the Red. Available at: https://www.mind.org.uk/media/273469/in-the-
red.pdf [Accessed 2.2.17] 

Mind. 2016. Life Support. Available at: 
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/4158991/mind-life-support-briefing.pdf [Accessed 
25.1.17]  

Mind. 2016. Recreational drugs and alcohol. Available at: 
http://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/drugs-
recreational-drugs-alcohol/#.WKRKDFJ4iih [Accessed 2.12.16] 

Mind. 2010. The final taboo: millions of employees forced to lie about stress. 
Available at: http://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/news/the-final-taboo-millions-
of-employees-forced-to-lie-about-stress/#.WKDyOvmLTIU [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Mind. 2014. We’ve Got Work To Do. Available at: 
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/1690126/weve_got_work_to_do.pdf [Accessed 
10.2.17] 

Mulgan et al. 2008. Neighbourhood + Empowerment = Wellbeing. The Young 
Foundation. Available at: http://youngfoundation.org/publications/neighbourliness-
empowerment-wellbeing-is-there-a-formula-for-happy-communities/ [Accessed 
3.1.17] 

National Institute of Continuing Education. 2015. A better future for us all. Available 
at: http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/life-and-society/better-future-
us-all [Accessed 1.2.17] 

National Audit Office. 2008. Increasing employment rates for ethnic minorities. 
Available at: https://www.nao.org.uk/report/increasing-employment-rates-for-ethnic-
minorities/. [Accessed 2.12.16] 

Nesta. 2013. More than medicine: new services for people powered health. Available 
at: http://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/more_than_medicine.pdf [Accessed 
1.2.16] 

Newham Council. 2016. About Newham Workplace. Available at: 
https://www.newham.gov.uk/Pages/Services/About-Newham-Workplace.aspx 
[Accessed 4.4.16] 
 
NHS Digital. 2014. Quality and Outcomes Framework 2013/14. Available at: 
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB15751. [Accessed 27.12.16] 
 
Nomis. 2016. Labour Market Profile: Hammersmith and Fulham. Available at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157249/report.aspx [Accessed 
27.12.16] 
 
ONS Digital. 2015. Does getting a job always lead to people leaving poverty? Office 
for National Statistics. Available at: http://visual.ons.gov.uk/in-work-poverty/ 
[Accessed 10.12.16] 
 
Recruitment and Employment Federation. Getting on: what progression looks like for 

Page 365

https://www.mind.org.uk/media/273469/in-the-red.pdf
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/273469/in-the-red.pdf
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/4158991/mind-life-support-briefing.pdf
http://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/drugs-recreational-drugs-alcohol/#.WKRKDFJ4iih
http://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/drugs-recreational-drugs-alcohol/#.WKRKDFJ4iih
http://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/news/the-final-taboo-millions-of-employees-forced-to-lie-about-stress/#.WKDyOvmLTIU
http://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/news/the-final-taboo-millions-of-employees-forced-to-lie-about-stress/#.WKDyOvmLTIU
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/1690126/weve_got_work_to_do.pdf
https://www.mind.org.uk/media/1690126/weve_got_work_to_do.pdf
http://youngfoundation.org/publications/neighbourliness-empowerment-wellbeing-is-there-a-formula-for-happy-communities/
http://youngfoundation.org/publications/neighbourliness-empowerment-wellbeing-is-there-a-formula-for-happy-communities/
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/life-and-society/better-future-us-all
http://www.learningandwork.org.uk/our-resources/life-and-society/better-future-us-all
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/increasing-employment-rates-for-ethnic-minorities/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/increasing-employment-rates-for-ethnic-minorities/
http://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/more_than_medicine.pdf
https://www.newham.gov.uk/Pages/Services/About-Newham-Workplace.aspx
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB15751
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157249/report.aspx
http://visual.ons.gov.uk/in-work-poverty/
https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf


                     

293 

 

low-paid workers today. Available at: 
https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-
progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Renfrewshire Council. 2015. Tackling Poverty in Renfrewshire: Tackling Poverty 
Strategy 2015-2017. Available at: 
http://www.renfrewshire.gov.uk/media/1040/Tackling-Poverty-Strategy-2015-
2017/pdf/TacklingPovertyStrategy.pdf [Accessed 2.2.16] 

Reward. 22 October 2015. Interview with Sue Macmillan, Commercial Director of 
Mumsnet and Hammersmith and Fulham Councillor. Available at: http://www.reward-
guide.co.uk/hubs/childcare/interview-sue-macmillan-commercial-director-mumsnet 
[Accessed 4.12.16] 
 
Rutter, J and Lugton, D. 2014. Family and Childcare Trust. London Childcare Report. 
Available at: https://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/2014-london-childcare-report 
[Accessed 3.1.17] 

Singleton et al. 2003. Mental health and Work. DWP. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21226
6/hwwb-mental-health-and-work.pdf [Accessed 4.12.16] 

Sissons et al. 2015. Routes onto Employment and Support Allowance. DWP. 
Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21455
6/rrep774.pdf [Accessed 19.12.16] 
 

Shildrick et al. 2012. Are ‘cultures of worklessness’ passed down the generations? 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/are-cultures-
worklessness-passed-down-generations. [Accessed 29.12.16] 
 
Shildrick, T. 2010. The low-pay, no-pay cycle: Understanding recurrent poverty. 
Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle-understanding-
recurrent-poverty [Accessed 29.12.16] 

Spice Time Credits. 2016. Measuring the impact of our work. Available at: 
http://www.justaddspice.org/our-work/scale-impact [Accessed 1.2.16] 

Social Care Institute for Excellence. 2015. At a glance 60: Preventing loneliness and 
social isolation among older people. Available at: 
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/ataglance/ataglance60.asp. [Accessed 1.2.17] 

Time to Change. 2016. Myths/facts. Available at: http://www.time-to-
change.org.uk/mental-health-statistics-facts. [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Timewise Foundation. 2016. Building a Quality Part Time Jobs Market: a 
transformative approach for families. Available at: 
http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-
Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Page 366

https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf
https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf
https://www.rec.uk.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/260255/Getting-On-2015-progression-for-low-paid-workers.pdf
http://www.renfrewshire.gov.uk/media/1040/Tackling-Poverty-Strategy-2015-2017/pdf/TacklingPovertyStrategy.pdf
http://www.renfrewshire.gov.uk/media/1040/Tackling-Poverty-Strategy-2015-2017/pdf/TacklingPovertyStrategy.pdf
http://www.reward-guide.co.uk/hubs/childcare/interview-sue-macmillan-commercial-director-mumsnet
http://www.reward-guide.co.uk/hubs/childcare/interview-sue-macmillan-commercial-director-mumsnet
http://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/london-childcare-report-0
http://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/london-childcare-report-0
https://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/2014-london-childcare-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212266/hwwb-mental-health-and-work.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212266/hwwb-mental-health-and-work.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214556/rrep774.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214556/rrep774.pdf
http://wbg.org.uk/pdfs/worklessness-families-employment-full.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/are-cultures-worklessness-passed-down-generations
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/are-cultures-worklessness-passed-down-generations
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle-understanding-recurrent-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle-understanding-recurrent-poverty
http://www.justaddspice.org/our-work/scale-impact
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/ataglance/ataglance60.asp
http://www.time-to-change.org.uk/mental-health-statistics-facts
http://www.time-to-change.org.uk/mental-health-statistics-facts
http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf
http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf
http://timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Timewise-Foundations-first-social-impact-report.pdf


                     

294 

 

Timewise Foundation. 2012. Social Impact Report 2012. Available at: 
http://dev.timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/06/TWF_Social_Impact_Report_2012.pdf [Accessed 3.4.16] 

Thompson, S. 2015. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The low pay, no pay cycle. 
Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Tunstall,R et al. 2013. The links between housing and poverty. Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/links-between-housing-and-
poverty [Accessed 27.12.16] 

UCL Institute of Health Equity. 2014. Social Determinants of Mental Health. Available 
at: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/social-determinants-of-mental-
health. [Accessed 27.12.16] 

Walker, A. 1 April 2015. BBC News. Who uses zero-hours contracts and why? 
Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-31859468 [Accessed 3.1.17] 

Williams, P. 2014. Landlords’ strategies to address poverty and disadvantage. 
Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/landlords-strategies-address-poverty-and-
disadvantage [Accessed 9.12.16] 
 

Page 367

http://dev.timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/TWF_Social_Impact_Report_2012.pdf
http://dev.timewisefoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/TWF_Social_Impact_Report_2012.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-pay-no-pay-cycle
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/links-between-housing-and-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/links-between-housing-and-poverty
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/social-determinants-of-mental-health
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/social-determinants-of-mental-health
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-31859468
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-31859468
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/landlords-strategies-address-poverty-and-disadvantage
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/landlords-strategies-address-poverty-and-disadvantage


London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET  

 
27 MARCH 2017  

RECOMMENDATION ON OUT OF HOURS CALL CENTRE CONTRACT 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident 
Satisfaction - Councillor Ben Coleman 
 

Open Report 
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt 
information  

 

Classification - For Decision  
 

Key Decision: YES 

Consultation: 
This has been part of the Resident, Business and Visitor Satisfaction Strategy and 
progress has been regularly brought before the Board which includes senior officers 
from Customer Services, Information Technology and Innovation & Change 
Management. 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Belinda Black, Director for Resident and Business 
Satisfaction 
 

Report Author:  
John Cordani, Head of Customer Service 
 

Contact Details: 
020 8753 1318  
john.cordani@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 A key part of the council’s ambitions to improve resident satisfaction is to 
create a cost effective model for the council’s corporate call centre services.  
The current service is provided by Agilisys Ltd.  This report outlines an 
opportunity for the council to improve resident satisfaction with the Out of 
Hours service, and save money by reducing the cost per incoming calls. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the Council serves six months' notice before 1 April 2017 to terminate the 
contract in part in relation to the Out of Hours component of the current 

Page 368

Agenda Item 8



contract with Agilisys Ltd and negotiate a contract price for the second year 
for the Day Time contact centre component only. 
 

2.2 That the Council calls off the Pan London Framework Agreement for Out of 
Hours Call Handling set up by the London Borough of Ealing and award a 
contract to General Dynamics Information Technology Ltd (GDIT) for one year 
and two months commencing on 1 August 2017.   
 

2.3 That the Cabinet delegates authority to the Director for Resident and Business 
Satisfaction, in consultation with the Cabinet Member of Commercial Revenue 
and Resident Satisfaction, to award a call-off contract under the new Pan 
London Framework for Out of Hours Call Handling for a period of six years 
with the option to extend for a further period of 2 years which may be 
exercised annually 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1 Calling off the Framework Agreement will cost the Council approximately 20% 
more in Year One and save the Council approximately 10% of current costs in 
subsequent years (see Appendix 2 for six year costings).  It also reduces 
costs that would be incurred if the Council needs to re-procure an Out of 
Hours service outside of the framework.  
 

3.2 There are potentially further savings if council services decide to transfer 
some on-call services to the Framework Agreement e.g. finding emergency 
shelter for homeless residents.  These savings will be identified during the 
transition period if the decision is made to call off the Framework.  While 
adding more services to the Framework would increase the costs of the 
contract, these additional costs would allow efficiencies to be found elsewhere 
in the Council. 
 

3.3 Calling off the Framework also gives the Council much greater control over 
the cost of the service as it can flex up and down for call volumes.  Changes 
to Out of Hours services are potentially less expensive though the Framework 
than through the current contract (see example in Appendix 2). 
 

3.4 The Framework Agreement is currently being re-procured and the new service 
will take advantage of the latest technology to provide a more seamless 
service for customers.  Current partners cite improved call waiting times, 
reduced call handling times, raised service standards, a complete audit trail 
for all back offices, more efficient processes and partnership enabling end to 
end service improvements as reasons to continue with the partnership. 

 
4. PROPOSAL  

4.1 LBHF’s Corporate Daytime and Out of Hours Call Centre Services are 
provided by Agilisys through a 24-month contract that will expire on 31 
October 2018, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the Contract.   
 

Page 369



4.2 The Out of Hours component is approximately 22% of the current contract.  
These costs will increase under the conditions of the current contract if 
services decide to extend out of hours services.   
 

4.3 A competitive dialogue tender process is underway for the new Out of Hours 
Framework and is being led by the London Borough of Ealing.  This is a 
single-supplier framework so no mini-competition is required. 
 

4.4 Joining the Framework Agreement will allow the Council to take advantage of 
the latest technological advances in order to improve the service and offer 
further cost savings.  There is also significant potential for cost reductions 
through expanding take-up of the service by public sector organisations in 
London and other parts of the UK. 
 

5. OPTION ANALYSIS FOR OUT OF HOURS SERVICE  

5.1 The viable option analysis prepared for the May 2016 Cabinet Report has 
been updated and included in Appendix 3.  A summary of the four options 
reviewed are: 

 
5.2 Option A – Allow the contract to run for another year 
 

5.2.1 The current contract was signed in October 2016 and runs from 1 
November 2016 until 31 October 2018 with no option to extend.  

 
5.2.2 If the contract is allowed to roll over for another year, the service would 

end on 31 October 2018.  As noted in section 4.3, Ealing Council is 
currently running a re-procurement exercise on behalf of the 
Framework partners.  If another provider is awarded the pan-London 
Framework, LBHF would not be able to join until April 2019. 

 
5.2.3 This would effectively remove the option of calling off the Framework as 

the Council could not be without an Out of Hours service for five 
months.  For this reason, Option A is not considered viable. 

 
5.3 Option B – Call off the current Pan-London Out of Hours Framework 

Agreement in August 2017 and the re-procured Framework in October 2018. 
 

5.3.1 The Framework is used by 8 London boroughs (and three other 
partners) and the Council could directly call off, without having to run its 
own procurement exercise. 

 
5.3.2 The Framework re-procurement process is underway and the new 

Framework Agreement contract is due to be awarded in September 
2017 and services are due to begin in October 2018.  If the current 
provider is not awarded the new Framework Agreement then it would 
not be possible for the Council to join the new Framework Agreement 
until April 2019.  This is because there will be significant work to do to 
ensure that the mobilisation of the service is completed within the year. 

 

Page 370



5.3.3  The Council therefore must join the current Framework in August 2017 
before the re-procurement is complete.  This will allow the Council to 
call off the new Framework when it begins in October 2018. 

 
5.3.4 If the Council joins the current Framework in August 2017, it will need 

to continue paying Agilisys for Out of Hours services for three months.  
This requirement increases the cost of the Framework in year one but 
breaks even within three years and saves £31,084 within six years. 

 
5.4 Option C – Re-procuring the Out of Hours Service 

 
 5.4.1 Re-procuring the service was considered in the May 2016 Cabinet 

Paper and discarded on the basis of complexity, risk of service 
disruption and cost.  For a full estimate of costs, refer to Appendix 3. 

 
5.5 Option D – Transfer the Out of Hours Service In-House 

 
 5.5.1 Transferring the service in-house was considered in the May 2016 

Cabinet Paper and discarded on the basis of complexity, risk of service 
disruption and cost.  In-house capability would need to be rebuilt from 
scratch, including call operators, management, process mapping, 
handover, etc. (see Appendix 3) 

 
5.6 In summary, Option B represents the most economical, efficient and effective 

long-term solution for the Council.  It provides the best opportunity for the 
Council to provide an effective service for residents at a lower cost as 
residents increasingly choose to shift to self-service digital services. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

6.1 Refer to Section 5.7 – 5.9 of the Procurement Strategy (Appendix 1).  
Feedback from Framework partners has been solicited and is consistently 
positive.   

 
6.2 As part of RBVSS Board, key internal stakeholders are involved and able to 

contribute to the discussions on the potential options 
 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 No risk of negative equality impacts has been identified arising from the 
recommendation of this report to call off the Pan-London Out of Hours 
Framework.  The impacts on the residents of the borough and therefore those 
individuals or groups having one or more of the protected characteristics is 
expected to be directly neutral as the new contract arrangement will provide 
an equivalent or enhanced level of service to the current provision. 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The Council entered into a contract with Agilisys Limited for the provision of 
contact centre services on 31 October 2016 (the Contract).  In accordance 
with clause 30.4, the Council may terminate the contract in part by giving 
Agilisys at least 6 months’ notice, and in any event the notice must be served 

Page 371



before 1 April 2017.  Following this the contract price should be adjusted to 
reflect fairly the Services which remain and if the Parties are unable to agree 
such adjustment, the matter should be referred to the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure and if necessary to the Expert or Mediator.   

 
8.2 In relation to the award of the two proposed call-off contracts, this should be 

made in accordance with Regulation 33 of the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. The Council should ensure that it is named in the OJEU Notice before it 
calls off the framework agreements. 

 
8.3 Implications verified/completed by: Kar-Yee Chan, Acting Principal Solicitor, 

Shared Legal Services, 020 8753 2772 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 As set out in Appendix 2 the proposed new arrangements for the Out of Hours 
Call Centre Contract will eventually deliver estimated full-year savings of 
£10,000 under current arrangements.  These savings may increase should 
council services adopt the same processes as other Framework partners e.g. 
call-offs on noise and nuisance calls and emergency accommodation. 

 
9.2 9.1.2 However in the first year, there will be a cost of £21,000 over the 

current budget.  This is largely due to the requirement to double pay on the 
Agilisys contract for three months. 

 
9.3 Implications verified by: Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning and 

Monitoring 020 8753 2531 
 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

10.1 If the recommendations contained in this report are agreed, the benefits in 
terms of local buying and generating local employment are limited.  The 
preferred option however does achieve other benefits as identified in 3.4 
above as well as managing calls from local businesses in relation to 
emergency services out of normal Council working. 

 
10.2 It is expected that economic and community benefit, where possible, will be 

identified and detailed in the new contract; and that in addition, these benefits 
are monitored by the client management team for this contract, and reported 
back to economic development and Members on a regular basis 

 
10.3 Implications verified by: Antonia Hollingsworth, Economic Development, 020 

8753 1698 
 
11. COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 These are set out in Section 8 of Appendix 1 (Procurement Strategy) 
 

11.2 Comments verified by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement (Job-share).  
Telephone 020 8753 2581. 

 
 

Page 372



 
LIST OF APPENDICES 

 
APPENDIX 1 – Procurement Strategy & Business Case Out of Hours Contact 
Centre (contained in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda). 

Page 373



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CABINET 
 

27 MARCH 2017 
  

RE-PROCUREMENT OF LIFT MAINTENANCE CONTRACT 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing – Councillor Lisa Homan 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 
Key Decision: Yes 

Other services consulted: None 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  Nilavra Mukerji –Director for Housing Services 
 

Report Author: Henrietta Jacobs 
Procurement Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3729  
E-mail: henrietta.jacobs@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report seeks approval to procure (in accordance with the Public Contract 

Regulations 2015 (as amended)) a 5-year lift maintenance contract, with the 
option to extend for a further 2 years. This contract is essential to continue to 
provide a day to day lift repair service, planned & statutory servicing, and 
inspections, as well as minor improvement works to all lifts in the Council’s 
Housing stock.  

 
1.2. The existing contract with PDERS Lifts Ltd will expire on 01 January 2018. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. That approval be given to go out to procurement for a 5-year term contract, for 

lift maintenance using the Restricted Procedure in accordance with the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. The contract will have built into it, the option to 
extend for a further 2 years (5+2). 

  
2.2. To note that the award criteria is to be set at 50% Price and 50% Quality and 

the contract will have a notional annual value of £558,300.  

Page 374

Agenda Item 9

mailto:henrietta.jacobs@lbhf.gov.uk


2.3. To note that funding for this contract will be met from the Housing Revenue 
Account. The budget for lift maintenance is £558,300 for 2017/18. The 
contract is expected to commence January 2018 and these works will be 
delivered from the £558,300 up to the end of March 2018. Similar level of 
budget is anticipated for subsequent years subject to annual approval.  

 
2.4. To note that the final budget will need to be set after-market testing. 
 
 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
3.1. The current contract with PDERS Lifts Ltd expires 1st January 2018 and a new 

contract is needed to manage this services. 
 
3.2. The Public Contract Regulation 2015 requires that, where the estimated value 

of the contract exceeds the financial thresholds there is a statutory 
requirement to go out to the market for competitive tendering.  The preferred 
option contained in the Council’s Contract Standing Order (CSO), in the 
absence of a suitable framework is to use the Restricted Procedure where 
there is a well-developed market. 

 
 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 
4.1. The proposed services to be undertaken within this contract include planned 

servicing, remedial works, day to day breakdown call outs repairs, including 
repairs caused by vandalism, together with minor improvements works and 
repairs, to the borough’s lift installation located within the Council’s housing 
stock. 

 
4.2. The contract will be fully comprehensive, whereby tenderers will be required to 

submit a lump sum price for carrying out planned servicing, remedial works 
and call-out repairs, including repairs caused by vandalism up to a maximum 
value of £500. The contract will include a schedule of rates to cover for works 
which fall outside the comprehensive element of the contract.  

 
4.3. There is also the provision for the service provider to submit prices for minor 

improvement works. Any works outside the comprehensive element of the 
contract which become necessary during the contracts will be subject to the 
appropriate approvals process based on the value of works. 

 
4.4. The comprehensive elements of the contract exclude complete replacements of 

major parts such as the main control panel, motor and gear, and the lift car 
which will be priced separately with cost derived from the tendered schedule 
of rates. 

 
4.5. The contract will include financially incentivised key performance indicators 

(KPI), whereby, under the terms of the contract, 10% of the amounts payable 
to the contractor in any reporting month are dependent upon the contractor 

Page 375



achieving the necessary performance as defined by the KPI. The areas of 
performance to be measured are: 

 Lift Availability 

 Submission of Financial Reports 

 Provision of Contractors Quality Checks Reports 

 Response Time for (P1) Breakdown Works 

 Lift Trappings 

 Number of Breakdowns per month 

 Receipt of “Complete” service Reports 

 Performance against servicing programme 
  

4.6. A tender appraisal panel (TAP) will be set up to oversee the tendering 
process. This panel will consist of officers from Housing Property Services, 
Legal, Finance and Leasehold services team. 

 
4.7. The contract will be subject to inflationary increase which will be calculated 

using “indices for maintenance cost” table M&E published under DETR’s 
updating percentages. There will be no increase to the first year of the 
contract. 

 
4.8. Tenderers will be requested to submit as part of their Method & Resource 

statement, their Customer care proposal, health and safety policy, their 
corporate Social Responsibility, Social value tool kit, Environmental policy on 
how they would minimise any impact on the environment and minimise energy 
consumption whilst carrying out these works. 

 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  
 
5.1. Officers considered the following options: 
 
 Option 1 – Deliver the service from existing resources 
5.2. The Lifts Maintenance contract is required for the Council to carry out its 

mandatory and statutory obligations of maintaining all passenger lifts within 
the Council’s housing stock. This Works/Service cannot be provided in house 
as specialist skills and expertise are required for the delivery of the works. 

 
 Option 2 – Use an existing Framework 
5.3. No appropriate framework agreement was found that met the requirement of 

the Council both in terms of specification and geographical location.  
 
 Option 3 – Recommended Option – Go out to Procurement 
5.4. Given the lack of viable alternatives, the only option is to undertake a formal 

procurement process. Moreover, this option will give the Council the 
opportunity to tailor the specification to meet the requirements of the borough, 
while ensuring that regard is given to a robust social value tool within the 
community.  

 
5.5. In line with the Council’s social value policy objectives for supporting local 

businesses, the recommended option will ensure that there is engagement 
with such businesses from the start. The proposal will be to carry out a “Meet 

Page 376



the Buyer Day Event” for both Tier 1 and Tier 2 contractors early in the 
process.  Inviting Tier 2 business (who are likely to be local businesses) to 
engage in the process may provide sub-contracting opportunities to potential 
Tier 1 companies.  The concept is to create an avenue for local business with 
interest in the contract to ask questions and get information about the 
opportunity, which will help them decide on how they want to express their 
interest, either as a main contractor or sub-contractor.  

 
5.6. Procurement Process See Appendix 1 
 
5.7. Contract Management 
 
 The day to day management of the contract will be carried out by the 

Engineering team in accordance with the provisions of contract terms. The 
GC Works 9 contract will be used and Key Performance Indicators (KPI), will 
be built into the contracts to measure the contractors’ performance. See 
section 4.5 above for detailed KPI list. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1. The individual leaseholder contributions are likely to exceed £100. Therefore, 

statutory consultation is required to be undertaken with the leaseholders in the 
form of Notices of Intention (NOI). List of affected properties have been sent 
to leasehold Services Team for a formal consultation. The date for the NOI to 
go out and expiry dates will be confirmed by the team. 

 
6.2.  After the procurement exercise and submitted tenders have been evaluated, 

a formal notice of proposal (NOP) will be sent to relevant leaseholders and 
the statutory 35 days observation period will be carried out before contract 
award.   

 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. The provision of a high quality and reliable lift maintenance services, is of 

benefit to all groups within the community in Hammersmith and Fulham. The 
loss of a lift service within a building however, is of distress to vulnerable 
sectors of the community such as the elderly, people with disabilities and 
people with young children. The contract will include regular planned 
preventative maintenance programme to reduce the frequency of lift failure 
and provide a two-hour response time for reactive repairs, 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week. The works will not have an adverse effect on any protected 
groups. 

 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. The procurement process proposed for award of this above threshold lift 

maintenance services contract using the Restricted Procedure will be in 
compliance with the Council’s obligations under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 as amended.  

 

Page 377



8.2. The recommendations are accordingly endorsed. 
 
8.3. Implications verified/completed by: Babul Mukherjee, Senior 

Solicitor(Contracts), Shared Legal Services, Tel. 02073613410 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. The contract costs will be funded from the revenue budgets within the 

Housing Repairs division of the Housing Revenue Account. The budget for 
2017/18 for the lift maintenance contract is provisionally set at £558,300 and 
is due to be approved by Cabinet on the 6th February 2017, as part of the 
Financial Plan for Council Homes 2017/18 report. It is anticipated that future 
years’ budgets will be maintained at the same level as proposed for 2017/18 
to ensure that the lifts maintenance contract is fully funded. 

 
9.2. Implications completed by: Alan Hollamby, Senior Accountant, Housing &    

Regeneration Department, 0208 753 1773. 
 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS:  
 
10.1.  This contract may create opportunity for local business. The meet the Buyer 

day event, will create an avenue for local businesses to discover potential 
opportunities if any, once the contract is procured. See section 4 of Appendix 
1 below 

 
11. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1.  The procurement process will be undertaken in accordance with the 

Restricted procedure (as outlined in section 9 of the Appendix).  The 
Corporate Procurement Team has advised on process and will continue to 
provide support throughout to the Tender Appraisal Panel. 

 
11.2.  Implications verified/completed by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement 

(Job-Share).  Telephone 020 8753 2581. 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT:  
 
None 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
APPENDIX 1:  BUSINESS CASE AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY REPORT RE 
LIFT MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

Page 378



APPENDIX 1:  BUSINESS CASE AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY REPORT RE 
LIFT MAINTENANCE CONTRACT.   
 
 
BUSINESS CASE 
 

1. BUSINESS CASE – WHY THE PROCUREMENT IS NEEDED 
 
The Council is obliged to provide lift service for all its residents and leaseholders. Not 
having a contract in place to provide this essential service can amount to a statutory 
breach of contract between the Authority and residents/leaseholders. This contract is 
essential to continue to provide a day to day reactive lift repair service, planned & 
statutory servicing and inspection as well as minor improvement works to ensure all 
lifts in the Council’s Housing stock are maintained to the required standards and 
provide a safe and reliable lift service for the Council’s residents.  
 
 

2. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Funding for this contract is contained within the Housing Revenue Account and 
where applicable allocated capital budgets.  
 
 

3. OPTIONS APPRAISAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT 
       See Section 5 of main report. 
 

4. THE MARKET 
 
Provision of Lift Maintenance Contract, is considered a well-developed market. The 
proposal is to engage with the market prior to going out to tender by organising a 
“Meet the Buyer day” event to encourage both local businesses and main players in 
the market to identify areas of opportunity if any for local businesses.  
The Council’s Economic Development team have been consulted and are keen to 
provide details of local businesses subject to this report’s approval. 
 
   
PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 
 

5. CONTRACT PACKAGE, LENGTH AND SPECIFICATION 
  
1. Contract Package: The Council’s standard service contract will be used and 

will include KPI’s to measure contractor’s performance, especially where it 
relates to compliance. The contract will be reviewed and amended if 
necessary, by legal prior to publication of opportunity. 

2. Length of contract: The contract will be a 5 years’ term contract with the 
option to extend for an additional 2 years. 

3. Specification: Specification is currently being finalised by the relevant team 
and should be fully ready before publication. 

 
 

Page 379



 
6. SOCIAL VALUE, LOCAL ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY BENEFITS 

 
 In line with the Council’s social value policy objectives for supporting local 
businesses, the recommended option will ensure that there is engagement with such 
local businesses from the start. The proposal will be to carry out a Meet the “Buyer 
Day Event” for both Tier 1 and Tier 2 contractors early in the process. Inviting Tier 2 
businesses (who are likely to be local businesses) to engage in the process may 
provide sub-contracting opportunities to potential Tier 1 contractors. The concept is 
to create an avenue for local businesses with interest in the contract to ask questions 
and get information about the opportunity, which will help them decide on how they 
want to express interest, either as a main contractor or sub-contractor.  
 

7. OTHER STRATEGIC POLICY OBJECTIVES 
 
Residents & leaseholder’s will be notified when necessary, however, leaseholders 
consultation will not apply if the value of service does not exceed the statutory value 
of £100 for services and £250 for works.  
 

8. STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 
 

Consultation with relevant leaseholders where applicable, will be carried out subject 
to procurement strategy approval by Cabinet. See section 6 of main report. 
 

9. PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE 
    
 Procurement Process 
The procurement process will be carried out using the Restricted Procedure, in 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as amended (Regulations). 
The process will involve publishing the opportunity in the Official Journal of the 
European Union (OJEU), Contracts Finder as well as Hammersmith’s & Fulham’s 
procurement portal. 
 
The restricted procedure involves a two stage process – The selection   stage 
followed by the Invitation to Tender(ITT) and award stage.  At the selection stage, 
each tenderer will be evaluated upon their responses to the Government’s Standard 
Selection Questionnaire; this is based on their Financial standing, Eligibility, and 
Technical ability to deliver the service. The proposal is to invite the 6 highest scoring 
organisations to submit formal tenders.  
 
Tenderer’s will be evaluated based on their Quality submission (Method statement) 
and Price(Commercial) submission. The award criteria will be 50% Quality and 50% 
Price. At the Tender award stage, tenderers will be scored based on their responses 
to the following: 
 
• Performance & Quality Control 
• Resourcing 
• Health & Safety 
• Customer care 
• Environmental 

Page 380



• Social Value 
 
Tenders will be formally evaluated by a Tender Appraisal Panel (TAP). Individual 
panel members will score the tenders independently. After the scoring has been 
completed, a moderation meeting will be arranged for the TAP to agree the final 
moderated scores. The successful bid will be based on the tenderer scoring the 
highest for both quality and price.  
 
 Value for Money Statement (VFM) 
Given the above recommended option of going out to procurement, this option will 
enable the Council to engage and create opportunities for local businesses. There 
may not be immediate cash savings but there will be immeasurable benefit to the 
Council considering the opportunities social value will bring to the community. The 
award criteria of 50% price and 50% quality and the seeking interest from the wider 
market, is to get value for money. 
 
 
 

10. CONTRACT AWARD CRITERIA 
      

The Quality/Price ratio being recommended is: 
 
 50% quality and 
 50% price. 
 
 This is because the contract has robust KPI’s to monitor potential contractor’s 
performance and by using the restricted procedure, all potential contractors 
would have gone through the selection stage to determine their technical ability to 
provide the service.   
The table below outlines the criteria and weighting that will be used to score the 
quality section of the tender: 
 

Quality criteria Weighting 

Performance & Quality control 13 

Resourcing 7 

Health & Safety 7 

Customer care 13 

Environmental 5 

Social value 5 

Total 50 

  

 
 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE 
 

11. PROJECT MANAGEMENT    
 
For this procurement, a project board which comprised of senior managers from 
housing, procurement legal, finance and leasehold team have been set up to 
oversee the entire procurement process from start to finish and beyond. The 

Page 381



proposal is for the project board to meet monthly to discuss any issues, identify risk 
and recommend and approve options as at when needed. 
A tender appraisal panel, comprising procurement, service owners, finance and 
resident is also set up to undertake the evaluation of tenderers submission both 
during the selection and tender stage. Any risk identified by procurement will be 
escalated to the project board for decision.  
 

12. INDICATIVE TIMETABLE 
 
Below are key milestones for this procurement.  
 

Activity Date 

Strategy Approval 27th March 2017 

Publication (OJEU, contract finder 
& portal) 

7th April 2017 

Selection Questionnaire (SQ) 
deadline 

26th April 2017 

Evaluation/shortlisting deadline 19th May 2017 

ITT Publication 31st May 2017 

ITT return deadline 23rd June 2017 

Evaluation deadline 21st July 2017 

Award report approval 28th July 2017 

 
 

13. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 

The service owner (Engineering Team) headed by Engineering Group Leader, will 
be responsible for the day to day management of the contract. The engineering team 
have been involved in putting together this report and will be involved throughout the 
procurement process, working with the procurement manager. The GC Works 9 
contract will be used with Key Performance Indicators (KPI), built into the contract to 
monitor and measure contactors performance.  

 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Page 382



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CABINET 
 

27 MARCH 2017 
 
 

 

HRA HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18 TO 2020/21 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing – Councillor Lisa Homan 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Decision  
 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Consultation: Finance & Corporate Services, Legal, Procurement 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Nilavra Mukerji, Director of Housing Services 
 

Report Author: Vince Conway, Asset Manager, 
Housing Property Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk 
Tel: 020-8753-1915  

 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report provides details of the 2017/18 and 2018/19 HRA housing 
capital programme, proposes budget envelopes for the following two 
financial years, and seeks authority to proceed with the various projects 
identified in Appendix 1. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To approve the projects and schemes identified in this report (see 
Appendix 1) which will form the 2017/18 and 2018/19 HRA Housing 
Capital Programme to the value of £33.523m for 2017/18 and £29.634m 
for 2018/19 (budget envelopes approved at Full Council on 22nd February 
2017 as part of the Council’s four-year capital programme). To note the 
risks attached to the 2018/19 budget envelope.  
 

2.2. To approve the budget envelope of £28.826 million for 2019/20 and 
£32.475 million for 2020/21 and note the funding streams identified as part 
of the HRA Housing Capital Programme. This recommendation is subject 
to future quarterly / annual changes to the overall Council capital 
programme as set out in future reports to Cabinet. 

Page 383

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk


 
2.3. To delegate authority to the Director of Housing Services, in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Housing, to issue orders for work and 
projects to be carried out using, where appropriate, the council’s ten-year 
Term Partnering Contract with Mitie Property Services, approved by 
Cabinet 8th April 2013 or any other suitable contracts which are put in 
place in the period in accordance with Contract Standing Orders para 17. 

 
2.4. To delegate authority to the Director of Housing Services, in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Housing, to approve future amendments to 
the programme for operational reasons where such amendments can be 
contained within the overall approved budget envelope and available 
resources. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1 On 22nd February 2017 Full Council approved as part of the Council’s 
four-year capital programme a funding envelope of £124.458 million for the 
HRA housing capital programme. This report provides further details of the 
proposed projects to be undertaken during the first two years of this 
period. A list of schemes, including budget estimates, is provided in 
Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 Approval of the 2017/18-2020/21 housing capital programme is sought to 

meet existing commitments and to enable the council to continue to fulfil 
its statutory obligations and protect the health, safety and wellbeing of 
residents and stakeholders. 

 
3.3 The proposed budgets have been formed in light of the Government’s 

policy of annual 1% rent reductions in social housing which has an 
adverse impact on the ability of the council to maintain and improve its 
homes and estates, particularly: 

 Carrying out effective, lasting measures to improve energy efficiency, 
provide affordable warmth, and tackle incidences of damp, 
condensation, and mould growth within our housing stock. 

 Improving the estate environment and public realm.  
  .  

3.4 The two-year approval period will allow more time for improved planning of 
programme delivery, detailed surveys, prioritisation, impact assessments, 
and consultation and ensure limited resources are targeted effectively.  

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

4.1 In previous years the capital programme approval has been confined to a 
single year with in-principle approval also given to a budget envelope for 
the following two years. Whilst this arrangement was welcome, it still 
provided only limited assurance to officers when trying to plan and 
organise the future programme. A firm two-year budget approval will 
enable better forward planning and allow more timely and meaningful 
consultation with residents and other stakeholders.   

Page 384



 
4.2. The details of proposals for the programme are provided in Appendix 1. 

 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

5.1. The proposed programme seeks to meet the ongoing investment needs of 
the borough’s social housing stock. The investment needs of the stock 
have been prioritised and a balance sought between maintaining homes at 
a decent standard and addressing the residual backlog of works to 
elements not specifically covered by the standard, particularly: Health and 
Safety risks; lift modernisation; controlled entry upgrades; landlord’s 
electrical services; cyclical external and communal repairs. 

 
5.2. The prioritisation process has drawn on various sources including the 

recommendations of the general stock condition survey undertaken by 
Savills during 2015 to inform the work of the Residents Commission. 
Further detailed site surveys and ongoing analysis of repair demands have 
also been used to firm up the programme.  

 
 

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. There is a statutory obligation to consult with tenants and leaseholders 
before carrying out works and to have regard to any observations or 
representations made by the residents. For schemes included in the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 capital programme, residents will be consulted on 
the proposed works in line with the Department’s updated communications 
strategy. 

 
6.2. Following approval of the programme details of proposed schemes will be 

circulated to ward members. Ward members will also be invited to resident 
consultation meetings for specific projects. 

 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed for the 2017/18 
Housing Capital Programme and some key issues are discussed below.  
 

7.2. The programme includes various projects specific to sheltered housing 
that is accommodation specifically designed or adapted for people aged 
60 years or over. Schemes include upgrades to communal heating, the 
renewal of warden call systems, and the provision of mobility scooter 
charging points. Other than the potential short-term inconvenience of 
having works on site, these schemes will have a positive impact.  

 
7.3. The programme includes projects to modernise passenger lifts serving 

blocks on various housing estates. These works will mean that lifts are 
temporarily out of service whilst the works are undertaken. Prior to works, 
consultation with residents will be undertaken and alternative 
arrangements for more vulnerable residents such as elderly residents, 

Page 385



people with impaired mobility, pregnant women, or residents with young 
children will be considered. In exceptional circumstances this may entail a 
temporary decant while the service is interrupted. However, in the longer 
term, the works will improve the reliability of the affected lifts and ensure a 
better service to our residents. This project is therefore analysed as having 
both positive and negative impacts, with the positive outweighing the 
short-term negative impacts. 

 
7.4. The programme includes a budget of £0.8m for disabled adaptations. 

These are works that can help give tenants more freedom to move in and 
around their home and to access essential facilities within it. Adaptations 
can range from minor works such as the provision of grab rails or stair rails 
to major improvements such as the installation of stairlifts, ramps or walk-
in showers. Eligibility for equipment or adaptations is assessed under the 
Fair Access to Care Services (FACs) criteria. Major adaptations are 
subsequently assessed by the Council’s Occupational Therapist and will 
be appropriate to meet the needs of tenants with a permanent or 
substantial disability. 

 
7.5. The Head of Change Delivery has reviewed the EIA and commented that it 

has taken a detailed look at the potential impacts on the protected groups 
and that the conclusions drawn are reasonable.  In his opinion, due regard 
has been given to the impacts on protected groups and the necessary 
thinking around mitigating actions on the temporary negative impacts of 
access to lifts is demonstrated by the EIA.  

7.6. Equality implications verified by Martin Nottage – Director of Innovation 
and Change Management – 0208 753 3542 

 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The Council should ensure that individual projects are procured in 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s 
Contract Standing Orders.  In addition, any work issued under the 
Council’s Term Partnering Contract with Mitie Property Service should be 
deemed in-scope and carried out in accordance with the terms of the 
Contract. 
 

8.2. The Council has a statutory obligation to consult with tenants and 
leaseholders before carrying out works of improvement. 

 
8.3. Implications completed by: Janette Mullins, Senior Solicitor (Housing 

Litigation), Shared Legal Services, 020 8753 2744 
 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. Full Council on 22nd February 2017 approved a funding envelope of 
£124.458m for the four year HRA housing capital programme. The various 
funding streams for the first two years are shown in Table 1 below: 

Page 386



 

Funding Stream 2017/18 (£m) 2018/19 (£m) 

Major Repairs Reserve £18.174 £17.404 

Capital receipts £10.036 £3.353 

Leasehold contributions £2.849 £2.849 

Revenue contributions £2.464 £6.028 

Total £33.523 £29.634 

 
9.2. Any significant variances will be reported via the Council’s quarterly capital 

monitoring regime. 
 

9.3. For the capitalisation of salaries (Appendix 1 para 1.9), officers will ensure 
that statutory capitalisation guidance is adhered to with time sheets being 
completed as appropriate. 

 
9.4. It should be noted that the budget envelopes of £28.826 million for 

2019/20 and £32.475 million for 2020/21 are subject to amendments (as 
required to reflect significant changes in housing resources) to the HRA 
Business Plan Financial Model. It is currently planned that this model will 
be formally updated at least every 6 months. 

 
9.5. There are several key risks to the Housing Revenue Account business 

plan which may impact on the availability of future funds for 18/19 
onwards, especially the £6m revenue contribution.   

 
9.6. These are set out in detail in the Financial Plan for Council Homes: The 

Housing Revenue Account Financial Strategy, 2017/18 Housing Revenue 
Account Budget and 2017/18 rent reduction which went to Cabinet on 6th 
February 2017. The most significant of these are: 

 

 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 provided for the enforced sale 
of high value voids with the sale proceeds being paid over to central 
Government.  
Government have confirmed the Council will not have to make any 
payment for high value void sales in 2017/18 as the full roll out of 
Right to Buy to Housing Associations will not happen until after April 
2018. But as Government have not yet published the detailed 
regulations we do not know the size of the payments we may have 
to make in future years. Therefore, the long term HRA financial plan 
still excludes the impact of the high value voids policy; this 
Government policy represents a significant risk to the HRA financial 
plan, especially to the future housing capital programme. 
 

 The Government’s programme of Welfare Reform is expected to 
have a significant impact on the Council’s ability to collect rental 
income and will result in increased bad debt charges to the HRA. 
This may result in lower revenue surpluses being available to fund 
the Housing Capital Programme. 

 

Page 387



9.7 The impact of these risks on the budget envelope will need to be 
specifically considered as part of the quarterly capital monitoring reports. 
Property Services Officers should ensure that the plans for 2018/19 are 
sufficiently flexible to allow changes to be made as and when these risks 
become clearer over the course of the coming year. 

 
9.8 Implications completed by: Kath Corbett, Director of Finance and 

Resources, Housing and Regeneration: 020 8753 3031; Sudhir Kafle, 
Housing Investment Accountant: 020 8753 4391 

 
 

10.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS  

10.1. The housing capital programme will create opportunities for local 
businesses where contracts or sub-contracts are tendered. 
 

10.2. Major schemes will create employment opportunities for trainees and 
apprenticeships.  

 
 

11. COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1  All procurements contained within this capital programme will need to 
comply with the council’s Contract Standing Orders and, where 
applicable, the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

 
11.2 It is noted that recommendation 2.3 is to delegate authority to the Director 

of Housing Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Housing, to issue orders for work and projects to be carried out using, 
where appropriate, the council’s ten-year Term Partnering Contract with 
Mitie Property Services, approved by Cabinet 8th April 2013 or any other 
suitable contracts which are put in place in the period in accordance with 
Contract Standing Orders para 17. 

 
11.3  Where the council is choosing to use the MITIE or other existing term 

contracts to undertake the works, the test and duty of obtaining Best 
Value will still apply, and these will be subject to on-going performance 
review. Works above £100,000 being procured outside of existing 
contractual arrangements will seek Cabinet approval of their procurement 
strategy before proceeding to market.  

 
11.4 Implications completed by Vince Conway, Asset Manager, HRD x1915, 

and verified by John Francis, Interim Head of Procurement (job-share)  
020-8753-2572.  

 

Page 388



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. HRA Asset Management Plan 
2013-16 – published  

Vince Conway x1915 Housing Property 
Services, 3rd Floor 
HTH Extension 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: 2017/18-2020/21 Housing Capital Programme, details of 
proposed schemes 
 
 

Page 389



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

Detailed 2017/18 and 2018/19 Capital Programme 
 
1.1 The programme has been broadly divided into four categories as follows: 
 

 Category 1: Prior commitments 
 Category 2: Statutory works; health and safety priorities; capitalisation 
 Category 3: Mechanical and electrical works; building structure 
 Category 4: Internal amenities; estate environment; miscellaneous 
 
The budget figures presented are those for 2017/18 and 2018/19. 
 
Category 1: Prior commitments 
 

1.2 Prior Commitments, Refs 1-26 (£16.289m): This category includes approved 
contracts currently on site where expenditure will continue to be incurred during 
2017/18 and completed projects pending settlement of final accounts.  

    
   Category 2: Statutory and health and safety works; capitalisation 
 
1.3 Fire Safety Improvements, Ref 27 (£3.0m): A management plan has been 

developed for the delivery of large-scale improvements to the borough’s housing 
stock to comply with current regulations and best practice under The Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  Specific works are dependent on the 
recommendations of detailed fire risk assessments and guidance from The 
London Fire Brigade. Works within the plan may include the replacement of 
communal or flat entrance doors, compartmentalisation of roof voids, 
improvements to means of escape and the like. Where feasible, fire safety works 
will be integrated within wider refurbishment projects and budget virements may 
result.  

 
1.4 Water Tank Replacements, Ref 28 (£0.2m): A rolling programme replacing old 

steel communal water tanks has been completed. The proposed budget provision 
for 2017/18 will allow for ad hoc replacements where the potential spread of 
legionella is identified as a risk during statutory biennial surveys or other site 
inspections. Works may also include the upgrade of loft spaces to ensure secure 
access and a safe working environment for operatives.  

 
1.5 Disabled Adaptations, Ref 29 (£1.6m):  A programme delivering major 

adaptations for disabled tenants living in council homes in order to meet their 
needs and statutory entitlements. The budget is specifically for council homes as 
a separate funding stream exists for private sector and housing association 
properties. The programme is important in restoring or enabling independent 
living, privacy, confidence, and dignity for individual tenants and their families. 
The Government Office for Disability Issues has published research showing that 
the provision of housing adaptations and equipment for disabled people produces 
savings to health and social care budgets by reducing the need for admission to, 
or facilitating the earlier discharge from, residential care; by reducing the need for 
home care; and by prevention of accidents within the home. The proposed 
budget is set to meet current demand and is broadly in line with the annual sums 
for Disability Facilities Adaptations assumed in the 2012 self-financing settlement.  

Page 390



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

 
1.6 Landlord’s Electrical Installations, Ref 30 (£1.5m): This programme seeks to 

ensure the safety and reliability of landlord’s electrical installations and 
distribution systems. Blocks are being prioritised based on the recommendations 
of periodic inspections. Proposed works will include the replacement of old 
cabling, risers and distribution boards, together with improvements to communal 
and external lighting where currently inadequate and the provision of emergency 
lighting where none exists. Where lighting is being replaced the new installations 
will be LED units to reduce energy consumption and costs.  

 
1.7 Suited locks, communal doors, Ref 31 (£0.6m): A proposal to install fob-activated 

locks to communal doors in converted street properties is currently being 
developed. This will enable access to properties to carry out health and safety 
compliance inspection and testing and related works to communal areas.  

 
1.8. Capitalisation Works, Ref 32 (£3m): The day-to-day running of the housing 

repairs service will sometimes require works of a capital nature to be undertaken 
because circumstances mean they cannot be reasonably deferred to future 
planned programmes. Such work may include remedial works to address 
potential hazards, or to prevent deterioration of elements that might otherwise 
have a secondary effect to the detriment of the property and its occupants.  The 
category includes the refurbishment of void properties to ensure they remain in a 
lettable condition.  

 
1.9 Capitalisation of Salaries, Ref 33 (£3.55m): The delivery of the programme 

requires building architects, mechanical and electrical engineers, Quantity 
Surveyors, Construction Design Management (CDM) Co-ordinators, Clerk Of 
Works, project managers and support staff. These costs can be legitimately 
charged to capital as they are directly attributable to the works.  

 
  Category 3: Mechanical and electrical works, building structure. 
 
1.10 Major Development Voids, Ref 34 (£1.1m): On occasion properties that become 

void are considered for reconfiguration, conversion, or extension to make them 
better suited to specific housing needs. Feasibilities are currently underway to 
provide options for the future use of two properties previously used for sheltered 
housing warden accommodation.  

 
1.11 Warden Call System Upgrade, Ref 35 (£1.032m): There are a total of 22 

Sheltered Housing accommodation schemes within the Council’s domestic 
property portfolio each fitted with hard-wired emergency call systems. These 
systems consist of alarm pull cords and speech units installed within each 
dwelling and provide two way remote communication between the resident and a 
warden or operator within a central monitoring station (Careline). The current 
system is obsolete and increasingly difficult to maintain. It is proposed to adopt 
new technology that provides a fully integrated service combining audio and 
video Telecare, door entry, and access control.  

 
1.12 Heat Metering, Ref 36 (£1.195m): The Heat Network (Metering and Billing) 

Regulations 2014 requires suppliers to install point of entry meters and final 

Page 391



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

customer meters in buildings with customers connected to communal heating or 
a district heat network. Approximately 1,700 homes are connected to communal 
or district heating systems and, subject to further clarification from the National 
Measurement Regulation Office, may need to have meters installed. Suitable 
temperature control devices may also need to be provided, such as room 
thermostats or Thermostatic Radiator Valves (TRVs).  

 
1.13 Communal Boilers, heating distribution systems, Refs 37-40 (£2.01m): Central 

boilers and associated plant supporting communal and district heating systems 
have been gradually replaced as they approach the end of their economic lives to 
ensure residents continue to receive an efficient, effective supply of heating and 
hot water. Contracts are being procured to replace distribution pipework at 
Seagrave Road Estate and boiler replacement at Banim Street, Munden Street, 
and Swanbank Court sheltered housing schemes. In addition a longer term 
framework is proposed to include works at sites over the next four years with 
Malabar Court, Wheatsheaf Lane, Farm Lane, and Chelmsford Close/St Albans 
Terrace identified as initial priorities. Officers are exploring options for alternative 
funding streams for this area of investment which may free up resources to be 
used elsewhere in the capital programme.    

 
1.14 Communal Extract Fans – Ref 41 (£0.6m): It is proposed to replace the 

communal extract systems serving the three tower blocks on Edward Woods 
Estate to ensure flats are sufficiently ventilated and reduce the likelihood of 
condensation.  
  

1.15 Lift modernisation, Refs 42-44 (£4.7m): The programme of lift modernisation 
started in 2012 will continue. Further to £2.65m identified within prior 
commitments (refs 2-7) to complete schemes at Edward Woods, Lancaster 
Court, Sulivan Court, and William Church Estate, separate contracts are being 
procured for works to lifts serving Stafford Cripps House and Ellen Wilkinson 
House, Clem Attlee Estate, and all lifts on the Springvale Estate. In addition, a 
framework is being procured to complete all 39 remaining blocks in the 
programme by 2020, starting with a phased programme on the Charecroft Estate 
from 2018 

 
1.16 Window/roof replacement, fabric repairs and external refurbishment, Refs 45-51 

(£18.904m):  The planned maintenance programme seeks to address backlog 
repairs and carry out the timely replacement of life-expired building elements 
such as windows, doors and roof structures or coverings. The scope of works will 
vary between properties and in some cases the problems of specific blocks may 
need more extensive works such as external wall insulation.  

 
1.17 Controlled Access, Ref 52 (£1.1m): A framework is being procured to enable the 

timely replacement of ageing systems over a four year programme. Blocks which 
do not currently benefit from controlled access will be considered for installation 
where it is technically feasible, cost-effective, and supported by residents and 
housing management. A new system is proposed at Burne Jones House, Lytton 
Estate during 2017. 

 
 Category 4: Internal amenity, estate works, miscellaneous  

Page 392



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

 
1.18 Internal Modernisation, Ref 53 (£0.5m): Budget provision for the first two years is 

limited to ad hoc priority cases, generally properties omitted from previous 
programmes, and will be assessed by technical officers.  

 
1.19 Estates CCTV, Ref 54 (£0.5m): This budget will support the continued extension 

and upgrade of CCTV on housing estates, a programme started in 2009. 
Priorities are finalised by the Safer Neighbourhoods team in consultation with 
residents, housing management and the local police.  

 
1.20 Neighbourhood Investment Fund, Ref 55 (£0.270m) and Groundwork 

Environmental Programme, Ref 56 (£0.220m): The Neighbourhood Investment 
Fund is an annual budget historically controlled by registered Tenant and 
Resident Associations (TRAs) and earmarked for small-scale improvements to 
the estate environment or tenant facilities. Schemes are considered and funding 
allocated by the Investment Forum facilitated by the Resident Involvement Team. 
The Groundwork Environmental Programme is an annual budget allocation also 
administered by the Investment Forum. The Forum considers and approves 
environmental improvement schemes submitted by TRAs which can include, for 
example, soft and hard landscaping of open spaces or provision of new play 
areas. 

 
1.21 Mobility Scooter Charging Points, Ref 57 (£0.2m): A potential scheme is being 

developed with London Fire Brigade to provide mobility scooter charging points 
on sheltered housing estates. Match funding is being sought from the LFB’s 
Community Safety Investment Fund 

 
1.22 Estate Lighting and Estate Roads, Refs 58-59 (£0.6m): These allocations allow 

for the limited renewal of defective lighting columns and luminaires and remedial 
works to address potential hazards on estate roads and paths. 

 
1.23 Tenant Halls, Ref 60 (£0.4m): The future budget envelope allows the continuation 

of prioritised investment to tenant and community halls. Works will include 
necessary improvements for accessibility, essential repairs to building fabric, and 
modernisation of fixtures and fittings.  

 
1.24 Garage Improvements, Ref 61 (£0.8m): A prioritised programme of investment is 

required to address the backlog of works to garage sites and ensure that they 
remain suitable for letting and can generate and sustain increases to future rental 
income.  

 
1.25 Brought forward and unforeseen works, Ref 62 (£0.5m): This budget is proposed 

for unforeseen or emergency works that may arise during the year and where 
project substitution is not practicable. It will be allocated to specific projects in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing. 

 
1.26 Re-profiling, Ref 63 (-£2.290m): Since the formation of the budget approved at Full 

Council, slippage of £2.290m has been reported via the monthly capital monitor.  
 

Page 393



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

 
 
 
 

Category 1: Prior Commitments

Ref Scheme Description 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

1 Individual boiler replacements Planned individual boiler replacement programme 1,050 1,075 1,100 1,125

2 Norland House lift, Edward Woods Full modernisation of 3 no. passenger lifts 150

3 Sulivan Court blocks R,S,U,V Full modernisation of 4 no. passenger lifts 440

4 Sulivan Court blocks T,N,H,A Full modernisation of 4 no. passenger lifts 480

5

Swan/Ravensworth; 21-40, 66-90, 91-105 

Lancaster Court 
Full modernisation of 4 no. passenger lifts 430

6 1-20, 41-65, 106-130, 131-166 Lancaster Ct Full modernisation of 5 no. passenger lifts 580

7 Shackleton & Drake Courts Full modernisation of 4 no. passenger lifts 470 100

8 600-602 Fulham Road Window replacement; external refurbishment 270

9 Rainville Court windows Window replacement; external refurbishment 40

10 8-14 Westwick Gardens windows Window replacement; external refurbishment 30

11 Frithville Gardens windows Window replacement; external refurbishment 1,410

12

Ashchurch Park Villas, Ashchurch Terrace, 

Hadyn Park Court, Coningham Road
Window replacement; external refurbishment 1,125

13

Hargraves, Abercrombie, Bathurst, Brisbane 

Houses, White City Estate
Window replacement; external refurbishment 350

14 Ashcroft Square Drainage improvements; communal repairs and redecoration 760

15 Field Road Estate External/communal refurbishment 175

16

Clem Attlee Phase 2, Tom Williams and Jim 

Griffiths Houses
External refurbishment; roof renewal 770

17 Verulam House External/communal refurbishment 24

18 Maystar Estate External/communal refurbishment 2,400

19 Edward Woods medium rise External/communal refurbishment 1,000

20 Ex-PPM contract, various properties Window replacement; external refurbishment 270

21 Dan Leno Walk windows, roof, ppm Window & roof replacement; external refurbishment 400

22 Wyfold Road windows, ppm Window replacement; external/communal refurbishment 800

23 30 Burnfoot Avenue windows, ppm Window & roof replacement; external/communal refurbishment 350

24 Shepherds Court reinstatement works Reinstatement works following fire 1,040

25 Mitie Planned Maintenance framework External/communal refurbishment, Mitie PPM framework 250

26 Melrose Terrace landlords electrics Upgrade works 50

Sub-total 15,114 1,175 1,100 1,125

P
age 394



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

 

P
age 395



Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21 : Appendix 1 

 

P
age 396



                                                                 
London Borough of Hammersmith & 

Fulham 
 

CABINET  
 

27 MARCH 2017 
 

 

MOVING CONFIRM TO AN EXTERNAL HOSTING SOLUTION (CONFIRM ON 
DEMAND) 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents 
Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt 
information  

 

Classification - For Policy & Advisory Review & Comment 
Key Decision: Yes  
 

Consultation: ICT, PROCUREMENT, FINANCE & LEGAL 
 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi 
 

Report Author: Eustace Dunkwu 
Highways Systems Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3010 
E-mail: eustace.dunkwu@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Confirm is the current Highways Asset Maintenance application used by 

Transport and Highways at the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
to: a) maintain a historic record of all roadworks in the borough; and b) identify 
which highway assets are nearing the end of their serviceable life and require 
maintenance or replacement. It is invaluable for the network management 
team for keeping track of utility works on the highway and enables officers to 
pursue utility companies to rectify defects resulting from shoddy 
reinstatements. Confirm is also used by other teams in Environmental 
Services, Housing department and by the Contact Centre as a service 
monitoring and incident management tool.   
 

1.2. The highways maintenance team uses the data held on Confirm to draw up 
their annual maintenance programme taking account of the age of a particular 
stretch of highway and the number of times that it was dug up in the past.  

Page 397

Agenda Item 11



 
1.3. Pitney Bowes were previously providing support for the Council’s Confirm 

setup via Hammersmith & Fulham Bridge Partnership while Agilisys were 
hosting the Confirm server. In July 2017, the data held on the Confirm server 
is due to be hosted by BT as part of the corporate IT migration programme. 
This gives the Council the opportunity to review the current arrangement and 
weigh up options to bring savings and improve efficiency. 
 

1.4. This report recommends that we commission. Pitney Bowes Software Europe 
Ltd to host the Council’s Confirm system from July 2017 bringing an annual 
saving of £43K (compared to the current costs) and a saving of £30K 
compared to the cost of migrating to BT.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. To agree the Procurement Strategy set out in Appendix 1 (contained in the 
exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda). 
 

2.2. To agree for the Council to enter into a contract with Pitney Bowes to become 
licensed users of Confirm on Demand and for the software to be hosted by 
Pitney Bowes. The contract to be externally drawn down from the Crown 
Commercial Services G-Cloud 7 framework at a total cost of £306,535.00 
from 1 July 2017 until 30 June 2019. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The Procurement Strategy usually sets out the approach to the procurement, 
building a business case for the Cabinet’s consideration.  However, soft 
market analysis indicates that the most economical, efficient, and effective 
approach in this instance would be to call off from a framework agreement 
established by Crown Commercial Services’ ICT G-Cloud arrangement rather 
than the Council managing its own stand-alone procurement procedure.  
 

3.2. Using a framework set up by Crown Commercial Services as a procurement 
vehicle is an efficient procurement method and is compliant with the relevant 
Regulations and the Council’s Contracts Standing Orders. 

3.3. In practical terms, migrating from the existing Confirm software to Confirm on 
Demand services will realise savings for the Council, increase system 
reliability and reduce down time, and bring about more efficiencies (the 
system will be hosted by the software vendors who are best placed for 
managing the system).  

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1. The Confirm licence contract between Hammersmith & Fulham Bridge 

Partnership and Pitney Bowes ended on the 31st of October 2016. A new 
one-year contract was signed between LBHF and Pitney Bowes in December 
2016. The Confirm sever is currently hosted by Agilisys and will be moved to 
BT as part of the Council’s IT data migration project. Confirm is scheduled to 
be moved in July 2017.  
 

Page 398



4.2. We have experienced disruptions and system failures in the past due to 
connectivity issues between Confirm and Agilisys. One such example has 
been the sporadic loss of connectivity between Confirm and external networks 
which prevents inspectors on site from receiving up to date information. It is 
estimated that this issue alone has cost the Council around £40k last year due 
to loss of productivity 
 

5. OPTIONS  
 

5.1. There are two options available. Option 1 is to move Confirm to a BT server 
and Option 2 is to move Confirm to a hosted solution provided by Pitney 
Bowes. 
 
Option 1 – Move Confirm to BT 

 
5.2. This is the default position if we take no action. The Confirm data will be 

migrated to servers hosted by BT. We would continue to pay Pitney Bowes for 
the software licence with minimal support from the software providers and 
upgrades at cost. 
 

5.3. BT have little knowledge of the software package and experience has shown 
that we can expect frequent periods of downtime with reduced productivity 
and income. 
 
Option 2 – Move Confirm to Pitney Bowes and upgrade to Confirm on 
Demand 
 

5.4. Moving to Confirm on Demand is more cost effective and provides a much 
improved software platform  
 

6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1. Having discussed this with other stakeholders/Confirm users (users from 
Environmental Services, Housing, and Contact Centre), they are all fully on 
board. 
 

6.2. This is a technical software product that provides back-office support to the 
Council’s operatives who have been consulted about possible upgrades to the 
software.  Wider consultation with non-users (e.g. members of the public) is 
not appropriate 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1     There are no equality issues 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. From the basis of the information provided in this report, the proposed award 

of this contract to Pitney Bowes is compliant with the requirements of the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  
 

Page 399



8.2. The value of the proposed contract is above the relevant EU procurement 
threshold and so the full procurement regime applies. Calling off from the G-
Cloud Framework Agreement in the manner described herein is a compliant 
route under this regime for the Council to source commoditised cloud-based 
services such as Confirm on a direct-award basis, provided the call-off 
procedure set out in the G-Cloud Framework Agreement is observed. Pitney 
Bowes is a listed supplier under Lot 3 of the G-Cloud Framework (Software as 
a Service).  
 

8.3. The estimated value of this contract means that, to fulfil compliance with the 
Council’s Standing Orders, the award of the contract must be subject to a 
Cabinet Key Decision and the finalised contract must be executed as a deed 
and published in the Council’s Contracts Register. 
 

8.4. Implications completed by: Raj Shah, Solicitor (Tri-Borough Shared Legal 
Services, seconded from Sharpe Pritchard LLP) 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. Option 1 is the default position as it has already been decided that as part of 

the data migration from Agilisys to BT Confirm on Demand will be transferred 
to BT at a cost of £367,229 over the next two years. Also, a move to BT could 
well mean that the current poor service would continue at an estimated cost to 
the Council of £40,000 per year. These costs are already covered by existing 
revenue budgets. 
 

9.2. Option 2 would reduce the cost of Confirm by £60,694 over the next two years 
and would achieve better service  
 

9.3. Option 2 would be implemented mid way through the financial year so the 
saving in 2017-18 would be approximately £30,400 
 

9.4. A detailed cost breakdown of both options is in Appendix 1 at paragraph 3.5.3 
 

9.5. These costs are not additional costs and have been covered from existing 
revenue budgets. There are therefore no financial implications. 

 
9.6. Implications verified/completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, 0208 

753 6071. 
 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
10.1. There are no relevant business implications. 

 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

Procurement 
 
11.1. The Council’s Contract Standing Orders require the cabinet to approve the 

Procurement Strategy before the procurement process begins.  As part of 
developing the strategy the service department will undertake soft market 

Page 400



testing of the available procurement options that the Council should be 
considering.   
 

11.2. Occasionally, the most economic, efficient, and effective option arising out of 
the soft-market testing/market analysis will be to call-off from a specialist 
framework agreement, thus rendering it impracticable for the Council to 
manage its own procurement exercise.  In this instance the Procurement 
Strategy has identified this as the best option.  This means that approval of 
the Procurement Strategy and the award of a contract can be contained within 
a single report rather than two. 
 

11.3. By calling off from a framework the costs to the Council in terms of carrying 
out a procurement exercise are significantly reduced.  This G-Cloud 
framework was established by Crown Commercial Services so the Council 
has the assurance that it has been let in accordance with the requirements of 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended).  The risks of a 
challenge for non-compliance with the Regulations is extremely low, providing 
the call-off has been carried out in accordance with the way it was 
established. 

 
11.4. Implications completed and verified by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of 

Procurement (Job-share).  Telephone 020 8753 2581. 
 
12. ICT IMPLICATIONS 

 
12.1. ICT have carried out a high level investigation of requirements and overall 

solution for moving Confirm from the current hosted solution to Pitney Bowes 
and the costs provided for this migration are indicative only and are subject to 
risk of upward variance.  Sign-off and approval of the final solution and cost of 
migration is subject to a fully approved solutions proposal. 

 
12.2. Implications verified/completed by:  David Stoneman, Project Management 

Team Leader, 020 8753 3036. 
 
13. OTHER IMPLICATION PARAGRAPHS 

 
13.1. There are no other implications 
 
 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
14.1 None 
 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
APPENDIX 1:  BUSINESS CASE AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY REPORT  -  
(contained in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda). 
 
 
 

Page 401



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET  

 

27 MARCH 2017  

 
CYCLE QUIETWAY 2 - BETWEEN EAST ACTON AND KENSINGTON 
 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents 
Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Decision 
 
Key Decision: YES 
 

Wards Affected: College Park and Old Oak. 
 

Accountable Director:  Mahmood Siddiqi -  Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author:  
Richard Duffill:  Borough Cycling Officer 

Contact Details: 
Tel: Tel: 020 8753 1749 
E-mail:   Richard.Duffill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1.        EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The report seeks Cabinet approval to implement a cycle Quietway between 

East Acton and Kensington as part of the Transport for London (“TfL”) 
Quietway programme, and the Mayor of London’s cycling vision, and spend 
the budget allocated by TfL for this scheme of £517,000. 
 

1.2. The Hammersmith and Fulham cycling strategy was adopted in October 2015 
and identified the provision of cycle Quietways in its list of objectives. 

 
1.3. In 2015 TfL identified several Quietway routes in the borough and appointed 

independent consultants Sustrans to develop a route in conjunction with 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council (“The Council”). 

 
1.4 The route meets objectives in the Labour Party Manifesto 2014 of Greening 

the borough, and making it better and safer for cycling.  
 
1.5 The proposed route will have a positive impact on public health and air 

quality, by improving and encouraging active travel by both providing better 
access for all, and planting more plants and trees along the route.  This 

Page 402

Agenda Item 12



 

 

supports the recommendations of the H&F Air Quality Commission, as 
reported to Cabinet on 7 November 2016. 

 
1.6. The route will meet the strategy objectives relating to, Environment, Transport 

and Air Quality in the H&F Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-
21, Section 1.4. Achieving the change, we need.  
 

1.7. Consultation was carried out with stakeholders and resulted in 85% of 
respondents either fully supporting or partially supporting the proposal.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 That approval be given to implement cycle Quietway 2 route scheme from 

East Acton to Kensington as per the design as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
2.2 To place an order with F M Conway PLC under the provisions of the existing 

Term Contract to carry out implementation works. Breakdown of the costs for 
the project are listed in Appendix 2. 
 

2.3 To charge TfL for £52,000 fees incurred by officers on the project. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1 Physical improvements to the public highway are designed to reduce 
congestion, and promote road safety, fall under the council’s statutory duties 
under a variety of acts including the Traffic Management Act 2004. 
 

3.2 The creation of new cycle routes in the borough will enable us to reach our 
cycle strategy target of 8% of journeys made by bicycle by 2031. 
 

3.3 Where changes to the Highways are proposed, these are to be in line with 
section 122 of the Road Traffic Act 1984; securing the expeditious, 
convenient, and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 
pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities. 
 

3.4 The full cost of the scheme of £517,000 has been allocated to Hammersmith 
and Fulham council by TfL for implementation, and a failure to implement the 
scheme will result in the council losing the funding. 
 
 
 

4. INTRODUCTION  
 

4.1 The new Cycling Strategy for Hammersmith and Fulham was adopted by 
Cabinet on 12th October 2015.  

4.2 The project has a number of key objectives that support the Cycling Strategy 
and the Mayor of London’s cycling vision. These are: 

 Increase the number of cyclists using alternative cycle routes 

 Improve cyclist safety and the perception of safety in the borough. 

Page 403



 

 

 Improve pedestrian safety. 

 Improvement in the quality of the public realm 

4.3 The council are aiming to make the majority of cycle routes in the borough 
“Quietways”, routes that overcome barriers to cycling, and therefore targeting 
cyclists who want to use quieter, low-traffic routes. 

5.  BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 TfL identified that Route 213 from East Acton to Kensington and Chelsea is a 

Quietway cycle route that could be developed in the first phase of Quietway 
routes in the borough. 

 
6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
6.1 Outline designs were developed by Sustrans in consultation with the council 

and included a  number of route rides undertaken in 2015. The final route 
alignment was approved by TfL in 2015 

 
6.2 Full details of the options and analysis of the route are included in Appendix 3. 
 
7.   CONSULTATION 

7.1 The council carried out a public consultation between the 30 June 2016 and 
the 30 September 2016. 

7.2 The council hosted the consultation on the main council cycling web site. 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/cycling 

7.3 The council emailed details of the consultation to a comprehensive 
stakeholder listing in Hammersmith and Fulham containing businesses, 
resident groups, and cycling groups. 

 
7.4 The council also emailed details of the consultation to ward councillors, main 

Cycling groups in London such as the London Cycling Campaign and 
neighbouring boroughs. 

7.5 The council used social media such as Facebook and Twitter to publicise the 
Quietway route proposal and consultation. 

  
7.6 The consultation was centred on the Citizenspace consultation process on the 

main Council cycling web site referred to above. 

7.7 The council presented the proposed Quietway route to the Community Safety, 
Environment and Resident Services Policy and Accountability Committee on 
the 2 March 2016 for comments from the committee and attendees. The 
committee were in support of the proposal.  

 

Page 404

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/cycling


 

 

8. ANALYSIS OF CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 The consultation received 48 responses in total, 45 of which were through the 

Citizenspace consultation tool. Three responses were directly received by the 
Borough Cycling officer. 32 responses were in favour of the scheme and nine 
partially supported the scheme.  

 
8.2 Over 85% of respondents stated that they (partly or fully) supported the 

Quietway scheme. 
 
8.3  Almost 86% of respondents were in support of measures to stop HGV ‘rat-

running’ on Fitzneal Street. 

8.4  A summary of the data from the online survey Citizenspace is contained 
within Appendix 4. 

 
8.5  Full details of all the responses provided via Citizenspace is contained in 

Appendix 5. 
   
9. CHANGES TO PROPOSAL FOLLOWING CONSULTATION. 

9.1 The consultation responses requested that a number of minor changes were 
made to the proposed route alignment.  

9.2 The proposed new route alignment into Wormwood Scrubs has been 
removed and replaced with an alternative route along the northern edge of the 
Red Gra car park. 

9.3 The junction of Scrubs Lane and Mitre Way has been simplified to not include 
signalisation but will now include a new cyclist friendly parallel ‘Tiger’ 
crossing. 

9.4 Where possible Sustainable Urban Drainage systems have been included 
along the route. 

9.5 Additional drainage has been included in the scheme to ensure the route is 
fully accessible all year. 

10. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 An EIA has been completed and does not identify any implications to 
protected individuals or groups. 
 

10.2 As outlined in sections 7.2 – 7.5 the method of communication ensured equal 
access to the consultation for all residents. 

 
10.3 The council will publicise the results of the consultation on the Council’s 

website and use Twitter and Facebook to promote the scheme.  
 
10.4 Once the Quietway route has been constructed, a number of promotional 

events will be organised with residents.  

Page 405



 

 

 
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The proposed works set out in this report are being carried out by the council 

in its capacity as Local Highway Authority. The Highways Act 1980 (“The 
1980 Act”) authorised the Local Highway Authority to carry out works to 
repair, maintain, or replace highways, which includes the footway or 
pavement. 

 
11.2 Section 65 of the 1980 Act authorises the Local Highway Authority to 

construct, in or by the side of a highway maintainable at public expense, a 
cycle track as part of the highway: and they may light any cycle track 
constructed by them under this section. 

 
11.3 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 provides the Council with powers to 

regulate or restrict traffic on roads within the Borough, in the interest of safety, 
including the making of Traffic Regulation Orders. 

 
11.4 Section 149 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 requires that London 

Local Authorities must implement the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (“MTS”). 
This strategy sets out the transport policy framework for London. A central 
component of the MTS is to improve cycling infrastructure to encourage more 
trips to be taken by cycle 

 
11.5 The Council confirms that, in formulating the proposals set out in this report, it 

has had regard to its Public Sector duty referred to in paragraph 10.4 above 
when carrying out its statutory function as Local Highway Authority. 

 
11.6 The Human Rights Act 1998 imposed a duty on the Council as public 

authority to apply the European Convention on Human Rights and 
accordingly, the Council must not act in a way which is incompatible with 
these rights. The most important rights for highway purposes are Article 8 
(respect for homes); Article 6 (natural justice) and Article 1 of the First 
Protocol (peaceful enjoyment of property). 

 
11.7 Implications verified/completed by: (Horatio Chance, Deputy Team Leader, 

Licensing, and Highways Solicitor, 020 8753 1863) 
 
12. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 TfL have allocated £517k from the Quietway programme to deliver this route. 
 
12.2 LBHF officer costs are fully covered by the overall TfL budget. 

 
12.3 At present the scheme costs are based on an estimate by Sustrans. 
 
12.4 The funding however is limited to the amount approved by the TfL board plus 

a contingency. 
 

Page 406



 

 

12.5 Implications verified/completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, 0208    
753 6071 

 
13. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
13.1 Businesses will benefit from the borough meeting its transport objectives and 

targets. Increased cycling can have a beneficial impact on the economic 
viability of businesses and the health of employees in all areas. 

 
13.2 Improved and safe cycle routes can have a positive benefit for adjacent   

business owners. 
 
13.3 Increasing the number of cycle trips (particularly short trips currently made by 

car) can help to remove the number of vehicles from the road, reducing 
congestion, improving road safety, and increasing road space for deliveries 
and customers.  

 
13.4 Implications/verifications completed by Richard Duffill, Borough Cycling 

officer, 02088753 1749 
 
14. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
14.1 The Quietway route and the benefits of reductions in accidents would 

contribute positively to the management of risk as noted on the Shared 
Services Risk Register, risk number 8, Managing Statutory Duty - compliance 
with laws and regulations and by encouraging Cycling contribute to reduction 
in air pollution, an environmental and health risk to the citizens, visitors, 
business, and office users in the Borough. 

 
14.2 The Hammersmith & Fulham Labour administration manifesto for 2014 

includes “being fairer to drivers and better for cyclists”, adoption of the 
strategy therefore contributes to the management of local policies risk. 

 
14.3 Implications verified/completed by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk 

Manager, 020 8753 2587.15 
 
15.  COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
15.1 There are no procurement related issues as the recommendations relate to an 

order to be placed with the Council’s current term contractor (F M Conway) to 
carry out the highway works to create the Quietway Cycle Route from East 
Acton to Kensington. 

 
15.2 Implications completed by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement 

Consultant (FCS, TTS and HRD), 020 8753 2581. 
 
 
 
  

Page 407



 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None   

 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1. Route Alignment. 
 
Appendix 2. Quietway cost breakdown. 
 
Appendix 3. Evaluation of Options. 
 
Appendix 4. Consultation report. 
 
Appendix 5. Consultation Stakeholders responses. 
 

Page 408



Page 409



APPENDIX 2. 

 

Breakdown of Quietway budget. 

 Location Works description. Total 

Officer Fees   52,000 

    

Section 1 Du Cane Road 

Junction 

Upgrade junction with new raised table and new 

cycle crossing. Introduce HGV restrictions on 

Fitzneal Street. 

 

    

Section 2 Braybrook Street New cycle path link into Scrubs. 15,000 

    

Section 3 Wormwood 

Scrubs Prison 

cycle track 

Remove existing path and relay with new surface 

to eliminate surface cracking. 

30,000 

    

Section 4 New Cycle track 

along car park 

edge. 

Build new cycle track with new sustainable 

drainage scheme and planting, including raised 

table to stop localised flooding. 

225,000 

    

Section 5 Scrubs lane/Mitre 

lane Junction 

Install new cycle crossing on scrubs lane with 

new access track into Scrubs. 

80,000 

    

Section 6 Mitre Way 

segregated cycle 

track 

Install new segregated cycle track and new 

pedestrian crossing on Mitre way. 

115,000 

    

TOTALS   517,000 

 

P
age 410



APPENDIX 3 
 
Options and Analysis of the Quietway route between East Acton 
and Kensington. 
 
Background information. 
The Quietway route starts in the north of the Borough at the boundary 
with Kensington and Chelsea in Mitre Way, it then enters the southern 
edge of Wormwood scrubs and heads towards East Acton tube station 
before finishing at the A40 Westway cycle crossover.  

We have taken the opportunity to route the Quietway along the 
southern edge of Wormwood scrubs, including a new shared access 
link path along the northern edge of the ‘red’ overflow car park. This 
new section of track will not only create and improve the access into 
the scrubs, but will create a short link to the existing track alongside the 
athletics stadium, and of course to Hammersmith Hospital. 

 
 Options /Analysis. 

 A new cycle junction layout at the connection of Mitre Way and 
Dalgarno Gardens was discussed and considered. This crossing 
is a barrier to cyclists and a new crossing provision will make it 
much safer and easier to join the Quietway.  

 

 Proposed bi-directional cycle track along Mitre way linking 
Scrubs lane with the new junction at Dalgarno Gardens. This will 
encourage cyclists and family groups to access Wormwood 
Scrubs by this link. 

 

 Existing car parking along Mitre Way is uncontrolled but was 
reviewed and the current ‘parking stress’ is low. 

 

 Proposed new cycle and pedestrian crossing of Scrubs lane. 
The junction will feature a new parallel crossing for pedestrians 
and cyclists which will enable easier access onto the Quietway 
and to Wormwood Scrubs.  

 

 Proposed new entrance into Wormwood Scrubs, and then 
create a new link consisting of a shared cycle and pedestrian 
path along the northern edge of the red overflow car park, to 
reach the existing cycle path near the Linford Christie stadium.  

  

 The route rides identified a number of flooding and drainage 
issues along the existing route where new drainage and a 
porous path have been incorporated into the design, these will 
benefit all residents at all times. 

 

 Introduce new sustainable planting along the route including 
new trees and bushes. 

Page 411



 

 Upgrade of the existing cycle path alongside Wormwood Scrubs 
prison to a wider and better surfaced path. The current path is 
shared use but has a very narrow cycle lane marked out, and 
following a widening some years ago has a large open crack 
along its central length. This will be widened and re-laid to 
remove this danger for cyclists. 

 

 New cycle path link at the end of the path onto Braybrook Street 
outside Old Oak Primary school. This will overcome the issues 
of a blind corner adjacent to a high wall, and the new track 
follows a pedestrian and cycle desire line. 

 

 Introduce new planting alongside the new track at the Braybrook 
end. 

 

 Change the crossing and road junction at Fitzneal street and Du 
Cane road. The scheme will consist of new crossing for cyclists 
and will include a raised table at the junction which will make the 
crossing of Du Cane road safer and easier and reduce the risks 
of accidents. 

 

 The revised entrance and raised table at the junction will also 
make the right turn movement for HGV’s more difficult, and a 
weight restriction for HGV’s will be installed to eliminate HGV 
rat-running. 

 

 Road narrowing along Fitzneal street was considered, but due to 
the need to retain access for deliveries to residents, and 
considering existing traffic calming measures in the area, the 
narrowing of the entrance to Fitzneal street from Du Cane road, 
combined with a HGV restriction, was the best and least 
restrictive solution for residents. 

  
 

Page 412



Page 1

Cycle Quietway Route Consultation: Summary report

This report was created on Friday 09 September 2016 at 16:48.

The consultation ran from 30/06/2016 to 30/08/2016.

Contents

Question 1: What is your name? 1

Name 1

Question 2: What is your email address? 1

Email 1

Question 3: If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, business or campaign, please provide us with the name: 1

Organisation 1

Question 4: What is your postcode? 1

Postcode 1

Question 5: How did you hear about this consultation? 2

hear 2

If Other, please state below 2

Question 6: Overall, do you support LBHF's proposal for the East Acton to Kensington Quietway? 2

support 2

Question 7: Do you support the creation of a segregated cycle track along Mitre Way? 3

segregated 3

Question 8: Do you support the creation of a new shared use track in the southern part of Wormwood Scrubs? 3

shared use 3

Question 9: Do you support proposed changes to Fitzneal Street to make the route safer for cyclists? 4

fitzneal 4

Question 10: Do you have any further comments about our overall proposals? 4

comments 4

Additional comments 5

Question 1: What is your name?

Name

There were 45 responses to this part of the question.

Question 2: What is your email address?

Email

There were 36 responses to this part of the question.

Question 3: If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, business or campaign, please provide us with the
name:

Organisation

There were 5 responses to this part of the question.

Question 4: What is your postcode?

Postcode

There were 45 responses to this part of the question.

Page 413



Page 2

Question 5: How did you hear about this consultation?

hear

a. Received an email from LBHF  

b. Received a letter from LBHF

c. Saw it on the LBHF website  

d. Read about it on social media  

e. Read about it in the press  

f. Other?  

Not Answered  

 0 25

Option Total Percent

a. Received an email from LBHF 25 55.56%

b. Received a letter from LBHF 0 0%

c. Saw it on the LBHF website 8 17.78%

d. Read about it on social media 7 15.56%

e. Read about it in the press 1 2.22%

f. Other? 2 4.44%

Not Answered 2 4.44%

If Other, please state below

There were 3 responses to this part of the question.

Question 6: Overall, do you support LBHF's proposal for the East Acton to Kensington Quietway?

support

Yes  

No  

Partially  

Not sure  

No opinion

Not Answered  

 0 32

Page 414



Page 3

Option Total Percent

Yes 32 71.11%

No 3 6.67%

Partially 7 15.56%

Not sure 2 4.44%

No opinion 0 0%

Not Answered 1 2.22%

Question 7: Do you support the creation of a segregated cycle track along Mitre Way?

segregated

Yes  

No  

Partially  

Not sure  

No opinion  

Not Answered

 0 37

Option Total Percent

Yes 37 82.22%

No 2 4.44%

Partially 2 4.44%

Not sure 2 4.44%

No opinion 2 4.44%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 8: Do you support the creation of a new shared use track in the southern part of Wormwood Scrubs?

shared use

Yes  

No  

Partially  

Not sure  

No opinion

Not Answered

 0 34

Page 415



Page 4

Option Total Percent

Yes 34 75.56%

No 3 6.67%

Partially 6 13.33%

Not sure 2 4.44%

No opinion 0 0%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 9: Do you support proposed changes to Fitzneal Street to make the route safer for cyclists?

fitzneal

Yes  

No  

Partially  

Not sure  

No opinion

Not Answered

 0 36

Option Total Percent

Yes 36 80.00%

No 3 6.67%

Partially 3 6.67%

Not sure 3 6.67%

No opinion 0 0%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 10: Do you have any further comments about our overall proposals?

comments

Yes  

No  

Partially  

Not sure

No opinion  

Not Answered  

 0 25

Page 416



Page 5

Option Total Percent

Yes 25 55.56%

No 12 26.67%

Partially 1 2.22%

Not sure 0 0%

No opinion 2 4.44%

Not Answered 5 11.11%

Additional comments

There were 29 responses to this part of the question.

Page 417



Appendix 5 

 East Acton to Kensington Quietway.  

 Consultation Comments Officer response 

   

1. Please proceed with option 2 for Fitzneal Street. Fully filtering the street will 
better protect cyclists and mean the elimination of all rat runners (not just 
HGVs), who pose a great risk. 

Noted 

2. The transition from Wood Lane into Eynham Road (just north of the Westway) 
should be made safer. Eynham Road is an 'ancient quietway' behind the 
former BBC World TV centre, now IC student buildings, which is difficult to 
access from the main road when cycling north. 

Noted. This section of Wood Lane will be treated as 
part of future Imperial College work. 

3. It's so much longer to take this route that I'm not convinced it will be used 
sufficiently to justify the expense of creating and maintaining it, why don't you 
trial it first? 

Noted. The Quietway is intended to encourage new 
cyclists and not commuters who want a direct and 
fast route. 

4. I don't oppose this, but it's frankly pointless and irrelevant to LBHF cyclists - a 
minimal non-segregated route that goes no-where near where most borough 
residents live or visit. Seems like we're pandering to RBKC's desire to route 
cyclists out-of-sight and away from Holland Pk Av and Ken High St. 

The route enables residents in the northern part of 
the Borough to acess key recreational facilities as 
well as linking with a Quietway route into central 
london. 

5. We desperate need some proper direct, segregated cycle "trunk routes" 
around the borough, in the style of the E-W superhighway. The Hammersmith 
Gyratory scheme is a great start, but need to push on with a borough-wide grid 
of continuous protected routes. Pretty much all the roads you excluded from 
the borough-wide 20mph zone should include fully-segregated cycling: 
Hammersmith Road, Goldhawk Rd, Uxbridge Rd, Wood Ln/Shepherds Bush 
Rd/Fulham Palace Rd, Dalling Rd/Askew Rd/Old Oak Rd. Holland Pk 
Roundabout too 

Noted. The development of additional ‘cycle 
superhighways’ is being developed with TfL. 
 

6. In the 1980s LBHF was leading the way on cycling. Would be great to see us 
do that again, but with modern facilities, not back-street excuses. Oh, and 
Santander cycles extended to Goldhawk/Uxbridge/Askew Roads please! 

The development of Quietways is all part of creating 
up to date cycle routes in the borough. The 
Santander cycle hire scheme is controlled byTfL and 
currently no plans are in existance foran extension on 
these roads. 

7. It's a really great start to making cycling more appealing to beginners. 
However, it may also encourage the 'Lycra brigade' to get better Strava times. 
Any thoughts on how to keep the pace a gentle one for all users? 

Noted. We will design measures into the scheme to 
dissuade ‘fast’ cycling 

8. In general, shared use paths for cycles and pedestrians don't work very well, 
because pedestrians just walk all over them and then get annoyed when a bike 

Noted. We will be using the latest signing to make all 
users aware of the shared user issues. 

P
age 418



Appendix 5 

comes along.  As a cyclist, I'm fed up of being accused of riding on the 
pavement by pedestrians who don't understand shared use paths.  I would 
always much prefer to see a well-marked cycle path, separate from the public 
footway. 

9. Imperative we create a safer environment for cycling in the borough that will 
encourage those who  consider cycling to to be dangerous, to come on board 
and join us.  

Noted 

10. I prefer Option A at the junction of Fitzneal Street and Erconwald Street. The 
principles of restricting vehicles width entering Fitzneal Street northbound of 
Erconwald Street is welcome, however, any further impediment to traffic flow is 
not recommended.  

Noted 

11. Erconwald Street should also be looked in details: We will review our designs for Erconwald st. 

12. - The junction of Erconwald Street and Wulfstan Street. Vehicles on Wulfstan 
Street sometimes do not yield to traffic travelling on Erconwald Street. There 
have been near misses.  

Noted. We will review our designs for Erconwald st. 

13. - East Acton Station. There might be possible conflicts between pedestrian 
entering and exiting East Acton Station and cyclist. People congregate outside 
East Acton Station and spill over onto the road as the station lobby is very 
small. 

Noted. New paving outside the station may help the 
issues mentionned. 

14. Although the Latimer Road is in the Kensington section, I think that most of this 
road is already very narrow for the new wide busses on this route, so a cycle 
lane seems optimistic 

Noted and passed through to Kensington and 
Chelsea council. 

15. It would be wonderful to have an additional crossing of the A40 further east so 
you can process south from Linford Christie closer to blomfontein road. 

Noted. This was considered in the A40 cycle 
superhighway, but now this scheme has been 
postponed no new plans exist. 

16. This consultation great route for east - west cycle traffic, but there are a lot of 
us who want a north-south route and there are good opportunities to do this at 
the same time. 

Noted. We are considering a North -South route with 
Transport for London. 

17. Please can you tackle the huge loss in terms of safety/access caused by 
closure of the cut through over the A3320/cross route into Hunt's Close - the 
logical access east for all of us who live on the wrong side of the scary 
shepherd bush roundabouts. We understand that the Westfield extension is a 
big deal but no-one seems to have thought of the consequences for cyclists, 
just the buses. 

Noted. Transport for London are considering new 
route opportunities in this area following the 
postponement of the Westway cycle route. 

18. It's a really long way round to go north, even if the top will be improved by the Noted. Transport for London are considering new 

P
age 419



Appendix 5 

proposed quiet way access near the North Pole, but right now it's stressful 
trying to get across the A40 and then turn right off Scrub's Lane. 

route opportunities in this area following the 
postponement of the Westway cycle route. 

19. I've stopped cycling since this bridge was cut off. I'm now only using my bike to 
go to the pool and frankly it's no longer worth cluttering up the hallway for that. 
(I have a disability and can't use the Santander bikes). Thank you for taking 
this into consideration. 

Noted. Transport for London are considering new 
route opportunities in this area following the 
postponement of the Westway cycle route. 

20. My only concern is the loss of residents parking spaces - while the idea of the 
cycle track is great for those of us cycling across the area from other parts of 
the Borough, it is not fair to compromise the facilities enjoyed by residents 
living along the route. 

Noted. We have assessed the impact on theloss of 
the parking spaces and parking ‘stress’ in the area is 
very low. 

21. This is a very positive development and although I am unlikely to make much 
use of the new cycle route, I support all such initiatives to develop safer 
cycling. 

Noted 

22. Please rethink the section of the quietway which will goes through the Scrubs.  
 
The section of the proposed route from Mitre Way into Wormwood Scrubs 
involves paving over a green, wooded area of the park. It will involve extensive 
destruction of trees and undergrowth including, as far as I can tell from the 
plans, part of an exceptional avenue of mature London plane trees. It degrades 
and breaks up the current woodland and wildlife corridor running round the 
south-eastern and eastern edges of the park, and shrinks the open, grassed 
area.  
 
This is completely unacceptable to anyone familiar with Wormwood Scrubs, 
especially as there is ample opportunity for re-routing the proposed path so 
that it runs through areas which are already paved or under concrete and 
asphalt. 
 
It makes far more sense, for example, for the route to cross Scrubs Lane a bit 
further to the south of Mitre Way, straight into the entrance leading to 
Woodman's Mews, next to the car park. This would not involve any destruction 
of greenery or concreting over grassed areas. 
 
There could easily be a two way cycle lane along that short part of Scrubs 
Lane and a safe cycle and pedestrian crossing opposite the Scrubs car park: 

Noted. Following discussions with the Wormwood 
Scrubs trust, a new route alignment has been agreed 
which doesn’t enter the scrubs. P

age 420



Appendix 5 

this would actually connect more smoothly with the part of the cycleway in 
RBK&C. But most importantly it would not encroach on green areas.  
 
The idea of having 24 hour streetlighting along the edge of the woods on the 
south side of the park makes me very uneasy - it is unwelcome urbanisation in 
a wonderful little bit of natural landscape which I treasure very much.  
 
This is what I have written to my local councillor about this issue:  
 
In the past couple of years we have seen threats to the common's woodland on 
all sides: from HS2 on the north western edge - if this goes ahead, it 
completely destroys a large section of mature mixed broadleaf woodland; a 
proposal from CarGiant which would threaten the northwestern side; and now 
this new threat...which comes, amazingly, from Hammersmith and Fulham 
Council itself...the very body which should be protecting the Scrubs, not 
destroying it! 
 
The combination of these threats suggests a "salami-slicing" is going on. Since 
the HS2 proposals a general idea creeps into existence that it is now open 
season on this unbelievably precious patch of green which is every bit as 
precious, frankly, as Hyde Park or Richmond Park though far less glamorous. 
The opposite should be the case: one encroachment should be enough to 
make H and F call for a complete stop on any further concreting-over of our 
beloved Scrubs.  
 
Please don't let the council sleep-walk into reducing the Scrubs bit by bit. It is 
surely not in keeping with this administration's good record so far  in protecting 
its parks and green spaces.  

23. I think quiet cycle lanes and dedicated cycle lanes are an excellent idea and 
would like to see even more of them in H&F and elsewhere in London. 

Noted. We are always looking to convey our 
messages to all our residents and will consider your 
thoughts. LBHF has now introduced 20mph speed 
limits to mostborough roads. 
 
 
 

P
age 421



Appendix 5 

Put the responsibility with car and truck users. They bring a potentially lethal vehicle to the road and hence carry the responsibility in case of a collision. This will alter car use behavior dramatically (at least in the Netherlands).  
 
Make entire central London a 20mph zone 
 
Put road signs along the most congested parts of London with messages such as : 
 
1) Traffic jam? Why not the Tube? 
 
2) The Tube - Much fasted isn't it? 
3) 9,000 Londoners die each year cause of toxic air - Your Car could have  

been one of the killers! 

 

 
Many other London borough’s are introducing 20mph 
speed limits across their roads. The new Mayor of 
London’s Business plan targets air quality and 
includes many measures to improve the quality. 

24. The start and end points of this route are on the same road! I'd rather not take 
this stupid roundabout route when I could just go directly. The council should 
be braver and start segregating main roads rather than making people on bikes 
take the most convoluted route possible  

Quietways are designed to encourage new cyclists 
who do not wish to face heavily trafficed routes. 

25. Don't think this is a very useful quietway.  It doesn't solve the problem of the 
A40.  It is much longer than the direct route so won't really take cycle traffic 
away from the direct route.  As a keen non-commuter cyclist I don't think I'd 
bother to use it, I'd just go up Woodlane and turn right into North Pole Road as 
usual.  We need cycle routes in the busy, more central areas please! 

Quietways are designed to encourage new cyclists 
who do not wish to face heavily trafficed routes. 

26. A QuietWay for cycling to be considered justifiable under the Mayorol 
programme of incentivising cycle use to enable 8 to 80 year olds to be able to 
cycle safely, must be on routes free of through traffic. 
 
Simply tinkering with shifting parking here or there is irrelevant if the main issue 
of preventing rat-running motor traffic is not dealt with. 
 
Segregated cycling, whilst welcome on main routes where motor traffic might 
not other wise be deviated, is not the best solution perhaps for a QuietWay 
which should prioritise those cycling (and those who would continue to be 
deterred from doing so) over and above motorised traffic. 
 
In the absence of such provision, a segregated lane is of course preferable 

Quietways are designed to encourage new cyclists 
who do not wish to face heavily trafficed routes. 
All comments are noted and have been addressed in 
the RSA’s and ongoing design process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 422



Appendix 5 

over non-segregated provision (or mere 'paint on the road').  
 
In addition, shared use paths are far from ideal, but a messy and unsatisfactory 
compromise. A clearly demarcated cycle lane, with a low kerb to ensure 
pedestrians have a designated area, is the ideal.  
 
It is of course, essential that the proposals are part of a network - thaht is part 
of a borough-wide strategy linking to a London-Wide strategy, otherwise the 
parts fail by not contributing to a  cohesive whole. Like building a 'bit of a 
bridge'. 
 
Plus, advance consideration must heed the HS2 terminus currently under 
construction, and the importnce of having excellent links for cycling from here 
into the West End, Hammersmith, Shepherd's Bush etc.  
 
       I fully support the incisive comments made by Simon Munk of the London 
Cycling Campaign, with a further comment below. 
 
>>>>>This response is made on behalf of the London Cycling Campaign 
(LCC), the capital’s leading cycling organisation with more than 12,000 
members and 40,000 supporters. 
 
LCC welcomes the opportunity to comment on these plans and its response 
was developed with input from its Infrastructure Review Group and its borough 
group HFCyclists. 
 
LCC wants, as a condition of funding, all highway development designed to 
London Cycling Design Standards (LCDS), with all “Critical Fails” eliminated 
from the scheme’s Cycling Level of Service assessment (CLoS). It also 
expects all QuietWays schemes to be of comparable quality to similar schemes 
in cities with a high modal share of cycling, i.e. with a CLoS rating of 70 or 
above. 
 
LCC notes a more efficient use of road space is to allocate it to cycling and 
walking in preference to private motor vehicles, particularly for journeys of 5km 
or less. LCC expects schemes to be designed to allocate road space for 

All the following comments have been noted and 
where appropriate discussed with TfL. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 423



Appendix 5 

growth in cycling, to accommodate such journeys. 
 
LCC welcomes the theory of Quietways targeting less confident cyclists who 
want to use low-traffic routes, while also providing capacity and maximum 
route choice for existing cyclists. It also welcomes the vision for Quietways that 
are direct, designed as whole routes, segregated from motor traffic where they 
briefly join busy roads and make use of “filtered permeability” that restricts 
through motor traffic etc. 
 
LCC considers that these proposals fail to fulfil the Quietways programme 
requirements to the degree needed to boost cycling numbers significantly. The 
implementation of this Quietway scheme is generally to be supported, and is 
one of the better Quietway schemes of late, but again is hampered by an 
unwillingness to tackle the bigger and more difficult issues the schemes face. 
 
LCC supports this scheme with reservations and would make the following 
specific points: 
 
-          Quietway routing – Taken as a whole with Kensington & Chelsea’s 
routing, this Quietway is far too deflected and indirect. The route sends people 
cycling around the edge of White City, a major employment and residential 
area, crossing the Westway twice. While it is of value for a Quietway to link to 
Wormwood Scrubs and Ladbroke Grove, this should be done as well as 
reaching White City. The ideal would be for any Quietway plans here to also 
link to proposals to extend the East-West Cycle Superhighway onto the 
Westway also. 
 
-          Mitre Way – the two way track and removal of car parking around the 
modal filter linking to Dalgarno Gardens are welcome. However there is a 
concern that paving on the north side of the road under the bridge has been 
entirely removed. The ideal solution would be for as part of this, or as a 
separate scheme, for paving to be included not just under the bridge, but 
continuing northwards on Mitre Way. If this is not feasible, it would make sense 
to remove all paving on the north and then west side, including around the 
corner. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The proposed Quietway has been examined and 
approved by the TFL team and signed off by the 
Cycling Commissioner for London. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Quietway route proposed will offer new cyclists 
easy access to major facilities and will encourage 
new users away from heavily trafficed routes. 
 
 
 
 
 
This issue has been resolved in the detail design 
stage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 424



Appendix 5 

-          Scrubs Lane junction – again the junction is welcome, but the 
advantage of a right turn pocket into Mitre Way is not clear – instead those 
cycling should be encouraged to use the northern toucan crossing. 
 
-          Wormwood Scrubs Park – all tracks must feature high-quality, flat and 
durable surfaces suitable for adapted cycles, road bikes etc. The routing 
through this relatively isolated park also raises an issue of perceived safety for 
more vulnerable potential users. As much as possible must be done if this 
routing is used to make it feel attractive and secure for all users at all hours – 
with lighting, CCTV, signage, sight lines etc. 
 
-          Speed cushions – these, found on Braybrook, Erconwald and Fitzneal – 
should be replaced with full-width sinusoidal speed humps and/or raised tables 
at junctions. The speed measures already in place imply speed is an issue on 
these streets. Similarly, speed humps should be installed on Hilary Road. 
 
-          Modal filters – these, such as proposed for Fitzneal Street, when used 
in isolation, remove through traffic from one street only to concentrate it on a 
neighbouring residential street. It is vital the entire residential area, or “cell” is 
considered holistically with such a scheme. Therefore, whether a width 
restriction or full filter is used on Fitzneal Street, if done in isolation, any traffic 
blocked will likely simply redirect to Wulfstan or Braybrook. Instead, all three 
streets must be treated similarly to remove through traffic bypassing the Old 
Oak Common Lane/Du Cane Road junction. The ideal would clearly to be to 
fully modally filter (Option 2), creating a quiet, pleasant and community-
enhanced neighbourhood. 
 
-          Du Cane Road crossing – this is a welcome element of the scheme. But 
it has one potential issue – those people cycling rejoining carriageway 
travelling northbound into Fitzneal Street, or southbound into Hilary Road will 
potentially have to cross oncoming traffic. At the least, a raised table at the 
entrance to Hilary Road and junction radii tightened to match Fitzneal Street 
should be used.<<<< 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The junction design has been changed completely 
and signalisation removed. A new Tiger crossing is 
now proposed. 
 
New lighting and clearance of the shrubs in planned 
to increase visibility along the route. 
 
 
 
 
We don’t consider the existing humps to be any issue 
for cyclists. 
 
 
 
 
 
The narrowing of the entrance to Fitzneal street 
combined with a prohibition order will eliminate rat 
running by HGV;s. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The junction has been redesigned to eliminate any 
visibility issues. 
 

P
age 425



Appendix 5 

The section of the Wormwood Scrubs path to the NE of the Linford Christie 
Stadium is liable to deep flooding. I encountered this earlier this year and made 
my way through.  When I reached Scrubs Lane the police were stopping any 
vehicles entering. The new section of the path across the green space may 
also be liable to flooding. This needs to be tackled, or at least a warning 
scheme in place, including further back along the quietway before one has 
committed to this route. 

 
 
 
 
This is noted and will be treated as part of the 
detailed design. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27. 
Friends of 
Wormwood 
Scrubs 

We welcome this objective, and are keen for more people to discover and 
enjoy the Scrubs. 
Nevertheless, we believe that there are better options than the one shown 
which will both add to the enjoyment of the Scrubs by all Londoners, and not 
compromise its character, while providing an extremely attractive route for 
leisure cyclists. 
 
We would like to see a route that enters the Scrubs closer to the Scrubs Lane 
car park, that then runs on the south side of what is locally known as "Martin 
Bell's Wood" (Martin Bell was often found wandering through the copse to the 
North of Woodman's Mews and to the south of the open space at the south 
east corner Scrubs) before rejoining the existing cycle path at the pony centre. 

 
The primary concern of the friends with the existing plan is that it runs against 
the goal of maintaining the Scrubs as a space "more wild than tamed". In 
particular, there is a valuable experience that is relatively rare in London that 
comes from walking from the red brick approach path and through the often 
muddy path that leads to the south east corner of the main field. The walker 
might be in the deep countryside at that point, quite able to distance 
themselves from the impression of the city they have only just left.  
 

Noted. Officers have noted all the following opinions 
relating to the ‘Friends’ desire to keep the Scrubs as 
natural as possible. 
 
 
 
 
Officers have redesigned the proposed Quietway 
route to follow the requested alignment from the 
Friends of the Trust. 

P
age 426



Appendix 5 

The lightly-managed nature of the entrance is visible in all aspects: the mud, 
the diversity of flora, birds and even fauna all contribute to this precious sense 
of solace and dislocation from the ordinary. A further walk along the south 
boundary of the copse reinforces this feeling. Very often, in the early morning, 
mist lies low around it; the state of the ground, whether wet and boggy or 
caked and dry connects the walker to the seasons and to simple facts about 
climate, land management and simple pleasures like the squelching sounds of 
gumboots. Dog walkers particularly enjoy the sight of their pets relishing the 
unmanaged surroundings.  
 
The walker coming into this corner of the Scrubs then looks to the west and 
north - there are playing fields in the distance, reminding us of the common 
uses of the fields, and beyond that there is the wilderness to the north west 
with the high buildings of Royal Oak beyond. The views of the sky is often 
stunning at this entrance - particularly on cloudy evenings.  
 
The overall sense of the entrance as it is now is a very powerful one: the 
"country" feel of the near-ground combines with the social and recreational 
middle ground, the scrubby feel of the distance, all framed by the city beyond. 
It is these sorts of lived landscapes enjoyed by many Londoners that makes 
the Scrubs unique amongst London parks, and we are keen to bring more and 
more people to appreciate this without compromising its essential character. 
 
If we contrast this entrance with the vision provided in the CGI (which can be 
viewed here https://goo.gl/photos/NVoDQAxcUeu7T1Nr5 ), it is clear that the 
character of the two will be very different. We want to emphasise that we are 
not anti-change nimbyists. We recognise the importance and value of bringing 
more  leisure cyclists onto the Scrubs. However, we want to do this in a way 
that preserves one of the aspects of the Scrubs that is very valuable. 
 

28. 
Chair St 
Helens 
Residents 
Association 

The email below from RBKC confirms that the decision on the RBKC section of 
the Cycle Quietway has now been made.  We are obviously disappointed that 
the outcome of the consultation has been to stick with the originally proposed 
route along Latimer Road, and that the option suggested by the StQW 
Neighbourhood Forum/St Helens Residents Association (of using Highlever 

Noted. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 427

https://goo.gl/photos/NVoDQAxcUeu7T1Nr5


Appendix 5 

and St Quintin 
and 
Woodlands 
Neighbourhoo
d Forum 
 

Road and the eastern side of the St Quintin Gardens ‘triangle’) was viewed as 
unviable. 
 
As I understand, the consultation by LBHF on the proposed section between 
Mitre Way and Acton closed on August 30

th
, and prompted a number of queries 

and concerns especially from the Friends of Wormwood Scrubs and residents 
of the Old Oak Estate. 
 
While we appreciate that much work has been put into the planning of this 
Quietway, it feels as though there is a real risk of the works being committed 
(and much public money spent) on a project which may fail to prove attractive 
to cyclists.  This is for several reasons: 
 

 The proposed Quietway aims to provide an east/west route.  Once the 

pedestrian/cyclist underpass at the Imperial West site is constructed, 

this will open up a significantly shorter route with the same beginning 

and end points, using the underpass and DuCane Road (see attached 

map). 

 DuCane Road is admittedly a relatively main road and a bus 

route.  But compared with a lengthy northward detour which involves a 

difficult crossing at North Pole Road and a further crossing at Scrubs 

Lane, what percentage of cyclists will in practice choose the 

Quietway route when this is roughly a third longer to travel? 

 Should not a decision on the Quietway route await a Mayoral decision 

on the Westway section of the Cycle SuperHighway?  If this goes 

ahead, some serious planning and investment will be needed to 

provide a dedicated cycle route north/south between the Westway 

elevated roundabout and the major development planned for ‘Old Oak 

Park’ (the Cargiant 46 acres with its 6,500 homes) and the HS2 and 

Crossrail terminal. 

 
We have previously suggested to TfL (in the StQW Neighbourhood Plan and in 
discussions on the Cycle Superhighway) the potential of a site at 301 Latimer 
Road (next to the proposed underpass) as a location for cyclists to 
access/egress the Westway section of the Cycle Superhighway via cycle 

 
 
 
These issues have been addressed in a response to 
the Friends of the Trust. 
 
 
 
Officers and consultants Sustrans acting on behalf of 
Transport for London considered a number of 
different optiond for the Quietway, but none met all 
the criteria of a Quietway, and therefore this route 
was developed and agreed with the Cycling 
Commissioner for London as the route to progress. 
The underpass which is proposed as part of the 
Imperial College development has no fixed timeframe 
for delivery.  
When it is created this will however mean that 
significant changes will be needed on Wood Lane to 
enable cyclists to join existing networks. The 
proposed Quietway eliminates the issues of crossing 
Wood Lane at a very busy intersection. 
 
 
 
 
The new Mayor of London has cancelled the 
proposed East-West Cycle Superhighway project. 
 
Noted. This will be developed as the main 
development sites are linked. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 428



Appendix 5 

lifts.  This would avoid what looks to be a what looks a very problematic clash 
of cyclist and vehicles at the A40/Wood Lane junction.    
 
The scope for using the railway embankment on the West London line, with 
cyclists crossing North Pole Road via a track built out from the railway bridge, 
was another suggestion.  A similar use of the rail bridge at Mitre Bridge would 
create access to the heart of the proposed Old Oak Park area (for which 
Cargiant/London Regional Properties will be submitting an outline planning 
application and masterplan this autumn). 
 
At the very least, it would surely be sensible to await decisions on the LBHF 
section of the proposed Quietway before any contract for the RBKC section is 
let? 
 
As you are both probably aware, the cycle/pedestrian underpass between 
Latimer Road and Imperial West has £4m committed via a S106 Agreement 
entered into by Imperial College and LBHF in 2013.  Planning applications for 
the underpass were submitted to both RBKC and LBHF in late 2014, but 
further progress towards construction has been held up by protracted 
negotiations between the College, Network Rail, and LBHF.  We met with 
Imperial and LBHF a few months back to explore why the project is taking so 
long to implement. 
 
In terms of improving accessibility to public transport for North Kensington, and 
keeping cars off the road, local residents would welcome TfL putting its weight 
behind the underpass project and seeing this completed – thereby overcoming 
what has been a longstanding obstacle to permeability through this part of 
London.  If residents from North Ken had shorter access to the Central Line at 
White City, fewer would use their cars.   
 
A proposed Cycle Quietway which involves a lengthy detour through the 
Scrubs, and a crossing at North Pole Road which will add to traffic chaos in the 
street, is not finding much support at local level.  Should this Quietway route 
prove, in  a few years time, to be relatively unused this will have been a poor 
allocation of scarce public funds. 
 

 
 
 
 
Response as above 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Quietway is primarily designed for new cyclists 
not as a commuter route. 

P
age 429



Appendix 5 

29. Private 
individual 

Please could you address the following concerns with regard to the proposals 
for a new cycle path on Wormwood Scrubs as a matter of urgency: 
 
1. The photograph shows women with children and others ambling along 
gently enjoying the space sharing it with cyclists similarly ambling along.  The 
reality is that this path will be used by people in a hurry, especially cyclists.  
Clearly this hasn’t been well thought through.  London cyclists are mostly 
cycling because it is the quickest, most reliable and cheapest way to get to 
work, rarely because they particularly want to amble along enjoying the fresh 
air. Mixing cyclists and pedestrians on a narrow path is always a recipe for 
disaster. 
 
2.  The path crosses at right angles across the main pedestrian entrance to the 
park, where excited children and dogs will always run ahead, straight into the 
cycling path, where cyclists will be coming off the main road at reasonable 
speed.  This is utterly ridiculous in terms of speed and safety. 
 
3. The current cycle route, as they have called it, is narrow and windey and in 
the photo disappears around a sharp bend at the furthest point.  Sharp bends, 
lack of visibility are hopelessly dangerous for mixing cyclists and pedestrians, 
or even just for two-way cycling traffic. 
 
4. The path will be covered in mud in winter and very slippery at that point of 
entrance which is always feet deep in mud.  Mud on concrete is very 
dangerous.  
 
5.  What is wrong with the existing road, entrance by Woodmans mews, which 
is currently frequently used by cyclists, and occasional cars, and therefore the 
occasional pedestrians are mindful of safety.? 
 
 

Following comments from the Friends of the Trust, 
the route has been re-aligned. The additional width of 
the new track will feature the track as ‘shared use’. 
Because we are targeting the Quietway to new 
cyclists we don’t anticipate the issue of speed to be 
as important an issue to to resolve as it would be for 
commuter cyclists. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See comment above. 
 
 
The Quietway will seek to improve all these issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted. Additional width will be created and a new 
cyclist friendly entrance created. 
 
 
The proposed new alignment enables us to create a 
completely segregated cycle route. 

   

 

P
age 430



 
NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which it intends to consider at its next meeting and at future meetings. The list 
may change between the date of publication of this list and the date of future  Cabinet meetings. 
 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
PRIVATE  
The Cabinet also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations  that it intends to meet in private after its public meeting to consider Key Decisions  
which may contain confidential or exempt information.  The private meeting of the Cabinet is 
open only to Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  
 
Reports relating to key decisions which the Cabinet will take at its private meeting are indicated 
in the list of Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in private.  Any 
person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the decision should 
instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting. If you want to make such representations, 
please e-mail  Katia Richardson on katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will then be sent a 
response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the Executive’s 
response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON 27 MARCH 2017 
AND AT FUTURE CABINET MEETINGS UNTIL JUNE 2017 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the 
above Cabinet meeting and future meetings. The list may change over the next few 
weeks. A further notice will be published no less than 5 working days before the date of 
the Cabinet meeting showing the final list of Key Decisions to be considered at that 
meeting.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

 Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £100,000)  in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

 Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

 Anything significantly affecting communities within one ward (where practicable); 
 

 Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website on a 
monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet.  
If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 

Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368  or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 431

Agenda Item 13

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk/


 
 

 
Access to Cabinet reports and other relevant documents 

 
Reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Cabinet’s public meeting 
will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 working days 
before the meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents as they become 
available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All decisions taken by Cabinet may be implemented 5 working days after the relevant Cabinet 
meeting, unless called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet. Full details of how to do this (and the date by 
which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM: CABINET 2016/17 
 
Leader:           Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:           Councillor Michael Cartwright 
Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident Satisfaction:  Councillor Ben Coleman  
Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion:       Councillor Sue Fennimore  
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents Services:   Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
Cabinet Member for Housing:        Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration:   Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:     Councillor Vivienne Lukey  
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:      Councillor Sue Macmillan  
Cabinet Member for Finance:        Councillor Max Schmid  
 
 
 
 
 
Key Decisions List  No 53 (published 24 February 2017) 

Page 432

http://www.lbhf.org.uk/


 

KEY DECISIONS LIST - CABINET ON 27 MARCH 2017 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

27 March 2017 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 9 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 9  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

The Establishment Of A 
Contractual Joint Venture 
Partnership With Lbhf And 
Imperial College London 
 
The Establishment Of A 
Contractual Joint Venture 
Partnership With Lbhf And 
Imperial College London  
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: David 
Burns 
 
David.Burns@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Procurement of Lift 
Maintenance Services 
 
Strategy report for the 
procurement of lifts maintenance 
services.  
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Paul 
Monforte 
Tel: 020 8753 6985 
Paul.Monforte@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 433



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

  papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Strengthening Community 
Partnerships 
 
This report outlines the business 
case and recommendations for 
grant funding Hammersmith & 
Fulham based Community Legal 
Advice Services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Louise 
Raisey 
Tel: 020 8753 2012 
Louise.Raisey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

HRA Housing Capital 
Programme 2017/18-2019/20 
 
This report provides specific 
details of the proposed 2017/18 
housing capital programme and 
proposes budget envelopes for the 
following two years  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Vince 
Conway 
Tel: 020 8753 1915 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Confirm On Demand Business 
Case 
 
Moving Confirm From HFBP 
Hosting to a Hosted Solution by 
the software vendors Pitney 
Bowes (PB)  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Eustace Dunkwu 
Tel: 020 8753 3010 
Eustace.Dunkwu@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Cycle Quietway Between East 
Acton and Kensington 
 
To implement a Cycle Quietway 
Route Improvements between 
East Acton and Kensington (Du 
Cane Rd (Wormwood Scrubs) to 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 

Ward(s): 
College Park and Old 
Oak 
 

Page 434



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 Scubs Lane (Mitre Way)) as part 
of the Transport for London 
Quietway Programme.  
 
 
 
 

Contact officer: 
Richard Duffill 
Tel: 02087531976 
Richard.Duffill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Out of Hours Call Centre 
Services 
 

Recommendations on Out of 
Hours Call Centre Services to 
call off from Pan London 
framework. 
 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)  
 

Cabinet Member For 
Commercial Revenue 
And Resident 
Satisfaction 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: John 
Cordani 
Tel: 020 8753 1318 
john.cordani@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

Before  
27 Mar 2017 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Transport and Highways 
professional services 
 
Report setting out the approach 
taken to procure technical services 
in the Transport and Highways 
division.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Boyle 
Tel: 020 8753 3069 
nick.boyle@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 435



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Industrial Growth Strategy 
 
A strategy to promote growth in 
Hammersmith and Fulham  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: David 
Burns 
 
David.Burns@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Poverty and Worklessness 
Commission Final Report 
 
The final report of the Poverty and 
Worklessness Commission, along 
with a cover report detailing the 
Council's process of agreement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Tom 
Conniffe 
Tel: 020 8753 2195 
Tom.Conniffe@bhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Affordable Housing 
Development at Emlyn Gardens 
 
Approval to dispose land at Emlyn 
Gardens to Shepherd's Bush to 
enable development of 14 
affordable homes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 
 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Askew 
 

Contact officer: David 
Burns 
 
David.Burns@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 436



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

8 May 2017 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Re-Tendering of Passenger Lift 
Modernisation in Springvale 
Estate and Stafford Cripps/Ellen 
Wilkinson 
 
Strategy report for lift 
modernisation  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Henrietta Jacobs 
Tel: 020 8753 3729 
Henrietta.Jacobs@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Planned Highway Maintenance 
Programme 2017-18 
 
To seek your approval of the 
annual highway maintenance work 
programme for 2017-2018.  
 
That authority be delegated to the 
Director for Transport and 
Technical Services, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport and 
Residents Services, to make 
amendments to the programme as 
agreed for operational and cost 
effective reasons, in order to make 
the optimum use of resources.  
 
To note that reports and updates 
on programme amendments 
(additions and removals) to the 
approved scheme list be made, as 
and when required, during the 
year to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport and 
Residents Services.  

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 
ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Internal Audit Contract Re-
Tender 
 
To approve the re-tender process 
for the contract to deliver internal 
audit services  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Geoff 
Drake 
Tel: 020 8753 2529 
geoff.drake@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 437



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)  
 

papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Award of Tree Maintenance 
Contract 
 
Award of term contract for the 
maintenance of the council's trees 
along streets, in parks and 
housing estates and open spaces.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn, Gavin 
Simmons 
Tel: 020 8753 3058, 
ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk, 
gavin.simmons@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Database Management & 
Tracking NEET 
 
Report to outline and seek 
agreement to extend 
Hammersmith & Fulham’s current 
contractual arrangements for the 
provision of tracking young people 
not in education, employment or 
training.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Rachael Wright-
Turner 
Tel: 020 7745 6399 
Rachael.Wright-
Turner@rbkc.gov.uk 

Page 438



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)  
 

 considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

E services Inter Authority 
Agreement 
 
Requesting entering into an Inter 
Authority Agreement for 
participating in the pan London 
sexual health E services provision  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Gaynor Driscoll 
Tel: 0207 361 2418 
gaynor.driscoll@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Contract Award Decision to 
appoint the construction 
contractor for the 
redevelopment of the Bridge 
Academy site for the provision 
of a range of young people 
services 
 
Following a procurement exercise 
over the summer 2016 this 
decision will be to award the 
contract to the successful 
contractor  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: Dave 
McNamara 
 
david.mcnamara@lbhf.gov.u
k 

 

Page 439



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Award report from Genito-
Urinary Medicine 
 
The report recommends award to 
the winning tenderer following 
procurement process.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Gaynor Driscoll, 
Nicola Lockwood, 
Helen Byrne 
Tel: 0207 361 2418, Tel: 
020 8753 5359, 
gaynor.driscoll@rbkc.gov.uk
, 
Nicola.Lockwood@lbhf.gov.
uk, 
Helen.Byrne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

LBHF Older People's Housing 
Strategy 
 
Report setting out framework and 
direction of travel for older 
people's housing.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 
 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
Martin 
Tel: 0208 753 5666 
Jane.Martin@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 440



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

LBHF School Organisation and 
Investment Strategy 2017 
 
Annual review of HF schools and 
capital investment  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Christine Edwards 
Tel: 020 7854 5865 
christine.edwards@rbkc.gov
.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Lilla Huset 
 
Lilla Huset is currently occupied by 
Libraries and Children’s Services. 
The existing lease expires in June 
2016. This report will consider and 
recommend whether the Council 
should renew its lease.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown, Lzhar Haq 
Tel: 020 8753 2835, Tel: 
020 8753 2692 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk, 
izhar.haq@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Direct Award of Street Outreach 
Contract 
 
Approval to waiver from the 
Council's Contract of Standing 
Orders and make a Direct Award 
for the continuation of the service 
to St Mungo's until April 2018.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Lucy 
Baker 
 
Lucy.Baker@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 441



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

PROCUREMENT OF CONTRACT 
FRAMEWORK FOR THE 
PLANNED UPGRADE OF 
EXISTING CONTROLLED 
ACCESS SYSTEMS SERVING 
HOUSING PROPERTIES AND 
THE PROVISION OF NEW 
SYSTEMS 
 
This report establishes the 
rationale for going out to 
procurement for a contract 
framework to carry out the 
council’s planned programme of 
replacement and upgrade of 
controlled access systems serving 
housing properties and the 
provision of new systems.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Henrietta Jacobs 
Tel: 020 8753 3729 
Henrietta.Jacobs@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

PROCUREMENT OF CONTRACT 
FRAMEWORK FOR THE 
PLANNED REFURBISHMENT 
AND UPGRADE OF COMMUNAL 
OR DISTRICT HEATING PLANT 
ROOMS, BOILERS, CONTROLS, 
PIPEWORK AND ASSOCIATED 
PLANT 
 
This report establishes the 
rationale for going out to 
procurement for a contractual 
framework to carry out the 
councils planned programme of 
replacement and upgrade of 
communal or district heating plant 
rooms serving housing properties.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Henrietta Jacobs 
Tel: 020 8753 3729 
Henrietta.Jacobs@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 May 2017 
 

Maternity Champions 
Procurement Strategy Report 
 
To seek approval on Procurement 
Strategy to commission Borough 
Wide Maternity Champions Project 
for Hammersmith and Fulham.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Michele Roberts, 
Linda Thomas 
Tel: 020 8834 4734, Tel: 
07860 104223 
Michele.Roberts@lbhf.gov.u
k, 
lthomas@westminster.gov.u
k 

 

Page 442



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

5 June 2017 

Cabinet 
 

5 Jun 2017 
 

Section 75 Partnership 
Agreement between LBHF and 
the West London Mental Health 
Trust 
 
The current S75 agreement 
between LBHF and WLMHT is due 
for renewal. This agreement 
enables the Borough to delegate 
management responsibility for 
social care MH services to the 
Trust. The new agreement sets 
out the legal framework regarding 
management responsibilities to 
ensure that Trust safely 
discharges the Council's statutory 
duties.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mike 
Boyle 
 
mike.boyle@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 443



 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF AN ADDITIONAL KEY 
DECISION PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON  
27 MARCH 2017 (published on 1 March 2017) 
 
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of a 
Key Decision which it intends to consider at its next meeting. 

 
If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 

Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368 or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

The decision may be called in by Councillors; if a decision is called-in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made. 

 
 
 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

Procurement of community 
advice services 
 
The report seeks approval for the 
approach to procuring community 
advice services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Louise 
Raisey 
Tel: 020 8753 2012 
Louise.Raisey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 444

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held on 6 March 2017
	4 Corporate Revenue Monitor 2016/17 Month 9 - 31st December 2016
	5 Strengthening Sustainable Community Partnerships
	6 Procurement of community advice services
	SCPAppendix1 16.3.17

	7 H&F Poverty and Worklessness Commission - final report
	170327 HFPWC final report v1-1 - full referenced version

	8 Recommendation on Out of Hours Call Centre Contract
	9 Re-Procurement Of Lift Maintenance Contract
	10 HRA Housing Capital Programme 2017/18-2020/21
	Enc. 1 for HRA Housing Capital Programme 201718-202021

	11 Moving Confirm to an External Hosting Solution (Confirm on Demand)
	12 Cycle Quietway 2 - Between East Acton and Kensington
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Question 1: What is your name?
	Question 1: What is your name?
	Name

	Question 2: What is your email address?
	Email

	Question 3: If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, business or campaign, please provide us with the name:
	Organisation

	Question 4: What is your postcode?
	Postcode

	Question 5: How did you hear about this consultation?
	hear
	If Other, please state below

	Question 6: Overall, do you support LBHF's proposal for the East Acton to Kensington Quietway?
	support

	Question 7: Do you support the creation of a segregated cycle track along Mitre Way?
	segregated

	Question 8: Do you support the creation of a new shared use track in the southern part of Wormwood Scrubs?
	shared use

	Question 9: Do you support proposed changes to Fitzneal Street to make the route safer for cyclists? 
	fitzneal

	Question 10: Do you have any further comments about our overall proposals?
	comments
	Additional comments



	Appendix 5

	13 Forward Plan of Key Decisions
	KD List 27 March 2017 - additional item


